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3M COMPANY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
PART |

Item 1. Business.

3M Company was incorporated in 1929 under the lafthe State of Delaware to continue operationsibeg 1902.
The Company'’s ticker symbol is MMM. As used heréirg term “3M” or “Company” includes 3M Company aitsl
subsidiaries unless the context indicates othenistinis document, for any references to Notertugh Note 19, refer
to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementem 8.

Available Information

The SEC maintains a website that contains repontsy and information statements, and other infdiomaregarding
issuers, including the Company, that file electrtaity with the SEC. The public can obtain any doeunts that the
Company files with the SEC at http://www.sec.gokeTTompany files annual reports, quarterly repgrisxy
statements and other documents with the Secuatid€Exchange Commission (SEC) under the SecuEtiebange Act
of 1934 (Exchange Act). The public may read andyaogpy materials that the Company files with the SE@e SEC's
Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Wagshim D.C. 20549. The public may obtain informat@mnthe
operation of the Public Reference Room by calllmg$EC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

3M also makes available free of charge througlvébsite (http://investors.3M.com) the Company'’s AalnrReport on
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, CuriReports on Form 8-K, and, if applicable, amendmemnmthose
reports filed or furnished pursuant to the Exchafigeas soon as reasonably practicable after thrapaoy
electronically files such material with, or furneshit to, the SEC.

General

3M is a diversified technology company with a glop@sence in the following businesses: IndustBalfety and
Graphics; Health Care; Electronics and Energy;@adsumer. 3M is among the leading manufacturepsaducts for
many of the markets it serves. Most 3M productslive expertise in product development, manufactuand
marketing, and are subject to competition from pigtsl manufactured and sold by other technologicailgnted
companies.

At December 31, 2017, the Company employed 91,88@lp (full-time equivalents), with 36,958 employedhe
United States and 54,578 employed internationally.

Business Segments

As described in Notes 3 and 17, effective in th&t fijuarter of 2017, the Company changed its basisegment
reporting in its continuing effort to improve thiigament of its businesses around markets and st Business
segment information presented herein reflectsrttpact of these changes for all periods presented.

3M manages its operations in five business segmé&hesreportable segments are Industrial, SafedyGnaphics,
Health Care, Electronics and Energy, and ConsuBhé's five business segments bring together commaelated 3M
technologies, enhancing the development of inneggiroducts and services and providing for effiti@raring of
business resources. Financial information and atlsetosures relating to 3M’s business segmentoaedations in
major geographic areas are provided in the Not&otwsolidated Financial Statements.

Industrial BusinessThe Industrial segment serves a broad range dfetegrsuch as automotive original equipment
manufacturer (OEM) and automotive aftermarket (dtdy shops and retail), electronics and automaieetrification,
appliance, paper and printing, packaging, foodlaerage, and construction. Industrial productkidetapes, a wide
variety of coated, non-woven and bonded abrasadisgsives, advanced ceramics, sealants, specialéyiais,
purification (filtration products), closure systefios personal hygiene products, acoustic systemdyats, and



components and products that are used in the manwgarepair and maintenance of automotive, masieraft and
specialty vehicles. 3M is also a leading globalmiep of precision grinding technology serving ausers in the area of
hard-to-grind precision applications in industrelitomotive, aircraft and cutting tools. 3M deved@nd produces
advanced technical ceramics for demanding appticatin the automotive, oil and gas, solar, indaktelectronics and
defense industries. In August 2015, 3M acquiredtasand liabilities associated with Polypore Inéional, Inc.’s
Separations Media business, a leading provideriafoporous membranes and modules for filtratiothimlife sciences,
industrial and specialty segments. In the firstrtpraof 2016, 3M sold the assets of its pressurpraEgurethane foam
adhesives business, and in October 2016 sold #etsasf its adhesive-backed temporary protectiwesfbusiness.

Major industrial products include vinyl, polyestésil and specialty industrial tapes and adhesigesitch® Masking
Tape, Scotch® Filament Tape and Scotch® Packagipg Tpackaging equipment; 3M™ VHB™ Bonding Tapes;
conductive, low surface energy, sealants, hot rapiay and structural adhesives; reclosable fasteladel materials
for durable goods; coated, nonwoven and microstradtsurface finishing and grinding abrasives fierindustrial
market; a comprehensive line of filtration producisthe separation, clarification and purificatiofifluids and gases;
and fluoroelastomers for seals, tubes and gasketsgines.

Major industrial products used in the transportatimlustry include insulation components, includifgnsulate ™
Acoustic Insulation and components for cabin noéskiction and catalytic converters; functional dedorative
graphics; abrasion-resistant films; adhesivesasesi masking tapes; fasteners and tapes for attpohmeplates, trim,
moldings, interior panels and carpeting; coateawaven and microstructured finishing and grindibgasives;
structural adhesives; and other specialty matefiialaddition, 3M provides paint finishing and dia products,
including a complete system of cleaners, dresspgjsshes, waxes and other products.

Safety and Graphics Busine3sie Safety and Graphics segment serves a broad cdmgarkets that increase the safety
and productivity of people, facilities and systeMsjor product offerings include personal protegtoducts, such as
respiratory, hearing, eye and fall protection emépt; commercial solutions, including commerciamrics sheeting

and systems, architectural design solutions fdiasas, and cleaning and protection products formeruial
establishments; transportation safety solutionsh st retroreflective sign sheeting; and roofirengies for asphalt
shingles. In August 2015, 3M acquired Capital Sa&toup S.A.R.L., a leading global provider of fatbtection
equipment. As discussed in Note 2, in October 280 completed the acquisition of the underlyingaegntities and
associated assets of Scott Safety, a premier metnuéa of innovative products, including self-caned breathing
apparatus systems, gas and flame detection institspend other safety devices that complement 3Mdfsonal safety
portfolio. In January 2017, 3M sold the assetdoafety prescription eyewear business.

This segment’s products include personal protegifmalucts, such as certain disposable and reussdpé@ators, fall
protection equipment, personal protective equipiezad and face protection, body protection, hggsiotection and
protective eyewear, plus reflective materials tratwidely used on apparel, footwear and access@iancing
visibility in low-light situations.

Major commercial graphics products include filmrks, and related products used to produce grafdriaghicles,
signs and interior surfaces.

In transportation safety, 3M provides reflectivesting used on highway signs, vehicle license glatenstruction
work-zone devices, trucks and other vehicles, dsu @rovides pavement marking systems. In Dece2b&5, 3M sold
Faab Fabricauto, a French manufacturer of licefeegand signage solutions, and in the first guant 2016
completed the sale of its library systems busingssliscussed in Note 2, in May 2017, 3M compldtedrelated sale
or transfer of control, as applicable, of its idgntmanagement business. In June 2017, 3M also letetpthe sale of its
tolling and automated license/number plate recagnibusiness and in October 2017, sold its ele@tnmonitoring
business.

Other segment products include spill-control sotdemonwoven abrasive materials for floor mainteesand
commercial cleaning; floor matting; and natural antbr-coated mineral granules for asphalt shingles



Health Care BusinesShe Health Care segment serves markets that iacheatlical clinics and hospitals,
pharmaceuticals, dental and orthodontic practitignieealth information systems, and food manufaugueind testing.
Products and services provided to these and otagkeats include medical and surgical supplies, bkialth and
infection prevention products, oral care soluti(aental and orthodontic products), health inforomaisystems,
inhalation and transdermal drug delivery systemd,faod safety products. In March 2015, 3M acquikegta Medical
Corp., a manufacturer of health care productsdisatfect and protect devices used for accessagatient’s
bloodstream.

In advanced wound management, 3M is a supplieredfical tapes, dressings, wound closure produdtspeedic
casting materials, in addition to acute wound csk@ integrity and disinfecting port protectioroducts. In infection
prevention, 3M markets a variety of surgical drapesasks and preps, electrodes, stethoscopes, basvgérilization
assurance equipment and patient warming solutieagded to prevent hypothermia in surgical setti@jker products
include drug delivery systems, such as metered-hbsders, transdermal skin patches and relategpooents. Oral
care solutions include restoratives, adhesiveishing and polishing products, crowns, impressi@tamals, preventive
sealants, professional tooth whiteners, prophyland orthodontic appliances, as well as digitalkffow solutions to
transform traditional impression and analog proegsk health information systems, 3M developsmaadkets
computer software for hospital coding and datasifiasition, and provides related consulting sersiM provides food
safety products that make it faster and easiefiofmat processors to test the microbiological qualityood. As discussed
in Note 2, in September 2017, 3M purchased alhefdwnership interests of Elution Technologies, La&/ermont-
based manufacturer of test kits that help enaldd énd beverage companies ensure their producteear&om certain
potentially harmful allergens such as peanuts,osayilk.

Electronics and Energy Businesghe Electronics and Energy segment serves cussomelectronics and energy
markets, including solutions that improve the deladmility, cost-effectiveness, and performance e€gbnic devices;
electrical products, including infrastructure pudien; telecommunications networks; and power gatieen and
distribution.

This segment’s electronics solutions include tlspldiy materials and systems business, which preibhes that serve
numerous market segments of the electronic didptéystry. 3M provides distinct products for five ket segments,
including products for: 1) LCD computer monitorsLZ)D televisions 3) handheld devices such as @liphones and
tablets 4) notebook PCs and 5) automotive displBlys segment also provides desktop and notebowlpuater screen
filters that address display light control, privaend glare reduction needs. Major electronics petxlalso include
packaging and interconnection devices; high peréoree fluids and abrasives used in the manufacfureroputer
chips, and for cooling electronics and lubricatimgmputer hard disk drives; and high-temperaturedasilay tapes.
Flexible circuits use electronic packaging andrtienection technology, providing more connectimniess space, and
are used in ink-jet printer cartridges, cell phoand electronic devices. This segment also incltmigsh systems
products, including touch screens, touch monitamns, touch sensor components. In December 2016 oBMlwe assets
of its cathode battery technology out-licensingibess.

This segment’s energy solutions include electicatlucts, including infrastructure protection, éelmmunications, and
renewable energy. This segment serves the worlecdrizal and telecommunications markets, includétertrical
utilities, electrical construction, maintenance agplair, original equipment manufacturers (OEMlgdemmunications
central office, outside plant and enterprise, alé agaerospace, military, automotive and medicalk®ts, with products
that enable the efficient transmission of electnmaver and speed the delivery of information. Rucid in this segment
include pressure sensitive tapes and resins, iel@dtnsulation, a wide array of fiber-optic andoper-based
telecommunications systems for rapid deploymeffixefl and wireless networks, as well as the 3M™ngiluum
Conductor Composite Reinforced (ACCR) electricabpocable that increases transmission capacitgXisting power
lines. This segment also includes renewable enawgyponent solutions for the solar and wind powdustries, as well
as infrastructure products solutions that providmitipalities both protection and detection solngidor electrical, oil,
natural gas, water, rebar and other infrastrucissets.

Consumer Busines$he Consumer segment serves markets that inclutrineer retail, office retail, office business to
business, home improvement, drug and pharmacy, retai other markets. Products in this segmentdebffice



supply products, stationery products, home imprammproducts (do-it-yourself), home care prodygtstective
material products, certain consumer retail perseafdty products, and consumer health care praducts

Major consumer products include Scotch® brand petjisuch as Scotch® Magic™ Tape, Scotch® Glue Sficl
Scotch® Cushioned Mailer; Post-it® Products, sueRast-it® Flags, Post-it® Note Pads, Post-it® Llialge& Cover-
up Tape, and Post-it® Pop-up Notes and Dispenkersg improvement products, including surface-pragaam and
wood-finishing materials, Command™ Adhesive Progetd Filtrete™ Filters for furnaces and air candirs; home
care products, including Scotch-Brite® Scour P&tstch-Brite® Scrub Sponges, Scotch-Brite® MicrefiCloth
products, O-Cel-O™ Sponges; protective materiatipets, such as Scotchgard™ Fabric Protectors;icerta
maintenance-free respirators; certain consumeit petesonal safety products, including safety gisséiearing
protectors, and 3M Thinsulate™ Insulation, whichised in jackets, pants, gloves, hats and bodtsep people warm;
Nexcare™ Adhesive Bandages; and ACE® branded @ated brands) elastic bandage, supports and tineeteo
product lines.

Distribution

3M products are sold through numerous distributibannels, including directly to users and througmerous
wholesalers, retailers, jobbers, distributors agalers in a wide variety of trades in many coustasund the world.
Management believes the confidence of wholesaletailers, jobbers, distributors and dealers in&# its products —
a confidence developed through long associatioh skilled marketing and sales representatives —ebagibuted
significantly to 3M’s position in the marketplacedato its growth.

Research and Patents

Research and product development constitutes aorteny part of 3M’s activities and has been a mdjorer of 3M’s
sales and profit growth. Research, developmentelated expenses totaled $1.850 billion in 2017738 billion in
2016 and $1.763 billion in 2015. Research and @geént, covering basic scientific research andafi@ication of
scientific advances in the development of new amgroved products and their uses, totaled $1.3361bih 2017,
$1.225 billion in 2016 and $1.223 billion in 20Related expenses primarily include technical suppuernally
developed patent costs, which include costs arslifeeirred to prepare, file, secure and maintatarga; amortization
of externally acquired patents and externally agglin-process research and development; and lyaisss associated
with certain corporate approved investments in R&Rted ventures, such as equity method effectsrapdirments.

The Company’s products are sold around the wortteumarious trademarks. The Company also ownsploisHicenses
to use, numerous U.S. and foreign patents. The @oyip research and development activities generateady stream
of inventions that are covered by new patents.rasgpplicable to specific products extend for iragyperiods
according to the date of patent application filorxgpatent grant and the legal term of patentsenvirious countries
where patent protection is obtained. The actuakptmn afforded by a patent, which can vary frauamtry to country,
depends upon the type of patent, the scope obitsrage and the availability of legal remedieshim ¢ountry.

The Company believes that its patents provide goitant competitive advantage in many of its busses. In general,
no single patent or group of related patents its@lf essential to the Company as a whole or joadithe Company’s
business segments.

Raw Materials

In 2017, the Company continued to manage year-an+ygav material input costs, benefiting from inmanagement,
reformulations, and multi-sourcing activities. Taesforts more than offset increasing costs inatenaw material
categories in oil-derivative chemical feedstock kess. Oil-derivative cost increases also impaceotaedstock
categories, including petroleum based materialserais, metals and wood pulp based products. T& et Company
is receiving sufficient quantities of all raw ma#ds to meet its reasonably foreseeable producéqgnirements. It is
difficult to predict future shortages of raw magdsior the impact any such shortages would haveh&/avoided
disruption to its manufacturing operations throegheful management of existing raw material inveas) strategic



relationships with key suppliers, and developmeit gualification of additional supply sources. 3NMmages spend
category price risks through negotiated supply remts, price protection agreements and commoditg gwaps.

Environmental Law Compliance

3M’s manufacturing operations are affected by matipstate and local environmental laws aroundubed. 3M has
made, and plans to continue making, necessary dikpess for compliance with applicable laws. 3Malso involved in
remediation actions relating to environmental nratieom past operations at certain sites (reféEtovironmental
Matters and Litigation” in Note 15, Commitments abdntingencies).

Environmental expenditures relating to existingditians caused by past operations that do not itté to current or
future revenues are expensed. Reserves for liabifibr anticipated remediation costs are recomtedn undiscounted
basis when they are probable and reasonably edéngdmerally no later than the completion of fb#isy studies, the
Company’s commitment to a plan of action, or apptdoy regulatory agencies. Environmental expendgdor capital
projects that contribute to current or future ofieres generally are capitalized and depreciated thesr estimated
useful lives.

In 2017, 3M expended about $33 million for capjtadjects related to protecting the environmentsdrmount excludes
expenditures for remediation actions relating tisting matters caused by past operations that toordribute to
current or future revenues, which are expensedit@axpenditures for environmental purposes hactuted pollution
control devices — such as wastewater treatment ptgsrovements, scrubbers, containment structs@sent recovery
units and thermal oxidizers — at new and existanglities constructed or upgraded in the normaksewf business.
Consistent with the Company’s emphasis on envirartaieesponsibility, capital expenditures (othearttor
remediation projects) for known projects are prédgezxpected to be about $66 million over the rexd years for new
or expanded programs to build facilities or modifgnufacturing processes to minimize waste and redogssions.

While the Company cannot predict with certainty fileire costs of such cleanup activities, capixalemditures or
operating costs for environmental compliance, tbenfany does not believe they will have a mateffelcéon its
capital expenditures, earnings or competitive jpmsit

Executive Officers

Following is a list of the executive officers of 3lind their age, present position, the year eldctdioeir present
position and other positions they have held dutiregpast five years. No family relationships eaistong any of the
executive officers named, nor is there any undgssdcarrangement or understanding pursuant to velmgtperson was
selected as an officer. This information is preseéni the table below as of the date of the 10kKdi(February 8,
2018).

Year Elected

to Present
Name Age Present Position Position Other Positions Held During 2013-2017
Inge. G. Thulin 64 Chairman of the Board, President a 2012
Chief Executive Officer
John P. Banovetz 50 Senior Vice President, Research ar 2017 Managing Director, DACH Region, 2016-2017
Development and Chief Technolo Vice President, Corporate Research Laboratory,
Officer Research and Development, 2015-2016
Global Business Director, Industrial Adhesives and
Tapes Division, 2012-2015
James L. Bauman 58 Executive Vice President, Industrial 2017 Executive Vice President, Electronics and Energy
Business Group Business Group, 2015-2017
Senior Vice President, Business Transformation,
Americas, 2015
Senior Vice President, Asia Pacific, 2012-2014
Julie L. Bushman 56 Executive Vice President, 2017 Senior Vice President, Business Transformation and
International Operations Information Technology, 2013-2017
Executive Vice President, Safety and Graphics, 2012
2013



Year Elected

to Present
Name Age Present Position Position Other Positions Held During 2013-2017
Joaquin Delgado 57 Executive Vice President, Consume 2016 Executive Vice President, Health Care Business
Business Group Group 2012-2016
Ivan K. Fong 56 Senior Vice President, Legal Affairs 2012
and General Counsel
Nicholas C. Gangest 53 Senior Vice President and Chief 2014 Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief
Financial Officer Accounting Officer, 2011-2014
Eric D. Hammes 43 Senior Vice President, Business 2017 Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief
Transformation & Information Accounting Officer, 2014-2017
Technology Vice President, Finance, International and Staff
Operations, 2013-2014
Finance Director, Health Care Business, 2012-2013
Paul A. Keel 48 Senior Vice President, Business 2017 Senior Vice President, Supply Chain, 2014-2017
Development and Marketing-Sali Managing Director, 3M United Kingdom-Ireland
Region, 2013-2014
Vice President and General Manager, Skin and
Wound Care Division, 2010-2013
Ashish K. Khandpur 50 Executive Vice President, Electroni 2017 Senior Vice President, Research and Development,
& Energy Business Group and Chief Technology Officer, 2014-2017
Vice President and General Manager, Personal £
Division, 2014
Vice President, Research and Development,
Industrial Business Group, 2013
Jon T. Lindekugel 53 Senior Vice President, Supply Chail 2017 Senior Vice President, Business Development and
Marketing-Sales, 2015-2017
Senior Vice President, Business Development, 2014-
2015
President, Health Information Systems Inc., 2008-
2014
Frank R. Little 57 Executive Vice President, Safety ar 2013 Vice President and General Manager, Personal £
Graphics Business Group Division, 2013
Kristen M. Ludgate 55 Senior Vice President, Corporate 2018 Vice President, Global Human Resources Business
Communications and Enterprise Operations, Human Resources, 2017-2018
Services Vice President, Associate General Counsel and Chief
Compliance Officer, Compliance and Business
Conduct, 2015-2017
Associate General Counsel, Labor and Employment,
Office of General Counsel, 2013-2015
Marlene M. McGrath 55! Senior Vice President, Human 2012
Resources
Michael F. Roman 58 Chief Operating Officer and Executi 2017 Executive Vice President, Industrial Business Group
Vice President 2014-2017
Senior Vice President, Business Development, 2013-
2014
Vice President and General Manager, Industrial
Adhesives and Tapes Division, 2011-2013
Hak Cheol Shin 60 Vice Chair and Executive Vice 2017 Executive Vice President, International Operations,
President 2011-2017
Michael G. Vale 51 Executive Vice President, Health Ci 2016 Executive Vice President, Consumer Business G

Business Group

2012-2016



Cautionary Note Concerning Factors That May AffectFuture Results

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Managentis Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditand
Results of Operations” in Item 7, contains forwéydking statements within the meaning of the Pen&écurities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The Company may atsake forward-looking statements in other repalesl fwith the
Securities and Exchange Commission, in materidisated to shareholders and in press releaseslditian, the
Company’s representatives may from time to time enadal forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements relate to future evantstypically address the Company’s expected futusness and
financial performance. Words such as “plan,” “exge@im,” “believe,” “project,” “target,” “anticipate,” “intend,”
“estimate,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “forecast” and other words and terms of similar meaning, tylbyddentify such
forward-looking statements. In particular, thesgude, among others, statements relating to:

« the Company’s strategy for growth, future reveneesnings, cash flow, uses of cash and other messir
financial performance, and market position,

» worldwide economic, political, and capital marketsditions, such as interest rates, foreign cusrexchange
rates, financial conditions of our suppliers angtemers, and natural and other disasters or cliofaage
affecting the operations of the Company or our §appand customers,

e new business opportunities, product developmert fature performance or results of current or apited
products,

« the scope, nature or impact of acquisition, stiatatljance and divestiture activities,

< the outcome of contingencies, such as legal andatgy proceedings,

« future levels of indebtedness, common stock reages and capital spending,

« future availability of and access to credit markets

e pension and postretirement obligation assumptiodsfature contributions,

e asset impairments,

« tax liabilities,

« information technology security, and

« the effects of changes in tax (including the neargcted Tax Cuts and Jobs Act), environmental émel o
laws and regulations in the United States and atbentries in which we operate.

The Company assumes no obligation to update oseeuiy forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements are based on certaimg#sons and expectations of future events andigréimat are
subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual futwsults and trends may differ materially from histakresults or those
reflected in any such forward-looking statemenisesteling on a variety of factors. Important inforioatas to these
factors can be found in this document, includimgpag others, “Management’s Discussion and Analyglsinancial
Condition and Results of Operations” under the hegdof “Overview,” “Financial Condition and Liguitg” and
annually in “Critical Accounting Estimates.” Disaisn of these factors is incorporated by referdrma Part |, Item
1A, “Risk Factors,” of this document, and shouldcbesidered an integral part of Part Il, ltem 7 giMgement’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations.” For additional informatmncerning
factors that may cause actual results to vary niadliiefrom those stated in the forward-looking staents, see our
reports on Form 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K filed with theGfrom time to time.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Provided below is a cautionary discussion of whathelieve to be the most important risk factordiapple to the
Company. Discussion of these factors is incorpdrhtereference into and considered an integralgfaPart 11, Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahditions and Results of Operations.”

* Results are impacted by the effects of, and ckamgy worldwide economic, political, and capitednkets conditions.
The Company operates in more than 70 countrieslarides approximately 60 percent of its revenuesifoutside the
United States. The Company’s business is subjegibtmal competition and geopolitical risks and rbayadversely
affected by factors in the United States and otbentries that are beyond its control, such asel@eonomic growth,
disruptions in financial markets, economic downsuimthe form of either contained or widesprea@ssmnary
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conditions, inflation, elevated unemployment leyslaggish or uneven recovery, government deféction and
other austerity measures in specific countrieggions, or in the various industries in which tr@rpany operates;
social, political or labor conditions in specifiountries or regions; natural and other disasteddimate change
affecting the operations of the Company or its@ongrs and suppliers; or adverse changes in th&ahiliay and cost of
capital, interest rates, tax rates, tax laws, aharge control, ability to expatriate earnings atekr regulations in the
jurisdictions in which the Company operates.

* Change in the Company’s credit ratings could ease cost of fundinghe Company’s credit ratings are important to
3M’s cost of capital. The major rating agenciegtirmly evaluate the Company’s credit profile angigis debt ratings to
3M. This evaluation is based on a number of fagtetsch include financial strength, business andficial risk, as well
as transparency with rating agencies and timelioéfinancial reporting. 3M currently has an AAedit rating with a
stable outlook from Standard & Poor’s and has arcegtlit rating with a stable outlook from Moodyts/estors

Service. The Company’s credit ratings have sergddwer 3M’s borrowing costs and facilitate accesa variety of
lenders. The addition of further leverage to thenPany’s capital structure could impact 3M'’s crediings in the

future. Failure to maintain strong investment greatgngs would adversely affect the Company’s ed$unding and
could adversely affect liquidity and access to dpnarkets.

* The Company’s results are affected by competitovaditions and customer preferencBemand for the Company’s
products, which impacts revenue and profit margsaffected by (i) the development and timingtef introduction of
competitive products; (i) the Company’s resporsddwnward pricing to stay competitive; (iii) chasgn customer
order patterns, such as changes in the levelsrehtory maintained by customers and the timingust@mer purchases
which may be affected by announced price chandes)ges in the Company’s incentive programs, octistomer’s
ability to achieve incentive goals; and (iv) chamgecustomers’ preferences for our products, uficly the success of
products offered by our competitors, and changesigiomer designs for their products that can affecdemand for
some of the Company’s products.

* Foreign currency exchange rates and fluctuationthose rates may affect the Company'’s abilityetdize projected
growth rates in its sales and earninggecause the Company’s financial statements arendi@ated in U.S. dollars and
approximately 60 percent of the Company’s reverumeslerived from outside the United States, the gamy's results
of operations and its ability to realize projectgdwth rates in sales and earnings could be adyaaffected if the U.S.
dollar strengthens significantly against foreigmrencies.

* The Company’s growth objectives are largely defsart on the timing and market acceptance of its m@auct
offerings, including its ability to continually rew its pipeline of new products and to bring thpssducts to market.
This ability may be adversely affected by difficedt or delays in product development, such asriigility to identify
viable new products, obtain adequate intellectuvaperty protection, or gain market acceptance of ppducts. There
are no guarantees that new products will provestodmmercially successful.

* The Company’s future results are subject to flations in the costs and availability of purchasednponents,
compounds, raw materials and energy, includingaatl natural gas and their derivatives, due to shges, increased
demand, supply interruptions, currency exchandesrigatural disasters and other factofie Company depends on
various components, compounds, raw materials, aatgg (including oil and natural gas and their d#ives) supplied
by others for the manufacturing of its productss possible that any of its supplier relationshipsld be interrupted
due to natural and other disasters and other evant® terminated in the future. Any sustainedrintption in the
Company’s receipt of adequate supplies could havatarial adverse effect on the Company. In addlitichile the
Company has a process to minimize volatility in poment and material pricing, no assurance canvenghat the
Company will be able to successfully manage piigetdiations or that future price fluctuations ooghges will not
have a material adverse effect on the Company.

* Acquisitions, strategic alliances, divestiturasd other unusual events resulting from portfolanagement actions
and other evolving business strategies, and passitganizational restructuring could affect futuesults.The
Company monitors its business portfolio and orgatiinal structure and has made and may continoeate
acquisitions, strategic alliances, divestitures emahges to its organizational structure. With eespo acquisitions,
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future results will be affected by the Company’dighto integrate acquired businesses quickly abthin the
anticipated synergies.

* The Company’s future results may be affecteddf@ompany generates fewer productivity improvesntian
estimatedThe Company utilizes various tools, such as LaarSima, and engages in ongoing global business
transformation. Business transformation is defiae@¢hanges in processes and internal/externateateiivery across
3M to move to more efficient business models tormap operational efficiency and productivity, whidlowing 3M to
serve customers with greater speed and efficieFluig. is enabled by the ongoing multi-year phaseulémentation of
an enterprise resource planning (ERP) system oorilwide basis. There can be no assurance thaf #ie projected
productivity improvements will be realized.

* The Company employs information technology systensupport its business, including ongoing phased
implementation of an ERP system as part of busitnassformation on a worldwide basis over the resxteral years.
Security breaches and other disruptions to the Gomjs information technology infrastructure coufderfere with the
Company'’s operations, compromise information beilogpdo the Company or its customers, suppliers, emgloyees,
exposing the Company to liability which could adely impact the Company’s business and reputaktiotihe ordinary
course of business, the Company relies on infoomagchnology networks and systems, some of whiehr@anaged by
third parties, to process, transmit and store elait information, and to manage or support a v@ieé business
processes and activities. Additionally, the Compealjects and stores certain data, including pegpri business
information, and may have access to confidentigdessonal information in certain of our businegbas is subject to
privacy and security laws, regulations and custeimmg@iosed controls. Despite our cybersecurity mess(including
employee and third-party training, monitoring ofwerks and systems, patching, maintenance, andupaaksystems
and data), the Company’s information technologyweks and infrastructure may still be vulnerableléanage,
disruptions or shutdowns due to attacks by hackeesches, employee error or malfeasance, powagesit computer
viruses, telecommunication or utility failures, ®ras failures, service or cloud provider breachasjral disasters or
other catastrophic events. It is possible for sudherabilities to remain undetected for an extehpleriod, up to and
including several years. While we have experienaed,expect to continue to experience, these typtseats to the
Company’s information technology networks and isfiracture, none of them to date has had a matergaict to the
Company. There may be other challenges and riskseaSompany upgrades and standardizes its ER€nsyst a
worldwide basis. Any such events could result galeclaims or proceedings, liability or penaltieglar privacy laws,
disruption in operations, and damage to the Comipaeputation, which could adversely affect the @amy’s
business. Although the Company maintains insurangerage for various cybersecurity risks, therelmno guarantee
that all costs or losses incurred will be fullyunsd.

* The Company's defined benefit pension and pastreént plans are subject to financial market rigtkat could
adversely impact our result¥he performance of financial markets and discoatgs impact the Company's funding
obligations under its defined benefit plans. Sigaifit changes in market interest rates, decrengés ifair value of plan
assets and investment losses on plan assets,lavdntdegislative or regulatory changes relatimgéfined benefit plan
funding may increase the Company's funding obliyetiand adversely impact its results of operatimmscash flows.

* The Company’s future results may be affectedanipus legal and regulatory proceedings and legainpliance risks,
including those involving product liability, antitst, intellectual property, environmental, the UeSreign Corrupt
Practices Act and other anti-bribery, anti-corrui, or other mattersThe outcome of these legal proceedings may
differ from the Company’s expectations becauseotiieomes of litigation, including regulatory magteare often
difficult to reliably predict. Various factors oedelopments can lead the Company to change cwestintates of
liabilities and related insurance receivables wiagmglicable, or make such estimates for mattengquesly not
susceptible of reasonable estimates, such as idficagh judicial ruling or judgment, a significaséttlement, significant
regulatory developments or changes in applicable Aafuture adverse ruling, settlement or unfavéeatevelopment
could result in future charges that could have teria adverse effect on the Company’s resultspafrations or cash
flows in any particular period. For a more detaitéscussion of the legal proceedings involving@mnpany and the
associated accounting estimates, see the discuadiote 15 “Commitments and Contingencies” wittlie Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

In the U.S., 3M’s general offices, corporate resedaboratories, and certain division laboratodeslocated in St. Paul,
Minnesota. The Company operates 80 manufacturiciliti|as in 29 states. Internationally, the Compamgerates 125
manufacturing and converting facilities in 37 caiet.

3M owns the majority of its physical properties. 3Ndhysical facilities are highly suitable for tharposes for which
they were designed. Because 3M is a global ensergharacterized by substantial intersegment catiper properties
are often used by multiple business segments.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Discussion of legal matters is incorporated byrexiee from Part Il, Item 8, Note 15, “Commitmentsl a
Contingencies,” of this document, and should besared an integral part of Part I, Item 3, “LeBabceedings.”

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Pursuant to Section 1503 of the Dodd-Frank Wabk&tReform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Adtig Company
is required to disclose, in connection with the @siit operates, information concerning mine saf@tlations or other
regulatory matters in its periodic reports filediwthe SEC. For the year 2017, the information eomiag mine safety
violations or other regulatory matters required3ggtion 1503(a) of the Act is included in Exhibit® this annual
report.
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PART Il

Iltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Ediy
Securities.

Equity compensation plans’ information is incorgerhby reference from Part Ill, Item 12, “Secu@ynership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Reélateckholder Matters,” of this document, and stidag
considered an integral part of Item 5. At Janudry2918, there were 78,331 shareholders of re@ditk stock is listed
on the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (NYSE), théc@po Stock Exchange, Inc., and the SWX Swiss ExgbaCash
dividends declared and paid totaled $1.175 andl$det share for each quarter in 2017 and 2016eotisply. Stock
price comparisons follow:

Stock price comparisons (NYSE composite transactia

(Per share amounts) First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter Year

2017 High $ 19350 $ 21457 $ 21465 $ 24423 $ 244.23
2017 Low 173.55 188.62 197.17 210.03 173.55
2016 High $ 16750 $ 17514 $ 182.27 $ 180.06 $ 182.27
2016 Low 134.64 163.17 173.51 163.85 134.64

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Repurchases of 3M common stock are made to sui@ompany’s stock-based employee compensatios plad

for other corporate purposes. In February 2016,s3B8ard of Directors authorized the repurchasgdbub10 billion
of 3M’s outstanding common stock, with no pre-ekséled end date.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
(registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchanggct)

Maximum
Approximate
Dollar Value of
Total Number of ~ Shares that May
Shares Purchased Yet Be Purchased
Total Number of  Average Price as Part of Publicly under the Plans

Shares Purchased Paid per Announced Plans  or Programs
Period (1) Share or Programs (2) (Millions)
January 1-31, 2017 1,24558C $ 177.61 1,245,347 $ 6,835
February 1-28, 2017 1,038,362  182.41 1,037,719 $ 6,645
March 1-31, 2017 1,168,89¢ $ 190.75 1,168,89: $ 6,422
Total January 1-March 31, 2017 3,452,835 183.50 3,451,959 $ 6,422
April 1-30, 2017 934,900 $ 191.64 933,463 $ 6,244
May 1-31, 2017 1,017,290 197.80 1,017,000 $ 6,042
June 1-30, 2017 396,770 $ 208.83 396,770 $ 5,960
Total April 1-June 30, 2017 2,348,966 197.21 2,347,233 $ 5,960
July 1-31, 2017 431,272 $ 205.00 431,272 $ 5,871
August 1-31, 2017 572,552  204.69 572,552 $ 5,754
September 1-30, 2017 893,559 $ 209.62 893,559 $ 5,567
Total July 1-September 30, 2017 1,897,388  207.08 1,897,383 $ 5,567
October 1-31, 2017 982,356 $ 220.27 980,804 $ 5,351
Novembe 1-30, 2017 621,143% 231.38 621,143 $ 5,207
December 1-31, 2017 575924 $ 237.86 575,924 $ 5,070
Total October 1-December 31, 2017 2,179,433 228.08 2,177,871 $ 5,070
Total January 1-December 31, 2017 9,878,601 $ 201.13 9,874,44¢ $ 5,070

(1) The total number of shares purchased includeshéjes purchased under the Board’s authorizatiessithed
above, and (ii) shares purchased in connectiontivétexercise of stock options.

(2) The total number of shares purchased as part dichuAnnounced plans or programs includes shaneshased
under the Board’s authorizations described above.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Years ended December 31:
Net sales $31,657 $30,109 $30,274 $31,821 $30,871
Net income attributable to 3M 4,858 5,050 4,833 4,956 4,659
Per share of 3M common stock:
Net income attributable to 3M — basic 8.13 8.35 7.72 7.63 6.83
Net income attributable to 3M — diluted 7.93 8.16 7.58 7.49 6.72
Cash dividends declared per 3M common share 4.70 4.44 3.075 3.59 3.395
Cash dividends paid per 3M common share 4.70 4.44 4.10 3.42 2.54
At December 31:
Total assets $37,987 $32,906 $32,883 $31,374 $33,304
Long-term debt (excluding portion due within onage
and long-term capital lease obligations 12,156 10,723 8,799 6,764 4,367

Cash dividends declared and paid totaled $1.175baridL per share for each quarter in 2017 and 2@%fectively. 3M
typically declares and pays dividends in the saoeter. In December 2013 and 2014, 3M declaredidnds that were

paid in the following first quarter.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations (MD&A) is desgdro
provide a reader of 3M’s financial statements witharrative from the perspective of managements3WD&A is
presented in eight sections:

*  Overview

« Results of Operations

» Performance by Business Segment
« Performance by Geographic Area

«  Critical Accounting Estimates

¢ New Accounting Pronouncements
« Financial Condition and Liquidity

*  Financial Instruments

Forward-looking statements in Item 7 may involhaksi and uncertainties that could cause resultéfeor chaterially
from those projected (refer to the section entitiédutionary Note Concerning Factors That May AffEature Results”
in Item 1 and the risk factors provided in Item fbA discussion of these risks and uncertainties).

OVERVIEW

3M is a diversified global manufacturer, technolagyovator and marketer of a wide variety of praduand services.
As described in Note 17, effective in the first gaanof 2017, 3M improved the alignment of its mesises around
markets and customers. Segment information preddreein reflects the impact of these changeslfpesiods
presented. 3M manages its operations in five ojpgrausiness segments: Industrial; Safety and GeapHealth Care;
Electronics and Energy; and Consumer. From a gpbgrgerspective, any references to EMEA referuompe,
Middle East and Africa on a combined basis.

Earnings per share (EPS) attributable to 3M commehareholders — diluted:

The following table provides the increase (decreasdiluted earnings per share for the fourth tpraand year 2017
compared to the same period last year, in additic016 compared to 2015.

Three months ended Year ended
(Earnings per diluted share) December 31, 2017 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Same period last year $ 1.88 $ 8.16 $ 7.58
Increase/(decrease) in earnings per share - djldtezito:
Organic growth/other productivity 0.33 0.86 0.16
Acquisitions and divestitures (0.02) 0.54 0.14
Incremental strategic investments (0.06 (0.51 0.14
Legal - respirator mask actuarial reserve (0.07) (0.07) —
Foreign exchange impacts — (0.13 (0.14
Shares of common stock outstanding — 0.08 0.24
Other net interest (0.09 (0.10 (0.05
Income tax rate, excluding Tax Cuts and Jobs AGJA) 0.13 0.34 0.09
Current period, excluding TCJA $ 210 $ 9.17 $ 8.16
TCJA enactment impact (1.25) (1.24) —
Current period $ 0.85 $ 793 $ 8.16

Year 2017 and fourth quarter EPS:

For the fourth quarter of 2017, net income attwible to 3M was $523 million, or $0.85 per dilutédue, compared to
$1.155 billion, or $1.88 per diluted share, in therth quarter of 2016, a decrease of 54.8 peraert per diluted share.
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Excluding the $762 million impact related to theetment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA), neiime was
$1.285 billion, or $2.10 per diluted share, anéage of 11.7 percent on a per diluted share basipared to the fourth
quarter of 2016. For the full year 2017, net incattabutable to 3M was $4.858 billion, or $7.93 péuted share,
compared to $5.050 billion, or $8.16 per dilutedrsh for the full year 2016, a decrease of 2.8gygron a per diluted
share basis. Excluding the 2017 impact related3dAT net income was $5.620 billion, or $9.17 péutdd share, an
increase of 12.4 percent on a per diluted sharis bampared to 2016. The Company refers to vamoeasures
excluding the 2017 net impact of enactment of tag CTuts and Jobs Act. These non-GAAP measuresighef
described and reconciled to the most directly caatgla GAAP financial measures in the section thibws.

Organic growth/productivity in 2017 includes bet®from higher organic local-currency sales, ravtemal cost
decreases from sourcing cost reduction projectspasiness transformation, which is having a pasitinpact on 3M's
productivity efforts. These benefits were partiaffset by higher defined benefit pension expenBesing both the
fourth quarter and full year 2017, organic growtl @roductivity were the primary drivers for theay®n-year benefit.

Acquisitions and divestitures decreased earningslipged share by 2 cents year-on-year for thetfoguarter of 2017,
while increasing earnings per diluted share byd&atyear-on-year for the full year 2017. Acquisitimpacts, which
are measured for the first twelve months post-tatisn, relate primarily to the acquisition of Scdafety (fourth
quarter 2017). The net impact related to Scotttgafeludes income from operations, more than offsethe
transaction and integration costs of the acquisitinterest expense related to financing costoftSafety are also
included. The net impact related to Scott Safety eguivalent to a year-on-year decrease of 7 gamtdiluted share.
Full year 2017 had year-on-year operating inconaicts from the following divestitures: Polyfoam ahd remaining
portion of the library system business (both istfguarter 2016), protective films business antiam battery
technology out-license business (both in fourthregane2016), prescription safety eyewear businessu@ry 2017),
identity management business and tolling and autesriacense/number plate recognition business (lothe second
quarter of 2017), and electronic monitoring bussn@surth quarter 2017). The incremental year-oary®e-tax gain on
divestiture impact, net of lost operating loss/¢me) during the fourth quarter of 2017 was $26iamill or
approximately 5 cents per diluted share. For tHe/gar 2017, the year-on-year net pre-tax incrdesa divestitures
was approximately $474 million, which is equivalémta year-on-year increase of 61 cents per dilskede (primarily
related to the identity management business). Aatdit discussion on divestitures is provided latéhin the
“Divestitures and Strategic Investments” section.

Operating income results include year-on-year imenatal strategic investments that decreased preamaings by
approximately $51 million and $413 million in theufth quarter and full year 2017, respectively. Sehimcremental
strategic investments are comprised of 3M’s investi in growth initiatives and optimization of jtertfolio and
supply chain footprint. Additional discussion oragtgic investments is provided later within thevé&stitures and
Strategic Investments” section.

In the fourth quarter of 2017, as a result of tlrenPany’s regular review of its respirator mask/asbe liabilities, the
Company increased its accruals. This incrementatase resulted in a year-on-year decrease oftg pendiluted
share. Refer to Note 15 for more details.

Foreign currency impacts (net of hedging) decregsedax earnings by approximately $3 million aid $ million
year-on-year in the fourth quarter and full yeat 20respectively, excluding the impact of foreigmrency changes on
tax rates. This had a minimal impact per dilutearshn the fourth quarter of 2017, and is equivialera year-on-year
decrease of 13 cents per diluted share for theyéat 2017.

Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding ificileth quarter and full year 2017 declined 0.1 patand 1.0 percent
year-on-year, respectively, which benefited eamipgr share. The Company purchased $504 millioraridbillion of
its own stock in the fourth quarter and full ye@84.2, respectively.

Other net interest decreased earnings per shat®forfourth quarter and full year 2017, largeleda the loss on
extinguishment of debt, higher U.S. average bakrmed higher interest rates. The early extinguésitrof debt
resulted in a charge of $96 million, which contiixlito a year-on-year decrease of 11 cents peaedikhare for both
the fourth quarter and full year 2017. Additionatlye portion of interest expense related to tharfcing costs of
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acquiring Scott Safety, which was equivalent tearyon-year decrease of 2 cents per diluted shsairgluded in the
acquisitions and divestitures impact described abov

As discussed in the section below, the Companyrdecba net tax expense of $762 million relatedhéoenactment of
the TCJA, which was equivalent to a decrease @3fier diluted share in the fourth quarter of 200 effective tax
rate for the fourth quarter 2017 was 68.6 percamincrease of 40.4 percentage points versus ZEXofuding the
impact of TCJA, the effective income tax rate wad¥2ercent in the fourth quarter 2017, a decred5e2 percentage
points versus 2016. For the full year 2017, thective tax rate was 35.5 percent, an increase2gbércentage points
versus 2016. Excluding the impact of TCJA, theaffe income tax rate was 25.4 percent in theyfellr 2017, a
decrease of 2.9 percentage points versus 2016udirgl the impact of TCJA, the fourth quarter anidyaar 2017
change in tax rate was driven largely by increabieigefits from our supply chain centers of expertiavorable
geographic mix and other items, as referenced ile Mo

Income, earnings per share, and effective tax ramjusted for impacts of the Tax Cuts and Jobs AECJA) - (non-
GAAP measures):

During the fourth quarter of 2017, 3M recorded atar expense of $762 million related to the enactiof the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA). The expense is primaeilgted to the TCJA'’s transition tax on previoustyemitted
earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries and is net okegsurement of 3M’s deferred tax assets and liggsiltonsidering the
TCJA's newly enacted tax rates and certain othgiatts. This provisional amount is subject to adpestt during the
measurement period of up to one year followingDeeember 2017 enactment of the TCJA, as providewdgnt SEC
guidance. See additional information in Note Qadidition to reporting financial results in accordamvith U.S. GAAP,
the Company also provides non-GAAP measures thastir the net impact of enactment of the TCJAisTitem
represents a significant charge that impacted thvapgany’s financial results. Income, earnings pareshand the
effective tax rate are all measures for which 3livtes the reported GAAP measure and an adjusteasure The
adjusted measures are not in accordance with,redhay a substitute for, GAAP measures. The Cogpansiders
these non-GAAP measures in evaluating and mandg@@ompany’s operations. The Company believes that
discussion of results adjusted for this item is miregful to investors as it provides a useful anialyd ongoing
underlying operating trends. The determinatiorhed item may not be comparable to similarly titledasures used by
other companies.

Three months ended December 31, 2017

Q4 2016 Q4 2017
Adjusted income, earnings per share, & effective ta Reported Reported Adjusted
rate (non-GAAP measures) (Dollars in millions, GAAP GAAP Adjustment Non-GAAP
except per share amounts) Measure Measure for TCJA Measure
Operating income $ 1,665 $ 1,821 $ — % 1,821
Income before taxes $ 1,610 $ 1,672 $ — 3% 1,672
Provision for income taxes $ 454 $ 1,147 $ (762, $ 385
Effective tax rate 28.% 68.6% 23.0%
Net income attributable to 3 $ 1,155 $ 523 $ 762 $ 1,285
Earnings per diluted share $ 1.88 $ 08 $ 125 $ 2.10
Earnings per diluted share percent change 4.8)% 11.%6
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Year ended December 31, 2017

Year End 2016 Year End 2017

Adjusted income, earnings per share, & effective tax Reported Reported Adjusted
rate (non-GAAP measures) (Dollars in millions, GAAP GAAP Adjustment Non-GAAP
except per share amounts) Measure Measure for TCJA Measure
Operating income $ 7,223 $ 7,820 $ — 3 7,820
Income before taxes $ 7,053 $ 7,548 % — 3 7,548
Provision for income taxes $ 1,995 $ 2679 $ (762, $ 1,917
Effective tax rate 28.3% 35.5% 25.4%
Net income attributable to 2 $ 5,050 $ 4858 $ 762 % 5,620
Earnings per diluted share $ 8.16 $ 793 % 124 % 9.17

Earnings per diluted share percent change (2.8Y% 12.4%

Year 2016 EPS:

For total year 2016, productivity and other increased earnings, helped by lower defined benefit pension and
postretirement expenses, higher selling prices, lower raw material costs, and productivity benefits related to the fourth
quarter 2015 restructuring. These benefits were partially offset by the impact of flat organic sales and lower asset
utilization.

Acquisition and divestiture impacts, which are measured for the first twelve months post-transaction, related to the
acquisitions of Membrana and Capital Safety (third quarter 2015) and Semfinder (September 2016), and the divestitures
of Polyfoam (first quarter 2016), the library systems business (fourth quarter 2015/first quarter 2016), and the license
plate converting business in France (fourth quarter 2015). In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2016, 3M sold the assets of
its protective films business and its cathode battery technology out-licensing business. On a combined basis, these
acquisition/divestiture year-on-year impacts resulted in a 14 cents per diluted share benefit to earnings per share in 2016,
driven by solid performances from 2015 acquisitions and year-on-year divestiture gains. Refer to Note 2 for further
discussion of these acquisition/divestiture impacts.

Restructuring actions (included within incremental strategic investments in the preceding table) resulted in an after-tax
charge of 14 cents per diluted share in 2015, which provided a year-on-year benefit in 2016.

Foreign exchange impacts (net of hedging) decreased pre-tax earnings by approximately $127 million year-on-year in
2016, excluding the impact of foreign currency changes on tax rates. This was equivalent to a year-on-year decrease of
14 cents per diluted share for 2016.

Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding in 2016 declined 3 percent versus 2015, which benefited earnings per share.
The benefits from share repurchases, net of issuances, were partially offset by the adoption of ASU No. 2016-09, which
increased the calculated number of diluted shares in 2016.

Higher average debt balances led to an increase in interest expense year-on-year in 2016.

The income tax rate was 28.3 percent in 2016, a decline of 0.8 percentage points versus last year. The 2016 change in tax

rate was driven by a number of factors as referenced in Note 9, including the first quarter 2016 adoption of Accounting
Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-09 (discussed in Note 1).
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Fourth quarter 2017 sales and operating income by business segment:

The following tables contain sales and operating income results by business segment for the fourth quarters of 2017 and
2016, followed by additional discussion of business segment results.

Three months ended Three months ended 2017 vs 2016
December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 % change

Net % of Oper. Net % of Oper. Net Oper.
(Dollars in millions) Sales Total Income Sales Total Income Sales Income
Business Segments
Industrial $2,718 34.0% $ 527 $2543 34.7% $ 558 6.9% (5.5)%
Safety and Graphics 1,545 19.3 406 1,343 18.3 271 15.0 50.0
Health Care 1,474 184 464 1,390 19.0 413 6.0 12.3
Electronics and Energy 1,321 16.6 334 1,175 16.0 325 125 2.6
Consumer 1,174 14.7 269 1,094 14.9 229 7.3 17.6
Corporate and Unallocated 4) — (127 2 — 83 — —
Elimination of Dual Credit (238) (3.0 (52) (218) (2.9) (48 — —
Total Company $7,990 100.0% $1,821 $7,329 100.0% $1,665 9.0% 9.4%

Three months ended December 31, 2017
Organic

Worldwide local- Total
Sales Change Analysis currency sales
By Business Segment sales Acquisitions Divestitues Translation change
Industrial 3.9% — % — % 3.0% 6.9%
Safety and Graphics 10.7 10.2 (9.1) 3.2 15.0
Health Care 3.1 0.1 — 2.8 6.0
Electronics and Energy 11.0 — (0.3) 1.8 125
Consumer 54 — — 1.9 7.3
Total Company 6.0% 1.8% (1.5)% 2. ™% 9.0%

From a business segment perspective, 3M achieved both total sales growth and organic local-currency sales growth
(which includes organic volume and selling price impacts) in all five business segments. Operating income margins were
22.8 percent, with four of five business segments above 22 percent.

* InIndustrial, total sales increased 6.9 percent, or 3.9 percent on an organic local currency basis, with organic
sales growth in abrasives, automotive and aerospace solutions, industrial adhesives and tapes, automotive
aftermarket, and separation and purification. Organic sales declined in advanced materials. Operating income
margins were 19.4 percent, down 2.5 percentage points, with the decline driven by incremental strategic
investments and a fourth quarter 2016 gain on sale of the temporary protective films business.

» In Safety and Graphics, total sales increased 15.0 percent, or 10.7 percent on an organic local currency basis.
Organic sales grew in all businesses, led by personal safety, roofing granules, and transportation safety.
Operating income margins were 26.3 percent, up 6.1 percentage points, with 2.4 percentage points of this
increase driven by divestitures, partially offset by acquisitions and incremental strategic investments.

» In Health Care, total sales increased 6.0 percent, or 3.1 percent on an organic local currency sales basis.
Organic sales grew in food safety, health information systems, medical consumables, and oral care. Organic
sales declined in drug delivery systems. Operating income margins were 31.5 percent, up 1.8 percentage points.

« In Electronics and Energy, total sales increased 12.5 percent, or 11.0 percent on an organic local currency basis.
Electronics-related organic sales increased 14 percent, with growth in both electronics materials solutions and
display materials and systems. Energy-related organic sales increased 4 percent as growth in electrical markets
was partially offset by declines in telecommunications markets. Operating income margins were 25.2 percent,
down 2.5 percentage points. The fourth quarter 2016 gain on sale of intellectual property and fourth quarter
2017 incremental strategic investments negatively impacted operating income margins by 3.3 percentage
points.

21



* In Consumer, total sales increased 7.3 percent, or 5.4 percent on an organic local currency basis. Organic sales
grew in consumer health care, home improvement, and stationery and office, while sales in home care were
flat. Operating income margins were 22.9 percent, up 2.0 percentage points

Year 2017 sales and operating income by business segment:

The following tables contain sales and operating income results by business segment for the years ended December 31,
2017 and 2016. Refer to the section entitled “Performance by Business Segment” later in MD&A for additional

discussion concerning both 2017 versus 2016 results and 2016 versus 2015 results, including Corporate and Unallocated.
Refer to Note 17 for additional information on business segments, including Elimination of Dual Credit.

2017 vs 2016

2017 2016 % change
Net % of Oper. Net % of Oper. Net Oper.
(Dollars in millions) Sales Total Income Sales Total Income Sales Income
Business Segments
Industrial $10,911 345% $2,289 $10,399 34.5% $2,395 49% (4.4)%
Safety and Graphics 6,148 19.4 2,067 5881 195 1,423 4.5 45.3
Health Care 5,813 18.4 1,781 5,566 18.5 1,763 4.4 1.0
Electronics and Energy 5,159 16.3 1,254 4643 154 1,041 11.1 20.4
Consumer 4,589 145 993 4,484 149 1,065 2.3 (6.8)
Corporate and Unallocated 1 — (352 7 — 272 — —
Elimination of Dual Credit (964) (3.1 (212) (871) (2.8) (192) — —
Total Company $31,657 100.0% $7,820 $30,109 100.0% $7,223 51% 8.3%
Year ended December 31, 2017
Worldwide Sales Change Organic local- Total sales
By Business Segment currency sales Acquisitions Divestitures Translation change
Industrial 4.9% — % (0.5% 0.5 % 4.9%
Safety and Graphics 6.1 2.2 (4.3) 0.5 4.5
Health Care 3.9 — — 0.5 4.4
Electronics and Energy 11.0 — (0.2) 0.3 111
Consumer 1.7 — — 0.6 2.3
Total Company 5.2% 0.4% (1.0)% 0.5% 5.1%
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Fourth-quarter 2017 sales results by geographic area/business segment:

Percent change information compares the fourth quarter 2017 with the same period last year, unless otherwise indicated.
From a geographic perspective, any references to EMEA refer to Europe, Middle East and Africa on a combined basis.

Three months ended December 31, 2017

Europe, Latin
United Asia Middle East  America/ Other
States Pacific & Africa Canada Unallocated Worldwide

Net sales (millions $3081 $2474 $ 1684 $ 756 $ B) $ 7,990

% of worldwide sales 38.5% 31.0% 21.1% 9.4% — 100.0%
Components of net sales change:
Volume — organic 3.1% 12.0% 5.4% 1.2% — 5.8%
Price (0.3 (0.1 1.4 1.3 — 0.2
Organic local-currency sales 2.8 11.9 6.8 2.5 — 6.0
Acquisitions 2.2 0.7 3.2 0.7 — 1.8
Divestitures (2.0) (0.7) a.7) (1.5) — (1.5)
Translation — 2.5 8.8 2.3 — 2.7
Total sales change 3.0% 14.4% 17.1% 4.0% — 9.0%
Total sales change:
Industrial 05% 10.9% 15.4% 6.8% — 6.9%
Safety and Graphics 9.8% 21.1% 28.1% (0.2)% — 15.0%
Health Care 11% 14.4% 11.7% 6.1% — 6.0%
Electronics and Energy 6.1% 15.8% 13.4% 0.6% — 12.5%
Consumer 47% 11.0% 16.9% 8.3% — 7.3%
Organic local-currency sales change:
Industrial 0.5% 8.1% 6.1% 4.7% — 3.9%
Safety and Graphics 9.4% 18.2% 12.4% 0.7% — 10.7%
Health Care 1.0% 109% 3.3% 3.8% — 3.1%
Electronics and Energy 7.2% 14.6% 6.0% (1.6% — 11.0%
Consumer 4.7% 7.5% 7.9% 55% — 5.4%

Additional information beyond what is included in the preceding table is as follows:

* Inthe Asia Pacific geographic area, where 3M’s Electronics and Energy business is concentrated, sales
benefited from strengthened demand across most electronics market segments in addition to strong growth in
3M’s Safety and Graphics business. In China/Hong Kong, total sales increased 21 percent and organic local-
currency sales increased 18 percent. In Japan, total sales increased 6 percent, as organic local-currency sales
growth of 7 percent was partially offset by foreign currency translation impacts.

* In the EMEA geographic area, Central/East Europe and Middle East/Africa had total sales increase by 14
percent, with organic local-currency sales increases of 12 percent. West Europe total sales grew 18 percent,
driven by foreign currency translation impacts, in addition to organic local-currency sales growth of 5 percent.

< Inthe Latin America/Canada geographic area, total sales increased 7 percent in Mexico, driven by foreign
currency translation impacts, in addition to organic local-currency sales growth of 3 percent. In Canada, total
sales increased 13 percent, driven by organic local-currency sales growth of 8 percent. In Brazil, total sales and
organic local-currency sales increased 3 percent.

Selling prices were up 0.2 percent year-on-year for the fourth quarter of 2017. In Asia Pacific, strong volume growth in
electronics had a negative impact on price. EMEA and Latin America/Canada had price growth, while U.S. selling prices
declined slightly.
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Year 2017 sales results by geographic area/business segment:

Percent change information compares the full year 2017 with the same period last year, unless otherwise indicated.
Additional discussion of business segment results is provided in the Performance by Business Segment section.

Year ended December 31, 2017

Europe, Latin
United Asia Middle East  America/ Other
States Pacific & Africa Canada  Unallocated Worldwide

Net sales (millions $12,372 $9,809 $ 6,456 $3,033 $ (13) $ 31,657

% of worldwide sales 39.1% 31.0% 20.4% 9.5% — 100.0%
Components of net sales change:
Volume — organic 28% 11.5% 2.5% 2.5% — 5.2%
Price (0.3 (0.3 0.7 1.1 — —
Organic local-currency sales 2.5 11.2 3.2 3.6 — 5.2
Acquisitions 0.5 0.2 0.7 0.2 — 0.4
Divestitures (1.5) (0.4) (0.8) (1.4) — (1.0)
Translation — (0.1 1.7 2.2 — 0.5
Total sales change 15% 10.9% 4.8% 4.6% — 5.1%
Total sales change:
Industrial 3.0% 7.3% 5.9% 4.9% — 4.9%
Safety and Graphics 13% 8.8% 84% 0.6% — 4.5%
Health Care 3.7% 8.6% 1.4% 9.3% — 4.4%
Electronics and Energy 1.0% 16.9% 22% 3.1% — 11.1%
Consumer 0.2% 7.8% 1.7% 7.2% — 2.3%
Organic local-currency sales change:
Industrial 3.9% 7.9% 4.2 % 3.2% — 4.9%
Safety and Graphics 42% 10.5% 6.6 % 2.6% — 6.1%
Health Care 3.7% 8.5 % 0.2% 7.0% — 3.9%
Electronics and Energy 20% 17.0% — % 1.4% — 11.0%
Consumer 0.2% 7.0% (0.2)% 4.2 % — 1.7%

Additional information beyond what is included in the preceding table is as follows:

* Inthe Asia Pacific geographic area, where 3M’s Electronics and Energy business is concentrated, sales
benefited from strengthened demand across most electronics market segments, in addition to strong growth in
3M’s Safety and Graphics business. Total sales in China/Hong Kong grew 16 percent and Japan grew 5 percent.
On an organic local-currency sales basis, China/Hong Kong grew 18 percent and Japan grew 8 percent.

« Inthe EMEA geographic area, Central/East Europe and Middle East/Africa total sales and organic local-
currency grew 5 percent. West Europe total sales grew 5 percent, with organic local-currency sales growth of 3
percent along with an increase related to foreign currency translation.

< Inthe Latin America/Canada geographic area, total sales increased 4 percent in Mexico, as organic local-
currency sales growth of 6 percent was partially offset by divestitures. In Canada, total sales increased 8
percent, with organic-local currency sales growth of 7 percent. In Brazil total sales growth of 9 percent was
driven by foreign currency translation, while organic local-currency sales increased 2 percent.

Foreign currency translation increased year-on-year sales by 0.5 percent, with the translation-related sales increase in
Latin America/Canada and EMEA partially offset by the decreases in Asia Pacific. Selling prices were flat year-on-year
for 2017. In Asia Pacific, strong volume growth in electronics had a negative impact on price. Latin America/Canada and
EMEA had price growth, while the U.S. selling prices declined slightly.
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Year 2016 sales results by geographic area/business segment:

Percent change information compares the full year 2016 with the full year 2015, unless otherwise indicated. Additional
discussion of business segment results is provided in the Performance by Business Segment section.

Year ended December 31, 2016

Europe, Latin
United Asia Middle East America/ Other
States Pacific & Africa Canada Unallocated Worldwide

Net sales (millions $12,188 $8,847 $ 6,163 $2,901 $ 10 $30,109

% of worldwide sales 40.5% 29.4% 20.5% 9.6% — 100.0%
Components of net sales change:
Volume — organic 0.7% (2.5% (0.6 (2.4)% — (0.8)%
Price (0.2 (0.3 1.0 6.1 — 0.7
Organic local-currency sales 0.5 (2.8) 0.4 3.7 — (0.2)
Acquisitions 1.3 0.7 1.7 1.3 — 1.2
Divestitures (0.6) (0.2) (0.7) (0.3) — (0.4)
Translation — 0.2 (2.5 (7.4, — (1.2
Total sales change 1.2% (2.1% (1.1 (2.7Y% — (0.5)%
Total sales change:
Industrial 1.6% 09% 28% (2.2% — 0.1%
Safety and Graphics 6.9% 1.6% (2.7%% — % — 2.5%
Health Care 3.0% 8.2% 4% (1.2% — 2.1%
Electronics and Energy (1.99% (11.4% (2.6 (9.2)% — (8.4)%
Consumer 24% 71.2% (8.2% (5.9% — 12%
Organic local-currency sales change:
Industrial (2.1)% (0.7% 1.8% 4.8% — (0.1)%
Safety and Graphics 2.9% 1.4% 0.2% 4.2% — 2.1%
Health Care 2.6% 8.0% 1.2% 6.9% — 3.6%
Electronics and Energy (1.9% (11.4% (1.0% (2.3% — (7.8%
Consumer 2.4% 6.0% (6.290 0.1% — 1.8%

Sales totaled $30.1 billion, a decrease of 0.5 percent from 2015. Organic local-currency sales declined 0.1 percent, with
organic volume declines of 0.8 percent largely offset by selling price increases of 0.7 percent. Acquisitions added 1.2
percent to sales, while divestitures reduced sales by 0.4 percent. Foreign currency translation reduced sales by 1.2
percent year-on-year.

Total sales increased 1.2 percent in the United States, and declined 1.1 percent in EMEA, 2.1 percent in Asia Pacific, and
2.7 percent in Latin America/Canada. Organic local-currency sales grew 3.7 percent in Latin America/Canada, 0.5
percent in the United States, 0.4 percent in EMEA, and declined 2.8 percent in Asia Pacific.

Financial condition:

3M generated $6.2 billion of operating cash flow in 2017, a decrease of $422 million when compared to 2016. This
followed an increase of $242 million when comparing 2016 to 2015. Refer to the section entitled “Financial Condition
and Liquidity” later in MD&A for a discussion of items impacting cash flows. In February 2016, 3M’s Board of

Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $10 billion of 3M’s outstanding common stock. This program has no pre-
established end date. In 2017, the Company purchased $2.1 billion of its own stock, compared to purchases of $3.8
billion in 2016 and $5.2 billion in 2015. The Company expects to purchase $2.0 billion to $5.0 billion of its own stock in
2018. In January 2018, 3M’s Board of Directors declared a first-quarter 2018 dividend of $1.36 per share, an increase of
16 percent. This marked the 60th consecutive year of dividend increases for 3M. The Company has an AA- credit rating,
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with a stable outlook, from Standard & Poor’'s and?d. credit rating, with a stable outlook, from Mbds Investors
Service. The Company generates significant ongcasfp flow and has proven access to capital mafiietking
throughout business cycles.

Raw materials:

In 2017, the Company continued to manage year-an{gav material input costs, benefiting from inmanagement,
reformulations, and multi-sourcing activities. Taefforts more than offset increasing costs inagenaw material
categories in oil-derivative chemical feedstock kegs. Oil-derivative cost increases also impactotfbedstock
categories, including petroleum based materialegrais, metals and wood pulp based products. Tey ttee Company
is receiving sufficient quantities of all raw masds to meet its reasonably foreseeable produciqgnirements. It is
difficult to predict future shortages of raw masdsior the impact any such shortages would haveh&b/avoided
disruption to its manufacturing operations throggheful management of existing raw material inveas) strategic
relationships with key suppliers, and developmeict gualification of additional supply sources. 3Mmages spend
category price risks through negotiated supply remts, price protection agreements and commoditg gwaps.

Pension and postretirement defined benefit/contritmn plans:

On a worldwide basis, 3M’s pension and postretimrgtpéans were 87 percent funded at year-end 204& pfimary
U.S. qualified pension plan, which is approximat@fpercent of the worldwide pension obligations\9d percent
funded and the international pension plans werped6ent funded. The U.S. non-qualified pension @arot funded
due to tax considerations and other factors. Astetns in 2017 for the primary U.S. qualified pensplan were
12.4%, as 3M strategically invests in both growdgbeds and fixed income matching assets to manafiided status.
For the primary U.S. qualified pension plan, thpested long-term rate of return on an annualizesisifar 2018 is
7.25%, consistent with 2017. The primary U.S. diealipension plan year-end 2017 discount rate wé&%8, down
0.53 percentage points from the year-end 2016 diga@te of 4.21%. The decrease in U.S. discodasn@sulted in an
increased valuation of the projected benefit obiidga(PBO). The primary U.S. qualified pension péafunded status
increased 4 percentage points in 2017 as stromggsisets returns and $800 million in contributiorseased asset
values in excess of the higher PBO due to the figgnit discount rate decline. Additional detail atisicussion of
international plan asset returns and discount fiatpsovided in Note 12 (Pension and PostretirerBemefit Plans).

3M expects to contribute approximately $300 milltor8500 million of cash to its global defined bfithgension and
postretirement plans in 2018. The Company doesaad a required minimum cash pension contributigigation for
its U.S. plans in 2018. 3M expects global defineddiit pension and postretirement expense in 20&#(e
settlements, curtailments, special termination fitnand other) to increase by approximately $7Bioni pre-tax when
compared to 2017. Refer to “Critical AccountingiBsites” within MD&A and Note 12 (Pension and Paotteenent
Benefit Plans) for additional information concei®M’s pension and post-retirement plans.

Divestitures and strategic investments:

In both the fourth quarter and full year of 201¥% Company continued to accelerate investmentsoiwty initiatives
and footprint optimization. In addition, the Compativested certain businesses as it continueddosfits portfolio on
opportunities that create greater value for itsehalders. As shown below, these divestitures #nadiegjic investments
led to a net year-on-year decrease of approxim&®Q1 per diluted share and a benefit of $0.1alpeted share,
respectively, for the three months and year endszkBber 31, 2017:
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Three months ended December 31, 2017 Year ended December 31, 2017

Impact per Impact per
Divestiture impacts and strategic investments netdnefit/(cost) diluted share Pre-tax diluted share
(in millions, except per share amounts) Pre-tax impact after-tax impact after-tax
Divestiture impacts:
2017 divestiture gains $ 96 $ 586
Less: prior year divestiture gains (71) (112)
Year-on-year lost operating loss/(income) from
divested businesses 1 (1)
Year-on-year divestiture impacts, net of operating
loss/(income) $ 26 % 0.05 $ 474 $ 0.61
Strategic investments:
2017 portfolio and footprint optimization activisie
Restructuring actions and exit activities, net of
adjustments $ (20 $ (143
Asset charges and accelerated depreciation (40) (180)
Other costs (4) (30
Less: prior year portfolio and footprint optimizati
activities 19 40
Year-on-year portfolio and footprint optimizatior (45 $ (0.05 (313 $ (0.39
Incremental year-on-year growth initiatives (6) (100)
Total incremental strategic investments $ (51 $ (0.06: $ (413 $ (0.51
Year-on-year divestiture impacts and strategic
investments net benefit/(cost) $ (25) $ (0.01) $ 61 $ 0.10

The total pre-tax year-on-year divestiture impaeét,of strategic investments from the table abave further detailed
below by business group:

Three months ended Year ended

(Millions) December 31, 2017 December 31, 2017
Industrial $ (79, $ (193
Safety and Graphics 93 553
Health Care 6 (43
Electronics and Energy (40) (120)
Consumer 2 (86
Corporate and Unallocated (7) (50)

Total pretax divestiture gains, net of strategiestments $ (25) $ 61

2017 announced and 2018 closed divestitures:

In December 2017, 3M announced it had reached meeagnt to sell substantially all of its Communimas Markets
Division, which consists of optical fiber and coppassive connectivity solutions, structured capsolutions, and
telecommunications system integration services.dusness has annual global sales of approxim&®d9 million.
The Company expects a pre-tax gain of approxim&g00 million in 2018 as a result of this diveg&tu3M expects to
realize a gain of approximately $0.40 per dilutedre from this transaction, net of actions relatethis divestiture.
Refer to Note 2 for additional discussion.

In February 2018, 3M closed on the sale of cepairsonal safety product offerings primarily focusednoise,
environmental, and heat stress monitoring. Thisness has annual sales of approximately $15 millldre transaction
is expected to result in a pre-tax gain of less $20 million that will be reported within the Coanpy’s Safety and
Graphics business. Refer to Note 2 for additiomsdubsion.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Net Sales:

Refer to the preceding “Overview” section and tRerformance by Business Segment” section later&M for
additional discussion of sales change.

Operating Expenses:

2017 versu 2016 versu

(Percent of net sales) 2017 2016 2015 2016 2015
Cost of sales 50.6% 49.9% 50.9% 0.7% (1.0%
Selling, general and administrative expenses 20.8 20.7 20.6 0.1 0.1
Research, development and related expenses 5.8 5.8 5.8 — —
Gain on sale of businesses (1.9) (0.4) (0.2) (1.5) (0.2
Operating income margin 24.7% 24.0% 22.9% 0.7% 1.1%

Operating income margins increased in 2017 ver8a$,driven by gains from sale of businesses, giprivffset by
cost of sales increases. A number of factors imghecvarious income statement line items, suclaasmaterial cost
management, strategic investments, divestituresigio currency, cost management, and pension astogticement
effects. Expanded discussion of each of the incstaiement line items follows in the various secibelow. Pension
and postretirement expense is recorded in costle$sselling, general and administrative expe(S€sA); and
research, development and related expenses (R&M)tdl, 3M’s defined benefit pension and postegtient expense
increased $82 million in 2017, compared to a desed $305 million in 2016. Refer to Note 12 (Pensind
Postretirement Plans) for components of net pegibdnefit cost and the assumptions used to detern@hcost.

The Company is investing in business transformatBusiness transformation is defined as changpsocesses and
internal/external service delivery across 3M to mtw more efficient business models to improve afienal efficiency
and productivity, while allowing 3M to serve custers with greater speed and efficiency. This is kthby the
ongoing multi-year phased implementation of anmamise resource planning (ERP) system on a worldvigsis.

In 2017, as referenced above in the “Divestituras strategic investments” section, 3M incurred $#itlon in
incremental strategic actions, primarily reportdthim the cost of sales and SG&A income statemiestitems.

Of these strategic investments, 3M incurred $9ionil(net of adjustments) in restructuring actiamsl $47 million in
exit activities during 2017. In addition, in theufth quarter of 2015, 3M incurred $114 million &structuring charges.
Refer to Note 4 for additional information on tinepact to operating expenses.

Cost of Sales:
Cost of sales includes manufacturing, engineenmfeeight costs.

Cost of sales as a percent of sales increasedgd2@iti/ due to incremental strategic investmengsaauctivity,
portfolio actions and footprint optimization, fogei currency effects (net of hedge impacts) andériglefined benefit
pension expense. This was partially offset by a-peayear reduction in raw material input costaassult of sourcing
cost reduction projects. Selling prices were flzaryon-year for the full year 2017.

Cost of sales as a percent of sales decreased thd2@ to the combination of selling price incrasased raw material
cost decreases, as selling prices increased mstlspl0.7 percent and raw material cost deflatiaa favorable by
approximately 3.5 percent year-on-year. In addjtamst of sales as a percent of sales benefited livaver defined
benefit pension and postretirement costs. Fourdnitqu2015 restructuring charges also provided/aréble year-on-
year comparison.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses:

SG&A increased $350 million year-on year, or 5.6cpat, during 2017 due to incremental strategiestments and
higher defined benefit pension expense. SG&A dese@&7 million, or 0.1 percent, in 2016 when coraddp 2015,
with 2016 results benefiting from foreign currernianslation, and productivity benefits relatedhe fourth quarter
2015 restructuring. In addition, SG&A in 2016 betesf from lower defined benefit pension and posteaient expense.
Fourth quarter 2015 restructuring charges alsoigealva favorable year-on-year comparison.

Research, Development and Related Expenses:

R&D increased $115 million year-on-year and dead&28 million year-on-year in 2017 and 2016, respely. 3M
continued to invest in its key initiatives, incladiR&D aimed at disruptive innovation programs vitib potential to
create entirely new markets and disrupt existingketa. R&D, measured as a percent of sales, wagesdent in 2017,
2016, and 2015.

Gain on Sale of Businesses:

In 2017, 3M sold the assets of its safety predoriptyewear business, completed the related safarmsfer of control,
as applicable, of its identity management busirgds, its tolling and automated license/numbereptatognition and
electronic monitoring businesses, and sold thetasdéts electrical marking/labeling business. ®oombined basis,
these divestitures resulted in a gain on the dabeisinesses of $586 million. 3M also divestedaiarbusinesses in
2016 and 2015, resulting in gains of $111 milliowd 47 million, respectively. Refer to Note 2 fald&ional detail on
these divestitures.

Operating Income Margin:

3M uses operating income as one of its primaryriass segment performance measurement tools. Refer table
below for a reconciliation of operating income masgfor 2017 and 2016.

Three months ended Year ended
(Percent of net sales) December 31, 2017 December3l, 201" December3l, 201!
Same period last year 22.7% 24.0% 22.9%
Increase/(decrease) in operating income margintaue
Organic volume/other productivity 15 1.1 (1.0
Acquisitions and divestitures (0.3) 14 0.2
Incremental strategic investments (0.7, 1.4 0.1
Selling price and raw material impact 0.4 0.4 1.0
Foreign exchange impacts (0.6 (0.5 (0.2
Pension and postretirement benefit costs (0.2) (0.3 1.0
Current period 22.8% 24.7% 24.0%

Year 2017 and fourth quarter operating income:

Operating income margins increased 0.1 percentaigésyn the fourth quarter of 2017 and increas@dp@rcentage
points for the full year 2017 when compared togame periods last year. 3M benefited from highganic local-
currency sales growth and productivity, partialffset by actuarial adjustments to the Company’pirasor
mask/asbestos liability accrual. Acquisitions anestitures consist of the transactions and intémnacosts, net of
income, that relate to the acquisition of ScoteBafin addition to the year-on-year divestiturengdrefer to Note 2)
and non-repeating operating losses from diveststhbsses, which combined, reduced operating mairgithe fourth
quarter of 2017 and benefited operating income mari@r the full year 2017. Items that reduced afieg margins
were incremental strategic investments in growtbdpctivity and portfolio actions, in addition tbarges related to
3M’s optimization of its portfolio and supply chamotprint. For full year 2017, the benefit fromayeon-year
divestiture gains and non-repeating net operatisgds from divested businesses (primarily relaiede sale of Identity
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Management) was partially offset by the impacthaf Scott Safety acquisition noted earlier. 3M #lepefited from raw
material sourcing cost reduction projects. Lagifygerating margins were reduced by foreign curresifacts (net of
hedge impacts) and higher year-on-year definedfligransion expense.

Year 2016 operating income:

Operating income margins were 24.0 percent in 2@h8pared to 22.9 percent in 2015, an increaselgbédrcentage
points. 3M benefited from the combination of higkeling prices and lower raw material costs, pbwger year-on-year
defined benefit pension and postretirement expefsguisitions and divestitures had a favorable iotma operating
margins. This included solid performances from kbthCapital Safety and Membrana acquisitions. §itige impacts
relate to the Polyfoam business, the library systbasiness, and the license plate converting bssineFrance. In
addition, in the fourth quarter of 2016, 3M solé #ssets of its protective films business andaitsarde battery
technology out-licensing business. Items that redwperating income margins included 2016 stratiegiestments, as
3M took actions to better optimize its manufactgriootprint and accelerated growth investmentssits businesses.
Foreign currency impacts (net of hedging) also cedwperating income margins. Organic volume, pectdty, and
other decreased operating margins as a resulivefrlasset utilization, primarily in the Industriahd Electronics and
Energy businesses. Also, 3M had an unfavorablératioin ruling on an insurance claim, commercidgition
settlements related to Andover Healthcare and Wats and accruals for respirator mask/asbestotitie® These
declines within organic volume, productivity, anther were partially offset by 2015 restructuringuaes, which
provided a favorable year-on-year comparison, andygtivity benefits in 2016 related to the 2018tnecturing
actions.

Other Expense (Income), Net:

See Note 5 for a detailed breakout of this lineite

Interest expense increased during 2017 and 2016ochigher average debt balances and higher Urgowing costs.
In addition, in October 2017, via cash tender aff@M repurchased $305 million aggregate princabunt of its
outstanding notes. The Company recorded an eablyeddinguishment charge of $96 million in the fiuquarter of
2017, which was included within interest expensapi@lized interest related to property, plant agdipment
construction in progress is recorded as a reduttiamerest expense. Capitalized interest wasrillibn, $10 million,
and $13 million, in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respebtive

Interest income increased year-on-year in both 20172016 due to higher average interest rates.

Provision for Income Taxes:

(Percent of pre-tax income) 2017 2016 2015
Effective tax rate 35.5% 28.3% 29.1%

The effective tax rate for 2017 was 35.5 percemtmared to 28.3 percent in 2016, an increase gbér@entage points.
The effective tax rate for 2016 was 28.3 percemfymared to 29.1 percent in 2015, a decrease gfddd@ntage points.
The changes in the tax rates between years weigctegh by many factors, including the enactmenhefftax Cuts and
Jobs Act (TCJA) in December 2017 as further deedrib the Overview,lhcome, earnings per share, and effective tax
rate adjusted for impacts of the Tax Cuts and JattTCJA) -(non-GAAP measuresction and in Note 9. During

the fourth quarter of 2017, 3M recorded a net tepease of $762 million related to the enactmenthefTCJA. The
expense is primarily related to the TCJA's traositiax on previously unremitted earnings of non-ibsidiaries and

is net of remeasurement of 3M’s deferred tax assaddiabilities considering the TCJA's newly erexttax rates and
certain other impacts. This provisional amountigjsct to adjustment during the measurement perfiagh to one year
following the December 2017 enactment of the TGiAprovided by recent SEC guidance.

The TCJA establishes new tax laws that will alde@f2018 and future periods, including, but notited to: 1)

reduction of the U.S. federal corporate tax radbenfi35 percent to 21 percent, 2) the creation ob#se erosion anti-
abuse tax (BEAT), 3) the creation of a new provigiesigned to tax global intangible low-taxed ineo{@ILTI), 4) a
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general elimination of U.S. federal income taxeslmidends from foreign subsidiaries, 5) limitatsoon the use of
foreign tax credits to reduce the U.S. income iakility, 6) limitations on the deductibility of cain executive
compensation, and 7) the repeal of the domestidymtn activity deduction. Considering the impawftshe TCJA and
other factors, the Company currently estimatesffective tax rate for 2018 will be approximately ® 22 percent. The
tax rate can vary from quarter to quarter due $ordite items, such as the settlement of incomaudits, changes in tax
laws, measurement period adjustment effects oprihvsional items and remaining analyses to corapteted in Note
9 related to the 2017 impact of the TCJA, emplmsteEre-based payment accounting; as well as reguaators, such
as the geographic mix of income before taxes.

Refer to Note 9 for further discussion of incomesta
Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interest:

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
Net income attributable to noncontrolling inter $ 11 $ 8 $ 8

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interextresents the elimination of the income or log#batable to non-3M
ownership interests in 3M consolidated entitiese @mount primarily relates to 3M India Limited,wlfiich 3M’s
effective ownership is 75 percent.

Currency Effects:

3M estimates that year-on-year currency effectduding hedging impacts, decreased pre-tax incoyrgli1 million
and $127 million in 2017 and 2016, respectivelyedhestimates include the effect of translatinditsrisom local
currencies into U.S. dollars; the impact of cursefiactuations on the transfer of goods betweendjdrations in the
United States and abroad; and transaction gaintoasds, including derivative instruments desigioectduce foreign
currency exchange rate risks. 3M estimates thatyeaear derivative and other transaction gairtslasses decreased
pre-tax income by approximately $152 million an@$6illion in 2017 and 2016, respectively. RefeNmte 13 in the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfdrimation concerning 3M’s hedging activities.

PERFORMANCE BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

For a detailed discussion of the markets servedygras of products offered by 3M’s business segmesate Iltem 1,
Business Segments. Financial information and adfselosures are provided in the Notes to the Cadesigld Financial
Statements. Effective in the first quarter of 2049 part of 3M’s continuing effort to improve tHegament of its
businesses around markets and customers, the Cgmyzate the following changes:

Integration of former Renewable Energy Division
« 3M'’s former Renewable Energy Division (RED) hasrbegegrated into existing divisions within the
Electronics and Energy business segment and Safet@raphics business segment. 3M is committed to
leadership in sustainability and to enabling theamtement of energy solutions into the future.draéing
RED'’s offerings into larger divisions already sexyithese segments will provide increased scaléaitd on
strength by leveraging 3M’s existing brands, gavtarket capabilities, and relationships to suppoivh
objectives.

Creation of Automotive and Aerospace Solutions Bigin

« 3M created the Automotive and Aerospace Solutioingsn, which combined the former Automotive
Division and Aerospace and Commercial Transpontafitvision, which were both within the Industrial
business segment. Combining the strengths alorgthét deep industry knowledge of each business will
enable this new division to utilize shared techgglplatforms and processes to deliver a broadesfset
innovative solutions, along with world-class qualind service to 3M’s customers. This combinatidlhhvelp
accelerate the Company’s profitable growth and etardevance across the automotive, aerospace and
commercial transportation industries.
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Consolidation of U.S. customer account activitympacting dual credit reporting

e The Company consolidated its customer accountifictivthe U.S. into more centralized sales dis#id his
improved alignment reduces the complexity for costs when interacting with multiple businesses iwith
3M, creating a better customer experience. 3M Bssisegment reporting measures include dual ¢oedit
business segments for certain U.S. sales and dedaterating income. This dual credit is based orthvh
business segment provides customer account acitityrespect to a particular product sold in th&Urhe
alignment of U.S. customer accounts to fewer, nfiocesed sales districts changed the attributiodiuad credit
across 3M’s business segments.

Business segment information presented hereinctefthe impact of these changes for all periodsanted. 3M
manages its operations in five business segmehésrdportable segments are Industrial; Safety aagttics; Health
Care; Electronics and Energy; and Consumer.

Corporate and Unallocated:

In addition to these five business segments, 3Nyas<ertain costs to “Corporate and Unallocatedhich is presented
separately in the preceding business segmentsadatllen Note 17. Corporate and Unallocated inclideariety of
miscellaneous items, such as corporate investnans @nd losses, certain derivative gains and $pssetain
insurance-related gains and losses, certain litigatnd environmental expenses, corporate restingtaharges and
certain under- or over-absorbed costs (e.g. pensiook-based compensation) that the Company ditesmot to
allocate directly to its business segments. Becthise&ategory includes a variety of miscellaneiterss, it is subject to
fluctuation on a quarterly and annual basis.

Corporate and Unallocated operating expenses isedeay $80 million in 2017 when compared to 20h&dth the
first and second quarters of 2017, a portion ofseheerance actions were reflected in Corporate aradlocated. In the
fourth quarter, an incremental $58 million waseefed within Corporate and Unallocated relatechéoGompany’s
actuarial adjustments to its respirator mask/asisditbility accrual. In addition, 3M’s defined kefit pension and
postretirement expense allocation to Corporateldmadlocated increased by approximately $30 millio2017.

Corporate and Unallocated operating expenses destdry $77 million in 2016 when compared to 20M's3efined
benefit pension and postretirement expense allocét Corporate and Unallocated decreased by $2H8min 2016
when compared to 2015. In addition, the portiothef2015 restructuring actions charged to corpdf8& million)
provided a favorable year-on-year comparison. Theseeases were partially offset by an increasegal expenses
related to an unfavorable second quarter 2016ratioih ruling on an insurance claim, commerciaéition settlements
related to Andover Healthcare and TransWeb, andiatscfor respirator mask/asbestos liabilities.

Operating Business Segments:
Each of 3M’s business segments were impacted bfotlosving pre-tax amounts:

Incremental divestiture gains, net of strategic istments charges, by business segment:

(Millions) 2017
Industrial (193
Safety and Graphics 553
Health Care (43)
Electronics and Energy (120
Consumer (86)
Corporate and Unallocated (50)
Total $ 61
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Restructuring charge by business segment:

(Millions) Fourth Quarter 2015
Industrial 42
Safety and Graphics 11
Health Care 9
Electronics and Energy 12
Consumer 3
Corporate and Unallocated 37
Total $ 114

Information related to 3M’s business segments és@nted in the tables that follow. Organic locakency sales include
both organic volume impacts plus selling price iotpaAcquisition and divestiture impacts, if angg aneasured
separately for the first twelve months post-tratieac Foreign currency translation impacts andlteddes change are
also provided for each business segment. Any nedeeto EMEA relate to Europe, Middle East and dafion a
combined basis.

The following discusses total year results for 26aimhpared to 2016 and 2016 compared to 2015, fdr leasiness
segment. Refer to the preceding year 2017 and 28l&8 results by geographic area/business segpwitrs for
additional sales change information.

Industrial Business (34.5% of consolidated sales):

2017 2016 2015
Sales (millions) $ 10,911 $ 10,399 $ 10,388
Sales change analysis:
Organic local-currency 4.9% (0.1)%
Acquisitions — 1.6
Divestitures (0.5 (0.3
Translation 0.5 (1.1
Total sales change 4.9% 0.1%
Operating income (millions) $ 2289 $ 239% $ 2,277
Percent change (4.4)% 5.2%
Percent of sales 21.0% 23.0% 21.9%

Year 2017 results:

Sales in Industrial totaled $10.9 billion, up 4&gent in U.S. dollars. Organic local-currency satereased 4.9
percent, divestitures reduced sales by 0.5 peraadtforeign currency translation increased sajed b percent.

On an organic local-currency sales basis:
e Sales grew in all businesses, led by advanced iagtesiutomotive and aerospace solutions, inddistria
adhesives and tapes, and abrasives.

Acquisitions and divestitures:
* There were no acquisitions or divestitures thasetbduring 2017. The year-on-year divestiture seiesge
was due to the impact of 2016 activity.

Operating income:
« Operating income margins decreased 2.0 percentagtspas divestiture impacts related to the fisdrter
2016 sale of the Polyfoam business resulted irt gg@@-on-year operating income margin reductiof.@f
percentage points. In addition, incremental stiategyestments decreased margins by 1.0 percepi@igés.
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Year 2016 results:

Sales totaled $10.4 billion, up 0.1 percent in Wi@lars. Organic local-currency sales were flatjasitions added 1.6
percent, divestitures reduced sales by 0.3 peraadtforeign currency translation reduced sales.byercent. The flat
organic local-currency sales impact reflected eotin@hallenges in the global industrial sector.ustdal rebounded in
the fourth quarter of 2016, when it reflected 4€gent organic local-currency sales growth.

On an organic local-currency sales basis:
e Sales grew in automotive and aerospace solutiasnetive aftermarket, and separation and purificat
e Sales declined in abrasives and industrial adhssind tapes.
e Sales also declined in advanced materials, prigndtie to persistent weakness in the oil and gasrendets.

Acquisitions and divestitures:
* In October 2016, 3M sold the assets of its tempyqguantective films business.
e InJanuary 2016, 3M completed its sale of 3M’s pueiged polyurethane foam adhesives business (forme
known as Polyfoam).
« Acquisition sales growth in 2016 related to theuasitjon of Membrana (closed in August 2015), aliag
provider of microporous membranes and modulesilfoaition in the life sciences, industrial, and siadty
segments.

Operating income:
e Operating income margins increased 1.1 percentaig¢sp helped by the gain on sale of Polyfoam asd i
temporary protective films business, productivignbfits from fourth quarter 2015 restructuring @cs, and
lower raw materials costs.

Safety and Graphics Business (19.4% of consolidagates):

2017 2016 2015
Sales (millions) $ 6,148 $ 5881 $ 5,736
Sales change analysis:
Organic local-currency 6.1% 2.1%
Acquisitions 2.2 3.9
Divestitures (4.3 (1.8
Translation 0.5 (1.7
Total sales change 4.5% 2.5%
Operating income (millions) $ 2,067 $ 1423 $ 1,332
Percent change 45.3% 6.8%
Percent of sales 33.6% 24.2% 23.2%

Year 2017 results:

Sales in Safety and Graphics totaled $6.1 billign4.5 percent in U.S. dollars. Organic local-cocsesales increased
6.1 percent, acquisitions increased sales by 2@&pt divestitures reduced sales by 4.3 percedtfa@eign currency
translation increased sales by 0.5 percent.

On an organic local-currency sales basis:

« Sales growth was led by personal safety and rogfiagules.
« Transportation safety showed positive growth, wttile commercial solutions business was flat.
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Acquisitions and divestitures:

e InJanuary 2017, 3M sold its safety prescriptioavegar business.

* Inthe second quarter of 2017, 3M finalized the dlits identity management business and tollimg) a
automated license/number plate recognition business

* In October 2017, 3M completed the acquisition aftSEEafety.

* Also in October 2017, 3M completed the sale oéletronic monitoring business.

* In February 2018, 3M closed on the sale of ceqairsonal safety products primarily focused on noise
environmental, and heat stress monitoring.

Operating income:
e Operating income margins increased 9.4 percentaiggsplargely driven by year-on-year divestituegng that
were partially offset by acquisition charges amtémental strategic investments, which combinedlted in a
net operating income margin benefit of 8.6 peragmiaoints.

Year 2016 results:

Sales totaled $5.9 billion, up 2.5 percent in W&lars. Organic local-currency sales increasecp®rtent, and foreign
currency translation reduced sales by 1.7 peréanjuisitions added 3.9 percent, while divestituegtuced sales by 1.8
percent.

On an organic local-currency sales basis:
e Sales growth was led by roofing granules, which dadnsistently strong year.
e Commercial solutions and personal safety also stgesitive growth.
e Sales declined in transportation safety (formeawdffic safety and security).

Acquisitions and divestitures:
« Acquisition sales growth reflected the acquisitidrCapital Safety in August 2015. Capital Safetg isading
global provider of fall protection equipment.
* Inthe fourth quarter of 2015, 3M divested its fise plate converting business in France and sutzdtall of
its library systems business. In the first quanfe2016, 3M divested the remainder of the librargtems
business.

Operating income:
e Operating income margins increased 1.0 percentaige, penefiting from higher selling prices and Ewaw
material costs, plus productivity benefits relatedourth quarter 2015 restructuring actions thatenpartially
offset by by margin dilution related to the Capaifety acquisition, and divestiture impacts ongime.

Health Care Business (18.4% of consolidated sales):

2017 2016 2015
Sales (millions) $ 5,813 $ 5,566 $ 5,449
Sales change analysis:
Organic local-currency 3.9% 3.6%
Acquisitions — 0.2
Translation 0.5 1.7
Total sales change 4.4% 2.1%
Operating income (millions) $ 1,781 % 1,763 % 1,730
Percent change 1.0% 1.9%
Percent of sales 30.6% 31.7% 31.7%
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Year 2017 results:

Sales in Health Care totaled $5.8 billion, up 4efcpnt in U.S. dollars. Organic local-currency satereased 3.9
percent and foreign currency translation increasdels by 0.5 percent.

On an organic local-currency sales basis:
« Sales increased in all businesses, led by drugedglsystems, food safety, and medical consumdbleish is
comprised of the critical and chronic care anddtife prevention businesses).

Acquisitions:
« In September 2017, 3M acquired Elution Technolqdi€€, a manufacturer of food safety test kits.

Operating income:
e Operating income margins decreased 1.1 percentoyegear, as incremental strategic investmentsyamily
related to accelerating future growth opportunjtiesluced margins by 0.7 percentage points.

Year 2016 results:

Sales totaled $5.6 billion, an increase of 2.1 @etra U.S. dollars. Organic local-currency saleseased 3.6 percent,
acquisitions added 0.2 percent, and foreign cugréramslation reduced sales by 1.7 percent.

On an organic local-currency sales basis:
e Sales growth was broad-based across the entiréglHeate portfolio, led by food safety, critical aclaronic
care, and drug delivery systems.
« In developing markets, Health Care organic locatency sales grew 7 percent.
« 3M continued to increase investments across thiemésses to drive efficient growth.

Acquisitions:
« Acquisition sales growth related to the March 2@ufchase of lvera Medical Corp, a manufacturereatn
care products that disinfect and protect devicesl @isr access into a patient’s bloodstream.

Operating income:
*  Operating income increased 1.9 percent to $1.Bbjlivhile margins held steady at 31.7 percent.
e Acquisitions had a minimal impact on operating imeomargins.

Electronics and Energy Business (16.3% of consotigth sales):

2017 2016 2015
Sales (millions) $ 5,159 $ 4643 $ 5,069
Sales change analysis:
Organic local-currency 11.0% (7.8%
Divestitures (0.2) —
Translation 0.3 (0.6
Total sales change 11.1% (8.4)%
Operating income (millions) $ 1,254 $ 1,041 $ 1,083
Percent change 20.4% (3.9%
Percent of sales 24.3% 22.4% 21.4%
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Year 2017 results:

Sales in Electronics and Energy totaled $5.2 Inilligp 11.1 percent in U.S. dollars. Organic loaakency sales
increased 11.0 percent, divestitures reduced bglés2 percent, and foreign currency translatiangased sales by 0.3
percent.

Total sales within the electronics-related busiesssere up 16 percent while energy-related busiisessre up 2
percent.

On an organic local-currency sales basis:

e Sales increased 16 percent in 3M’s electronicgadlhusinesses, with increases in both displaynaend
systems and electronics materials solutions, abubmesses drove increased penetration on OEKbptat in
addition to strengthened end-market demand in cnaselectronics.

e Sales increased 1 percent in 3M’s energy-relatsthbeses, as sales growth in electrical marketgasdilly
offset by declines in telecommunications.

Divestitures:
* Inthe fourth quarter of 2017, 3M sold the asséisscelectrical marking/labeling business.
* In December 2016, 3M sold the assets of its cathattery technology out-licensing business.
e In December 2017, 3M announced the sale of sulisligrell of its Communication Markets division, weh is
expected to close in 2018.

Operating income:
e Operating income margins increased 1.9 percentaiggspas benefits from higher organic volume were
partially offset by 2017 footprint and portfoliotams and year-on-year divestiture impacts. Thesers
resulted in a year-on-year operating income mamgguction of 2.3 percentage points.

Year 2016 results:

Sales totaled $4.6 billion, down 8.4 percent in.W@&lars. Organic local-currency sales declinegipércent, and
foreign currency translation reduced sales by @ggnt.

Total sales within the electronics-related and gypeelated businesses decreased 10 percent andehpeaespectively.

On an organic local-currency sales basis:

e Sales decreased 10 percent in 3M’s electronicseatlausinesses, with declines in both electroniaterals
solutions and display materials and systems. 3Mimpacted by weak end-market demand across most
consumer electronic applications.

« Sales decreased approximately 3 percent in 3M’sggrelated businesses, with an increase in
telecommunications more than offset by a declingléctrical markets. 3M exited its backsheet bissirie
December 2015, which contributed to the reductiveriergy-related sales.

Divestitures:
« In December 2016, 3M sold the assets of its cathadtery technology out-licensing business.

Operating income:
e Operating income decreased 3.9 percent to $1i0rhill
e Operating income margins were 22.4 percent compar2d.4 percent in 2015, as divestiture gains and
productivity benefits from past portfolio and restturing actions benefited results.
« Expenses related to portfolio management actio291®, in addition to lower organic volume, reduced
operating income margins.
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Consumer Business (14.5% of consolidated sales):

2017 2016 2015
Sales (millions) $ 4589 $ 4,484 $ 4,429
Sales change analysis:
Organic local-currency 1.7% 1.8%
Translation 0.6 (0.6)
Total sales change 2.3% 1.2%
Operating income (millions) $ 993 $ 1,065 $ 1,048
Percent change (6.8)% 1.6%
Percent of sales 21.6% 23.7% 23.7%

Year 2017 results:

Sales in Consumer totaled $4.6 billion, up 2.3 @eran U.S. dollars. Organic local-currency sateseased 1.7 percent,
while foreign currency translation increased sale8.6 percent.

On an organic local-currency sales basis:
e Sales grew in consumer health care, home improveraed home care.
e The stationery and office supplies business detlihee to channel inventory adjustments, primarilthie U.S.
office retail and wholesale market.

Operating income:
*  Operating income margins declined 2.1 percentagegggear-on-year, in part due to incremental sgiat
investments, which reduced margins by 1.9 percenpaints.

Year 2016 results:

Consumer sales totaled $4.5 billion, up 1.2 pertebkS. dollars. Organic local-currency sales éased 1.8 percent,
and foreign currency translation reduced sales.6y6rcent.

On an organic local-currency sales basis:
e Sales growth was led by home improvement, in aglitb consumer health care.

Operating income:
*  Operating income was $1.1 billion, up 1.6 percentnf2015.
« Operating income margins were 23.7 percent, bémgfitom ongoing productivity efforts.

PERFORMANCE BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA

While 3M manages its businesses globally and betiéte business segment results are the most ntlmeasure of
performance, the Company also utilizes geograpieia data as a secondary performance measure. Egpestare
generally reported within the geographic area whigedinal sales to 3M customers are made. A poricthe products
or components sold by 3M’s operations to its custenare exported by these customers to differesgrg@hic areas.
As customers move their operations from one gedieagrea to another, 3M’s results will follow. Thuret sales in a
particular geographic area are not indicative af-eser consumption in that geographic area. Fimdimdiormation
related to 3M operations in various geographic@ige@rovided in Note 18.

Refer to the “Overview” section for a summary of sales by geographic area and business segment.
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Geographic Area Supplemental Information

Property, Plant and
Equipment - net

Employees as of December 31, Capital Spending as of December 31,
(Millions, except Employees) 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016
United States 36,958 35,748 35973 $ 852 $ 834 $ 936 $4,891 $4,914
Asia Pacific 18,283 18,124 17,642 209 228 172 1,672 1,573
Europe, Middle East and Africa 20,869 20,203 20,563 256 294 249 1,798 1,512
Latin America and Canada 15,426 17,509 15,268 56 64 104 505 517
Total Company 91,536 91584 89,446 $1,373 $1,420 $1,461 $8,866 $8,516

Employment:
Employment decreased by 48 positions in 2017 acreased by 2,138 positions in 2016.
Capital Spending/Net Property, Plant and Equipment:

Investments in property, plant and equipment engideith across many diverse markets, helping tat mesluct
demand and increasing manufacturing efficiency2Qh7, 62% of 3M’s capital spending was within theiteld States,
followed by Europe, Middle East and Africa; Asiaciia; and Latin America/Canada. 3M is increasitgjinvestment in
manufacturing and sourcing capability in order trenclosely align its product capability with ites in major
geographic areas in order to best serve its cussthmughout the world with proprietary, automatefficient, safe and
sustainable processes. Capital spending is disgtussaore detail later in MD&A in the section efgd “Cash Flows
from Investing Activities.”

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Information regarding significant accounting padgiis included in Note 1 of the consolidated finalngtatements. As
stated in Note 1, the preparation of financialestagnts requires management to make estimates sumchisons that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenue and expenses, and related disclosurenthgent assets and
liabilities. Management bases its estimates omlticstl experience and on various assumptions tieabelieved to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the resulthioh form the basis for making judgments aboutdheying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily appefrom other sources. Actual results may diffem these estimates.

The Company believes its most critical accountistingates relate to legal proceedings, the Compamssion and
postretirement obligations, asset impairments andme taxes. Senior management has discussedvbiepiment,
selection and disclosure of its critical account@sgimates with the Audit Committee of 3M’s Boafddirectors.

Legal Proceedings:

The categories of claims for which the Companyépsobable and estimable liability, the amount®fiability
accruals, and the estimates of its related inseregxeivables are critical accounting estimatesedito legal
proceedings. Please refer to the section entitkedcess for Disclosure and Recording of Liabilié@sl Insurance
Receivables Related to Legal Proceedings” (condaiiméLegal Proceedings” in Note 15) for additiommaflormation
about such estimates.

Pension and Postretirement Obligations:

3M has various company-sponsored retirement plansring substantially all U.S. employees and manpleyees
outside the United States. The primary U.S. definedefit pension plan was closed to new participaffective
January 1, 2009. The Company accounts for its ddfienefit pension and postretirement health gaatdife insurance
benefit plans in accordance with Accounting Staddaodification (ASC) 715Compensation — Retirement Benefits
measuring plan assets and benefit obligations mdétermining the amount of net periodic benefgtcASC 715
requires employers to recognize the underfundexerfunded status of a defined benefit pensionostrptirement plan
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as an asset or liability in its statement of finahposition and recognize changes in the fundetlistin the year in
which the changes occur through accumulated ottrapeehensive income, which is a component of stoickdns’
equity. While the company believes the valuatiorthods used to determine the fair value of plantass® appropriate
and consistent with other market participants,ube of different methodologies or assumptions terdgne the fair
value of certain financial instruments could resulh different estimate of fair value at the repay date. See Note 12
for additional discussion of actuarial assumptiosad in determining defined benefit pension andrptisement health
care liabilities and expenses.

Pension benefits associated with these plans aergty based primarily on each participant’s ye#rservice,
compensation, and age at retirement or terminaiiba.benefit obligation represents the presentevafithe benefits
that employees are entitled to in the future favises already rendered as of the measurementa¢eCompany
measures the present value of these future bebgfitsojecting benefit payment cash flows for eadhre period and
discounting these cash flows back to the Decemben&surement date, using the yields of a portfflinigh quality,
fixed-income debt instruments that would producghdiows sufficient in timing and amount to sefit®jected future
benefits. Historically, the single aggregated distaate used for each plan’s benefit obligatiors atso used for the
calculation of all net periodic benefit costs, udihg the measurement of the service and inteosts cBeginning in
2016, 3M changed the method used to estimate thizs@nd interest cost components of the net deripension and
other postretirement benefit costs. The new methedsures service cost and interest cost sepatately the spot yield
curve approach applied to each corresponding dimigaService costs are determined based on duarapecific spot
rates applied to the service cost cash flows. Mmtexést cost calculation is determined by applylntation-specific spot
rates to the year-by-year projected benefit paymdrite spot yield curve approach does not affectitbasurement of
the total benefit obligations as the change iniserand interest costs offset in the actuarial gaimd losses recorded in
other comprehensive income. The Company changtitttoew method to provide a more precise measuwservice
and interest costs by improving the correlatiomeein the projected benefit cash flows and the elis@pot yield curve
rates. The Company accounted for this change hargge in estimate prospectively beginning in the fjuarter of
2016.

Using this methodology, the Company determinedadistrates for its plans as follow:

International
Pension u.s.
U.S. Qualified (weighted Postretirement
Pension average) Medical

December 31, 2017 Liability:

Benefit obligation 3.68% 2.41% 3.60%
2018 Net Periodic Benefit Cost Components:

Service cost 3.78% 2.28% 3.77%

Interest cost 3.35% 2.14% 3.20%

Another significant element in determining the Camgs pension expense in accordance with ASC 71fteigxpected
return on plan assets, which is based on strasesgiet allocation of the plan, long-term capitalkeareturn
expectations, and expected performance from attixesstment management. For the primary U.S. gedlifiension
plan, the expected long-term rate of return onrarualized basis for 2018 is 7.25%, equal to 20EfeRo Note 12 for
information on how the 2017 rate was determineduiReon assets assumptions for international peresial other post-
retirement benefit plans are calculated on a plaptan basis using plan asset allocations and ¢xgddang-term rate of
return assumptions. The weighted average expeetachrfor the international pension plan is 5.022018,
compared to 5.16% for 2017.

For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Companmgnized total consolidated defined benefit prepnsion and
postretirement expense (after settlements, curggitey special termination benefits and other) &3billion, up from
$251 million in 2016. Defined benefit pension amdipetirement expense (before settlements, curatisy special
termination benefits and other) is anticipatechitréase to approximately $409 million in 2018, rmoréase of $76
million compared to 2017.

The table below summarizes the impact on 2018 peresipense for the U.S. and international pensianspof a 0.25
percentage point increase/decrease in the explectgderm rate of return on plan assets and dido@ie assumptions
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used to measure plan liabilities and 2017 net paribenefit cost. The table assumes all other fa@oe held constant,
including the slope of the discount rate yield @av
Increase (Decrease) in Net Periodic Benefit Cost

Discount Rate Expected Return on Assets
(Millions) -0.25% +0.25% -0.25% +0.25%
U.S. pension plans $ 34 $ (33 % 38 $ (38)
International pension plans 24 (23) 16 (16)

Asset Impairments:

As of December 31, 2017, net property, plant andpement totaled $8.9 billion and net identifiabf¢aingible assets
totaled $2.9 billion. Management makes estimatesaasumptions in preparing the consolidated firsstatements for
which actual results will emerge over long perioflime. This includes the recoverability of loriged assets
employed in the business, including assets of aequiusinesses. These estimates and assumptiocissely
monitored by management and periodically adjustediraumstances warrant. For instance, expected igss may be
shortened or an impairment recorded based on ajefiarihe expected use of the asset or performairite related
asset group.

Of the $2.9 billion in net identifiable intangibéessets, $0.6 billion relates to indefinite-liveaddenames, primarily
Capital Safety, whose tradenames ($520 milliorcguisition date) have been in existence for oveyésys (refer to
Note 2 for more detail). The primary valuation teicjue used in estimating the fair value of indeéidived intangible
assets (tradenames) is a discounted cash flow agpr8pecifically, a relief of royalty rate is ajepl to estimated sales,
with the resulting amounts then discounted usingpropriate market/technology discount rate. Efiefrof royalty
rate is the estimated royalty rate a market pawiti would pay to acquire the right to market/pesthe product. If the
resulting discounted cash flows are less than tlok value of the indefinite lived intangible assetpairment exists,
and the asset value must be written down. Basechpairment testing in the third quarter of 2017 imgairment was
indicated. The discounted cash flows related taCthpital Safety tradename exceeded its book valuadre than 15
percent.

3M goodwill totaled approximately $10.5 billion asDecember 31, 2017. 3M’s annual goodwill impainttesting is
performed in the fourth quarter of each year. Impant testing for goodwill is done at a reportingtlevel, with all
goodwill assigned to a reporting unit. Reportingsiare one level below the business segment lbutlare required to
be combined when reporting units within the sanggrant have similar economic characteristics. At 8\porting units
correspond to a division. 3M did not combine anyt®feporting units for impairment testing.

An impairment loss would be recognized when theyirag amount of the reporting unit's net assetseexs the
estimated fair value of the reporting unit, andlties would equal that difference. The estimaté&dvidue of a reporting
unit is determined using earnings for the reporting multiplied by a price/earnings ratio for coangble industry
groups, or by using a discounted cash flow anal@distypically uses the price/earnings ratio apphofor stable and
growing businesses that have a long history aml trecord of generating positive operating income eash flows. 3M
uses the discounted cash flow approach for stariesp position and declining businesses, in aoiditd using for
businesses where the price/earnings ratio valuatiethod indicates additional review is warrantéd.a@so uses
discounted cash flow as an additional tool for besses that may be growing at a slower rate tlmptl due to
economic or other conditions.

As described in Note 17, effective in the first gaaof 2017, 3M made business segment reporting@és. For any
product moves that resulted in reporting unit clesnghe Company applied the relative fair valuehmeto determine
the impact on goodwill of the associated reportings. During the first quarter of 2017, the Compaompleted its
assessment of any potential goodwill impairmentégorting units impacted by this new structure datérmined that
no impairment existed. The discussion that folloglates to the separate fourth quarter 2017 anmslirment test and
is in the context of the reporting unit structunattexisted at that time.

As of October 1, 2017, 3M had 24 primary reportimits, with ten reporting units accounting for appmately 86

percent of the goodwill. These ten reporting uniese comprised of the following divisions: Advandddterials,
Communication Markets, Display Materials and Systelfealth Information Systems, Industrial Adhesiaed
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Tapes, Infection Prevention, Oral Care SolutiomssBnal Safety, Separation and Purification, arah3portation
Safety. The estimated fair value for all reportinmgts was in excess of carrying value by approxatyad0 percent or
more. 3M’s market value at both December 31, 2@hd, September 30, 2017, was significantly in exoé#s
shareholders’ equity of approximately $12 billion.

As discussed in Note 2, 3M announced the saleldtantially all of its Communication Markets divisi which is
expected to close in 2018, which will result inasociated goodwill reduction of approximately $a1lion upon
sale.

In 2017, 3M determined fair values using eithefratustry price-earnings ratio approach or a distedicash flows
analysis. Where applicable, 3M used a weightedameediscounted cash flow analysis for certain @timis, using
projected cash flows that were weighted based ffereint sales growth and terminal value assumptiamong other
factors. The weighting was based on managemertiaates of the likelihood of each scenario occuyyrin

3M is a highly integrated enterprise, where busiaeshare technology and leverage common fundahsématiagths and
capabilities, thus many of 3M’s businesses couldeasily be sold on a stand-alone basis. 3M’s fecusesearch and
development has resulted in a portion of 3M’s vdlamg comprised of internally developed businesisatshave no
goodwill associated with them. Based on the antaslin the fourth quarter of 2017, no goodwill eimpnent was
indicated for any of the reporting units.

Factors which could result in future impairmentrgfess include, among others, changes in worldwide@aic
conditions, changes in competitive conditions amst@mer preferences, and fluctuations in foreigmericy exchange
rates. These risk factors are discussed in ItenfR&k Factors,” of this document. In addition, olgas in the weighted
average cost of capital could also impact impairtesting results. As indicated above, during tret fuarter of 2017,
the Company completed its assessment of any patgatddwill impairment for reporting units impacteyg changes
between reporting units and determined that no impnt existed. Long-lived assets with a definite &re reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in cistances indicate that the carrying amount of aatgasset group)
may not be recoverable. If future non-cash asseairment charges are taken, 3M would expect thigtaportion of
the long-lived assets or goodwill would be impair@il will continue to monitor its reporting uniteéasset groups in
2018 for any triggering events or other indicamirgnpairment.

Income Taxes:

The extent of 3M’s operations involves dealing witicertainties and judgments in the applicationarhplex tax
regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions. Thadl taxes paid are dependent upon many factoisidimg) negotiations
with taxing authorities in various jurisdictionsdaresolution of disputes arising from federal,estaind international tax
audits. The Company recognizes potential liabdlis@d records tax liabilities for anticipated taxliaissues in the
United States and other tax jurisdictions basedsoestimate of whether, and the extent to whicldjteonal taxes will
be due. The Company follows guidance provided b A80,Income Taxegegarding uncertainty in income taxes, to
record these liabilities (refer to Note 9 for aduitl information). The Company adjusts these ressein light of
changing facts and circumstances; however, duseteamplexity of some of these uncertainties, thimate resolution
may result in a payment that is materially difféarisom the Company’s current estimate of the takilities. If the
Company’s estimate of tax liabilities proves toléss than the ultimate assessment, an additioaajelto expense
would result. If payment of these amounts ultimafebves to be less than the recorded amountsetiegsal of the
liabilities would result in tax benefits being remized in the period when the Company determinediabilities are no
longer necessary.

During the fourth quarter of 2017, 3M recorded atar expense related to the enactment of the Tag &d Jobs Act
(TCJA). The expense is primarily related to the ABJransition tax on previously unremitted earrsrgf non-U.S.
subsidiaries and is net of remeasurement of 3Marted tax assets and liabilities considering tRIA’s newly
enacted tax rates and certain other impacts. Asisied in Note 9, this expense is a provisionaluatand is subject to
adjustment during the measurement period of umé&year following the December 2017 enactment®fMBJA, as
provided by recent SEC guidance.
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NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Information regarding new accounting pronounceminitscluded in Note 1 to the Consolidated FinanStatements.
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

The strength and stability of 3M’s business modhel strong free cash flow capability, together witbven capital
markets access, positions the Company to be alaldddurther leverage to its capital structureebting in 3M’s
businesses to drive organic growth remains thegiisrity for capital deployment, including reselarand development,
capital expenditures, and commercialization cafigblhvestment in organic growth will be supplerteshby
complementary acquisitions. 3M will also continogéturn cash to shareholders through dividendssaace
repurchases. Sources for cash availability in thitdd States, such as ongoing cash flow from ojmersand access to
capital markets, have historically been sufficientund dividend payments to shareholders, as agfunding U.S.
acquisitions and other items as needed. The TCJdates additional repatriation opportunities for &vaccess
international cash positions on a continual andyoimg basis and will help support U.S. capital dgpients needs. For
those international earnings still considered toddevested indefinitely, the Company currently hagplans or
intentions to repatriate these funds for U.S. ojp@ma. See Note 9 for further information on eagsiconsidered to be
reinvested indefinitely.

3M's primary short-term liquidity needs are metihgh cash on hand and U.S. commercial paper issaa8i®
believes it will have continuous access to the cencial paper market. 3M’s commercial paper progpammits the
Company to have a maximum of $5 billion outstandiitp a maximum maturity of 397 days from datessfuance. At
December 31, 2017, there was approximately $74omih commercial paper issued and outstanding.

Total Debt:

The strength of 3M’s capital structure and sigmifitongoing cash flows provide 3M proven accesafital markets.
Additionally, the Company’s maturity profile is gigered to help ensure refinancing needs in anyngrear are
reasonable in proportion to the total portfolio. 8Ntrently has an AA- credit rating with a stabiglook from
Standard & Poor’s and has an Al credit rating wittable outlook from Moody’s Investors Service.

The Company'’s total debt was $2.3 billion highebatember 31, 2017 when compared to December 38, 20
Increases in debt related to October 2017 debaiess of $2.0 billion, commercial paper of $748iaml outstanding at
year end 2017, and the net impact of repaymentbamdwings of international subsidiaries alonghitreign
currency effects. These are partially offset byeJ2017 repayments of $650 million aggregate pradcmount of
medium-term notes and the October 2017 $305 mitielot tender. For discussion of repayments of aadgeds from
debt refer to the following “Cash Flows from Finarg Activities” section.

Effective February 24, 2017, the Company updatetinell-known seasoned issuer” (WKSI) shelf regititn
statement, which registers an indeterminate amoiugi¢bt or equity securities for future issuance sale. This
replaced 3M'’s previous shelf registration dated M&y2014. In May 2016, in connection with the WisBelf, 3M
entered into an amended and restated distribufjogeanent relating to the future issuance and &am ime to time)
of the Company’s medium-term notes program (Sé¥jesip to the aggregate principal amount of $18oii] which
was an increase from the previous aggregate pahaipount up to $9 billion of the same Series.

As of December 31, 2017, the total amount of dedied as part of the medium-term notes progranie€SE}, inclusive
of debt issued in 2011, 2012, 2014, 2015, 2016 tam@017 debt referenced above, is approximatEdylsbillion
(utilizing the foreign exchange rates applicabléhattime of issuance for the Euro denominated)détformation with
respect to long-term debt issuances and matufdrebe periods presented is included in Note 11.

In March 2016, 3M amended and restated its exihg5 billion five-year revolving credit facilitgxpiring in August
2019 to a $3.75 hillion five-year revolving crefitility expiring in March 2021. This credit agreemt includes a
provision under which 3M may request an increasgpab $1.25 billion (at lenders’ discretion), lging the total
facility up to $5.0 billion. This revolving crediacility is undrawn at December 31, 2017. Under$Ber5 billion credit
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agreement, the Company is required to maintaiBBE DA to Interest Ratio as of the end of eachdlsquarter at not
less than 3.0 to 1. This is calculated (as defingde agreement) as the ratio of consolidated EBATDA for the four
consecutive quarters then ended to total intergrtrese on all funded debt for the same period. é&tdinber 31, 2017,
this ratio was approximately 29 to 1. Debt covesaltt not restrict the payment of dividends. Apartrf the committed
facilities, an additional $288 million in stand-a®letters of credit and bank guarantees wereisdsed and outstanding
at December 31, 2017. These instruments are wilizeonnection with normal business activities.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities:

At December 31, 2017, 3M had $4.2 billion of casdgh equivalents and marketable securities, oftwdyiproximately
$3.975 billion was held by the Company’s foreighsidiaries and approximately $180 million was Heydhe United
States. These balances are invested in bank institsrand other high-quality fixed income securitistsDecember 31,
2016, cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesurnild by the Company’s foreign subsidiaries laypthe United
States totaled approximately $2.35 billion and $88lion, respectively. Specifics concerning magdge securities
investments are provided in Note 10.

Net Debt (non-GAAP measure):

Net debt is not defined under U.S. GAAP and maybeotomputed the same as similarly titled measused by other
companies. The Company defines net debt as toballess the total of cash, cash equivalents aneicuand long-term
marketable securities. 3M believes net debt is ingdul to investors as 3M considers net debt asddmponents to be
important indicators of liquidity and financial ptien. The following table provides net debt adefcember 31, 2017
and 2016.

December 31, 2017 versus
(Millions) 2017 2016 2016
Total debt $ 13,949 $ 11,650 $ 2,299
Less: Cash, cash equivalents and marketable desurit 4,156 2,695 1,461
Net debt (non-GAAP measure) $ 9,793 $ 8,955 $ 838

Refer to the preceding “Total Debt” and “Cash, Caghivalents and Marketable Securities” sectiomaftditional
details.

Balance Sheet:
3M'’s strong balance sheet and liquidity provide @@mmpany with significant flexibility to fund itsumerous
opportunities going forward. The Company will coni@ to invest in its operations to drive growtltluding continual

review of acquisition opportunities.

The Company uses working capital measures that @amphasis and focus on certain working capitatas$hese
measures include working capital, accounts recéviabons, and inventory turns.

Working Capital (non-GAAP measure):

December 31, 2017 versus
(Millions) 2017 2016 2016
Current assets $ 14,277 $ 11,726 $ 2,551
Less: Current liabilities 7,687 6,219 1,468
Working capital (non-GAAP measure) $ 6,590 $ 5,507 $ 1,083

Various assets and liabilities, including cash sindrt-term debt, can fluctuate significantly fromamth to month
depending on short-term liquidity needs. Workingita is not defined under U.S. generally acceptecbunting
principles and may not be computed the same asasiyriitled measures used by other companies.ddwmpany
defines working capital as current assets minuseatifiabilities. 3M believes working capital is axengful to investors
as a measure of operational efficiency and shom-fanancial health.
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Working capital increased $1.1 billion during 20&fien compared to December 31, 2016. Current aatatde
changes increased working capital by $2.6 billainiyen by increases in cash/cash equivalents amkietzdle
securities, in addition to higher accounts recdalnd inventories (discussed further below). Gurliebility balance
changes decreased working capital by $1.5 billamgely due to increases in short-term borrowingth commercial
paper outstanding of $745 million at December 3L 72compared to none outstanding at December 38.20

Accounts Receivable and Inventory Turns (non-GAAReasures):

Accounts receivable and inventory turns are nanedfunder U.S. generally accepted accounting jples and may
not be computed the same as similarly titted messused by other companies. 3M defines accourgsvedte turns as
quarterly net sales multiplied by 4 divided by empaccounts receivable — net, and defines inveritong as quarterly
manufacturing cost multiplied by 4 divided by erglinventory. 3M believes accounts receivable tismaeaningful to
investors as a measure of how efficiently the Camgpaanages credit and collects from its custontessinventory
turns calculation purposes, manufacturing cosefsdd as cost of sales less freight and engingeasts. 3M believes
inventory turns is meaningful to investors as a sueaof how quickly inventory is sold. Details bése calculations
follow.

Accounts receivable turns (non-GAAP measure) Decdrar 31, 2017 versus
(Millions, except turns) 2017 2016 2016

Quarterly net sales $ 7,990 $ 7,329 $ 661
Ending accounts receivable - net $ 4911 % 4392 % 519
Accounts receivable turns 6.51 6.67 (0.16;
Inventory turns (non-GAAP measure) December 31, 2017 versus
(Millions, except turns) 2017 2016 2016

Quarterly cost of sales $ 4,080 $ 3,716 $ 364
Less: Freight and engineering $ 172 $ 160 $ 12
Manufacturing cost $ 3,908 $ 3,556 $ 352
Ending inventory $ 4,034 $ 3,385 $ 649
Inventory turns 3.88 4.20 (0.32

Accounts receivable increased $519 million yearear in 2017, primarily due to increased salesddition, foreign
currency impacts increased 2017 accounts receivab$215 million and acquisitions, net of divestits, increased
accounts receivable by $57 million. As a resultcamts receivable turns decreased 2 percent vegdi

Inventory increased $649 million year-on-year il 20Foreign currency impacts increased 2017 invgriip $210
million and acquisitions, net of divestitures, isased inventory by $51 million. Higher fourth qearsales contributed
to a 10 percent increase in cost of sales, whileritory increased 19 percent, which combined domted to an 8
percent decrease in inventory turns.

On a seasonal basis, both accounts receivablengadtory turns are historically higher at year-edriyen by lower
year-end accounts receivable and inventory balances

45



Return on Invested Capital (non-GAAP measure):

Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) is not definedemU.S. generally accepted accounting principgiégrefore, ROIC
should not be considered a substitute for othersomea prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP andmoape
comparable to similarly titted measures used bgwotiompanies. The Company defines ROIC as adjugteithcome
(net income including non-controlling interest phfter-tax interest expense) divided by averagested capital (equity
plus debt). The Company believes ROIC is meaningfihtvestors as it focuses on shareholder valeatiomn. The
calculation is provided in the below table.

In 2017, ROIC of 21.3 percent was lower than bdh&and 2015. This decrease related to the netcingbahe
enactment of the TCJA and increases in commeraja¢ipborrowings in conjunction with the Decembet20.S.
defined benefit pension plan contribution, whicimtdned reduced ROIC by 3 percentage points in 2017.

Years ended December 31
(Millions) 2017 2016 2015

Return on Invested Capital (non-GAAP measure)

Net income including nc-controlling interest 4,869 $ 5,058 $ 4,841
Interest expense (after-tax) (1) 208 143 106
Adjusted net income (Return) 5,077 $ 5201 $ 4,947
$
$

@

&

Average shareholders' equity (including non-cofitrglinterest) (2) $ 11,627 11,316 $ 12,484

Average short-term and long-term debt (3) 12,156 11,725 9,266
Average invested capital $ 23,783 23,041 $ 21,750
Return on invested capital (non-GAAP measure) 21.3% 22.6% 22.7%
(1) Effective income tax rate used for interestenge 35.5% 28.3% 29.1%

(2) Calculation of average equity (includes nontomlting interest)
Ending total equity as of:

March 31 $ 11,040 $ 11,495 $ 13,673
June 30 11,644 11,658 12,851
September 30 12,202 11,769 11,945
December 31 11,622 10,343 11,468
Average total equity $ 11627 $ 11,316 $ 12,484

(3) Calculation of average debt
Ending short-term and long-term debt as of:

March 31 $ 11,712 $ 11,139 $ 6,566

June 30 11,301 11,749 8,484

September 30 11,663 12,361 11,216

December 31 13,949 11,650 10,797
Average short-term and long-term debt $ 12,156 $ 11,725 $ 9,266
Cash Flows:

Cash flows from operating, investing and financaegjvities are provided in the tables that folldmdividual amounts
in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows exdndeffects of acquisitions, divestitures and excdfe rate impacts
on cash and cash equivalents, which are preseapedately in the cash flows. Thus, the amountsepited in the
following operating, investing and financing acties tables reflect changes in balances from pedqekriod adjusted
for these effects.
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Years Ended December 31

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
Net income including noncontrolling inter $ 4,869 $ 5,058 $ 4,841
Depreciation and amortization 1,544 1,474 1,435
Company pension and postretirement contributions (967) (383) (267
Company pension and postretirement expense 333 251 556
Stock-based compensation expense 324 298 276
Gain on sale of businesses (586 (111 47
Income taxes (deferred and accrued income taxes) 1,074 108 (349
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation — — (154
Accounts receivable (245) (313) (58)
Inventories (387 57 3
Accounts payable 24 148 9
Other — net 257 75 175
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 6,240 $ 6,662 $ 6,420

Cash flows from operating activities can fluctusignificantly from period to period, as pensionding decisions, tax
timing differences and other items can significaintipact cash flows.

In 2017, cash flows provided by operating actigititecreased $422 million compared to the samedls year.
Factors that decreased operating cash flows weredgses in pension contributions, plus year-on-yeaeases in
working capital. In December 2017, 3M contribut&®d® million to its U.S. defined benefit pensionmlaontributing to
a year-on-year increase in pension and postretimeamtributions of $584 million. The combinatiohazcounts
receivable, inventories and accounts payable isextavorking capital by $608 million in 2017, comgéito working
capital increases of $108 million in 2016. In 20¢&ar-on-year decreases in income tax paymento{mefunds)
increased operating cash flows by $284 million. #iddal discussion on working capital changes vited earlier in
the “Financial Condition and Liquidity” section.formation concerning defined benefit pension anstietirement
contributions and expense is provided in Note lith additional discussion in the preceding Resoit®perations
section. Gain on sale of businesses in the pregedbie reflects an adjustment for divestiture gam2017 (discussed
in Note 2), as cash divestiture activity is presdrdas proceeds from sale of businesses withintimgeactivities, not
operating activities.

In 2016, cash flows provided by operating actigitiecreased $242 million compared to the same géni@015, with
this increase primarily due to lower year-on-yeastttaxes and higher net income. These items veetialfy offset by
higher Company pension contributions. The combamadif accounts receivable, inventories and accquengable
increased working capital by $108 million in 20&6mpared to working capital increase of $46 millior2015. Gain
on sale of businesses in the preceding table tefeetadjustment for divestiture gains in 2016qaised in Note 2), as
cash divestiture activity is presented as procéeds sale of businesses within investing activitiest operating
activities.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Years ended December 31

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (PP&E) $ (1,373) $ (1,420) $ (1,461)
Proceeds from sale of PP&E and other assets 49 58 33
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (2,023) (16) (2,914)
Purchases and proceeds from maturities and sateudfetable

securities and investments, net (798 (163 1,300
Proceeds from sale of businesses, net of cash sold 1,065 142 123
Other — net (6) (4) 102

Net cash used in investing activit

&

(3,086) $ (1,403) $ (2,817)
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Investments in property, plant and equipment engldaith across many diverse markets, helping tat mesluct
demand and increasing manufacturing efficiency. Chepany expects 2018 capital spending to be appately $1.5
billion to $1.8 billion as 3M continues to investits businesses.

3M invests in renewal and maintenance programs;lwbértain to cost reduction, cycle time, maintajnand renewing
current capacity, eliminating pollution, and coraplte. Costs related to maintenance, ordinary psid certain other
items are expensed. 3M also invests in growth, lvhidds to capacity, driven by new products, bathuhh expansion
of current facilities and new facilities, plus raseh facilities. Finally, 3M also invests in othaitiatives, such as
information technology (IT) and corporate laborgtfacilities.

Investments included continued expansion and sumtait of current and new facilities across manygggghies,
focusing on growth, productivity and capacity. Gthvestments include IT systems and infrastrugtpagticularly the
ongoing multi-year phased implementation of an ERfem on a worldwide basis. Additional specifieeistments in
2015 included a new state-of-the-art, four stoff,800 square foot research facility at 3M Centebti. Paul,
Minnesota.

Refer to Note 2 for information on acquisitions afidestitures. The Company is actively consideadditional
acquisitions, investments and strategic allianoestrengthen its portfolio, and from time to timayralso divest certain
businesses.

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired, in 2017 prityaricludes the purchase of Scott Safety. In 2@4i5,amount
consisted mostly of the Capital Safety and Membtuisitions. Proceeds from sale of business281@ primarily
relate to the divestiture of the assets of thequiigtion safety eyewear, identity management,rigliand automated
license/number plate recognition and electronicitoong businesses within the Safety and Graphicsrgss segment.
Proceeds from sale of businesses in 2016 relatdgbtdivestiture of the assets of the pressurizdglpethane foam
adhesives business (formerly known as Polyfoamiwihe Industrial business segment and the coroplef the
divestiture of the Library business within the $gfend Graphics business segment. In additioherfaurth quarter of
2016, 3M sold the assets of its protective filmsibess within the Industrial business segment snchthode battery
technology out-licensing business within the Elewgits and Energy business segment.

Purchases of marketable securities and investra@dtproceeds from maturities and sale of marketsdarities and
investments are primarily attributable to assetkbdcsecurities, certificates of deposit/time defspsiommercial paper,
and other securities, which are classified as abkator-sale. Net proceeds from maturities and edmarketable
securities in 2015 were used to help fund the Aug045 acquisitions of Capital Safety and Membrateter to Note
10 for more details about 3M’s diversified markd¢adecurities portfolio. Purchases of investmemttude additional
survivor benefit insurance, plus cost method andtgdnvestments.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Years ended December 31

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
Change in short-term debt — net $ 578 $ (797) $ 860
Repayment of debt (maturities greater than 90 days) (962 (992 (800
Proceeds from debt (maturities greater than 90)days 1,987 2,832 3,422
Total cash change in debt $ 1,603 $ 1,043 $ 3,482
Purchases of treasury stock (2,068) (3,753) (5,238)
Proceeds from issuances of treasury stock pursoatbck

option and benefit plans 734 804 635
Dividends paid to stockholders (2,803) (2,678) (2,561)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation — — 154
Other — net (121) (42) (120)

Net cash used in financing activit

054

(2,655 $ (4626 $ (3,648
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2017 Debt Activity:

The Company’s total debt was $2.3 billion higheDatember 31, 2017 when compared to December 38, 20
Increases in debt related to October 2017 debaigss of $2.0 billion, commercial paper of $748iarl outstanding at
year end 2017, and the net impact of repaymentbamdwings of international subsidiaries. Theseartially offset
by June 2017 repayments of $650 million aggregateipal amount of medium-term notes and the Oat@04.7 $305
million debt tender. Net commercial paper issuameesrepayments and borrowings by internationasislidries are
largely reflected in “Change in short-term debtet’rin the preceding table. Foreign exchange raenges also
impacted debt balances.

Proceeds from debt for 2017 primarily related ® @ctober 2017 issuance of $650 million aggregateipal amount
of 5.5-year fixed rate medium-term notes due 20RB avcoupon rate of 2.25%, $850 million aggregatacipal
amount of 10-year fixed rate medium-term notes 27 with a coupon rate of 2.875%, and $500 milaggregate
principal amount of 30-year fixed rate medium-terotes due 2047 with a coupon rate of 3.625%. Refdiote 11 for
more detail of these debt issuances.

In October 2017, via cash tender offers, 3M repaseld $305 million aggregate principal amount obitsstanding
notes. This included $110 million of its $330 nailli principal amount of 6.375% notes due 2028 argb$iillion of its
$750 million principal amount of 5.70% notes du820The Company recorded an early debt extinguishetearge of
$96 million in the fourth quarter of 2017 withirtémest expense associated with the differentialeen the carrying
value and the amount paid to acquire the tendestgbrand related expenses.

2016 Debt Activity:

Total debt at December 31, 2016 increased $858mithen compared to year-end 2015, with the irsggaimarily
due to May 2016 debt issuances (approximately Billidn at issue date exchange rates) and Septei§ debt
issuances of approximately $1.75 billion. This @ase was partially offset by the repayment of $lbbiaggregate
principal amount of medium-term notes due Septer@b&6 along with the net impact of repayments asrddwings by
international subsidiaries, primarily Japan andédgofapproximately $0.8 million decrease), whicreffected in
“Change in short-term debt—net” in the precedirgdaForeign exchange rate changes also impactetcbdéances.

Proceeds from debt for 2016 primarily related ® My 2016 issuance of 500 million Euro aggregaitecipal amount
of 5.75-year fixed rate medium-term notes due Fadyr@022 with a coupon rate of 0.375% and 500 omilEEuro
aggregate principal amount of 15-year fixed rateliom@-term notes due 2031 with a coupon rate of%.50
September 2016, 3M issued $600 million aggregateipal amount of five-year fixed rate medium-tenotes due
2021 with a coupon rate of 1.625%, $650 millionraggte principal amount of 10-year fixed rate mediterm notes
due 2026 with a coupon rate of 2.250%, and $50Bomiaggregate principal amount of 30-year fixett n@edium-term
notes due 2046 with a coupon rate of 3.125%. Atheke 2016 issuances were under the medium-tetes poogram
(Series F).

2015 Debt Activity:

In 2015, the change in short-term debt primarilpter to bank borrowings by international subsidgrprimarily Japan
and Korea. Repayment of debt primarily relatedebtdassumed (and paid off) as part of the Cap@fdt® acquisition.
Proceeds from debt primarily related to the May2&bkuance of 650 million Euros aggregate princgmabunt of five-
year floating rate medium-term notes due 2020,G0bn Euros aggregate principal amount of eighgyfixed rate
medium-term notes due 2023, and 500 million Eugzgegate principal amount of fifteen-year fixeceratedium-term
notes due 2030, which in the aggregate total ajpmately $1.9 billion at issue date exchange rdteaddition, August
2015 issuances included $450 million aggregatecipah amount of three-year fixed rate medium-tentes due 2018,
$500 million aggregate principal amount of five-yéaed rate medium-term notes due 2020, and $58HDmM
aggregate principal amount of 10-year fixed ratelioma-term notes due 2025, which in aggregate &ited billion.
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Repurchases of Common Stock:

Repurchases of common stock are made to suppo@tadhmpany’s stock-based employee compensation plash$or
other corporate purposes. In February 2016, 3M'ar8of Directors authorized the repurchase of upl® billion of
3M's outstanding common stock. This authorizatias ho pre-established end date. In 2017, the Compachased
$2.1 billion of its own stock, compared to purclaee$3.8 billion and $5.2 billion in 2016 and 20i&spectively. The
Company expects full-year 2018 gross share repaeshi® be between $2.0 billion to $5.0 billion. Fmre
information, refer to the table titled “Issuer Phmses of Equity Securities” in Part Il, Item 5. T®@mpany does not
utilize derivative instruments linked to the Comparstock.

Dividends Paid to Shareholders:

Cash dividends paid to shareholders totaled $26808n ($4.70 per share) in 2017, $2.678 billi#(44 per share) in
2016, and $2.561 billion ($4.10 per share) in 2@BM.has paid dividends since 1916. In January 2848s Board of
Directors declared a first-quarter 2018 dividen&df36 per share, an increase of 16 percent. $kaguivalent to an
annual dividend of $5.44 per share and marked @ie @nsecutive year of dividend increases.

Other cash flows from financing activities may umb¢ various other items, such as changes in casldmft balances,
and principal payments for capital leases. In aaiditin 2017, this included a payment related ®$86 million in
interest expense associated with premiums andidedise early retirement of debt. See Note 11 @iditional details.

Free Cash Flow (non-GAAP measure):

Free cash flow and free cash flow conversion atelafined under U.S. generally accepted accoumtingiples
(GAAP). Therefore, they should not be considersdiastitute for income or cash flow data prepareacitordance with
U.S. GAAP and may not be comparable to similatlgdi measures used by other companies. The Congedimes free
cash flow as net cash provided by operating aE#/iess purchases of property, plant and equiprttesttould not be
inferred that the entire free cash flow amountvigilable for discretionary expenditures. The Conypdefines free cash
flow conversion as free cash flow divided by neiime attributable to 3M. The Company believes éa&sh flow and
free cash flow conversion are meaningful to invests they are useful measures of performanceh@n@dmpany uses
these measures as an indication of the strengtieafompany and its ability to generate cash. Treeduarter of each
year is typically 3M’s seasonal low for free cakiwfand free cash flow conversion. Below find aaqgof free cash
flow and free cash flow conversion for 2017, 20h6 2015.

In 2017, free cash flow conversion was impacte@rgctment of the TCJA, along with an additional.b&nsion
contribution of $600 million that 3M made followirlge signing of tax reform. On a combined basiss¢hitems
benefited free cash flow conversion by 3 percengamets. Refer to the preceding “Cash Flows frone@ping
Activities” section for discussion of additionatihs that impacted operating cash flow. Refer tgtleeeding “Cash
Flows from Investing Activities” section for dis@isn on capital spending for property, plant andigapent.

Years ended December 31

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
Major GAAP Cash Flow Categories

Net cash provided by operating activi $ 6,240 $ 6,662 $ 6,420
Net cash provided by (used in) investactivities (3,086 (1,403 (2,817
Net cash used in financing activit (2,655 (4,626) (3,648)

Free Cash Flow (non-GAAP measure)

Net cash provided by operating activi $ 6,240 $ 6,662 $ 6,420
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (PP&E) (1,373 (1,420 (1,461
Free cash flow $ 4867 $ 5242 $ 4,959
Net income attributable to 3 $ 4858 $ 5,050 $ 4,833
Free cash flow conversion 100% 104% 103%
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Qjdtions:

As of December 31, 2017, the Company has not etilepecial purpose entities to facilitate off-batasheet financing
arrangements. Refer to the section entitled “WaieafGuarantees” in Note 15 for discussion of aedrproduct
warranty liabilities and guarantees.

In addition to guarantees, 3M, in the normal cowfseusiness, periodically enters into agreeméwdsrequire the
Company to indemnify either major customers or isppfor specific risks, such as claims for injunyproperty
damage arising out of the use of 3M products ontgligence of 3M personnel, or claims alleging 8 products
infringe third-party patents or other intellectpabperty. While 3M’s maximum exposure under theskemnification
provisions cannot be estimated, these indemnifioatare not expected to have a material impadt@Cbmpany’s
consolidated results of operations or financialditbon.

A summary of the Company’s significant contractoigligations as of December 31, 2017, follows:
Contractual Obligations

Payments due by year

After
(Millions) Total 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2022
Total debt (Note 11) $13,949 $1,853 $ 692 $1,368 $1,333 $1,191 $ 7,512
Interest on long-term debt 3,375 269 256 251 241 212 2,146
Operating leases (Note 15) 1,098 258 212 160 106 88 274
Capital leases (Note 15) 76 12 10 9 6 5 34
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) transition t¢
payments (Note 9) 745 122 59 59 59 111 335
Unconditional purchase obligations and other 1,561 1,032 211 150 99 56 13
Total contractual cash obligations $20,804 $3546 $1,440 $1,997 $1,844 $1,663 $10,314

Long-term debt payments due in 2018, 2019, and 2@20de floating rate notes totaling $54 millidy,1 million, and
$95 million, respectively, as a result of put peiens associated with these debt instruments.

During the fourth quarter of 2017, 3M recorded atar expense related to the enactment of the Tdx &d Jobs Act
(TCJA). The expense is primarily related to the AGJdransition tax. The transition tax is payablep8 years at the
election of the taxpayer. As discussed in Notéi8, balance is a provisional amount and is sultgeatljustment during
the measurement period of up to one year followlregDecember 2017 enactment of the TCJA, as prd\igeecent
SEC guidance.

Unconditional purchase obligations are definedgre@ments to purchase goods or services that &oeceable and
legally binding on the Company. Included in the amgitional purchase obligations category abovecartain
obligations related to take or pay contracts, ehpgibmmitments, service agreements and utilitib®s€ estimates
include both unconditional purchase obligationgwérms in excess of one year and normal ongoinghase
obligations with terms of less than one year. Mahthese commitments relate to take or pay corgractwhich 3M
guarantees payment to ensure availability of prtedacservices that are sold to customers. The @agnpxpects to
receive consideration (products or services) fes¢hunconditional purchase obligations. Contractaital
commitments are included in the preceding tabletirse commitments represent a small part of tragany’s
expected capital spending. The purchase obligatinounts do not represent the entire anticipatech@ases in the
future, but represent only those items for whiah @ompany is contractually obligated. The majooit$M’s products
and services are purchased as needed, with no diticoal commitment. For this reason, these amowiitsiot
provide a reliable indicator of the Company’s expdduture cash outflows on a stand-alone basis.

Other obligations, included in the preceding takitdhin the caption entitled “Unconditional purchasaigations and
other,” include the current portion of the liahjlfior uncertain tax positions under ASC 740, whkxpected to be paid
out in cash in the next 12 months. The Companypishle to reasonably estimate the timing of tigerm payments,
other than the transition tax prescribed undefTdre Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) which is separatetjuiated in the table
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above, or the amount by which the liability wilchease or decrease over time; therefore, the lemg-portion of the net
tax liability of $523 million is excluded from th@receding table. Refer to Note 9 for further detail

As discussed in Note 12, the Company does not dagquired minimum cash pension contribution olidgafor its
U.S. plans in 2018 and Company contributions tdJiS. and international pension plans are expeotbée largely
discretionary in future years; therefore, amouatated to these plans are not included in the diegeable.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company enters into foreign exchange forwardracts, options and swaps to hedge against theteff exchange
rate fluctuations on cash flows denominated inifpreurrencies and certain intercompany financiaggactions. The
Company manages interest rate risks using a mixed and floating rate debt. To help manage boimgweosts, the
Company may enter into interest rate swaps. Uriteset arrangements, the Company agrees to exclargpecified
intervals, the difference between fixed and flogidimerest amounts calculated by reference to e@eglgupon notional
principal amount. The Company manages commoditepisks through negotiated supply contracts, ppicgéection
agreements and commodity price swaps.

Refer to Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Elssures About Market Risk”, for further discussimfiforeign
exchange rates risk, interest rates risk, commautites risk and value at risk analysis.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures A&out Market Risk.

In the context of Item 7A, 3M is exposed to manksk due to the risk of loss arising from adverkanges in foreign
currency exchange rates, interest rates and contyrquittes. Changes in those factors could caustui#tions in
earnings and cash flows. Senior management proeiasight for risk management and derivative iy,
determines certain of the Company’s financial gskicies and objectives, and provides guidelinesi&rivative
instrument utilization. Senior management alsob#istaes certain associated procedures relativeritral and
valuation, risk analysis, counterparty credit appipand ongoing monitoring and reporting.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the esEnbnperformance by counterparties in interest sataps, currency
swaps, commodity price swaps, and forward and pmiamtracts. However, the Company’s risk is limitedhe fair
value of the instruments. The Company actively nawsiits exposure to credit risk through the usereflit approvals
and credit limits, and by selecting major interaaéil banks and financial institutions as countdiparThe Company
does not anticipate nonperformance by any of thesaterparties.

Foreign Exchange Rates Risk:

Foreign currency exchange rates and fluctuationisdse rates may affect the Company’s net invedtingoreign
subsidiaries and may cause fluctuations in castsfielated to foreign denominated transactionsis88so exposed to
the translation of foreign currency earnings tolth8. dollar. The Company enters into foreign exgjeaforward and
option contracts to hedge against the effect oharge rate fluctuations on cash flows denominatddreign
currencies. These transactions are designatedshdloas hedges. 3M may dedesignate these cashhitmlge
relationships in advance of the occurrence of thhedasted transaction. The maximum length of tier avhich 3M
hedges its exposure to the variability in futurehciows of the forecasted transactions is 36 nwrthaddition, 3M
enters into foreign currency forward contracts tra@tnot designated in hedging relationships teetffin part, the
impacts of certain intercompany activities (prirhagassociated with intercompany licensing arrangemand
intercompany financing transactions). As circumsésnwarrant, the Company also uses foreign currimasard
contracts and foreign currency denominated debedging instruments to hedge portions of the Coryigaret
investments in foreign operations. The dollar eglgmat gross notional amount of the Company’s foregchange
forward and option contracts designated as eithg flow hedges or net investment hedges was 38 lat
December 31, 2017. The dollar equivalent grosonatiamount of the Company’s foreign exchange fotveand option
contracts not designated as hedging instruments$&dsbillion at December 31, 2017. In additionpd®ecember 31,
2017, the Company had 4.4 billion Euros in printgraount of foreign currency denominated debt desied as non-

52



derivative hedging instruments in certain net itvest hedges as discussed in Note 13 in the “Netstment Hedges”
section.

Interest Rates Risk:

The Company may be impacted by interest rate Vityatvith respect to existing debt and future dilsuances. 3M
manages interest rate risk and expense using afrfised and floating rate debt. In addition, therpany may enter
into interest rate swaps that are designated aalifgas fair value hedges. Under these arrangesném Company
agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, tHerdifice between fixed and floating interest amooatsulated by
reference to an agreed-upon notional principal arhdithe dollar equivalent (based on inception dateign currency
exchange rates) gross notional amount of the Coyparterest rate swaps at December 31, 2017 wasisition.
Additional details about 3M’s long-term debt canfbend in Note 11, including references to inforimatregarding
derivatives and/or hedging instruments, furthecualsed in Note 13, associated with the Companyg-term debt.

Commodity Prices Risk:

The Company manages commaodity price risks throwgotiated supply contracts, price protection agesgmand
commodity price swaps. 3M used commodity price saapcash flow hedges of forecasted commodity drdions to
manage price volatility, but discontinued this pi@ein the first quarter of 2015. The related mtrdmarket gain or
loss on qualifying hedges was included in other ma@hensive income to the extent effective, andassified into cost
of sales in the period during which the hedgedsaation affected earnings. The Company may enteroither
commodity price swaps to offset, in part, fluctoatand costs associated with the use of certaimmdities and
precious metals. These instruments are not desidmatedged relationships and the extent to witiel were
outstanding at December 31, 2017 was not material.

Value At Risk:

The value at risk analysis is performed annuallggsess the Company’s sensitivity to changes oy rates, interest
rates, and commodity prices. A Monte Carlo simolatechnique was used to test the impact on afteedrnings
related to financial instruments (primarily delatgrivatives and underlying exposures outstandirigeaember 31,
2017. The model (third-party bank dataset) usefl pe9cent confidence level over a 12-month timezioor. The
exposure to changes in currency rates model usedréncies, interest rates related to two curreneird commodity
prices related to five commaodities. This model deeispurport to represent what actually will be estpnced by the
Company. This model does not include certain hédgesactions, because the Company believes thairsion would
not materially impact the results. The followinpl&summarizes the possible adverse and positigadta to after-tax
earnings related to these exposures.

Adverse impact on after-tax Positive impact on after-tax

earnings earnings
(Millions) 2017 2016 2017 2016
Foreign exchange rates $ (242 $ (245 $ 253 $ 264
Interest rates (15) (13) 14 (2)
Commodity prices 3) (2) 3 1

In addition to the possible adverse and positiveaiots discussed in the preceding table relateor&igh exchange
rates, recent historical information is as follo@®1 estimates that year-on-year currency effentduding hedging
impacts, decreased pre-tax income by $111 milliwh$127 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively.sTéstimate
includes the effect of translating profits fromdbcurrencies into U.S. dollars; the impact of eany fluctuations on the
transfer of goods between 3M operations in theddh#tates and abroad; and transaction gains aseklascluding
derivative instruments designed to reduce foreignenicy exchange rate risks. 3M estimates thatgearear

derivative and other transaction gains and lossesedsed pre-tax income by approximately $152anilind $69
million in 2017 and 2016, respectively.

An analysis of the global exposures related tolpased components and materials is performed atyeaekend. A one
percent price change would result in a pre-tax eosavings of approximately $75 million per yeHine global energy
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exposure is such that a ten percent price changé&wesult in a pre-tax cost or savings of appratity $40 million
per year. Global energy exposure includes energisaced in 3M production and other facilitiesmanily electricity
and natural gas.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to Financial Statements

A complete summary of Form 10-K content, includihg index to financial statements, is found atiteéginning of this
document.

Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for the integrity anccdibjity of the financial information included ihis report. The
financial statements have been prepared in accoedaith accounting principles generally acceptethenUnited States
of America. Where necessary, the financial statésneflect estimates based on management’s judgment

Management has established and maintains a sys$tetemmal control over financial reporting for t@®mpany and its
subsidiaries. This system and its established axttwuprocedures and related controls are desigmpdovide
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguénatatictbooks and records properly reflect allsaations, that policies
and procedures are implemented by qualified peedpand that published financial statements arpgny prepared
and fairly presented. The Company’s system of imatlecontrol over financial reporting is supportgdviidely
communicated written policies, including businessduct policies, which are designed to requirealployees to
maintain high ethical standards in the conduct@ih@any affairs. Internal auditors continually revithe accounting
and control system.

3M Company
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaimg an adequate system of internal control dwancial
reporting. Management conducted an assessment @fdmpany’s internal control over financial repagtbased on the
framework established by the Committee of Spongo@inganizations of the Treadway Commissioimiternal Control
— Integrated Framework (2013Ylanagement’s assessment of the effectivenesedfdmpany’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 exdau8eott Safety, which was acquired by the Compar®dtober
2017 in a purchase business combination. ScottySafa wholly-owned subsidiary whose total asseis total net sales
both represented less than 1 percent of the Congpaogsolidated financial statement amounts asdffar the year
ended December 31, 2017. Companies are allowedttode acquisitions from their assessment of irgtecontrol over
financial reporting during the first year of acqtiom while integrating the acquired company ungeidelines
established by the Securities and Exchange ConwonisBased on the assessment, management conchadedd of
December 31, 2017, the Company’s internal contvel dinancial reporting is effective.

The Company’s internal control over financial repuay as of December 31, 2017 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registmiblic accounting firm, as stated in their répdrich is
included herein, which expresses an unqualifiediopion the effectiveness of the Company’s intecaaltrol over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2017.

3M Company
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of 3Nh@any
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internalo@trol over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of 3M Company and its subsidiaries &eoémber 31,
2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statsroéincome, comprehensive income, changes iityegnd cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghbDecember 31, 2017, including the related naeiettively
referred to as the “consolidated financial stateisign We also have audited the Company's intecoatrol over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, basedriteria established imternal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Omgiuns of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenéspects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 201728, and the results of their operations and ttesh flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Dece®ih@017 in conformity with accounting principlgsnerally
accepted in the United States of America. Alsounopinion, the Company maintained, in all mategapects,
effective internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2017, based on criteria estadliininternal
Control - Integrated Framewori2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for theslidated financial statements, for maintainiffgative internal
control over financial reporting, and for its assasnt of the effectiveness of internal control dirancial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management's Repohtannal Control over Financial Reporting. Ouspensibility is
to express opinions on the Company’s consolidateth€ial statements and on the Company's inteovdtal over
financial reporting based on our audits. We apelaic accounting firm registered with the Publier@pany
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAQERBHd are required to be independent with resjpeittet
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal seeariaws and the applicable rules and regulatidtiseoSecurities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the PCAOB. Those standards require tegtlan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assuradmmet avhether the consolidated financial statemardadree of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, anelthdr effective internal control over financial ogjing was
maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial stateméamdided performing procedures to assess the ofksaterial
misstatement of the consolidated financial statasjevhether due to error or fraud, and performiracpdures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures inclugaohiming, on a test basis, evidence regarding itieuats and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statemefur audits also included evaluating the acéogmdrinciples used
and significant estimates made by management, hasvevaluating the overall presentation of thesmidated
financial statements. Our audit of internal cohtneer financial reporting included obtaining ardenstanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assegdime risk that a material weakness exists, artthteand evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrobhiased on the assessed risk. Our audits athudied performing
such other procedures as we considered necessgy @ircumstances. We believe that our auditsigeoa reasonable
basis for our opinions.

As described in Management’s Report on Internalt@bover Financial Reporting, management has eleduScott
Safety from its assessment of internal control dwemncial reporting as of December 31, 2017 beedtusas acquired
by the Company in a purchase business combinatiangl2017. We have also excluded Scott Safety foor audit of
internal control over financial reporting. Sco#f&y is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total tsa@ad total net sales
excluded from management’s assessment and ourdaudternal control over financial reporting battpresent less
than 1 percent of the related consolidated findstéement amounts as of and for the year endedrbeer 31, 2017.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesasuregarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the pezption of financial statements for external pugsois accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A corgjgimternal control over financial reporting indies those policies
and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenafcecords that, in reasonable detail, accuratetyfairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets ofdhgpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance thasai@tions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation afidiahstatements in accordance with generally aecegccounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioazations of
management and directors of the company; ando(iiiyide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or ai#pon of the company’s assets that could haveatenal effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohover financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivesiés future periods are subject to the risk thatrmds may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, tthitbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpdures may
deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 8, 2018

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1975.
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3M Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Income
Years ended December 31

(Millions, except per share amounts) 2017 2016 2015
Net sale $ 31,657 $ 30,109 $ 30,274
Operating expenses
Cost of sales 16,001 15,040 15,383
Selling, general and administrative expenses 6,572 6,222 6,229
Research, development and related expenses 1,850 1,735 1,763
Gain on sale of businesses (586 (111) (47)
Total operating expenses 23,837 22,886 23,328
Operating income 7,820 7,223 6,946
Other expense (income), net 272 170 123
Income before income taxes 7,548 7,053 6,823
Provision for income taxes 2,679 1,995 1,982
Net income including noncontrolling intere $ 4,869 $ 5,058 $ 4,841
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrollingeietst 11 8 8
Net income attributable to 3| $ 4858 $ 5,050 $ 4,833
Weighted average 3M common shares outstanding € bas 597.5 604.7 625.6
Earnings per share attributable to 3M common siddehs — basic  $ 8.13 $ 8.35 $ 7.72
Weighted average 3M common shares outstanding tedil 612.7 618.7 637.2
Earnings per share attributable to 3M common slwdens —dilutec $ 793 $ 8.16 $ 7.58
Cash dividends paid per 3M common share $ 470 $ 444 $ 4.10

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancetkeBtents are an integral part of this statement.
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3M Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Years ended December 31

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
Net income including noncontrolling inter $ 4,869 $ 5,058 $ 4,841
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Cumulative translation adjustment 373 (331 (586

Defined benefit pension and postretirement planssatient 52 (524) 489

Cash flow hedging instruments, unrealized gainslos (203 (33 25
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 222 (888) (72)
Comprehensive income (loss) including noncontrglimerest 5,091 4,170 4,769
Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to norredlintg interest (14) (6) (6)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 3M $ 5077 $ 4,164 $ 4,763

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancetkBtents are an integral part of this statement.
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3M Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheet
At December 31

December 31,

December 31,

(Dollars in millions, except per share amount) 2017 2016
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,053 $ 2,398
Marketable securities — current 1,076 280
Accounts receivable — net of allowances of $103 $88l 4911 4,392
Inventories
Finished goods 1,915 1,629
Work in process 1,218 1,039
Raw materials and supplies 901 717
Total inventories 4,034 3,385
Prepaids 937 821
Other current assets 266 450
Total current assets 14,277 11,726
Property, plant and equipment 24,914 23,499
Less: Accumulated depreciation (16,048 (14,983
Property, plant and equipment — net 8,866 8,516
Goodwill 10,513 9,166
Intangible assets — net 2,936 2,320
Other assets 1,395 1,178
Total assets $ 37987 $ 32,906
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings and current portion of lorgat debt $ 1853 $ 972
Accounts payable 1,945 1,798
Accrued payroll 870 678
Accrued income taxes 310 299
Other current liabilities 2,709 2,472
Total current liabilities 7,687 6,219
Long-term debt 12,096 10,678
Pension and postretirement benefits 3,620 4,018
Other liabilities 2,962 1,648
Total liabilities $ 26,365 $ 22,563
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)
Equity
3M Company shareholders’ equity:
Common stock par value, $.01 par value $ 9 $ 9
Shares outstanding - 2017: 594,884,237
Shares outstanding - 2016: 596,726,278
Additional paid-in capital 5,352 5,061
Retained earnings 39,115 37,907
Treasury stock (25,887) (25,434)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (7,026 (7,245
Total 3M Company shareholders’ equity 11,563 10,298
Noncontrolling intere: 59 45
Total equity $ 11,622 $ 10,343
Total liabilities and equity $ 37,987 $ 32,906

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancetkBtents are an integral part of this statement.
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3M Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Years Ended December 31
3M Company Shareholders

Common Accumulated
Stock and Other
Additional Comprehensive Non-
Paid-in Retained Treasury Income controlling
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) Tl Capital Earnings Stock (Loss) Interest
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 12863 $ 4,388 $34,038 $ (19,307 $ (6,289 $ 33
Net income 4,841 4,833 8
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Cumulative translation adjustment (586, (584 2)
Defined benefit pension and post-retirement platjissament 489 489 —
Cash flow hedging instruments - unrealized gaissjo 25 25 —
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (72)
Dividends declared ($3.075 per share, Note 7) (1,913 (1,913
Stock-based compensation, net of tax impacts 412 412
Reacquired stock (5,304 (5,304
Issuances pursuant to stock option and benefisplan 641 (662) 1,303
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 11468 $ 4,800 $36,296 $ (23,308 $ (6,359 $ 39
Net income 5,058 5,050 8
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Cumulative translation adjustment (331 (329 2)
Defined benefit pension and post-retirement platjissament (524) (524) —
Cash flow hedging instruments - unrealized gaissjo (33) (33 —
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (888)
Dividends declared ($4.44 per share, Note 7) (2,678 (2,678
Stock-based compensation 270 270
Reacquired stock (3,699 (3,699
Issuances pursuant to stock option and benefisplan 812 (761) 1,573
Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 10,343 $ 5070 $37,907 $ (25434 $ (7,245 $ 45
Net income 4,869 4,858 11
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Cumulative translation adjustment 373 370 3
Defined benefit pension and post-retirement platissament 52 52 —
Cash flow hedging instruments - unrealized gaissjo (203 (203 —
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 222
Dividends declared ($4.70 per share, Note 7) (2,803 (2,803
Stock-based compensation 291 2901
Reacquired stock (2,044 (2,044
Issuances pursuant to stock option and benefisplan 744 (847) 1,591
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 11622 $ 5361 $39,115 $ (25,887 $ (7,026 $ 59
Supplemental share information 2017 2016 2015
Treasury stock
Beginning balance 347,306,778 334,702,932 308,898,462
Reacquired stock 10,209,962 22,602,74¢ 34,072,584
Issuances pursuant to stock options and benefispla (8,367,922) (9,998,902) (8,268,114)
Ending balance 349,148,81¢ 347,306,77¢ 334,702,932

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancetkBtents are an integral part of this statement.
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3M Company and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income including noncontrolling intere $ 4,869 $ 5,058 $ 4,841
Adjustments to reconcile net income including naroalling
interest to net cash provided by operating actiti
Depreciation and amortization 1,544 1,474 1,435
Company pension and postretirement contributions (967) (383) (267)
Company pension and postretirement expense 333 251 556
Stock-based compensation expense 324 298 276
Gain on sale of businesses (586 (111 (47)
Deferred income taxes 107 7 395
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation — — (154,
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable (245 (313 (58)
Inventories (387) 57 3
Accounts payable 24 148 9
Accrued income taxes (current and long-term) 967 101 (744)
Other — net 257 75 175
Net cash provided by operating activit 6,240 6,662 6,420
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (PP&E) (1,373 (1,420 (1,461
Proceeds from sale of PP&E and other assets 49 58 33
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (2,023 (16) (2,914
Purchases of marketable securities and investments (2,152) (1,410) (652)
Proceeds from maturities and sale of marketablergess and
investments 1,354 1,247 1,952
Proceeds from sale of businesses, net of cash sold 1,065 142 123
Other — net (6) (4 102
Net cash used in investing activiti (3,086) (1,403) (2,817)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Change in short-term debt — net 578 (797 860
Repayment of debt (maturities greater than 90 days) (962) (992) (800)
Proceeds from debt (maturities greater than 90)days 1,987 2,832 3,422
Purchases of treasury stock (2,068) (3,753) (5,238)
Proceeds from issuance of treasury stock pursaastotk option
and benefit plans 734 804 635
Dividends paid to shareholders (2,803) (2,678) (2,561)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation — — 154
Other — net (121) (42) (120)
Net cash used in financing activiti (2,655 (4,626 (3,648
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casiatents 156 (33 (54)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 655 600 (99)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,398 1,798 1,897
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 3,053 $ 2,398 $ 1,798

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancetkBtents are an integral part of this statement.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
NOTE 1. Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation:3M is a diversified global manufacturer, technglémnovator and marketer of a wide variety of
products. All subsidiaries are consolidated. Alenaompany transactions are eliminated. As useeimehe term “3M”
or “Company” refers to 3M Company and subsidiatieless the context indicates otherwise.

Basis of presentatiorCertain amounts in the prior years’ consolidatedrficial statements have been reclassified to
conform to the current year presentation.

Foreign currency translationkocal currencies generally are considered thetional currencies outside the United
States. Assets and liabilities for operations galecurrency environments are translated at monthexchange rates of
the period reported. Income and expense itemgamslated at month-end exchange rates of eactcappdimonth.
Cumulative translation adjustments are recordesl @smponent of accumulated other comprehensiveriadtoss) in
shareholders’ equity.

3M has a subsidiary in Venezuela, the financigkstents of which are remeasured under Accountiagdairds
Codification (ASC) 830Foreign Currency Mattersas if its functional currency were that of itg¢rat because
Venezuela's economic environment is consideredlpiigifiationary. The operating income of this subary is
immaterial as a percent of 3M’s consolidated ofregahcome for 2017. The Venezuelan governmentaffitsal rates
of exchange and conditions precedent to purchasgfocurrency at these rates with local currefi¢ye government
also operates various expanded secondary currectyege mechanisms that have been eliminated aiatesl from
time to time. Such rates and conditions have bedrcantinue to be subject to change. For the psiwdsented, the
financial statements of 3M’s Venezuelan subsidaeye remeasured utilizing the rate associated thittsecondary
auction mechanism, Tipo de Cambio Complementarii¢chwas redesigned by the Venezuelan governmehtria
2017 (DICOM2), or its predecessor. During the sperods, the Venezuelan government’s official exgfgawas Tipo
de Cambio Protegido (DIPRO), or its predecessors3ides of these rates were based upon evaludtmnumber of
factors including, but not limited to, the exchamgte the Company’s Venezuelan subsidiary may liegak to convert
currency, settle transactions or pay dividendsptiodability of accessing and obtaining currencyubg of a particular
rate or mechanism; and the Company'’s intent anlyatn use a particular exchange mechanism. Theagamy
continues to monitor these circumstances. Chamgagplicable exchange rates or exchange mechanistygontinue
in the future. These changes could impact theaféxchange applicable to remeasure the Compa®y'monetary
assets (liabilities) denominated in Venezuelan\Bof (VEF). As of December 31, 2017, the Comparmyabalance of
net monetary assets denominated in VEF of lesstBavillion VEF and the DIPRO and DICOM2 exchangtes were
approximately 10 VEF and 3,300 VEF per U.S. dollaspectively.

A need to deconsolidate the Company’s Venezuelasidiary’s operations may result from a lack ofteegeability of
VEF-denominated cash coupled with an acute degoadit the ability to make key operational decisatue to
government regulations in Venezuela. 3M monitocsdiess such as its ability to access various exchamgchanisms;
the impact of government regulations on the Comjsaatyility to manage its Venezuelan subsidiary'gita structure,
purchasing, product pricing, and labor relatioms] the current political and economic situationhivitVenezuela.
Based upon a review of factors as of December @17 2the Company continues to consolidate its Veelan
subsidiary. As of December 31, 2017, the balan@xofimulated other comprehensive loss associatadhis
subsidiary was approximately $145 million and theant of intercompany receivables due from thissgliry and its
total equity balance were not significant.

Use of estimatesthe preparation of financial statements in conformith U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimaassumptions that affect the reported amountsssta and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assetd liabilities at the date of the financial staéats, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the neg@eriod. Actual results could differ from thestimates.

Cash and cash equivalentSash and cash equivalents consist of cash andtamypgnvestments with maturities of
three months or less when acquired.
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Marketable securitiesMarketable securities include available-for-sadtdsecurities and are recorded at fair value. Cost
of securities sold use the first in, first out (BlFmethod. The classification of marketable semsias current or non-
current is based on the availability for use inrent operations. 3M reviews impairments associaiuits marketable
securities in accordance with the measurement go@provided by ASC 320nvestments-Debt and Equity Securities
when determining the classification of the impaintnas “temporary” or “other-than-temporary”. A teongry
impairment charge results in an unrealized lossgegcorded in accumulated other comprehensivanecas a
component of shareholders’ equity. Such an unredliass does not reduce net income for the appéicaizounting
period because the loss is not viewed as othertraporary. The factors evaluated to differentiztveen temporary
and other-than-temporary include the projectedréutiash flows, credit ratings actions, and assassafi¢he credit
quality of the underlying collateral, as well akertfactors. Amounts are reclassified out of acdated other
comprehensive income and into earnings upon sdietleer-than-temporary” impairment.

Investmentstnvestments primarily include equity method, aosthod, and available-for-sale equity investments.
Available-for-sale investments are recorded atvialue at each reporting date and subject to AST; 82 described
above.

Other assetsOther assets include deferred income taxes, praiutbther insurance receivables, the cash sumrende
value of life insurance policies, and other longrte@ssets. Investments in life insurance are redat the amount that
could be realized under contract at the balancetsiee, with any changes in cash surrender valaerdract value
during the period accounted for as an adjustmeptaerhiums paid. Cash outflows and inflows assodiatith life
insurance activity are included in “Purchases ofketble securities and investments” and “Procémais maturities
and sale of marketable securities and investmergsgectively.

Inventories:Inventories are stated at the lower of cost orketamwith cost generally determined on a firstfirst-out
basis.

Property, plant and equipmerferoperty, plant and equipment, including capitdiinterest and internal direct
engineering costs, are recorded at cost. Depreniafiproperty, plant and equipment generally impaoted using the
straight-line method based on the estimated ufigéd of the assets. The estimated useful livasuiélings and
improvements primarily range from ten to forty y&awith the majority in the range of twenty to foyears. The
estimated useful lives of machinery and equipmemarily range from three to fifteen years, witle timajority in the
range of five to ten years. Fully depreciated asstiter than capitalized internally developed safenare retained in
property, plant and equipment and accumulated degtien accounts until disposal. Upon disposaletssand related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the ats@nd the net amount, less proceeds from dispesaiarged or
credited to operations. Property, plant and equigraenounts are reviewed for impairment whenevengver changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amadiain asset (asset group) may not be recoverablénpairment loss
would be recognized when the carrying amount cisset exceeds the estimated undiscounted futunefloas
expected to result from the use of the asset arel/gntual disposition. The amount of the impaimnhess recorded is
calculated by the excess of the asset’s carryihgevaver its fair value. Fair value is generallyateined using a
discounted cash flow analysis.

Conditional asset retirement obligation&:liability is initially recorded at fair value foan asset retirement obligation
associated with the retirement of tangible longdivassets in the period in which it is incurred feasonable estimate of
fair value can be made. Conditional asset retire¢rabligations exist for certain long-term assetshef Company. The
obligation is initially measured at fair value ugiexpected present value techniques. Over timbathitities are

accreted for the change in their present valuetlaméhitial capitalized costs are depreciated dheremaining useful
lives of the related assets. The asset retiremaigiation liability was $106 million and $111 mdin at December 31,
2017 and 20186, respectively.

Gooduwill: Goodwill is the excess of cost of an acquired gmtiter the amounts assigned to assets acquirelibdildies
assumed in a business combination. Goodwill isanwdrtized. Goodwill is tested for impairment antyal the fourth
quarter of each year, and is tested for impairrbetween annual tests if an event occurs or ciraumsts change that
would indicate the carrying amount may be impaitathbairment testing for goodwill is done at a rejpay unit level,

63



with all goodwill assigned to a reporting unit. Rejing units are one level below the business segiegel, but are
required to be combined when reporting units withia same segment have similar economic charatateri8M did

not combine any of its reporting units for impaimhé&esting. The impairment loss is measured asutiaunt by which
the carrying value of the reporting unit’s net assxceeds its estimated fair value. The estimaiedalue of a
reporting unit is determined using earnings forreggorting unit multiplied by a price/earnings oaftbor comparable
industry groups, or by using a discounted cash #oalysis. Companies have the option to first asgaalitative factors
to determine whether the fair value of a reporting is not “more likely than not” less than itsrigang amount, which
is commonly referred to as “Step 0”. 3M has chaseirto apply Step O for its annual goodwill assessis

Intangible assetdntangible asset types include customer relategnps other technology-based, tradenames and other
intangible assets acquired from an independeny.patangible assets with a definite life are anzed over a period
ranging from one to twenty years on a systematitrational basis (generally straight line) thatepresentative of the
asset’s use. The estimated useful lives vary bsgoay, with customer related largely between efglseventeen years,
patents largely between five to thirteen yearseiotbchnology-based largely between two to fiftgears, definite lived
tradenames largely between three and twenty yaadspther intangibles largely between two to tesryeCosts related

to internally developed intangible assets, sugbadisnts, are expensed as incurred, primarily irséaech, development
and related expenses.”

Intangible assets with a definite life are testdifpairment whenever events or circumstancesatdithat the
carrying amount of an asset (asset group) may eoetoverable. An impairment loss is recognizednithe carrying
amount of an asset exceeds the estimated undigtboash flows used in determining the fair valuthefasset. The
amount of the impairment loss recorded is calcdlatethe excess of the asset’s carrying value s dair value. Fair
value is generally determined using a discountst fiaw analysis.

Intangible assets with an indefinite life, namedytain tradenames, are not amortized. Indefinitediintangible assets
are tested for impairment annually, and are tefsteinpairment between annual tests if an eventiccor
circumstances change that would indicate that &éine/ig amount may be impaired. An impairment Igeserally
would be recognized when the fair value is lesa tha carrying value of the indefinite-lived intaiig asset.

Restructuring actionsRestructuring actions generally include significactions involving employee-related severance
charges, contract termination costs, and impairraeatcelerated depreciation/amortization of assedsciated with
such actions. Employee-related severance chargdargely based upon distributed employment pdieied
substantive severance plans. These charges areteeflin the quarter when the actions are prokmidehe amounts are
estimable, which typically is when management apgsdhe associated actions. Severance amountsfohn affected
employees were required to render service in dalegceive benefits at their termination dates weeasured at the
date such benefits were communicated to the afydiemployees and recognized as expense over thieyaas’
remaining service periods. Contract termination atter charges primarily reflect costs to termiratmntract before
the end of its term (measured at fair value atithe the Company provided notice to the counteypant costs that will
continue to be incurred under the contract fordtaaining term without economic benefit to the Camyp Asset
impairment charges related to intangible assetgamykerty, plant and equipment reflect the excéskepassets’
carrying values over their fair values.

Revenue (sales) recognitionhe Company sells a wide range of products tosersified base of customers around the
world and has no material concentration of cradik.rRevenue is recognized when the risks and @svafr ownership
have substantively transferred to customers. Tdvglition normally is met when the product has baelivered or upon
performance of services. The Company records etthraductions to revenue or records expense &iomer and
distributor incentives, primarily comprised of rédsmand free goods, at the time of the initial sBlese sales incentives
are accounted for in accordance with ASC 6R&venue Recognitioifhe estimated reductions of revenue for rebates
are based on the sales terms, historical experiémeel analysis and projected market conditiorthénvarious markets
served. Since the Company serves numerous mattetssbate programs offered vary across busingssete most
common incentive relates to amounts paid or crddidecustomers for achieving defined volume lewelgrowth
objectives. Free goods are accounted for as amegpnd recorded in cost of sales. Sales, uses-aalded and other
excise taxes are not recognized in revenue.
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The vast majority of 3M’s sales agreements arastandard products and services with customer azgeptoccurring
upon delivery of the product or performance of¢bevice. However, to a limited extent 3M also entato agreements
that involve multiple elements (such as equipmiestallation and service), software, or non-staddarms and
conditions.

For non-software multiple-element arrangementsQbmpany recognizes revenue for delivered elemehnén they
have stand-alone value to the customer, they hage hccepted by the customer, and for which threreray
customary refund or return rights. Arrangement @arsition is allocated to the deliverables by usthe relative selling
price method. The selling price used for each éedilile is based on vendor-specific objective e\iddWSOE) if
available, third-party evidence (TPE) if VSOE ig awailable, or estimated selling price if neitMSOE nor TPE is
available. Estimated selling price is determined imanner consistent with that used to establisiptite to sell the
deliverable on a standalone basis. In additioméoptreceding conditions, equipment revenue isemdrded until the
installation has been completed if equipment acreqet is dependent upon installation or if instaltats essential to the
functionality of the equipment. Installation revesware not recorded until installation has beenpbeted.

For arrangements (or portions of arrangementdphéplithin software revenue recognition standanats that do not
involve significant production, modification, orstomization, revenue for each software or softwatated element is
recognized when the Company has VSOE of the féirevaf all of the undelivered elements and appleabiteria have
been met for the delivered elements. When the geraents involve significant production, modificatior
customization, long-term construction-type accauminvolving proportional performance is employed.

For prepaid service contracts, sales revenue @grézed on a straight-line basis over the ternhefdontract, unless
historical evidence indicates the costs are incuoreother than a straight-line basis. Licenseégenue is recognized
as earned, and no revenue is recognized untihtteption of the license term.

On occasion, agreements will contain milestone8Momwill recognize revenue based on proportionafgrenance. For
these agreements, and depending on the specificm& recognize revenue upon completion of a sutise
milestone, or in proportion to costs incurred ttedaompared with the estimate of total costs tmberred.

Accounts receivable and allowanc@&sade accounts receivable are recorded at thedadamount and do not bear
interest. The Company maintains allowances fordeduts, cash discounts, product returns and vadthes items. The
allowance for doubtful accounts and product retisrsased on the best estimate of the amount @igirle credit losses
in existing accounts receivable and anticipatedssadturns. The Company determines the allowarasesdbon historical
write-off experience by industry and regional eamimdata and historical sales returns. The Compewigws the
allowance for doubtful accounts monthly. The Compdoes not have any significant off-balance-shesdit exposure
related to its customers.

Advertising and merchandisin@hese costs are charged to operations in thecbemoirred, and totaled $411 million in
2017, $385 million in 2016 and $368 million in 2015

Research, development and related experidesse costs are charged to operations in theerorred and are shown
on a separate line of the Consolidated Statemelncoime. Research, development and related expestséed $1.850
billion in 2017, $1.735 billion in 2016 and $1.76@ion in 2015. Research and development expersr®&ring basic
scientific research and the application of sciéntfivances in the development of new and imprg@reducts and their
uses, totaled $1.335 billion in 2017, $1.225 hillio 2016 and $1.223 billion in 2015. Related exgesnprimarily
include technical support; internally developedepatosts, which include costs and fees incurrgddpare, file, secure
and maintain patents; amortization of externallguaed patents and externally acquired in-processarch and
development; and gains/losses associated withic@daporate approved investments in R&D-relatedtwees, such as
equity method effects and impairments.

Internal-use softwareThe Company capitalizes direct costs of servigeslin the development of, and external
software acquired for use as, internal-use softwamgunts capitalized are amortized over a peridihr@e to seven
years, generally on a straight-line basis, unlessher systematic and rational basis is more reptative of the
software’s use. Amounts are reported as a compaieither machinery and equipment or capital lsaghin
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property, plant and equipment. Fully depreciatédrimal-use software assets are removed from prgopsant and
equipment and accumulated depreciation accounts.

Environmental:Environmental expenditures relating to existingditions caused by past operations that do not
contribute to current or future revenues are exp@énRBeserves for liabilities related to anticipatehediation costs are
recorded on an undiscounted basis when they almpl® and reasonably estimable, generally no tager the
completion of feasibility studies, the Company’sreonitment to a plan of action, or approval by retpaagencies.
Environmental expenditures for capital projectg twntribute to current or future operations geliyere capitalized
and depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Income taxesThe provision for income taxes is determined usiregasset and liability approach. Under this aaging
deferred income taxes represent the expected ftanreonsequences of temporary differences bettveeoarrying
amounts and tax basis of assets and liabilities. Gdmpany records a valuation allowance to redsadeiferred tax
assets when uncertainty regarding their realizgtsikists. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the@amy had
valuation allowances of $81 million and $47 million its deferred tax assets, respectively. Theeas® in valuation
allowance at December 31, 2017 relates to certefin &hd international jurisdictions with taxabledmr tax credit
carryforwards that are expected to expire priastitization. The Company recognizes and measusasntertain tax
positions based on the rules under ASC Td€pme Taxes

Earnings per shareThe difference in the weighted average 3M shamstanding for calculating basic and diluted
earnings per share attributable to 3M common sluddlels is the result of the dilution associatedchwvlite Company’s
stock-based compensation plans. Certain optiorstanding under these stock-based compensation ghlaimg) the
years 2017, 2016 and 2015 were not included icdingputation of diluted earnings per share attribletéo 3M
common shareholders because they would have hadtiadilutive effect (0.8 million average optiorey 2017, 3.6
million average options for 2016, and 5.0 millioreeage options for 2015). The computations fordasd diluted
earnings per share for the years ended Decembiefl@d:

Earnings Per Share Computations

(Amounts in millions, except per share amounts) 2017 2016 2015
Numerator
Net income attributable to 3M $ 4858 $ 5050 $ 4,833
Denominator:
Denominator for weighted average 3M common shanestanding- basic 597.5 604.7 625.6
Dilution associated with the Company’s stock-basathpensation plans 15.2 14.0 11.6
Denominator for weighted average 3M common shanéstanding- dilutec 612.7 618.7 637.2
Earnings per share attributable to 3M common slwddens— basic $ 8.13 $ 835 $ 7.72
Earnings per share attributable to 3M common stwddehs— diluted $ 793 $ 8.16 $ 7.58

Stock-based compensatidrhe Company recognizes compensation expense fatoitk-based compensation programs,
which include stock options, restricted stock, niettd stock units (RSUs), performance shares tlam@General
Employees’ Stock Purchase Plan (GESPP). Undercatyhi accounting standards, the fair value of shased
compensation is determined at the grant date ancettognition of the related expense is recorded the period in
which the share-based compensation vests. Howeitbrrespect to income taxes, the related dedudtam taxes
payable is based on the award’s intrinsic valudatime of exercise (for an option) or on the fatue upon vesting of
the award (for RSUs), which can be either greatieyating an excess tax benefit) or less (creatiag a@eficiency) than
the deferred tax benefit recognized as compensatishis recognized in the financial statementgjideng in 2016, as

a result of 3M’s adoption of Accounting Standargsddte (ASU) No. 2016-0%nprovements to Employee Share-Based
Payment Accountinghese excess tax benefits/deficiencies are réoagjas income tax benefit/expense in the
statement of income and, within the statement sl dbws, are classified in operating activitiethe same manner as
other cash flows related to income taxes. The éxteexcess tax benefits/deficiencies is subjestatdation in 3M stock
price and timing/extent of RSU vestings and empdogteck option exercises. Prior to 2016, excesbdaefits were
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recognized in additional paid-in capital within @guand, with respect to statement of cash flomere reflected as a
financing cash inflow. Based on the adoption metihagly of ASU No. 2016-09 applied, periods prio2il6 were not
changed.

Comprehensive incom&otal comprehensive income and the componentsafraulated other comprehensive income
(loss) are presented in the Consolidated Stateaféddmprehensive Income and the Consolidated Seattof

Changes in Equity. Accumulated other compreherisiseme (loss) is composed of foreign currency tegion effects
(including hedges of net investments in internalaompanies), defined benefit pension and postregnt plan
adjustments, unrealized gains and losses on ailsilabsale debt and equity securities, and urnzedligains and losses
on cash flow hedging instruments.

Derivatives and hedging activitiesll derivative instruments within the scope of ABC5, Derivatives and Hedging
are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value Cdmpany uses interest rate swaps, currency anchodity price
swaps, and foreign currency forward and option reat$ to manage risks generally associated wietigarexchange
rate, interest rate and commodity market volatil)l hedging instruments that qualify for hedge@aanting are
designated and effective as hedges, in accordaiticévG. generally accepted accounting principlethe underlying
hedged transaction ceases to exist, all chanda# ialue of the related derivatives that have lrextn settled are
recognized in current earnings. Instruments thatatajualify for hedge accounting are marked tokagwith changes
recognized in current earnings. Cash flows fronivag¢ive instruments are classified in the statenadéiash flows in
the same category as the cash flows from the iserect to designated hedge or undesignated (edonbetge
relationships. The Company does not hold or issuivative financial instruments for trading purpssad is not a
party to leveraged derivatives.

Credit risk: The Company is exposed to credit loss in the esEnbnperformance by counterparties in interetst ra
swaps, currency swaps, commodity price swaps, @aneafd and option contracts. However, the Compariglsis
limited to the fair value of the instruments. Then@pany actively monitors its exposure to credk tigough the use of
credit approvals and credit limits, and by selegtimjor international banks and financial instiiag as counterparties.
3M enters into master netting arrangements wititzrparties when possible to mitigate credit riskiérivative
transactions. A master netting arrangement mawadiach counterparty to net settle amounts oweddsstva 3M entity
and the counterparty as a result of multiple, sspaderivative transactions. The Company doesmiatipate
nonperformance by any of these counterparties. 88/ehected to present the fair value of derivadisgets and
liabilities within the Company’s consolidated batarsheet on a gross basis even when derivativeaitiians are
subject to master netting arrangements and maywigequalify for net presentation.

Fair value measurement8M follows ASC 820Fair Value Measurements and Disclosyresth respect to assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value on@irgng basis and nonrecurring basis. Under thedstal, fair value is
defined as the exit price, or the amount that wdngldeceived to sell an asset or paid to transfiabdity in an orderly
transaction between market participants as of thasurement date. The standard also establishesaadhiy for inputs
used in measuring fair value that maximizes theofisdservable inputs and minimizes the use of sankable inputs
by requiring that the most observable inputs bel wggen available. Observable inputs are inputs atgrérticipants
would use in valuing the asset or liability deveddased on market data obtained from sourceséndept of the
Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflfecCompany’s assumptions about the factors mmadwticipants
would use in valuing the asset or liability deveddgased upon the best information available irctfeemstances. The
hierarchy is broken down into three levels. Levalfduts are quoted prices (unadjusted) in activekata for identical
assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs include qubpeices for similar assets or liabilities in aetimarkets, quoted prices
for identical or similar assets or liabilities irankets that are not active, and inputs (other thated prices) that are
observable for the asset or liability, either dikgor indirectly. Level 3 inputs are unobservalsiputs for the asset or
liability. Categorization within the valuation hachy is based upon the lowest level of input thatgnificant to the
fair value measurement.

Acquisitions:The Company accounts for business acquisitionsdnrdance with ASC 80Business Combinations
This standard requires the acquiring entity in sifiess combination to recognize all (and only)assets acquired and
liabilities assumed in the transaction and esthbighe acquisition-date fair value as the measemeobjective for all
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a bssio@mbination. Certain provisions of this stangarscribe, among
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other things, the determination of acquisition-datevalue of consideration paid in a business loioation (including
contingent consideration) and the exclusion ofgaation and acquisition-related restructuring ctrsts acquisition
accounting.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsf8q&ASB) issued ASU No. 2014-0Revenue from Contracts with
Customersand in August 2015 issued ASU No. 2015-14, whictended the standard as to effective date. The ASU
provides a single comprehensive model to be us#tkiaccounting for revenue arising from contragth customers
and supersedes most current revenue recognitigidgee, including industry-specific guidance. Thandard's stated
core principle is that an entity should recognizeenue to depict the transfer of promised good®nrices to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration toactvitihe entity expects to be entitled in exchangé¢hfose goods or
services. To achieve this core principle the AStludes provisions within a five step model thatudes identifying
the contract with a customer, identifying the perfance obligations in the contract, determiningtthasaction price,
allocating the transaction price to the performasigigations, and recognizing revenue when (omantity satisfies a
performance obligation. The standard also spedifiesaccounting for some costs to obtain or fulfifontract with a
customer and requires expanded disclosures abauiatiuire, amount, timing and uncertainty of reveame cash flows
arising from contracts with customers. During 20th&, FASB also issued ASU No. 2016-88incipal versus Agent
Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus A8St) No. 2016-10ldentifying Performance Obligations and
Licensing ASU No. 2016-12Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedjertd ASU No. 2016-20,echnical
Corrections and Improvements to Topic 606, Revéraue Contracts with Customevghich amend ASU No. 2014-09.
These amendments include clarification of princigakus agent guidance in situations in which amee transaction
involves a third party in providing goods or seegdo a customer. In such circumstances, an entist determine
whether the nature of its promise to the customés provide the underlying goods or services, (it entity is the
principal in the transaction) or to arrange for thied party to provide the underlying goods owsegs (i.e., the entity is
the agent in the transaction). The amendmentdylariterms of identifying performance obligatioi®w entities
would determine whether promised goods or senaceseparately identifiable from other promisea gontract and,
therefore, would be accounted for separately. Theamce allows entities to disregard goods or sessthat are
immaterial in the context of a contract and prosida accounting policy election to account for pliig and handling
activities as fulfillment costs rather than as #iddal promised services. With regard to licensithg, amendments
clarify how an entity would evaluate the naturét®foromise in granting a license of intellectusdgerty, which
determines whether the entity recognizes reveneetime or at a point in time. The amendments atidress
implementation issues relative to transition (addirpractical expedient for contract modificatiamnsl clarifying what
constitutes a completed contract when employinigofuinodified retrospective transition methods)jextability,
noncash consideration, and the presentation of salé other similar-type taxes (allowing entitie®xclude sales-type
taxes collected from transaction price). Finalhe amendments provide additional guidance in thasaof disclosure of
performance obligations, provisions for losses @tiain types of contracts, scoping, and other a@asrall, ASU No.
2014-09, as amended, provides for either full sgtextive adoption or a modified retrospective aidopby which it is
applied only to the most current period preserfed.3M, the ASU is effective January 1, 2018 arel@ompany has
concluded that it will utilize the modified retrasgive method of adoption. The Company has completalyses,
executed project management relative to the pramfesdopting this ASU, and conducted detailed amttreviews to
complete necessary adjustments to existing acaayptlicies and quantify the ASU'’s effect. For moE8M's revenue
arrangements, there are no impacts as these ttimmsaare not accounted for under industry-spegifficiance that will
be superseded by the ASU and generally consissfghe performance obligation to transfer promigedds or
services. 3M also engages in some arrangementghfoh software industry-specific guidance (which thSU
supersedes) is presently utilized. The Companyaissidered these arrangements in the detailedacbmeviews that
have been conducted. While 3M will provide expandisdlosures as a result of ASU No. 2014-09, itsdoat expect
this standard to have a material impact on its alichested results of operations and financial caadit

In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015A18endments to the Consolidation Analygisich changes
guidance related to both the variable interestye(MIE) and voting interest entity (VOE) consoltaa models. With
respect to the VIE model, the standard changeshgmther things, the identification of variableeirgsts associated
with fees paid to a decision maker or service ptenithe VIE characteristics for a limited partonesimilar entity, and
the primary beneficiary determination. With respecthe VOE model, the ASU eliminates the presuampthat a
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general partner controls a limited partnershipimilar entity unless the presumption can othervlieevercome. Under
the new guidance, a general partner would largefycansolidate a partnership or similar entity urttie VOE model.
The Company adopted this ASU effective Januaryp162Because 3M did not have significant involvetweith
entities subject to consolidation considerationgaénted by the VIE model changes or with limitediparships
potentially impacted by the VOE model changes attheption did not have a material impact on the Camgjs
consolidated results of operations and financialdaon.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-@stomer’s Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Agament

which requires a customer to determine whetheoadctomputing arrangement contains a software sieelfi the
arrangement contains a software license, the cestammuld account for fees related to the softwanenkse element in a
manner consistent with accounting for the acquoisitf other acquired software licenses. If therageanent does not
contain a software license, the customer would @atcfor the arrangement as a service contract.rfangement would
contain a software license element if both (1)ahstomer has the contractual right to take possessithe software at
any time during the hosting period without sigrafit penalty and (2) it is feasible for the custotoegither run the
software on its own hardware or contract with aapftarty unrelated to the vendor to host the soBw8M adopted this
ASU prospectively to arrangements entered intonaterially modified beginning January 1, 2016. &deption did not
have a material impact on 3M’s consolidated resfligperations and financial condition.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-&implifying the Measurement of Inventomhich modifies existing
requirements regarding measuring inventory atahet of cost or market. Under existing standatus,nharket amount
requires consideration of replacement cost, ndizedde value (NRV), and NRV less an approximatabymal profit
margin. The new ASU replaces market with NRV, defims estimated selling prices in the ordinary s®arf business,
less reasonably predictable costs of completi@patial and transportation. This eliminates the neeldtermine and
consider replacement cost or NRV less an approgimabrmal profit margin when measuring invent@W adopted
this standard prospectively beginning January 172The adoption did not have a material impacBidrs
consolidated results of operations and financialaon.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016R¥cognition and Measurement of Financial Assetskandncial
Liabilities, which revises the accounting related to (1) thesification and measurement of investments iritgqu
securities and (2) the presentation of certainvaiue changes for financial liabilities measuretha value. The ASU
also amends certain disclosure requirements assdaith the fair value of financial instrument$i€Tnew guidance
requires the fair value measurement of investmianggjuity securities and other ownership intergstm entity,
including investments in partnerships, unincorpedgbint ventures and limited liability companiesl{ectively, equity
securities) that do not result in consolidation anelnot accounted for under the equity methodti&sntvill need to
measure these investments and recognize chanégs\value in net income. Entities will no longez hble to recognize
unrealized holding gains and losses on equity #eesuthey classify under current guidance as abbeHfor-sale in other
comprehensive income (OCI). They also will no lanige able to use the cost method of accountingdoity securities
that do not have readily determinable fair valllestead, for these types of equity investmentsdbatot otherwise
qualify for the net asset value practical expedientities will be permitted to elect a practicépiexception and
measure the investment at cost less impairmentgslosnus observable price changes (in orderlystations). The
ASU also establishes an incremental recognitiondasclosure requirement related to the presentatidair value
changes of financial liabilities for which the fa@mlue option (FVO) has been elected. Under thidance, an entity
would be required to separately present in OClpttrtion of the total fair value change attributatdenstrument-
specific credit risk as opposed to reflecting thére amount in earnings. This provision does mputiato derivative
instruments required to be measured at fair valitie @hanges in fair value recognized in currentiays. For 3M, this
standard is effective beginning January 1, 201&wamulative-effect adjustment to beginning regdiparnings, except
for guidance relative to equity securities withceddily determinable fair values which is appliedgpectively. Because
the Company has historically held limited amouritequity securities (less than $75 million in aggate at December
31, 2017), and has not elected the FVO with regpectaterial financial liabilities, it does not exqi this standard to
have a material impact on its consolidated resfltyperations and financial condition.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016L@2sesreplacing existing lease accounting guidance. ridve

standard introduces a lessee model that would nreutities to recognize assets and liabilitiesfiost leases, but
recognize expenses on their income statementsnanamer similar to current accounting. The ASU dustsmake

69



fundamental changes to existing lessor accountiogvever, it modifies what qualifies as a sales-tgpd direct
financing lease and related accounting and alignsnaber of the underlying principles with thosetd new revenue
standard, ASU No. 2014-09, such as evaluating halleatability should be considered and determinifigen profit can
be recognized. The guidance eliminates existingastate-specific provisions and requires exparmpeditative and
guantitative disclosures. The standard requiresifireddetrospective transition by which it is aggliat the beginning of
the earliest comparative period presented in tlae geadoption. For 3M, the ASU is effective Jaryuhr2019.
Information under existing lease guidance with eespo rent expense for operating leases and thg&oy’s minimum
lease payments for capital and operating leasdsneii-cancelable terms in excess one year as afritser 31, 2017 is
included in Note 15. The Company is currently asiegsthis ASU’s impact on 3M’s consolidated resoft®perations
and financial condition.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-06ntingent Put and Call Options in Debt Instrumeiitsis ASU
clarifies guidance used to determine if debt insents that contain contingent put or call optiosild require
separation of the embedded put or call feature ftwardebt instrument and trigger accounting forfeaure as a
derivative with changes in fair value recorded tigioincome. Under the new guidance, fewer put tioggions
embedded in debt instruments would require dexigaaccounting. For 3M, this ASU was effective Japua 2017.
The Company’s outstanding debt with embedded muigions did not require separate derivative actingrunder
existing guidance. As a result, the adoption of #tandard did not have a material impact on theg@my’s
consolidated results of operations and financialaon.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-8implifying the Transition to the Equity MethodAaftounting
which eliminates the existing requirement to apghky equity method of accounting retrospectivelyi§iag prior
periods as if the equity method had always beetie)pvhen an entity obtains significant influermeer a previously
held investment. The new guidance would requirarthiestor to apply the equity method prospectiedyn the date
the investment qualifies for the equity method. ihestor would add the carrying value of the emgsinvestment to
the cost of any additional investment to deterntivgeinitial cost basis of the equity method investin For 3M, this
ASU was effective January 1, 2017 on a prospettasts. 3M will apply this guidance to investmetigtttransition to
the equity method after the adoption date.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016M8&asurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instrussyevhich
revises guidance for the accounting for creditdsssn financial instruments within its scope. The/rstandard
introduces an approach, based on expected lossestimate credit losses on certain types of firsmestruments and
modifies the impairment model for available-foresdebt securities. The new approach to estimatiegdjtdosses
(referred to as the current expected credit losgadel) applies to most financial assets measuradhattized cost and
certain other instruments, including trade and otbeeivables, loans, held-to-maturity debt semsjtnet investments
in leases and off-balance-sheet credit exposuréh. rdspect to available-for-sale (AFS) debt sdimsj the ASU
amends the current other-than-temporary impairmedel. For such securities with unrealized lossesties will still
consider if a portion of any impairment is relatedy to credit losses and therefore recognizedraslaction in income.
However, rather than also reflecting that credislamount as a permanent reduction in cost (aredrtiast) basis of
that AFS debt security, the ASU requires that ¢redises be reflected as an allowance. As a rasugr certain
circumstances, a recovery in value could resyttr@vious allowances, or portions thereof, reversiagk into income.
For 3M, this ASU is effective January 1, 2020, wadrly adoption permitted. Entities are requiredpply the
standard’s provisions as a cumulative-effect adjasit to retained earnings as of the beginning efitst reporting
period in which the guidance is adopted. The Comgsourrently assessing this ASU’s impact on 3kbssolidated
result of operations and financial condition.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-QBssification of Certain Cash Receipts and CashirRentswhich
is intended to reduce diversity in practice in haertain cash receipts and payments are presenteclassified in the
statement of cash flows. The standard providesamuaiel in a number of situations including, amongisthsettlement of
zero-coupon bonds, contingent consideration paysneade after a business combination, proceedstfrersettlement
of insurance claims, and distributions receivednfequity method investees. The ASU also providédamee for
classifying cash receipts and payments that hgwecss of more than one class of cash flows. Thepgaomyearly
adopted ASU No. 2016-15 as of January 1, 2017 eSime associated changes in classification wereabemal to all
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prior periods presented, no impact was reflectatiéenCompany’s pre-2017 consolidated results ofatfmns and
financial condition presented.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016ti8a-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventavhich
modifies existing guidance and is intended to rediigersity in practice with respect to the accounfor the income
tax consequences of intra-entity transfers of as3éie ASU indicates that the current exceptiom¢ome tax
accounting that requires companies to defer thenmectax effects of certain intercompany transastiwauld apply only
to intercompany inventory transactions. That is,glkception would no longer apply to intercompaalgs and transfers
of other assets (e.g., intangible assets). Undeexisting exception, income tax expense assocvaitbdntra-entity
profits in an intercompany sale or transfer of tsieeliminated from earnings. Instead, that eodeferred and
recorded on the balance sheet (e.g., as a pregsat) aintil the assets leave the consolidated gi®uplarly, the entity
is prohibited from recognizing deferred tax as$atshe increases in tax bases due to the interaompale or transfer.
For 3M, this ASU is effective January 1, 2018. Btendard requires modified retrospective transitith a cumulative
catch-up adjustment to opening retained earningisemperiod of adoption. Upon adoption, a compaould write off
any income tax effects that had been deferred frast intercompany transactions involving non-ineenassets to
opening retained earnings. In addition, an entibyild record deferred tax assets with an offsepening retained
earnings for amounts that entity had previouslyreobgnized under existing guidance but would razmgunder the
new guidance. Based on deferred tax amounts reategplicable past intercompany transactions &eckmber 31,
2017, the Company does not expect this ASU to hawaterial impact on 3M’s consolidated resultspérations and
financial condition.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016tifErests Held through Related Parties That Arear@ommon
Control, which modifies existing guidance with respechtav a decision maker that holds an indirect interea
variable interest entity (VIE) through a common ttohparty determines whether it is the primary dfegiary of the

VIE as part of the analysis of whether the VIE vibnéed to be consolidated. Under the ASU, a dectisiaker would
need to consider only its proportionate indirete¢iiast in the VIE held through a common controtydrevious
guidance had required the decision maker to treatdmmon control party’s interest in the VIE athd decision maker
held the interest itself. As a result of the AStJcertain cases, previous consolidation conclusioag change. For 3M,
the standard was effective January 1, 2017 witlospective application to January 1, 2016. 3M dughave
significant involvement with entities subject tonsolidation considerations impacted by VIE modetdas. As a result,
the adoption of this ASU did not have a materighdet on the Company’s consolidated results of dmersand
financial condition.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016Réstricted Cashwhich clarifies guidance on the classification
and presentation of restricted cash in the stateofesash flows. Under the ASU, changes in regidatash and
restricted cash equivalents would be included alwitiy those of cash and cash equivalents in therstnt of cash
flows. As a result, entities would no longer preédesnsfers between cash/equivalents and restraasl/equivalents in
the statement of cash flows. In addition, a red@imn between the balance sheet and the statenfieash flows
would be disclosed when the balance sheet incloabee than one line item for cash/equivalents asttioted
cash/equivalents. The Company early adopted ASW2RD6-18 as of January 1, 2017. Due to the imnwdtese of
restricted cash and restricted cash equivalentsnpact was reflected in the Company’s pre-2017/&obdated results
of operations and financial condition presented.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017a)4rifying the Definition of a Busineswhich narrows the existing
definition of a business and provides a frameworlkefvaluating whether a transaction should be atteoifor as an
acquisition (or disposal) of assets or a businElss.ASU requires an entity to evaluate if substdlytall of the fair

value of the gross assets acquired is concentiai@gingle identifiable asset or a group of simidkentifiable assets; if
s0, the set of transferred assets and activit@e(tively, the set) is not a business. To be imred a business, the set
would need to include an input and a substantieegss that together significantly contribute todbdity to create
outputs. The standard also narrows the definitiooutputs. The definition of a business affectsaref accounting such
as acquisitions, disposals and goodwill. Undemiiw guidance, fewer acquired sets are expected tomsidered
businesses. For 3M, this ASU is effective Januai3018 on a prospective basis with early adoptienmgited. 3M

would apply this guidance to applicable transactiafter the adoption date.
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In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017Shplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairmettnder the new
standard, goodwill impairment would be measurethasmount by which a reporting unit’'s carryingueakxceeds its
fair value, not to exceed the carrying value ofdyitl. This ASU eliminates existing guidance thatuires an entity to
determine goodwill impairment by calculating thepifad fair value of goodwill by hypothetically agsing the fair
value of a reporting unit to all of its assets &adilities as if that reporting unit had been aicgd in a business
combination. For 3M, this ASU is effective prospeely to impairment tests beginning January 1, 20@¢th early
adoption permitted. 3M adopted this ASU in the fbuuarter of 2017 in conjunction with its annuabgdwiill
impairment testing. The adoption did not have apdot on 3M’s consolidated results of operations farahcial
condition.

In February 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017€)&rifying the Scope of Asset Derecognition Guidaand
Accounting for Partial Sales of Nonfinancial Assdtsis ASU addresses scope-related questions ths¢ after the
FASB issued its revenue guidance in ASU No. 2014R&¥enue from Contracts with Customdrise new standard
clarifies the accounting for derecognition of noaficial assets and defines what is considered subistance
nonfinancial asset. Nonfinancial assets largelgteelo items such as real estate, ships and ictigdleproperty that do
not constitute a business. The new ASU impactsiestierecognizing (e.g. selling) nonfinancial &s$er in substance
nonfinancial assets), including partial intereberein, when the purchaser is not a customer. Uthéemew guidance,
the seller would apply certain recognition and measent principles of ASU No. 2014-(Revenue from Contracts
with Customerseven though the purchaser is not a customer3Motthis new standard is effective coincident vitib
Company’s January 1, 2018 adoption of ASU No. 2094The Company does not expect this ASU to havatarial
impact on 3M’s consolidated results of operatioms fnancial condition.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017407proving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pen<tmst and Net
Periodic Postretirement Benefit Co3this ASU changes how employers that sponsor ééfoenefit pension and/or
other postretirement benefit plans present th@eegbdic benefit cost in the income statement. Wilde new standard,
only the service cost component of net periodicefienost would be included in operating expensesanly the
service cost component would be eligible for cdigiéition into assets such as inventory. All othet periodic benefit
costs components (such as interest, expected r@tuptan assets, prior service cost amortizati@haantuarial gain/loss
amortization) would be reported outside of opematicome. For 3M, this ASU is effective JanuarpQ18 on a
retrospective basis; however, guidance limitingdhgitalization to only the service cost componemtpplied on
prospective basis. The components of 3M’s net géaridefined benefit pension and postretirement fiec@sts are
presented in Note 12. These include componentingta benefit of $129 million, $195 million, anddatriment of $34
million, for the fiscal years 2017, 2016, and 20iEspectively, that would no longer be includechimitoperating
expenses and instead would be reported outsideofrie from operations under the new standard. &yrtie
capitalization of service cost change is not exgatd have a material impact on 3M’s consolidagsliits of operations
and financial condition.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-B8mium Amortization on Purchased Callable DedtiBities
which amends the amortization period for certairchased callable debt securities held at a premlilmder existing
standards, entities generally amortize the pren@aran adjustment of yield over the contractualdiféhe instrument.
The new guidance shortens the amortization peddbe earliest call date for certain callable dsuturities that have
explicit, noncontingent call features and are tddlaat a fixed price and preset date. The amendntEnhot require an
accounting change for securities held at a discdtot3M, this ASU is effective January 1, 2019hat modified
retrospective transition resulting in a cumulatéféect adjustment to retained earnings as of tiggnioéng of the first
reporting period in which the guidance is adopteatly adoption is permitted. 3M’s marketable segyportfolio
includes very limited instances of callable delstusities held at a premium. As a result, the Corgpdoes not expect
this ASU to have a material impact on 3M’s consatiidl results of operations and financial condition.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-88ope of Modification Accountintpat clarifies when changes to the
terms or conditions of a share-based payment amasd be accounted for as a modification. The gémeodel for
accounting for modifications of share-based payragrrds is to record the incremental value arifiog the changes
as additional compensation cost. Under the newdatah fewer changes to the terms of an award weajdire
accounting under this modification model. For 3NMstASU is effective January 1, 2018, with earlpjaiibn permitted.
Because the Company does not typically make changée terms or conditions of its issued sharethgmyment
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awards, 3M does not expect this ASU to have a riahierpact on its consolidated results of operatiand financial
condition.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-D@termining the Customer of the Operation Seryitest clarifies
how an operating entity determines the customéhnebperation services for transactions withindgbepe of a service
concession arrangement. Service concession arramge e typically agreements between a grantoaaraperating
entity whereby the operating entity will operate tirantor’s infrastructure (i.e. airports, roadwaysdges, and prisons)
for a specified period of time. The operating gngitso may be required to maintain the infrastruiecand provide
capital-intensive maintenance to enhance or extsrife. In such arrangements, typically the opieraservices (i.e.
operation and maintenance of a roadway) would bd by third parties (i.e. drivers). The ASU cla#ithat the grantor,
not the third party, is the customer of the operaservices in such arrangements. For 3M, thisstandard is effective
coincident with the Company’s January 1, 2018 adapif ASU No. 2014-09. Because the Company istyqitally a
party to agreements within the scope of accourfongervice concession arrangements, 3M does mpaatxhis ASU to
have a material impact on its consolidated resdltgperations and financial condition.

In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017Part I) Accounting for Certain Financial Instrumisnwith Down
Round Features, (Part 1l) Replacement of the ImdiefiDeferral for Mandatorily Redeemable Finandiastruments of
Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatoridgdeemable Noncontrolling Interests with a Scopeeftion The
new standard applies to issuers of financial ims&mts with down-round features. A down-round prioviss a term in
an equity-linked financial instrument (i.e. a frigegling warrant contract or an equity conversi@idee embedded
within a host debt or equity contract) that triggardownward adjustment to the instrument’s spitee (or conversion
price) if equity shares are issued at a lower piiceequity-linked financial instruments are issat lower strike price)
than the instrument’s then-current strike pricee Plarpose of the feature is typically to proteetithstrument’s
counterparty from future issuances of equity shatesmore favorable price. The ASU amends (1kkassification of
such instruments as liabilities or equity by ravisthe certain guidance relative to evaluatinéfyt must be accounted
for as derivative instruments and (2) the guidasrteecognition and measurement of freestandingyeglassified
instruments. For 3M, this ASU is effective Januayp019, with early adoption permitted. BecauseGbmpany has not
issued financial instruments with down-round feasy3M does not expect this ASU to have a matenighct on its
consolidated results of operations and financialaon.

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-T&geted Improvements to Accounting for Hedgingvitiets. The
ASU amends existing guidance to simplify the aggtian of hedge accounting in certain situations allalv companies
to better align their hedge accounting with thask management activities. Existing standards d¢ort@rtain
requirements for an instrument to qualify for hedgeounting relative to initial and ongoing assessi:0f hedge
effectiveness. While an initial quantitative tesestablish the hedge relationship is highly effectvould still be
required, the new ASU permits subsequent qualgassessments for certain hedges instead of aitgtisattest and
expands the timeline for performing the initial qtitative assessment. The ASU also simplifies eelatccounting by
eliminating the requirement to separately measnderaport hedge ineffectiveness. Instead, for §uag cash flow and
net investment hedges, the entire change in féirev@ncluding the amount attributable to ineffeetiess) will be
recorded within other comprehensive income andassified to earnings in the same income staterirenttat is used
to present the earnings effect of the hedged itéwnwhe hedged item affects earnings. For fairevhkdges, generally,
the entire change in fair value of the hedgingrimsent would also be presented in the same inceaensent line as
the hedged item. The new standard also simplifiesatcounting for fair value hedges of interest ratks and expands
an entity’s ability to hedge nonfinancial and fioat risk components. In addition, the guidance a&lases certain
documentation requirements, modifies the accouritngomponents excluded from the assessment afehed
effectiveness, and requires additional tabulardiszes of derivative and hedge-related informatieor 3M, this ASU
is effective January 1, 2019, with a modified refrective transition resulting in a cumulative-effadjustment recorded
to the opening balance of retained earnings aseoftioption date. Early adoption is permitted. Thenpany is
currently assessing this ASU’s impact on 3M’s cdidsded results of operations and financial comodiiti
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NOTE 2. Acquisitions and Divestitures
Acquisitions:

3M makes acquisitions of certain businesses frome to time that are aligned with its strategic mt&ith respect to,
among other factors, growth markets and adjaceymt lines or technologies. Goodwill resultingnfrbousiness
combinations is largely attributable to the exigtimorkforce of the acquired businesses and syrnesgipected to arise
after 3M’s acquisition of these businesses.

In addition to business combinations, 3M periodjcatquires certain tangible and/or intangible tssaed purchases
interests in certain enterprises that do not otlsrqualify for accounting as business combinatidihgse transactions
are largely reflected as additional asset purchagdenvestment activity.

2017 acquisitions:

In September 2017, 3M purchased all of the ownpristierests of Elution Technologies, LLC, a Vermbased
manufacturer of test kits that help enable food laewkrage companies ensure their products arérémecertain
potentially harmful allergens such as peanuts,asayilk. Elution is reported within the Company'&#&lth Care
business.

In October 2017, 3M completed the acquisition ef timderlying legal entities and associated as$&sait Safety,
which is headquartered in Monroe, North Carolimagf Johnson Controls for $2.0 billion of cash, metash acquired.
Scott Safety is a premier manufacturer of innopivoducts, including self-contained breathing agjps systems, gas
and flame detection instruments, and other safetjcds that complement 3M’s personal safety paafdihe business
had revenues of approximately $570 million in 2036ott Safety is reported within 3M’s Safety and@rics business.
The allocation of purchase consideration relate8Hdott Safety is considered preliminary with pravigl amounts
primarily related to intangible assets and cenaxarelated, contingent liability and working capittems. 3M expects to
finalize the allocation of purchase price withie thne year measurement-period following the actijrisi

Pro forma information related to acquisitions hasbeen included because the impact on the Companoyisolidated
results of operations was not considered matéra. following table shows the impact on the comiaikd balance
sheet of the purchase price allocations relat@Diy acquisitions and assigned finite-lived inthtgasset weighted-
average lives.
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2017 Acquisition Activity

Finite-Lived
Intangible-Asset
Weighted-
(Millions) Scott Average
Asset (Liability) Safety Other Total Lives (Years)
Accounts receivable $ 100 $ — $ 100
Inventory 79 — 79
Other current assets 10 — 10
Property, plant, and equipment 74 — 74
Purchased finite-lived intangible assets:
Customer related intangible assets 439 3 442 15
Other technology-based intangible assets 125 2 127 10
Definite-lived tradenames 285 — 285 17
Other amortizable intangible assets — 1 1 5
Purchased goodwill 1,296 6 1,302
Accounts payable and other liabilities (200 — (200
Deferred tax asset/(liability) (297 — (297)
Net assets acquire $ 2,011 $ 12 3 2,023
Supplemental information:
Cash paid $ 2,020 $ 12 $ 2,032
Less: Cash acquired 9 — 9
Cash paid, net of cash acquired $ 2,011 $ 12 $ 2,023

Purchased identifiable finite-lived intangible asselated to acquisition activity in 2017 total#865 million. The
associated finite-lived intangible assets acquineZD17 will be amortized on a systematic and ratidasis (generally
straight line) over a weighted-average life of ¥ans (lives ranging from four to 17 years). Acqdine-process research
and development and identifiable intangible asfetahich significant assumed renewals or extersioiunderlying
arrangements impacted the determination of thefuliives were not material.

2016 acquisitions:

In September 2016, 3M acquired all of the outstagdhares of Semfinder, headquartered in Kreuzlin§eitzerland.
Semfinder is a leading developer of precision saferthat enables efficient coding of medical praces in multiple
languages. The purchase price paid for these Bssgwmnbinations (net of cash acquired) during 20jdiegated to $16
million. Semfinder is reported within 3M’s Healthafe business.

Adjustments in 2016 to the preliminary purchasegaéllocations of other acquisitions within thevedition period
primarily related to the identification of contingdiabilities and certain tax-related items aggtitg to approximately
$35 million along with other balances related t® 2015 acquisition of Capital Safety Group S.A.R.he change to
provisional amounts resulted in an immaterial intga¢he results of operations in the third quaofe?2016, a portion of
which related to earlier quarters in the measurémperiod.

Purchased identifiable finite-lived intangible asselated to acquisition activity in 2016 totafitimillion. The
associated finite-lived intangible assets acquineZD16 will be amortized on a systematic and ratidasis (generally
straight line) over a weighted-average life of &nge(lives ranging from two to 20 years). Acquinegbrocess research
and development and identifiable intangible askgtavhich significant assumed renewals or extersigiunderlying
arrangements impacted the determination of thefulisves were not material.

2015 acquisitions:
In March 2015, 3M purchased all of the outstandihgres of lvera Medical Corp., headquartered inC8ago,

California. Ivera Medical Corp. is a manufacturéhealth care products that disinfect and protevicks used for
access into a patient’s bloodstream and is repaeviiin 3M’s Health Care business. In additionthie first quarter of
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2015, 3M purchased the remaining interest in a &reguity method investment reported within 3M’duatrial
business for an immaterial amount.

In August 2015, 3M acquired all of the outstandéhgres of Capital Safety Group S.A.R.L., with oiaggheadquarters
in Bloomington, Minnesota, from KKR & Co. L.P. f§4.7 billion, net of cash acquired. The net asaetgiired

included the assumption of $0.8 billion of debtpfal Safety is a leading global provider of fatbfection equipment
and is reported within 3M’s Safety and Graphicsifess.

In August 2015, 3M acquired the assets and ligsliassociated with Polypore International, InBéparations Media
business (hereafter referred to as Membrana), leatiged in Wuppertal, Germany, for $1.0 billionefdbrana is a
leading provider of microporous membranes and nesdfdr filtration in the life sciences, industraaid specialty
segments and is reported within 3M’s Industrialibesss.

The impact on the consolidated balance sheet giuhehase price allocations related to 2015 adipisi and assigned
weighted-average intangible asset lives, includidgistments relative to other acquisitions witthie measurement
period, follows. Adjustments in 2015 to the preliaiy allocations primarily related to the identfiion and valuation
of certain indefinite-lived intangible assets. Tdmange to provisional amounts resulted in an imriztenpact to
results of operations in the fourth quarter of 204 portion of which relates to earlier quarterghia measurement
period.

2015 Acquisition Activity

Finite-Lived
Intangible-
Asset
Weighted-
(Millions) Capital Polypore Separations Average
Asset (Liability) Safety Media (Membrana) Other Total Lives (Years)
Accounts receivable $ 66 $ 30 $ 7 $ 103
Inventory 63 35 4 102
Other current assets 10 1 1 12
Property, plant, and equipment 36 128 7 171
Purchased finite-lived intangible assets:
Customer related intangible assets 445 270 40 755 16
Patents 44 11 7 62 7
Other technology-based intangible assets 85 42 1 128 7
Definite-lived tradenames 26 6 1 33 16
Other amortizable intangible assets — — 2 2 4
Purchased indefinite-lived intangible assets 520 — — 520
Purchased goodwill 1,764 636 95 2,495
Accounts payable and other liabilities, net of othe
assets (105, (122 (5) (232
Interest bearing debt (766) — — (766)
Deferred tax asset/(liability) (464 — (7) (471
Net assets acquire $ 1,724 $ 1,037 $ 153 $ 2,914
Supplemental information:
Cash paid $ 1,758 $ 1,037 $ 154 $ 2,949
Less: Cash acquired 34 — 1 35
Cash paid, net of cash acquired $ 1,724 $ 1,037 $ 153 $ 2,914

Purchased identifiable finite-lived intangible asselated to acquisition activity in 2015 totafHO0 billion. The
associated finite-lived intangible assets acquineZD15 will be amortized on a systematic and ratidasis (generally
straight line) over a weighted-average life of Bans (lives ranging from two to 20 years). Indeéidived intangible
assets of $520 million relate to certain tradenaasssciated with the Capital Safety acquisitioncltiiave been in
existence for over 55 years, have a history ofifeptharket-share positions, have been and aredatkto be
continuously renewed, and the associated proddiethioch are expected to generate cash flows forf@\an indefinite
period of time. Acquired in-process research anegid@ment and identifiable intangible assets forchIsignificant
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assumed renewals or extensions of underlying agraegts impacted the determination of their uséfaklwere not
material.

Divestitures:

3M may divest certain businesses from time to tirased upon review of the Company’s portfolio coasity, among
other items, factors relative to the extent oftsga and technological alignment and optimizatbeapital

deployment, in addition to considering if sellifgtbusinesses results in the greatest value andfatithe Company and
for shareholders.

In January 2015, 3M completed the sale of its dl&iatic Control business to Desco Industries Ibased in Chino,
California. 2014 sales of this business were $4Bami This transaction was not considered mateatal was reported
within 3M’s Electronics and Energy business.

In the fourth quarter of 2015, 3M entered into agnents with One Equity Partners Capital AdvisoR2. (lOEP) to sell
the assets of 3M’s library systems business. Tles sdithe North American business and the majafityhe business
outside of North America closed in October and Nolver 2015, respectively. The sale of the remainéére library
systems business closed in the first quarter 06Z8iscussed further below). In December 2015, 8d aompleted the
sale of Faab Fabricauto, a wholly-owned subsidiii3M, to Hills Numberplates Limited. The librarystems business,
part of the former Traffic Safety and Security Biein, delivers circulation management solutionbi@ry customers
with on-premise hardware and software, maintenandeservice, and an emerging cloud-based digitalitg platform.
Faab Fabricauto, also part of the former Traffile§aand Security Division, is a leading French ofasturer of license
plates and signage solutions. The aggregate cashguts relative to the 2015 global library systanms Faab
Fabricauto divestiture transactions was $104 millibhe Company recorded within 3M’s Safety and Giegpbusiness
a net pre-tax gain of $40 million in 2015 as a lesithe sale and any adjustment of carrying value

In the first quarter of 2016, 3M completed the s#Hlehe remainder of the assets of 3M’s librarytsgss business to One
Equity Partners Capital Advisors L.P. (OEP). 3M fpaglviously sold the North American business armdntiajority of
the business outside of North America to OEP infdlieth quarter of 2015 which was reported withM'8 Safety and
Graphics business. Also in the first quarter of @M sold to Innovative Chemical Products Groupoéfolio

company of Audax Private Equity, the assets of 3pMessurized polyurethane foam adhesives busifeassgfly

known as Polyfoam). This business is a providgaressurized polyurethane foam adhesive formulatokssystems
into the residential roofing, commercial roofingdansulation and industrial foam segments in th@ddhStates with
annual sales of approximately $20 million and wegmorted within 3M’s Industrial business. The Compeetorded a
pre-tax gain of $40 million in the first quarter2016 as a result of the sales of these businesses.

In October 2016, 3M sold the assets of its tempygpantective films business to Pregis LLC. Thisibass, with annual
sales of approximately $50 million, is a providéadhesive-backed temporary protective films usea broad range of
industries and was reported within 3M’s Industbiakiness. In December 2016, 3M sold the assets chihode battery
technology out-licensing business, with annualsafeapproximately $10 million, to UMICORE. Thisdiness was
reported within 3M’s Electronics and Energy busméhe aggregate selling price relative to theseliusinesses was
$86 million. The Company recorded a pre-tax gaistf million in the fourth quarter of 2016 as autesf the sales of
these businesses.

In January 2017, 3M sold the assets of its safetgquiption eyewear business, with annual salegppfoximately $45
million, to HOYA Vision Care. The Company recordeg@re-tax gain of $29 million in the first quartdr2017 as a
result of this sale, which was reported within @@mpany’s Safety and Graphics business.

In May 2017, 3M completed the related sale or fiemsf control, as applicable, of its identity mgeanent business to
Gemalto N.V. This business, with 2016 sales of apprately $205 million, is a leading provider iretity
management solutions, including biometric hardveare software that enable identity verification anthentication, as
well as secure materials and document readersine 2017, 3M also completed the sale of its tolind automated
license/number plate recognition business, wittuahsales of approximately $40 million, to Neology;. 3M's tolling
and automated license/number plate recognitiomiessiincludes RFID readers and tags, automaticleehi
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classification systems, lane controller and hofttvare, and back office software and serviceslsib @rovides mobile
and fixed cameras, software, and services in autmiense/number plate recognition. 3M receivexteeds of $833
million, or $809 million net of cash sold, and esfled a pre-tax gain of $458 million as a resuthete two divestitures,
which was reported within the Company’s Safety @ndphics business.

In October 2017, 3M sold its electronic monitorimgsiness to an affiliate of Apax Partners. Thidhess, with annual
sales of approximately $95 million, is a providéetectronic monitoring technologies, serving hwedl of correctional
and law enforcement agencies around the world. &ived proceeds of $201 million, net of cash safdi reflected a
pre-tax gain of $98 million in the fourth quartdr2®17 as a result of this divestiture, which weagarted within the
Company’s Safety and Graphics business.

In the fourth quarter of 2017, 3M sold the assétnoelectrical marking/labeling business withmHlectronics and
Energy business. The former activity, proceedsgaind were not considered material.

In December 2017, 3M agreed to sell substantidlligfats Communication Markets Division to Cornitigcorporated,
for $900 million, subject to closing and other adiments. This business, with annual sales of appeaizly $400
million consists of optical fiber and copper passtonnectivity solutions for the telecommunicatiomustry including
3M’s xDSL, FTTx, and structured cabling solutiomglain certain countries, telecommunications sydtgegration
services. This sale is expected to close in 20dl8est to consultation or information requirementith relevant works
councils and to customary closing conditions amii@ory approvals. The 3M expects a pre-tax gaepproximately
$500 million as a result of this divestiture thall e reported within the Company’s Electronicsldnergy business.

In February 2018, 3M closed on the sale of cepairsonal safety product offerings primarily focusednoise,
environmental, and heat stress monitoring to Ti®l, This business has annual sales of approxim&iéymillion. The
transaction is expected to result in a pre-tax géless than $20 million that will be reported hitit the Company’s
Safety and Graphics business.

The aggregate operating income of these businesseapproximately $45 million, $50 million and msagnificant in
2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The approxirmateunts of major assets and liabilities associaidudisposal
groups classified as held-for-sale as of DecemibeB17 and December 31, 2016, included the foligwi

December 31, December 31,
(Millions) 2017 2016
Accounts receivable $ 25 $ 25
Property, plant and equipment (net) 20 25
Intangible assets — 35
Deferred revenue (other current liabilities) — 35

In addition, approximately $270 million of goodwillas estimated to be attributable to disposal galgssified as
held-for-sale as of both December 31, 2017 and Dbee 31, 2016, based upon relative fair value. dieunts above
have not been segregated and are classified wvttthiexisting corresponding line items on the Comgfsaconsolidated
balance sheet.
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NOTE 3. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Purchased goodwill from acquisitions totaled $illBon in 2017, none of which is deductible for tpurposes.
Purchased goodwill from acquisitions totaled $1#iom in 2016, none of which is deductible for tgerposes. The
acquisition activity in the following table alsocindes the net impact of adjustments to the pratmyi allocation of
purchase price within the one year measuremenogéoilowing prior acquisitions, which increasedogwill by $39
million during 2016. The amounts in the “Translatend other” column in the following table primgriklate to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Thdwitidalance by business segment follows:

Goodwill
Dec. 31, 2016 2016 Dec. 31, 2017 2017 2017 Dec. 31,
2015 acquisition translation 2016 acquisition divestiture translation 2017

(Millions) Balance activity and other Balance activity activity and other Balance
Industrial $2573 $ — $ (37) $2,536 $ — 3 — $ 142 $ 2,678
Safety and Graphics 3,342 41 (59) 3,324 1,296 (323) 122 4,419
Health Care 1,624 12 (27) 1,609 6 — 67 1,682
Electronics and Energy 1,510 — (21) 1,489 — — 35 1,524
Consumer 200 — 8 208 — — 2 210
Total Company $249 $ 53 $ (136) $9,166 $ 1,302 $ (323) $ 368 $10,513

Accounting standards require that goodwill be g$te impairment annually and between annual tiestertain
circumstances such as a change in reporting untteedesting of recoverability of a significansasgroup within a
reporting unit. At 3M, reporting units correspoidat division.

As described in Note 17, effective in the first gaaof 2017, the Company changed its business eegraporting in its
continuing effort to improve the alignment of itssinesses around markets and customers. For adygtrchanges that
resulted in reporting unit changes, the Companyiegphe relative fair value method to determine ithhpact on
goodwill of the associated reporting units. Durthg first quarter of 2017, the Company completecdgsessment of
any potential goodwill impairment for reporting tsimpacted by this new structure and determinatrib impairment
existed. The Company also completed its annualgilddhpairment test in the fourth quarter of 20fbr all reporting
units and determined that no impairment existe@ddition, the Company had no impairments of gotidwprior
years.
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Acquired Intangible Assets

The carrying amount and accumulated amortizaticacgtiired finite-lived intangible assets, in adiitio the balance
of non-amortizable intangible assets, as of Decer@bgfollow:

December 31, December 31,

(Millions) 2017 2016
Customer related intangible assets $ 2332 $ 1,939
Patents 561 602
Other technology-based intangible assets 583 524
Definite-lived tradenames 678 420
Other amortizable intangible assets 207 211
Total gross carrying amount $ 4361 $ 3,696
Accumulated amortization — customer related (874) (797)
Accumulated amortization — patents (489 (497
Accumulated amortization — other technology based (292) (302)
Accumulated amortization — definite-lived tradename (256, (236
Accumulated amortization — other (162) (173)
Total accumulated amortization $ (2,073 $ (2,005

Total finite-lived intangible assets — net $ 2,288 $ 1,691
Non-amortizable intangible assets (primarily tradensime 648 629

Total intangible assets — net $ 2936 $ 2,320

Certain tradenames acquired by 3M are not amortieeduse they have been in existence for over &3 ykave a
history of leading-market share positions, haventse® are intended to be continuously renewedftendssociated
products of which are expected to generate castsffor 3M for an indefinite period of time.

Amortization expense for the years ended DecembéolBws:

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
Amortization expense $ 238 $ 262 $ 229

Expected amortization expense for acquired amdntgzatangible assets recorded as of December®T, Pllows:

After
(Millions) 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2022
Amortization expense $ 252 $§ 242 $§ 231 $§ 221§ 208 $ 1,134

The preceding expected amortization expense istamage. Actual amounts of amortization expense ditigr from
estimated amounts due to additional intangibletassguisitions, changes in foreign currency excleamages,
impairment of intangible assets, accelerated amaitin of intangible assets and other events. 3pérsges the costs
incurred to renew or extend the term of intangédseets.
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NOTE 4. Restructuring Actions and Exit Activities

2017 Restructuring Actions:

During the second quarter of 2017, management apdrand committed to undertake certain restruajuaictions
primarily focused on portfolio and footprint optimation. These actions affected approximately 13fitions
worldwide and resulted in a second quarter 201#tareharge of $99 million. Remaining activitietated to
restructuring are expected to be completed by rideoé 2018.

Restructuring charges are summarized by busingssesd as follows:

Second Quarter 2017

(Millions) Employee-Related
Industrial $ 39
Safety and Graphics 9
Health Care 2
Electronics and Energy 7
Consumer 36
Corporate and Unallocated 6
Total Expense $ 99

The preceding restructuring charges were recomiéki income statement as follows:

(Millions) Second Quarter 2017
Cost of sales $ 86
Selling, general and administrative expenses 5
Research, development and related expenses 8
Total $ 99

Restructuring actions, including cash and non-oagacts, follow:

Employee-
(Millions) Related
Expense incurred in the second quarter of 2017 $ 99
Cash payments (8)
Adjustments 3)
Accrued restructuring action balances as of Dece@bg2017 $ 88

2017 Exit Activities:

During the first quarter of 2017, the Company releak net pre-tax charges of $24 million relatedxio activities. These
charges related to employee reductions, primanilWestern Europe. During the fourth quarter of 2ath& Company
recorded net pre-tax charges of $23 million relateelxit activities. These charges related to egggaeductions,
primarily in the United States and Western Europe.

2015 Restructuring Actions:
During the fourth quarter of 2015, management aggmt@and committed to undertake certain restruauaictions
primarily focused on structural overhead, largelyie U.S. and slower-growing markets, with paficemphasis on

Europe, Middle East, and Africa (EMEA) and Latin Arica. This impacted approximately 1,700 positivesldwide
and resulted in a fourth-quarter 2015 pre-tax ohafgb114 million.
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Components of these restructuring charges are sumaday business segment as follows:

2015

(Millions) Employee-Related Asset-Related Total
Industrial $ 30 $ 12 $ 42
Safety and Graphics 11 — 11
Health Care 9 — 9
Electronics and Energy 8 4 12
Consumer 3 — 3
Corporate and Unallocated 37 — 37
Total Expense $ 98 $ 16 $ 114

The preceding restructuring charges were recomiéki income statement as follows:

(Millions) 2015

Cost of sales 40

Selling, general and administrative expenses 62

Research, development and related expenses 12
Total $ 114

Components of these restructuring actions, inclydiessh and non-cash impacts, follow:

Employee- Asset-

(Millions) Related Related Total
Expense incurred $ 98 $ 16 $ 114
Non-cash changes (8) (16) (24)
Cash payments (27) — (27)

Accrued restructuring action balances as of Decei®bg2015 $ 63 $ —  $ 63
Cash payments (57) — (57)

Accrued restructuring action balances as of Decei®beg2016 $ 6 $ —  $ 6
Cash payments (6) — (6)

Accrued restructuring action balances as of Dece®bg2017 $ — 3 — 3 —

Non-cash changes include certain pension settlenaamt special termination benefits recorded inuextdefined
benefit pension and postretirement benefits andleated deprecation resulting from the cessatiarse of certain
long-lived assets.

NOTE 5. Supplemental Income Statement Information

Other expense (income), net consists of the folgwi

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
Interest expense $ 322 % 199 $ 149
Interest income (50) (29) (26)
Total $ 272 % 170 $ 123

The Company recorded an early debt extinguishmanige of approximately $96 million which was inaadwithin
interest expense in the fourth quarter of 2017.
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NOTE 6. Supplemental Balance Sheet Information

Accounts payable (included as a separate lineiiteifmre Consolidated Balance Sheet) includes dpafysble on
demand of $74 million at December 31, 2017, andriBion at December 31, 2016. Accumulated depieaiafor

capital leases totaled $48 million and $89 millaanof December 31, 2017, and 2016, respectivelgitiddal
supplemental balance sheet information is providdte table that follows.

(Millions) 2017 2016
Other current assets
Derivative assets-current 37 148
Insurance related (receivables, prepaid expensksthgr) 71 109
Other 158 193
Total other current assets 266 450
Property, plant and equipment - at cost
Land 348 341
Buildings and leasehold improvements 7,681 7,252
Machinery and equipment 15,907 14,935
Construction in progress 843 809
Capital leases 135 162
Gross property, plant and equipment 24,914 23,499
Accumulated depreciation (16,048 (14,983
Property, plant and equipment - net 8,866 8,516
Other assets
Deferred income taxes 511 422
Prepaid pension and post retirement 237 52
Insurance related receivables and other 63 68
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 241 236
Equity method investments 70 60
Cost method and other investments 80 68
Other 193 272
Total other assets 1,395 1,178
Other current liabilities
Accrued rebates 516 458
Deferred income 513 551
Derivative liabilities 135 92
Employee benefits and withholdings 208 155
Contingent liability claims and other 179 201
Property, sales-related and other taxes 277 248
Pension and postretirement benefits 69 66
Other 812 701
Total other current liabilities 2,709 2,472
Other liabilities
Long term income taxes payable 1,287 244
Employee benefits 319 256
Contingent liability claims and other 727 719
Capital lease obligations 60 45
Deferred income 37 15
Deferred income taxes 235 145
Other 297 224
Total other liabilities 2,962 1,648
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NOTE 7. Supplemental Equity and Comprehensive Iname Information

Common stock ($.01 par value per share) of 3.®hikhares is authorized, with 944,033,056 shassd. Preferred
stock, without par value, of 10 million sharesusherized but unissued.

Cash dividends declared and paid totaled $1.17%paridl per share for each quarter in 2017 and 2@%6ectively,
which resulted in total year declared dividend$4f70 and $4.44 per share, respectively. In 20/Bs Board of
Directors declared a second, third, and fourth tguatividend of $1.025 per share, which resultetbial year 2015
declared dividends of $3.075 per share. In Decerd®#4, 3M’s Board of Directors declared a first gen2015

dividend of $1.025 per share (paid in March 2015).

Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incomé._@ss) Attributable to 3M by Component

Defined Benefit Cash Flow Total
Pension and Hedging Accumulated
Cumulative Postretirement  Instruments, Other
Translation Plans Unrealized Comprehensive
(Millions) Adjustment Adjustment Gain (Loss) Income (Loss)
Balance at December 31, 2014, net of tax: $ (1095 $ (5293 % 9 $ (6,289
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:
Amounts before reclassifications (447 367 212 132
Amounts reclassified out — 537 (174) 363
Total other comprehensive income (loss), before tax (447 904 38 495
Tax effect (137) (415 (13) (565)
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (584 489 25 (70)
Balance at December 31, 2015, net of tax: $ (1,679 $ (4804 $ 124 $ (6,359)
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:
Amounts before reclassifications (244) (1,222 57 (1,309)
Amounts reclassified out — 421 (109 312
Total other comprehensive income (loss), before tax (244) (701 (52) (997)
Tax effect (85) 177 19 111
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (329) (524 (33) (886)
Balance at December 31, 2016, net of tax: $ (2008 $ (5328 % 91 $ (7,245
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:
Amounts before reclassifications 91 (600; (311 (820
Amounts reclassified out — 483 (7) 476
Total other comprehensive income (loss), before tax 91 (117 (318 (344
Tax effect 279 169 115 563
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 370 52 (203 219
Balance at December 31, 2017, net of tax: $ (1638 $ (5276 $ (112) $ (7,026)

Income taxes are not provided for foreign transtatielating to permanent investments in internatisubsidiaries, but
tax effects within cumulative translation does g impacts from items such as net investment higdgeactions.
Reclassification adjustments are made to avoid ldoedunting in comprehensive income items thatige recorded as

part of net income.
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Reclassifications out of Accumulated Other Comprehesive Income Attributable to 3M

Amounts Reclassified from

Details about Accumulated Other Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive Income Components Year ended December 31, Location on Income
(Millions) 2017 2016 2015 Statement

Gains (losses) associated with defined benefitiperad
postretirement plans amortization

Transition asset $ — % 1 $ 1 See Note 12
Prior service benefit 89 92 79 See Note 12
Net actuarial loss (570 (506 (626) See Note 12
Curtailments/Settlements 2 (8) 9 See Note 12
Total before tax (483 (421 (537)
Tax effect 116 148 176 Provision for income taxes
Net of tay $ (367 $ (273 % (361)
Cash flow hedging instruments gains (losses)
Foreign currency forward/option contracts $ 8 $ 110 $ 178 Cost of sales
Commodity price swap contracts — — (2) Cost of sales
Interest rate swap contracts (1) (1) (2) Interest expense
Total before tax 7 109 174
Tax effect 3) (39 (63} Provision for income taxes
Net of ta $ 4 3 70 $ 111
Total reclassifications for the period, net of tax $ (363 $ (203 $ (250

NOTE 8. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
Cash income tax payments, net of refunds $ 1,604 $ 1,888 $ 2,331
Cash interest payments 214 194 134

Cash interest payments include interest paid ohaled capital lease balances, including net intgr@gments/receipts
related to accreted debt discounts/premiums, palofatebt issue costs, as well as net interest paysireceipts
associated with interest rate swap contracts. @aistest payments exclude the cash paid for eathy dxtinguishment
costs. Additional details are described in Note 11.

Individual amounts in the Consolidated Statemer@adh Flows exclude the impacts of acquisitionggstitures and
exchange rate impacts, which are presented selyarate

Transactions related to investing and financingviiets with significant non-cash components aréodlsws:
« 3M sold and leased-back, under a capital leastgingecently constructed machinery and equipmengtiurn
for municipal bonds with the City of Nevada, Missiaduring 2017 and 2016 valued at approximately $13
million and $12 million, respectively, as of tharisaction date.

In addition, as discussed in Note 7, in the foguhrter of 2014, 3M’s Board of Directors declarditst quarter 2015
dividend of $1.025 per share (paid in March 2015).
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NOTE 9. Income Taxes

Income Before Income Taxes

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
United States $ 4149 $ 4366 $ 4,399
International 3,399 2,687 2,424
Total $ 7548 $ 7,053 $ 6,823
Provision for Income Taxes
(Millions) 2017 2016 2015
Currently payable
Federal 1,022 $ 1,192 $ 1,338
State 59 75 101
International 722 733 566
Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) non-current transitanprovision 623 — —
Deferred
Federal 162 3) (55)
State 15 9 6
International 76 (11) 26
Total 2,679 $ 1,995 $ 1,982
Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
(Millions) 2017 2016
Deferred tax assets:
Accruals not currently deductible
Employee benefit costs $ 178 $ 195
Product and other claims 204 326
Miscellaneous accruals 98 92
Pension costs 760 1,217
Stock-based compensation 210 302
Net operating/capital loss carryforwards 89 93
Foreign tax credits 32 22
Currency translation 59 —
Inventory 51 53
Gross deferred tax assets 1,681 2,300
Valuation allowance (81) (47
Total deferred tax assets $ 1,600 $ 2,253
Deferred tax liabilities:
Product and other insurance receivables $ 6) $ (27,
Accelerated depreciation (447) (730)
Intangible amortization (784 (903
Currency translation — (276)
Other (87 (40
Total deferred tax liabilities $ (1,324) $ (1,976)
Net deferred tax ass $ 276 $ 277

The net deferred tax assets are included as comfwagOther Assets and Other Liabilities withie tBonsolidated
Balance Sheet. See Note 6 “Supplemental Balancet §ffermation” for further details.
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As of December 31, 2017, the Company had tax effecperating losses, capital losses, and tax aradiyovers for
federal (approximately $7 million), state (approately $12 million), and international (approximat&i70 million),

with all amounts net before valuation allowancdse Tederal tax attribute carryovers will expiresaft5 to 20 years, the
state after 5 to 10 years, and the internatiorial @he to three years or have an indefinite caeyperiod. The tax
attributes being carried over arise as certaisglictions may have tax losses or may have inaslii utilize certain
losses without the same type of taxable incomeofA3ecember 31, 2017, the Company has providechdiBibn of
valuation allowance against certain of these defetax assets based on management’s determinhgibit is more-
likely-than-not that the tax benefits related tesh assets will not be realized.

Reconciliation of Effective Income Tax Rate

2017 2016 2015

Statutory U.S. tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes - net of federal benefit 0.8 0.9 1.1
International income taxes - net (6.3 (2.7, (3.9
U.S. TCJA - net impacts 10.1 — —
U.S. research and development credit (0.7, (0.5 (0.5
Reserves for tax contingencies 2.2 0.2 (1.0
Domestic Manufacturer’s deduction (1.8 (1.8 (1.8
Employee share-based payments (3.2) (2.8) (0.1
All other - net (0.6 — 0.3

Effective worldwide tax rate 35.5% 28.3% 29.1%

The effective tax rate for 2017 was 35.5 percemmared to 28.3 percent in 2016, an increase gb&r@entage points,
impacted by several factors. Primary factors thetdased the Company’s effective tax rate incluiedmpacts due to
the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) being enacted®itv4see further information below) and remeasurgsnend
establishment of 3M’s uncertain tax positions. Coreld, these factors increased the Company’s eftetdix rate by
12.1 percentage points. The increase was partéiet by a 4.9 percentage point decrease, whiategkto
international taxes that were impacted by increpbignefits from the Company’s supply chain centéesxpertise,
changes to the geographic mix of income beforestaxe& prior year cash optimization actions, higlear-on-year
excess tax benefit for employee share-based paymergased benefits from the R&D tax credit, auaibn of state
taxes, and other items.

The effective tax rate for 2016 was 28.3 percemfmared to 29.1 percent in 2015, a decrease gfddd@ntage points,
impacted by several factors. Primary factors tleatrelased the Company’s effective tax rate includedecognition of
excess tax benefits beginning in 2016 related tpleyee share-based payments (resulting from thptemoof ASU
No. 2016-09, as discussed in Note 1) and a reduttistate taxes. Combined, these factors decréhsegdompany’s
effective tax rate by 3.2 percentage points. Thealese was partially offset by a 2.4 percentagetocrease, which
related to remeasurements of 3M’s uncertain taitipas and international taxes that were impactgdhanges to both
the geographic mix of income before taxes and Buidit tax expense related to global cash optinmoragictions.

The TCJA was enacted in December 2017. Among ¢hiegs, the TCJA reduces the U.S. federal corpdeateate
from 35 percent to 21 percent beginning in 2018uires companies to pay a one-time transition tagreviously
unremitted earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries therewpreviously tax deferred and creates new tamedain foreign
sourced earnings. The SEC staff issued Staff AdoogiBulletin (SAB) 118, which provides guidance accounting
for enactment effects of the TCJA. SAB 118 provideseasurement period of up to one year from th&ATC
enactment date for companies to complete theiratowy under ASC 740. In accordance with SAB 1&8he extent
that a company’s accounting for certain incomegtffigcts of the TCJA is incomplete but it is abled&germine a
reasonable estimate, it must record a provisiostahate in its financial statements. If a compaagrot determine a
provisional estimate to be included in its finahsi@tements, it should continue to apply ASC 74@he basis of the
provisions of the tax laws that were in effect intliag¢ely before the enactment of the TCJA.

In connection with 3M’s initial analysis of the imgt of the enactment of the TCJA, the Company damba net tax
expense of $762 million in the fourth quarter oL20For various reasons that are discussed mdyebiellow, including
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the issuance of additional technical and interpeegiuidance, 3M has not completed its accountinghi®income tax
effects of certain elements of the TCJA. Howeveth wespect to the following, 3M was able to ma&asonable
estimates of the TCJA's effects and, as such, dexbprovisional amounts:

Transition tax The transition tax is a tax on previously untagedumulated and current earnings and profits (E3P)
certain of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiariesd@termine the amount of the transition tax, 3M nulegermine, in
addition to other factors, the amount of post-1B8® of the relevant subsidiaries, as well as thewamof non-U.S.
income taxes paid on such earnings. Further, #msition tax is based in part on the amount ofétezgnings held in
cash and other specified assets. 3M was able te magasonable estimate of the transition tax acorded a
provisional obligation and additional income tayerse of $745 million in the fourth quarter of 20lHbwever, the
Company is continuing to gather additional inforimatand will consider additional technical guidancenore
precisely compute and account for the amount ofrtesition tax. This amount may change when 3Mlizes the
calculation of post-1986 foreign E&P previously eleéd from U.S. federal taxation and finalizesdah®unts held in
cash or other specified assets. The TCJA's tramsttix is payable over eight years beginning inR2@k of December
31, 2017, 3M reflected $122 million and $623 millim current accrued income taxes and long termnetaxes
payable, respectively.

Remeasurement of deferred tax assets/liabilitiesather impacts3M remeasured certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities based on the rates at which they amgeeted to reverse in the future, which is genet2llypercent under the
TCJA. 3M is still analyzing certain aspects of T@JA, considering additional technical guidance eefining its
calculations, which could potentially affect theamarement of these balances or potentially giwetasiew deferred
tax amounts. This includes the potential impactdhefglobal low-taxed income (“GILTI") provision thin the TCJA
on deferred tax assets/liabilities. 3M also is tbersng other impacts of the 2017 enactment off@dA including, but
not limited to effects on the Company’s indefiniéénvestment assertion. As discussed further béiawis Note 9, 3M
previously has not provided deferred taxes on uittethearnings attributable to international coniparthat have been
considered to be reinvested indefinitely. The &flects of underlying tax rates of the TCJA caus®ne reassessment
of previous indefinite reinvestment assertions witspect to certain jurisdictions. While 3M waseatd make a
reasonable estimate of these impacts, it may leetaff by other analyses related to the TCJA, ifetydut not limited
to, the calculation of the transition tax on deferforeign income. The provisional amount recoridetie fourth quarter
of 2017 related to deferred tax assets/liabiliird other impacts was a net additional income xperse of $17
million.

3M has not completed its full analysis with resgedhe GILTI provision within the TCJA and is nget able to make
reasonable estimates of its related effects. Thereho provisional adjustments relative to GILTdre recorded.
Currently, 3M has not yet elected a policy as t@thbr it will recognize deferred taxes for basféetiences expected to
reverse as GILTI or whether 3M will account for Gllas period costs if and when incurred. 3M isaware of other
elements of the TCJA for which the Company wasyettble to make reasonable estimates of the eratimpact
and for which it would continue accounting for themaccordance with ASC 740 on the basis of thdaws in effect
before the TCJA.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction, and various states and forgigisdictions. With
few exceptions, the Company is no longer subjett.& federal, state and local, or non-U.S. inctemesxaminations
by tax authorities for years before 2005.

The IRS has completed its field examination of@wmpany’s U.S. federal income tax returns for tearg 2005
through 2014. The Company protested certain IR&ipos within these tax years and entered intcaithainistrative
appeals process with the IRS. In December 2012Ztmpany received a statutory notice of deficieforythe 2006
year. The Company filed a petition in Tax Courthe first quarter of 2013 relating to the 2006 year.

Currently, the Company is under examination bylRf® for its U.S. federal income tax returns for ylears 2015, 2016,
and 2017. It is anticipated that the IRS will coatplits examination of the Company for 2015 byethée of the third
quarter of 2018, for 2016 by the end of the finsader of 2018, and for 2017 by the end of the €irsarter of 2019. As
of December 31, 2017, the IRS has not proposedignyficant adjustments to the Company’s tax poséifor which
the Company is not adequately reserved.
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Payments relating to other proposed assessmesitsgafiom the 2005 through 2017 examinations mayeanade
until a final agreement is reached between the @Gmypand the IRS on such assessments or upon adswltion
resulting from the administrative appeals procegadicial action. In addition to the U.S. fedeesdamination, there is
also audit activity in several U.S. state and fgmgurisdictions.

3M anticipates changes to the Company’s uncersipositions due to the closing and resolutionuafitissues for
various audit years mentioned above and closustatdites. Currently, the Company is estimatingcresese in
unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12 moatha result of anticipated resolutions of audiés.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoafngross unrecognized tax benefits (UTB) is akofas:

Federal, State and Foreign Tax

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015

Gross UTB Balance at January 1 $ 319 $ 381 $ 583
Additions based on tax positions related to theesuryear 119 67 77
Additions for tax positions of prior years 149 43 140
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (38) (66) (399
Settlements 3) (95) (4)
Reductions due to lapse of applicable statutenotditions (16) (11 (16)
Gross UTB Balance at December 31 $ 530 $ 319 $ 381
Net UTB impacting the effective tax rate at Decer 31 $ 526 $ 333 §$ 369

The total amount of UTB, if recognized, would afféwe effective tax rate by $526 million as of Dexxer 31, 2017,
$333 million as of December 31, 2016, and $369%anilas of December 31, 2015. The ending net UTBltefrom
adjusting the gross balance for items such as Bed&ate, and non-U.S. deferred items, interesdtp@malties, and
deductible taxes. The net UTB is included as coraptsof Other Assets, Accrued Income Taxes, andrQilbilities
within the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties ederlated to unrecognized tax benefits in tax rgpeThe
Company recognized in the consolidated statemeinicofne on a gross basis approximately $20 miibaxpense,
$10 million of expense, and $2 million of expens®017, 2016, and 2015, respectively. The amouintefest and
penalties recognized may be an expense or bengfitalnew or remeasured unrecognized tax benefitals. At
December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2016, accntee$t and penalties in the consolidated balameet ®n a gross
basis were $68 million and $52 million, respectyvéhcluded in these interest and penalty amoursrgerest and
penalties related to tax positions for which thitmate deductibility is highly certain but for whi¢here is uncertainty
about the timing of such deductibility. Becausehaf impact of deferred tax accounting, other timerest and
penalties, the disallowance of the shorter dedilityilperiod would not affect the annual effectitax rate but would
accelerate the payment of cash to the taxing aityroran earlier period.

As a result of certain employment commitments aaqital investments made by 3M, income from certain
manufacturing activities in the following countrisssubject to reduced tax rates or, in some césegempt from tax
for years through the following: Thailand (2018ita (2019), Korea (2019), Switzerland (2023), Spaye (2025),
and Brazil (2073). The income tax benefits attrdttle to the tax status of these subsidiaries dirmaed to be $228
million (37 cents per diluted share) in 2017, $idiftion (23 cents per diluted share) in 2016, atd4million (18 cents
per diluted share) in 2015.

The Company has not provided deferred taxes omitteal earnings attributable to international comipa that have
been considered to be reinvested indefinitely. dted above, the effects of the TCJA caused sonssesament of
previous indefinite reinvestment assertions wipeet to certain jurisdictions. While 3M was aldertake a reasonable
estimate of these impacts, it may be affected hgroanalyses related to the TCJA. The unremittecirgs relate to
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ongoing operations and were approximately $15dniliks of December 31, 2017. Because of the muliydaues in
which to repatriate the earnings to minimize tagtcand because a large portion of these earnhegsoa liquid, it is not
practical to determine the income tax liabilitytthauld be payable if such earnings were not reitect indefinitely.

NOTE 10. Marketable Securities
The Company invests in asset-backed securitiesficates of deposit/time deposits, commercial papad other

securities. The following is a summary of amouetorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet for adoleesecurities
(current and non-current).

December 31, December 31,

(Millions) 2017 2016
Corporate debt securities $ 14 $ 10
Commercial paper 899 14
Certificates of deposit/time deposits 76 197
U.S. municipal securities 3 3
Asset-backed securities:

Automobile loan related 16 31

Credit card related 68 18

Other — 7
Asset-backed securities total 84 56
Current marketable securities $ 1,076 $ 280
U.S. municipal securities $ 27 % 17
Non-current marketable securities $ 27 % 17
Total marketable securities $ 1,103 $ 297

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, gross unrealizegsgealized, and net realized gains and/or Iqpsegax) were not
material.

The balance at December 31, 2017, for marketabigrisies by contractual maturity are shown belowtual maturities
may differ from contractual maturities becauseisiseiers of the securities may have the right tpgyebligations
without prepayment penalties.

(Millions) December 31, 2017

Due in one year or less $ 1,071
Due after one year through five years 18
Due after five years through ten years 14
Total marketable securities $ 1,103

3M has a diversified marketable securities pomfolithin this portfolio, asset-backed securitieisnarily include
interests in automobile loans, credit cards andragisset-backed securities. 3M’s investment pdailows investments
in asset-backed securities with minimum credinggiof Aa3 by Moody’s Investors Service or AA- hailard &
Poor’s or Fitch Ratings or DBRS. Asset-backed séeammust be rated by at least two of the aforainaad rating
agencies, one of which must be Moody’s Investorsi€e or Standard & Poor’s. At December 31, 2017asset-
backed security investments were in compliance thithpolicy. Approximately 90 percent of all asbetked security
investments were rated AAA or A-1+ by Standard &P®and/or Aaa or P-1 by Moody’s Investors Senaoé/or
AAA or F1+ by Fitch Ratings. Interest rate risk asrddit risk related to the underlying collateraymmpact the value
of investments in asset-backed securities, whideofa such as general conditions in the overaflitrearket and the
nature of the underlying collateral may affect ligeidity of investments in asset-backed securiti¥ does not
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currently expect risk related to its holding inetslsacked securities to materially impact its ficiahcondition or

liquidity.

NOTE 11. Long-Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings

The following debt tables reflect effective intdrestes, which include the impact of interest eps, as of

December 31, 2017. If the debt was issued on a twmlbasis, the debt has been separated to shamplaet of the
fixed versus floating effective interest rates. rgizg value includes the impact of debt issuancsand fair value
hedging activity. Long-term debt and short-termrbaings as of December 31 consisted of the follgwin

Long-Term Debt

Currency/ Effective Final

(Millions) Fixed vs. Interest Maturity Carrying Value
Description / 2017 Principal Amount Floating Rate Date 2017 2016
Medium-term note (repaid in 2017) USD Fixed — % — $ — 3 649
Medium-term note (500 million Euros) Euro Floagtin — % 2018 600 523
Medium-term note ($450 million) USD Floating 1.50% 2018 448 448
Medium-term note ($600 million) USD Floating 1.63% 2019 596 598
Medium-term note ($25 million) USD Fixed 1.74% 2019 25 25
Medium-term note (650 million Euros) Euro Floating — % 2020 779 680
Medium-term note ($300 million) USD Floating 1.58% 2020 296 297
Medium-term note ($200 million) USD Floating 1.49% 2020 198 199
Eurobond (300 million Euros) Euro Floating — % 2021 378 336
Eurobond (300 million Euros) Euro Fixed 1.97% 2021 358 312
Medium-term note ($600 million) USD Fixed 1.63% 2021 598 598
Medium-term note (500 million Euros) Euro Fixed  0.45% 2022 597 520
Medium-term note ($600 million) USD Fixed 2.17% 2022 595 593
Medium-term note (600 million Euros) Euro Fixed 1.14% 2023 712 619
Medium-term note ($650 million) USD Fixed 2.26% 2023 647 —
Medium-term note ($550 million) USD Fixed 3.04% 2025 546 546
Medium-term note (750 million Euros) Euro Fixed 1.71% 2026 885 770
Medium-term note ($650 million) USD Fixed 2.25% 2026 641 640
Medium-term note ($850 million) USD Fixed 2.95% 2027 839 —
30-year debenture ($220 million) USD Fixed 6.01% 2028 227 342
Medium-term note (500 million Euros) Euro Fixed 1.90% 2030 589 512
Medium-term note (500 million Euros) Euro Fixed 1.54% 2031 595 518
30-year bond ($555 million) USD Fixed 5.73% 2037 550 743
Floating rate note ($96 million) USD Floating 1.29% 2041 95 96
Medium-term note ($325 million) USD Fixed 4.05% 2044 313 313
Floating rate note ($55 million) USD Floating 1.21% 2044 54 54
Medium-term note ($500 million) USD Fixed 3.13% 2046 473 473
Medium-term note ($500 million) USD Fixed 3.68% 2047 491 —
Other borrowings Various 1.26% 2018-204C 73 74
Total long-term debt $ 13,198 $ 11,478
Less: current portion of long-term debt 1,102 800
Long-term debt (excluding current portion) $ 12,096 $ 10,678
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Post-Swap Borrowing (Long-Term Debt, Including Current Portion)

2017 2016
Carrying Effective Carrying Effective
(Millions) Value Interest Rate Value Interest Rate
Fixed-rate debt $ 9,681 2.45% $ 8,372 2.42%
Floating-rate debt 3,617 0.76% 3,106 0.48%
Total long-term debt, including current portion $ 13,198 $ 11,478
Short-Term Borrowings and Current Portion of Long-T erm Debt
Effective Carrying Value

(Millions) Interest Rate 2017 2016
Current portion of long-term debt 0.67% $ 1,102 $ 800
U.S. dollar commercial paper 1.90 745 —
Other borrowings 5.35% 6 172
Total short-term borrowings and current portioroofg-term debt $ 1,853 $ 972

Other short-term borrowings primarily consistedahk borrowings by international subsidiaries. 01&, these were
primarily related to Japan and Korea.

Future Maturities of Long-term Debt
Maturities of long-term debt in the table below ast of the unaccreted debt issue costs suchdtstmaturities equal

the carrying value of long-term debt as of Decen@ier2017. The maturities of long-term debt for pleeiods
subsequent to December 31, 2017 are as followsi(lions):

After
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2022 Total
$ 1,102 $ 692 $ 1,368 $ 1,333 $ 1,191 $ 7512 $ 13,198

Long-term debt payments due in 2018, 2019, and 2@20de floating rate notes totaling $54 milliasigssified as
current portion of long-term debt), $71 million¢lnded in other borrowings in the long-term debie® and $95
million (included within the long-term debt tablegspectively, as a result of put provisions asgedi with these debt
instruments.

Credit Facilities

In March 2016, 3M amended and restated its exighg5 billion five-year revolving credit facilitgxpiring in August
2019 to a $3.75 hillion five-year revolving crefitility expiring in March 2021. This credit agreemt includes a
provision under which 3M may request an increasgpab $1.25 billion (at lender’s discretion), lging the total
facility up to $5.0 billion. This revolving crediacility was undrawn at December 31, 2017. Under#B.75 billion
credit agreement, the Company is required to maitsa EBITDA to Interest Ratio as of the end o€lediscal quarter at
not less than 3.0 to 1. This is calculated (asn@effin the agreement) as the ratio of consolidtated EBITDA for the
four consecutive quarters then ended to total@stezxpense on all funded debt for the same petibBecember 31,
2017, this ratio was approximately 29 to 1. Debterm@nts do not restrict the payment of dividends.

Other Credit Facilities
Apart from the committed revolving facility, an atidnal $288 million in stand-alone letters of citemhd bank

guarantees were also issued and outstanding atribece31, 2017. These instruments are utilized imeotion with
normal business activities.
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Long-Term Debt Issuances

The principal amounts, interest rates and matdiates of individual long-term debt issuances cafobed in the long-
term debt table found at the beginning of this note

In October 2017, 3M issued $650 million aggregateqgipal amount of 5.5-year fixed rate medium-terates due 2023
with a coupon rate of 2.25%, $850 million aggregatacipal amount of 10-year fixed rate medium-terates due 2027
with a coupon rate of 2.875%, and $500 million aggite principal amount of 30-year fixed rate mediarm notes due
2047 with a coupon rate of 3.625%.

In May 2016, 3M issued 1 billion Euros aggregaiegpal amount of medium-term notes. In Septemi@di62 3M
issued $1.75 billion aggregate principal amounneflium-term notes.

In May 2015, 3M issued 1.750 billion Euros aggregaincipal amount of medium-term notes. In Aug2i5, 3M
issued $1.500 billion aggregate principal amourmetlium-term notes. Upon debt issuance, the Comeatgyed into
two interest rate swaps as fair value hedges oftiop of the fixed interest rate medium-term nolbdigation. The first
converted a $450 million three-year fixed rate patel the second converted $300 million of a fieewyfixed rate note
included in this issuance to an interest rate baseal floating three-month LIBOR index.

Long-Term Debt Maturities and Extinguishments
In June 2017, 3M repaid $650 million aggregategpal amount of fixed rate medium-term notes thatured.

In October 2017, 3M, via cash tender offers, repased $305 million aggregate principal amountbiitstanding
notes. This included $110 million of its $330 nahi principal amount of 6.375% notes due 2028 argb$iillion of its
$750 million principal amount of 5.70% notes du820The Company recorded an early debt extinguishetearge of
approximately $96 million in the fourth quarter217 within interest expense, the cash outflownfhich is recorded
within other financing activities on the statemehtash flows. This charge reflected the differalntietween the
carrying value and the amount paid to acquire¢hdéred notes and related expenses.

In September 2016, 3M repaid $1 billion aggregatecipal amount of medium-term notes.
Floating Rate Notes

At various times, 3M has issued floating rate netm®aining put provisions. 3M would be requireddpurchase these
securities at various prices ranging from 99 perted00 percent of par value according to the cédn schedules for
each security. In December 2004, 3M issued a fpesr- $60 million floating rate note, with a rateseéd on a floating
LIBOR index. Under the terms of this floating raigte due in 2044, holders have an annual put feaut 00 percent of
par value from 2014 and every anniversary thereaft#l final maturity. Under the terms of the ftoey rate notes due
in 2027, 2040 and 2041, holders have put optioasdhmmence ten years from the date of issuanceactdthird
anniversary thereafter until final maturity at gscranging from 99 percent to 100 percent of parevdor the periods
presented, 3M was required to repurchase an imiabsenount of principal on the aforementioned flogtrate notes.

NOTE 12. Pension and Postretirement Benefit Plans

3M has company-sponsored retirement plans covstibgtantially all U.S. employees and many emplopegside the
United States. In total, 3M has over 75 definedefieplans in 27 countries. Pension benefits asgediwith these plans
generally are based on each participant’s yeassmice, compensation, and age at retirement mination. The
primary U.S. defined-benefit pension plan was dadsenew participants effective January 1, 200® Tompany also
provides certain postretirement health care aedii$urance benefits for its U.S. employees whotreatirement age
while employed by the Company and were employethbyCompany prior to January 1, 2016. Most intéomna
employees and retirees are covered by governmaithleare programs. The cost of company-providesirpirement
health care plans for international employees tsmaterial and is combined with U.S. amounts intdides that follow.
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The Company has made deposits for its defined hgniehs with independent trustees. Trust fundsdaqbsits with
insurance companies are maintained to provide peimnefits to plan participants and their benafies. There are no
plan assets in the non-qualified plan due to itanea For its U.S. postretirement health care #adrisurance benefit
plans, the Company has set aside amounts at pastt to annual benefit payments with an indepentianstee.

3M's primary U.S. qualified defined benefit planedonot have a mandatory cash contribution becies€ampany has
a significant credit balance from previous disanediry contributions that can be applied to any PanBrotection Act
funding requirements.

The Company also sponsors employee savings plates @ection 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Codesélplans are
offered to substantially all regular U.S. employdes eligible employees hired prior to Januar2dQ9, employee
401(k) contributions of up to 5% of eligible comgation matched in cash at rates of 45% or 60%,rakpg on the
plan in which the employee participates. Employ@esd on or after January 1, 2009, receive a caatichmof 100% for
employee 401(k) contributions of up to 5% of ellgibompensation and receive an employer retireimenme account
cash contribution of 3% of the participant’s tattiible compensation. All contributions are invegbin a number of
investment funds pursuant to the employees’ elestiEmployer contributions to the U.S. defined dbntion plans
were $159 million, $139 million and $165 millionrfa017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 3M subsidsanesarious
international countries also participate in defigedtribution plans. Employer contributions to theernational defined
contribution plans were $88 million, $87 millionca#i77 million for 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively

As a result of changes made to its U.S. postre@irgrhealth care benefit plans in 2010, the Compasytransitioned all
current and future retirees to a savings accoumtfite-based plan. These changes became effedgiarbing

January 1, 2013, for all Medicare eligible retiraesl their Medicare eligible dependents and bedaffaetive beginning
January 1, 2016, for all non-Medicare eligiblenasts and their eligible dependents. In August 28 modified the
3M Retiree Welfare Benefit Plan postretirement roadbenefit reducing the future benefit for pagants not retired as
of January 1, 2016. For participants retiring aft@nuary 1, 2016, the Retiree Medical Savings AGtRMSA) is no
longer credited with interest and the indexatiorboth the RMSA and the Medicare Health Reimbursémen
Arrangement is reduced from 3 percent to 1.5 péngenyear (for those employees who are eligibidliese accounts).
Also effective January 1, 2016, 3M no longer offék$ Retiree Health Care Accounts to new hires.

3M was informed in 2009, that the general partoé/G Trading Company, in which 3M’s benefit plamdd limited
partnership interests, are the subject of a crihimaestigation as well as civil proceedings by 8C and CFTC
(Commodity Futures Trading Commission). In Marci 20over the objections of 3M and six other limitettners of
WG Trading Company, the district court judge rulediavor of the court appointed receiver’s propodedribution plan
(and in April 2013, the United States Court of Aplsefor the Second Circuit affirmed the districtidés ruling). The
benefit plan trustee holdings of WG Trading Compantgrests were adjusted to reflect the decreasgmhated fair
market value, inclusive of estimated insurance @eds, as of the annual measurement dates. Irrsheguiarter of 2014,
3M and certain 3M benefit plans filed a lawsuittthas removed by the insurers to the U.S. Dis@itirt for the
District of Minnesota against five insurers seekiimgurance coverage for the WG Trading Companyrcléi
September 2015, the court ruled in favor of theedéént insurance companies on a motion for sumjudgment and
dismissed the lawsuit. In October 2015, 3M and3kebenefit plans filed a notice of appeal to thdteth States Court
of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit. In May 2017, thppellate court affirmed the lower court’'s deaisi®he decision
reduced U.S. pension and postretirement plan alsgetg3 million at the December 31, 2017 measuremiete and did
not have a material adverse effect on the congelidfinancial position of the Company.

As part of a diversified investment strategy, th& Lpension and postretirement benefit plans magestments in the
natural gas fired power generation industry duthrggperiod 2011 through 2013. In April 2017, on¢hafse entities,
Panda Temple Power, LLC, filed for Chapter 11 baptay protection in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court foe District of
Delaware. This investment loss represented lessdha percent of the fair value of the U.S. pensiot postretirement
plans’ assets and was reflected in the fair valeasarement as of December 31, 2017.

The following tables include a reconciliation oétheginning and ending balances of the benefigatitin and the fair

value of plan assets as well as a summary of theecekamounts recognized in the Company’s congelithalance
sheet as of December 31 of the respective yearsal8dhas certain non-qualified unfunded pensiahpostretirement
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benefit plans, inclusive of plans related to supmat/excess benefits for employees impacted bycpat relocations
and other matters, that individually and in theraggte are not significant and which are not inetuah the tables that
follow. The obligations for these plans are incldiddgthin other liabilities in the Company’s congtaied balance sheet
and aggregated less than $40 million as of Dece®ibe2017 and 2016.

Qualified and Non-qualified

Pension Benefits Postretirement
United States International Benefits
(Millions) 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $16,202 $15,856 $6,625 $ 6,322 $ 2,259 $ 2,216
Acquisitions/Transfers — — 3 5) — —
Service cost 268 259 142 133 52 54
Interest cost 565 575 157 171 80 79
Participant contributions — — 8 8 — —
Foreign exchange rate changes — — 667 (472 3 7
Plan amendments — 5 6 (4) (6) —
Actuarial (gain) loss 1,263 427 170 724 127 7
Benefit payments (936) (919) (276) (245) (105) (104
Settlements, curtailments, special termination
benefits and other (2) Q) — (7 — —
Benefit obligation at end of year $17,360 $16,202 $7,502 $ 6,625 $ 2,410 $ 2,259

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $14,081 $13,966 $5,617 $ 5669 $ 1,356 $ 1,367

Acquisitions/Transfers — — 2 — — —
Actual return on plan assets 1,693 779 714 512 143 90
Company contributions 852 259 112 121 3 3
Participant contributions — — 8 8 — —
Foreign exchange rate changes — — 560 (444 — —
Benefit payments (936) (919) (276) (245) (105) (104
Settlements, curtailments, special termination
benefits and other (4) (4) — (4) — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $15,686 $14,081 $6,737 $ 5,617 $ 1,397 $ 1,356
Funded status at end of year $ (1,674 $ (2,121 $ (765 $ (1,008 $ (1,013 $ (903
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Qualified and Non-qualified

Pension Benefits Postretirement
United States International Benefits
(Millions) 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of Dec. 31,
Non-current assets $ 4 $ 4 $ 233 $ 48 $ — $ —
Accrued benefit cost
Current liabilities (53) (52) (12) (10) 4 (4)
Non-current liabilities (1,625 (2,073 (986 (1,046 (1,009 (899
Ending balance $(1,674) $(2,121) $ (765) $(1,008) $(1,013) $ (903)
Qualified and Non-qualified
Pension Benefits Postretirement
United States International Benefits
(Millions) 2017 2016 2017 2016 _ 2017 2016
Amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income as of Dec. 31,

Net transition obligation (asset) $ — % — % — 3% — 3% — % —

Net actuarial loss (gain) 5,921 5,704 1,720 1,933 774 761

Prior service cost (credit) (175 (198) (40) (56) (163 (214)

Ending balance $ 5746 $ 5506 $ 1680 $ 1,877 $ 611 $ 547

The balance of amounts recognized for internatiptaais in accumulated other comprehensive inconod as
December 31 in the preceding table are presentsetiban the foreign currency exchange rate on titat d

The pension accumulated benefit obligation reprtssitie actuarial present value of benefits baseehgployee service
and compensation as of the measurement date aschdbmclude an assumption about future compeséiels. The
accumulated benefit obligation of the U.S. pengitams was $16.270 billion and $15.149 billion at®aber 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively. The accumulated benefigatibn of the international pension plans was %6.Billion and
$6.058 billion at December 31, 2017 and 2016, retby.

The following amounts relate to pension plans withumulated benefit obligations in excess of pksets as of
December 31:

Qualified and Non-qualified Pension Plans

United States International
(Millions) 2017 2016 2017 2016
Projected benefit obligation $17,350 $ 16,202 $ 2,687 $ 2,590
Accumulated benefit obligation 16,260 15,149 2,449 2,351
Fair value of plan assets 15,671 14,081 1,731 1,635
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Components of net periodic cost and other amountecognized in other comprehensive income

Net periodic benefit cost is recorded in cost désaselling, general and administrative expersed,research,
development and related expenses. Components périetic benefit cost and other changes in plaetasand benefit
obligations recognized in other comprehensive iredon the years ended December 31 follow:

Qualified and Non-qualified

Pension Benefits Postretirement
United States International Benefits

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015
Net periodic benefit cost (benefit)

Service cost $ 268 $ 259 $ 293 $ 142 $ 133 $ 154 $ 52 $54 $ 75

Interest cost 565 575 655 157 171 206 80 79 98

Expected return on plan assets (1,035) (1,043) (1,069) (293) (308) (308) (86) (90) (91)

Amortization of transition asset — — — — @ (0] — — —

Amortization of prior service benefit (23) (24) (24) (13) (13) (13) (53) (55) (42)

Amortization of net actuarial loss 388 354 409 126 91 144 56 61 73

Settlements, curtailments, special

termination benefits and other 2 4 2 4 4 (6) (4) — 1

Net periodic benefit cost (benefit) aft

settlements, curtailments, special

termination benefits and other $ 165 $ 125 $ 266 $ 123 $ 77 $ 176 $ 45 $ 49 $ 114
Other changes in plan assets and benefit

obligations recognized in other

comprehensive (income) loss

Amortization of transition asset — — — — 1 1 — — —
Prior service cost (benefit) — 5 — 6 (5) 10 Q) — (212)
Amortization of prior service benefit 23 24 24 13 13 13 53 55 42
Net actuarial (gain) loss 605 692 312 (248) 512 (270) 69 8 (23)
Amortization of net actuarial loss (388 (354 (409, (126 91, (@144 (56) (61) (73)
Foreign currency — — — 167 (93) (174) — — (1)
Total recognized in other comprehensive
(income) loss $ 240 $ 367 $ (73) $(188 $ 337 $(564 $ 65 $ 2 $ (267
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost
(benefit) and other comprehensive
(income) loss $ 405 $ 492 $ 193 $ (65) $ 414 $(388) $110 $ 51 $(153)

Amounts expected to be amortized from accumulatedtioer comprehensive income into net periodic benefitosts
over the next fiscal year

Qualified and Non-qualified

Pension Benefits Postretirement
(Millions) United States International Benefits
Amortization of transition (asset) obligation $ — % — $ —
Amortization of prior service cost (benefit) (23) (13) (40)
Amortization of net actuarial (gain) loss 503 116 62
Total amortization expected over the next fiscarye $ 480 $ 103 $ 22

The Company primarily amortizes amounts recognasegrior service cost (benefit) over the averagigréuservice
period of active employees at the date of the amemd.
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine bdn@bligations as of December 31

Qualified and Non-qualified Pension Benefits Posttirement
United States International Benefits
2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015

Discount rate 3.68% 4.21% 4.47% 2.41% 2.54% 3.12% 3.79% 4.26% 4.48%
Compensation rate increase 410% 4.10% 4.10% 2.89% 2.90% 2.90% N/A N/A N/A

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine nedst for years ended December 31

Qualified and Non-qualified Pension Benefits Posttirement
United States International Benefits
2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015

Discount rate - service cost 4.42% 4.70% 4.10% 2.32% 2.84% 3.11% 4.50% 4.70% 4.07%
Discount rate - interest cost 3.61% 3.73% 4.10% 2.25% 2.72% 3.11% 3.80% 3.80% 4.07%
Expected return on assets 7.25% 7.50% 7.75% 5.16% 5.77% 5.90% 6.48% 6.91% 6.91%
Compensation rate increase 410% 4.10% 4.10% 2.90% 2.90% 3.33% N/A N/A N/A

The Company provides eligible retirees in the p&tretirement health care benefit plans to a gavaitcount benefits-
based plan. The contributions provided by the Camga the health savings accounts increase 3 pepeeryear for
employees who retired prior to January 1, 2016iacctase 1.5 percent for employees who retire after January 1,
2016. Therefore, the Company no longer has matexjabsure to health care cost inflation.

The Company determines the discount rate used &sume plan liabilities as of the December 31 measant date for
the pension and postretirement benefit plans, wisietiso the date used for the related annual mesmsunt
assumptions. The discount rate reflects the curedatat which the associated liabilities couldeHectively settled at
the end of the year. The Company sets its ratefkect the yield of a portfolio of high qualityxgd-income debt
instruments that would produce cash flows sufficiartiming and amount to settle projected futueadfits. Using this
methodology, the Company determined a discountafa®68% for pension and 3.79% for postretirentantefits to be
appropriate for its U.S. plans as of December 8172which is a decrease of 0.53 percentage pamt<.47
percentage points, respectively, from the rated aseof December 31, 2016. For the internationasio® and
postretirement plans the discount rates also itetteccurrent rate at which the associated liagditould be effectively
settled at the end of the year. If the countryddeep market in corporate bonds the Company matbhesxpected
cash flows from the plan either to a portfolio ohbls that generate sufficient cash flow or a naiigreld curve
generated from available bond information. In coestthat do not have a deep market in corporatedfiggovernment
bonds are considered with a risk premium to appneseé corporate bond yields.

Beginning in 2016, 3M changed the method usedtimate the service and interest cost componeriiseofiet periodic
pension and other postretirement benefit costs.nEmemethod measures service cost and interessepatately using
the spot yield curve approach applied to each spmeding obligation. Service costs are determirsessgth on duration-
specific spot rates applied to the service codt flasvs. The interest cost calculation is deterrdibg applying
duration-specific spot rates to the year-by-yeaigmted benefit payments. The spot yield curve @ggr does not affect
the measurement of the total benefit obligationthashange in service and interest costs offsetdractuarial gains
and losses recorded in other comprehensive incéheCompany changed to the new method to providera precise
measure of service and interest costs by improtfiagorrelation between the projected benefit flasts and the
discrete spot yield curve rates. The Company adeduior this change as a change in estimate pragplcbeginning
in the first quarter of 2016. As a result of thauee to the spot yield curve approach, 2016 antefaled benefit
pension and postretirement net periodic benefit desreased approximately $180 million.

For the primary U.S. qualified pension plan, therpany’s assumption for the expected return on atmets was
7.25% in 2017. Projected returns are based priynaniloroad, publicly traded equity and fixed-incoimeéices and
forward-looking estimates of active portfolio amyéstment management. As of December 31, 201 Cahgany’'s
2018 expected long-term rate of return on U.S. pksets is 7.25%, consistent with 2017. The exdeaetarn
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assumption is based on the strategic asset albocatithe plan, long term capital market returnestptions and
expected performance from active investment managerihe 2017 expected long-term rate of retubai&ed on an
asset allocation assumption of 25% global equifi€%p private equities, 41% fixed-income securitéagg] 18% absolute
return investments independent of traditional penfnce benchmarks, along with positive returns feative
investment management. The actual net rate ofrr@iplan assets in 2017 was 12.4%. In 2016 theqdaned a rate of
return of 5.8% and in 2015 earned a return of 0.7B&. average annual actual return on the plansaeset the past 10
and 25 years has been 7.0% and 9.4%, respectivelyrn on assets assumptions for internationalipersd other
post-retirement benefit plans are calculated olaa-py-plan basis using plan asset allocationsexpected long-term
rate of return assumptions.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company convertedddRP 2014 Mortality Tables” and updated the niityta
improvement scale it used for calculating the yexad-2014 U.S. defined benefit pension annuitantpmstiretirement
obligations and 2015 expense. The impact of thisigk increased the year-end 2014 U.S. pensioncpedjbenefit
obligation (PBO) by approximately $820 million att U.S. accumulated postretirement benefit obbgaty
approximately $100 million. As of December 31, 20th&@ Company updated the mortality improvemeniesaScale
MP-2016, which was released by the Society of Avdsan October 2016. The impact of this changeekesed the
year-end 2016 U.S. pension PBO by approximatel¥$ddlion and the U.S. accumulated postretiremesmigfit
obligation by approximately $60 million. As of Denber 31, 2017, the Company updated the mortalipravement
scale to Scale MP-2017. The update resulted inadl siecrease to the U.S. pension PBO and U.S. adeied
postretirement benefit obligations.

During 2017, the Company contributed $964 millionts U.S. and international pension plans and $Bmto its
postretirement plans. During 2016, the Companyrdmuted $380 million to its U.S. and internatiopainsion plans and
$3 million to its postretirement plans. In 2018 tBompany expects to contribute an amount in theeaf $300

million to $500 million of cash to its U.S. andénhational retirement plans. The Company does &t la required
minimum cash pension contribution obligation farlit.S. plans in 2018. Future contributions will eleg on market
conditions, interest rates and other factors.

Future Pension and Postretirement Benefit Payments

The following table provides the estimated pensind postretirement benefit payments that are payatn the plans
to participants.

Qualified and Non-qualified

Pension Benefits Postretirement
(Millions) United States International Benefits
2018 Benefit Payments $ 1,074 $ 237 $ 139
2019 Benefit Payments 1,090 251 148
2020 Benefit Payments 1,102 260 157
2021 Benefit Payments 1,110 278 166
2022 Benefit Payments 1,126 285 174
Next five year 5,724 1,640 843
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Plan Asset Management

3M's investment strategy for its pension and paisgment plans is to manage the funds on a goimgem basis. The
primary goal of the trust funds is to meet the gdions as required. The secondary goal is to tharhighest rate of
return possible, without jeopardizing its primaag and without subjecting the Company to an urataeunt of
contribution risk. Fund returns are used to haiaiiice present and future obligations to the extessible within
actuarially determined funding limits and tax-detéred asset limits, thus reducing the potentiatirfee additional
contributions from 3M. The investment strategy hgsd long duration cash bonds and derivative imstnis to offset a
significant portion of the interest rate sensitivif U.S. pension liabilities.

Normally, 3M does not buy or sell any of its owrtweties as a direct investment for its pension attngr
postretirement benefit funds. However, due to extkinvestment management of the funds, the plansindirectly
buy, sell or hold 3M securities. The aggregate athoti3M securities are not considered to be maltegiative to the
aggregate fund percentages.

The discussion that follows references the faiu@aheasurements of certain assets in terms ofléy& and 3. See
Note 14 for descriptions of these levels. While ¢bhenpany believes the valuation methods are apatepand
consistent with other market participants, the afsgifferent methodologies or assumptions to deileerthe fair value
of certain financial instruments could result idiierent estimate of fair value at the reportireged
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U.S. Pension Plans and Postretirement Benefit Plagsets

In order to achieve the investment objectives @hS. pension plans and U.S. postretirement bguiafis, the
investment policies include a target strategic taatbgcation. The investment policies allow somietance around the
target in recognition that market fluctuations dhquidity of some investments may cause the alltan to a specific
asset class to vary from the target allocationepiidlly for long periods of time. Acceptable rasdmve been designed
to allow for deviation from strategic targets andatiow for the opportunity for tactical over- andder-weights. The
portfolios will normally be rebalanced when the deaend asset allocation deviates from acceptaiges. The
allocation is reviewed regularly by the named fidug of the plans. Approximately 46% of the posteghent benefit
plan assets are in a 401(h) account. The 401 (ljuat@ssets are in the same trust as the prim&ygénsion plan and
invested with the same investment objectives aptimeary U.S. pension plan.

The fair values of the assets held by the U.S.ipandans by asset class are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements Using Inputs Considered as Fair Value at
(Millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Dec. 31,
Asset Class 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Equities
U.S. equities $1568 $1522 $ — $ — $— $ — $ 1568 $ 1,522
Non-U.S. equities 1,527 1,179 — — — — 1,527 1,179
Index and long/short equity funds* 422 414
Total Equities $3095 $2701 $ — $ — $— $ — $ 3517 $ 3,115
Fixed Income
U.S. government securities $2666 $1,701 $ 484 $ 560 $ — $ — $ 3,150 $ 2,261
Non-U.S. government securities — — 168 146 — — 168 146
Preferred and convertible securities 4 4 2 1 — — 6 5
U.S. corporate bonds 10 10 2,904 3,392 — — 2,914 3,402
Non-U.S. corporate bonds — — 614 672 — — 614 672
Derivative instruments — 1) 110 (31) — — 110 (32
Other* 8 7
Total Fixed Income $2680 $1,714 $4282 $4740 $ — $ — $ 6,970 $ 6461
Private Equity
Derivative instruments $ — % — % — $ — $ (7 $ (83 % 7) $ (83
Growth equity 34 19 — — — — 34 19
Partnership investments* 2,062 2,188
Total Private Equity $ 34 $ 19 $ — $ — $ (7)) $ (83 $ 2,089 $ 2,124
Absolute Return
Derivative instruments $ — % — % — $ (7 $— $ — 3 —  $ 7)
Fixed income and other 31 29 102 78 — — 133 107
Hedge fund/fund of funds* 1,871 1,793
Partnership investments* 335 296
Total Absolute Return $ 31 $ 29 $ 102 $ 71 $— $ — $ 2339 $ 2,189
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents $ 109 $ 5 $ 14 $ — $ 1 $ 2 $ 124 % 57
Repurchase agreements and derivative margin activ — — (502! (545, — — (502 (545
Cash and cash equivalents, valued at net assetvalu 1,402 931
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 109 $ 55 $ (488 $ (B45 $ 1 $ 2 $ 1,024 $ 4483
Total $5949 $4518 $3,896 $4266 $ (6) $ (81) $15939 $14,332
Other items to reconcile to fair value of plan ésse $ (253 $ (251
Fair value of plan assets $ 15,686 $ 14,081

* In accordance with ASC 820-10, certain investraghat are measured at fair value using the net aatue (NAV)

per share (or its equivalent) as a practical exgrediave not been classified in the fair valuedrigry. The NAV is
based on the fair value of the underlying assetseaMby the fund, minus its liabilities then dividegithe number of
units outstanding and is determined by the investmmeanager or custodian of the fund. The fair val®unts
presented in this table are intended to permitrreitiation of the fair value hierarchy to the amtaupresented in the fair
value of plan assets.
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The fair values of the assets held by the postregnt benefit plans by asset class are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements Using Inputs Considered as Fair Value at

(Millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Dec. 31,
Asset Class 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Equities
U.S. equities $ 465 $ 477 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 465 $ 477
Non-U.S. equities 71 62 — — — — 71 62
Index and long/short equity funds* 45 40
Total Equities $536 $59 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 581 $ 579
Fixed Income
U.S. government securities $ 136 $ 102 $ 205 $ 191 $ — $ — $ 341 $ 293
Non-U.S. government securities — — 9 9 — — 9 9
U.S. corporate bonds — — 159 172 — — 159 172
Non-U.S. corporate bonds — — 35 36 — — 35 36
Derivative instruments — — 4 (1) — — 4 (1)
Total Fixed Income $ 136 $ 102 $ 412 $ 407 $ — $ — $ 548 $ 509
Private Equity
Derivative instruments $ — % — $ — $ — $ — $ B8 — 3 3
Growth equity 2 1 — — — — 2 1
Partnership investments* 109 113
Total Private Equity $ 2 % 1 $ — $ — %$ — $ (3 $ 112 $ 111
Absolute Return
Fixed income and other $ 1. %$ 1 $ 4 % 3 $ — $ — % 5 $ 4
Hedge fund/fund of funds* 76 72
Partnership investments* 14 12
Total Absolute Return $ 1 $ 1 $ 4 %$ 3 % — $ — $ 95 $ 88
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents $ 34 $ 4 $ 1 $ 3 $ — $ — $ 3B $ 47
Repurchase agreements and derivative margin activit — — (20 (22) — — (20) (22)
Cash and cash equivalents, valued at net asset*valu 5 38
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 34 $ 4 $ (19 $ 199 % — $ — $ 72 $ 63
Total $ 709 $ 687 $ 397 $ 391 $ — $ (3 $1407 $1,350
Other items to reconcile to fair value of plan ésse $ (10) $ 6
Fair value of plan assets $ 1,397 $ 1,356

*In accordance with ASC 820-10, certain investméii are measured at fair value using the NAVsbare (or its
equivalent) as a practical expedient have not btessified in the fair value hierarchy. The NAWiased on the fair
value of the underlying assets owned by the furidusits liabilities then divided by the numberusfits outstanding
and is determined by the investment manager oodisst of the fund. The fair value amounts preseitdtis table are
intended to permit reconciliation of the fair vakierarchy to the amounts presented in the fainevalf plan assets.

Publicly traded equities are valued at the clogirige reported in the active market in which théividual securities are
traded.

Fixed income includes derivative instruments sushradit default swaps, interest rate swaps angdstcontracts.
Corporate debt includes bonds and notes, asse¢taelcurities, collateralized mortgage obligatiand private
placements. Swaps and derivative instruments doeddy the custodian using closing market swapasiand market
derived inputs. U.S. government and government@gbands and notes are valued at the closing pejgerted in the
active market in which the individual securityliaded. Corporate bonds and notes, asset backedtisscand
collateralized mortgage obligations are valuedtaeethe yields currently available on comparat@eurities of issuers
with similar credit ratings or valued under a diseted cash flow approach that utilizes observaigets, such as
current yields of similar instruments, but include§ustments for certain risks that may not be nladge such as credit
and liquidity risks. Private placements are valbgdhe custodian using recognized pricing servaretssources.

The private equity portfolio is a diversified mikaerivative instruments, growth equity and parshgp interests.
Derivative investments are written options that\akied by independent parties using market inpatsvaluation
models. Growth equity investments are valued atkbsing price reported in the active market inabhthe individual
securities are traded.
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Absolute return consists primarily of partnershiferests in hedge funds, hedge fund of funds @rqihvate fund
vehicles. Corporate debt instruments are valueitlar the yields currently available on comparadgleurities of
issuers with similar credit ratings or valued undetiscounted cash flow approach that utilizes adde inputs, such
as current yields of similar instruments, but inigla adjustments for certain risks that may notliseivable such as
credit and liquidity risk ratings.

Other items to reconcile to fair value of plan ésseclude, interest receivables, amounts duedoursties sold, amounts
payable for securities purchased and interest payab

The balances of and changes in the fair valuelseobit S. pension plans’ and postretirement planvglld assets for the
periods ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were atetial.

International Pension Plans Assets

Outside the U.S., pension plan assets are typioadiyaged by decentralized fiduciary committees. dikelosure below
of asset categories is presented in aggregatevéori® defined benefit plans in 26 countries; hosvethere is
significant variation in asset allocation policgiin country to country. Local regulations, localding rules, and local
financial and tax considerations are part of thdfng and investment allocation process in eacimttguThe Company
provides standard funding and investment guidam@dl international plans with more focused guidatwthe larger
plans.

Each plan has its own strategic asset allocatibr.dSset allocations are reviewed periodicallyrebdlanced when
necessary.
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The fair values of the assets held by the inteonatipension plans by asset class are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements Using Inputs Considered as Fair Value at

(Millions) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Dec. 31,
Asset Class 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Equities
Growth equities $ 659 $ 605 $ 289 $ 214 $ — $ — $ 948 $ 819
Value equities 597 575 43 28 — — 640 603
Core equities 62 55 790 583 4 4 856 642
Equities, valued at net asset value* 21 16
Total Equities $1318 $1235 $1,122 $ 825 $ 4 $ 4 $2465 $ 2,080
Fixed Income
Domestic government $ 362 $ 340 $ 256 $ 202 $ 4 $ 3 $ 622 $ 545
Foreign government 168 142 338 353 — — 506 495
Corporate debt securities 63 51 1,072 888 10 9 1,145 948
Fixed income securities, valued at net asset value* 976 641
Total Fixed Income $ 593 $ 533 $1666 $1443 $ 14 $ 12 $3,249 $ 2,629
Private Equity
Real estate $ 36 $ 29 $ 74 $ 62 $ 3 $ 3 $ 113 $ 94
Real estate, valued at net asset value* 36 34
Partnership investments* 68 63
Total Private Equity $ 36 $ 29 $ 74 $ 62 $ 3 $ 3 $ 217 $ 191
Absolute Return
Derivatives $ — $ 4 s 2 $ — $— $ — 3% 2 $ @
Insurance — — — — 519 455 519 455
Other — — — — 7 6 7 6
Other, valued at net asset value* 1 —
Hedge funds* 194 174
Total Absolute Return $ — 3 (4 3 2 $ — $526 $ 461 $ 723 $ 631
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents $ 67 $ 9 $ 34 $ 18 $ — $ — $ 101 $ 117
Cash and cash equivalents, valued at net asset*valu 3 4
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 67 $ 9 $ 34 $ 18 $ — $ — $ 104 $ 121
Total $2014 $1892 $2,898 $2,348 $547 $ 480 $6,758 $ 5,652
Other items to reconcile to fair value of plan ésse $ (21) $ (35
Fair value of plan assets $ 6,737 $ 5,617

*In accordance with ASC 820-10, certain investméhid are measured at fair value using the NAVsbare (or its
equivalent) as a practical expedient have not leessified in the fair value hierarchy. The NAWiased on the fair
value of the underlying assets owned by the furidusits liabilities then divided by the numberusfits outstanding
and is determined by the investment manager oodisst of the fund. The fair value amounts preseitetis table are
intended to permit reconciliation of the fair vakierarchy to the amounts presented in the fainevalf plan assets.

Equities consist primarily of mandates in publicigg securities managed to various public equitligas. Publicly
traded equities are valued at the closing pricented in the active market in which the individsaturities are traded.

Fixed Income investments include domestic and forgiovernment, and corporate, (including mortgaayked and
other debt) securities. Governments, corporate $and notes and mortgage backed securities aredvatuthe closing
price reported if traded on an active market grietls currently available on comparable securibieissuers with
similar credit ratings or valued under a discourtash flow approach that utilizes observable inpaush as current
yields of similar instruments, but includes adjusits for certain risks that may not be observaldh sis credit and
liquidity risks.

Private equity funds consist of partnership inter@sa variety of funds. Real estate consistsroperty funds and
REITS (Real Estate Investment Trusts). REITS aheedhat the closing price reported in the activekagin which it is
traded.

Absolute return consists of private partnershipriests in hedge funds, insurance contracts, demvisistruments,
hedge fund of funds, and other alternative investmdnsurance consists of insurance contractg;hwdiie valued using
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cash surrender values which is the amount theyptand receive if the contract was cashed out at gad. Derivative
instruments consist of interest rate swaps thatised to help manage risks.

Other items to reconcile to fair value of plan ésseclude the net of interest receivables, amoduésfor securities
sold, amounts payable for securities purchasedrderkest payable.

The balances of and changes in the fair valuelseoirnternational pension plans’ level 3 assetsisbpgamarily of
insurance contracts under the absolute return alssst. The aggregate of net purchases and netlizect gains
increased this balance by $48 million and $8 millio 2017 and 2016, respectively. Foreign curremayhange impacts
increased this balance by $16 million in 2017 aedréased this balance by $9 million in 2016.

NOTE 13. Derivatives

The Company uses interest rate swaps, currencysswammodity price swaps, and forward and optiartre@ts to
manage risks generally associated with foreign @mxgh rate, interest rate and commaodity price fiatibns. The
information that follows explains the various typéslerivatives and financial instruments used by Bow and why
3M uses such instruments, how such instrumentaameunted for, and how such instruments impact Jiviancial
position and performance.

Additional information with respect to the impaots other comprehensive income of nonderivative mepgnd
derivative instruments is included in Note 7. Adxhitl information with respect to the fair valuedwrivative
instruments is included in Note 14. Referencesfiormation regarding derivatives and/or hedgingrimeents
associated with the Company’s long-term debt ee alade in Note 11.

Types of Derivatives/Hedging Instruments and Inclugn Income/Other Comprehensive Income:

Cash Flow Hedges:

For derivative instruments that are designatedcaadify as cash flow hedges, the effective portbthe gain or loss on
the derivative is reported as a component of atberprehensive income and reclassified into earrimgjse same
period during which the hedged transaction affeatsiings. Gains and losses on the derivative reptieg either hedge
ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded frenassessment of effectiveness are recognizednent@arnings.

Cash Flow Hedging - Foreign Currency Forward andtiop Contracts:The Company enters into foreign exchange
forward and option contracts to hedge against tieeteof exchange rate fluctuations on cash floesaminated in
foreign currencies. These transactions are desdras cash flow hedges. The settlement or extensitese
derivatives will result in reclassifications (fraaecumulated other comprehensive income) to earminte period
during which the hedged transactions affect eamiBlyl may dedesignate these cash flow hedge nedttips in
advance of the occurrence of the forecasted tréinsad he portion of gains or losses on the denresinstrument
previously accumulated in other comprehensive irefon dedesignated hedges remains in accumulahed ot
comprehensive income until the forecasted transactccurs or becomes probable of not occurringnGésiin the
value of derivative instruments after dedesignatimmrecorded in earnings and are included in grévBtives Not
Designated as Hedging Instruments section below.maximum length of time over which 3M hedges xgasure to
the variability in future cash flows of the foreta transactions is 36 months.

Cash Flow Hedging — Interest Rate Contradtsthe third and fourth quarters of 2014, the Campentered into
forward starting interest rate swaps with noticaralounts totaling 500 million Euros as a hedge agaiterest rate
volatility associated with the forecasted issuamicixed rate debt. 3M terminated these interet savaps upon
issuance of 750 million Euros aggregate principabant of twelve-year fixed rate notes in connectigth 3M’s 1.250
billion Eurobond offering in November 2014. Thermémation resulted in an $8 million pre-tax ($5 moifl after-tax) loss
within accumulated other comprehensive incomeitlilhbe amortized over the twelve-year life of thetes.

In the first six months of 2016, the Company erdento forward starting interest rate swaps thatirexd in December
2016 with an aggregate notional amount of $300ionilhs a hedge against interest rate volatilitpeiased with a
forecasted issuance of fixed rate debt. Upon issuahmedium-term notes in September 2016, 3M texted these
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interest rate swaps. The termination resulted imamaterial loss within accumulated other comprashanincome that
will be amortized over the respective lives of tlebt. In the fourth quarter of 2016, the Comparte into forward
starting interest rate swaps with a notional ama@i$200 million as a hedge against interest ratatility associated
with a forecasted issuance of fixed rate debt.

In the first, second, and third quarters of 20h@&,Company entered into additional forward starintgrest rate swaps
with notional amounts of $200 million in each gears hedges against interest rate volatility astst with a
forecasted issuance of fixed rate debt. Prioréothuance of medium-term notes in October 2017{e8Minated these
interest rate swaps. The termination resulted imamaterial loss within accumulated other comprashanincome that
will be amortized over the respective lives of thedt.

The amortization of gains and losses on forwardistainterest rate swaps is included in the tabkedsw as part of the
gain/(loss) recognized in income on the effectivgtipn of derivatives as a result of reclassifioatfrom accumulated
other comprehensive income.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had a baleih®&12 million associated with the after tax netaalized loss
associated with cash flow hedging instruments @etin accumulated other comprehensive income.imbligdes a
remaining balance of $8 million (after tax losdpted to forward starting interest rate swaps, Wwhidl be amortized
over the respective lives of the notes. Based change rates as of December 31, 2017, 3M expectsimssify
approximately $64 million, $30 million, and apprmately $18 million of the after-tax net unrealifedeign exchange
cash flow hedging losses to earnings in 2018, 2848 ,after 2019, respectively (with the impact eiffsy
earnings/losses from underlying hedged items).

The location in the consolidated statements ofrime@nd comprehensive income and amounts of gathlbbases
related to derivative instruments designated als ftas/ hedges are provided in the following taliteclassifications of
amounts from accumulated other comprehensive indotaéncome include accumulated gains (lossegjexfesignated
hedges at the time earnings are impacted by tieedsted transaction.

Pretax Gain (Loss) Recognized in

Pretax Gain (Loss) Income on Effective Portion of Ineffective Portim of Gain
Recognized in Other Derivative as a Result of (Loss) on Derivative ah
Comprehensive Reclassification from Amount Exclded from
Income on Effective Accumulated Other Effectiveness Testing
Year ended December 31, 2017 Portion of Derivative Comprehensive Income Recognized in Income
(Millions) Amount Location Amount Location Amount
Foreign currency forward/option contracts $ (305, Costofsales $ 8 Cost of sales $ =
Interest rate swap contracts 6) Interest expense (1) Interest expense —
Total $ (311 $ 7 $ —
Year ended December 31, 2016
(Millions) Amount Location Amount Location Amount
Foreign currency forward/option contracts $ 58 Cost of sales $ 110 Cost of sales $ =
Interest rate swap contracts (1) Interest expense (1) Interest expense —
Total $ 57 $ 109 $ =
Year ended December 31, 2015
(Millions) Amount Location Amount Location Amount
Foreign currency forward/option contracts $ 212 Costofsales $ 178 Cost of sales $ —
Commodity price swap contracts — Cost of sales (2) Cost of sales —
Interest rate swap contracts — Interest expens (2) Interest expens —
Total $ 212 $ 174 $ —

Fair Value Hedges:

For derivative instruments that are designatedcauadify as fair value hedges, the gain or losshenderivatives as well
as the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged iteribatable to the hedged risk are recognized meru earnings.

Fair Value Hedging - Interest Rate Swafi$te Company manages interest expense using afrfiked and floating

rate debt. To help manage borrowing costs, the @osnmay enter into interest rate swaps. Under thesmgements,
the Company agrees to exchange, at specified alrthe difference between fixed and floatingries¢ amounts
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calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notjpmatipal amount. The mark-to-market of these Yailue hedges is
recorded as gains or losses in interest expenses arfitdet by the gain or loss of the underlyingptdastrument, which
also is recorded in interest expense. These faieVaedges are highly effective and, thus, thermisnpact on earnings
due to hedge ineffectiveness.

In November 2013, 3M issued a Eurobond due in 2624 face amount of 600 million Euros. Upon dalstiance, 3M
completed a fixed-to-floating interest rate swapaamtional amount of 300 million Euros as a failue hedge of a
portion of the fixed interest rate Eurobond obligat

In June 2014, 3M issued $950 million aggregategged amount of medium-term notes. Upon debt isseathe
Company entered into an interest rate swap to co8€0 million of a $625 million note included tinis issuance to an
interest rate based on a floating three-month LIB@x as a fair value hedge of a portion of tlediinterest rate
medium-term note obligation.

In August 2015, 3M issued $1.500 billion aggregatacipal amount of medium-term notes. Upon desasce, the
Company entered into two interest rate swaps agdiftie hedges of a portion of the fixed interas rmedium-term
note obligation. The first converted a $450 millibnee-year fixed rate note, and the second coed&800 million of a
five-year fixed rate note included in this issuat@an interest rate based on a floating three-mbi2OR index.

In the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company entémémlan interest rate swap with a notional amodi$200 million that
converted the company’s fixed-rate medium-term w©loie 2020 into a floating-rate note as a hedgesahiposure to
changes in the fair value that is attributablenteriest rate risk.

The location in the consolidated statements ofrime@nd amounts of gains and losses related toati@evinstruments
designated as fair value hedges and similar infaomaelative to the hedged items are as follows:

Gain (Loss) on Derivative Gain (Loss) on Hedgedém
Year ended December 31, 2017 Recognized in Income Recognized in Income
(Millions) Location Amount Location Amount
Interest rate swap contracts Interest expens  $ (9) Interestexpens $ 9
Total $ 9) $ 9
Year ended December 31, 2016
(Millions) Location Amount Location Amount
Interest rate swap contracts Interest expens  $ (2) Interest expens $ 2
Total $ (2) $ 2
Year ended December 31, 2015
(Millions) Location Amount Location Amount
Interest rate swap contracts Interest expens  $ (2) Interest expens $ 2
Total $ (2) $ 2

Net Investment Hedges:

The Company may use non-derivative (foreign culyatenominated debt) and derivative (foreign exclediogward
contracts) instruments to hedge portions of the gamg’s investment in foreign subsidiaries and marfageign
exchange risk. For instruments that are desigratedyualify as hedges of net investments in forejggrations and that
meet the effectiveness requirements, the net gailusses attributable to changes in spot excheatgs are recorded in
cumulative translation within other comprehensiveoime. The remainder of the change in value of susthuments is
recorded in earnings. Recognition in earnings odamts previously recorded in cumulative translat®limited to
circumstances such as complete or substantiallytimliquidation of the net investment in the hediforeign
operation. To the extent foreign currency denoneidatebt is not designated in or is dedesignated &met investment
hedge relationship, changes in value of that pomibforeign currency denominated debt due to emghaate changes
are recorded in earnings through their maturitg dat
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3M’s use of foreign exchange forward contracts giesied in hedges of the Company’s net investmefuraign
subsidiaries can vary by time period depending bamforeign currency denominated debt balancegula®d in such
relationships are dedesignated, matured, or aré/nesued and designated. Additionally, variati@m©ccur in
connection with the extent of the Company’s desfozdign exchange risk coverage.

At December 31, 2017, the total notional amourfbodign exchange forward contracts designated frnvestment
hedges was approximately 150 million Euros and @qprately 248 billion South Korean Won, along watlprincipal
amount of long-term debt instruments designatateirinvestment hedges totaling 4.4 billion Eurdse Taturity dates
of these derivative and nonderivative instrumeesghated in net investment hedges range from £02831.

The location in the consolidated statements ofrime@nd comprehensive income and amounts of gathlbbases
related to derivative and nonderivative instrumelg@signated as net investment hedges are as folldwese were no
reclassifications of the effective portion of netéstment hedges out of accumulated other compsefgeimcome into
income for the periods presented in the table below

Pretax Gain (Loss)
Recognized as
Cumulative Translation

within Other Ineffective Portion of Gain (Loss) ;
Comprehensive Income Instrument and Amount Excluded
on Effective Portion of from Effectiveness Testing
Year ended December 31, 2017 Instrument Recognized in Income
(Millions) Amount Location Amount
Foreign currency denominated debt $ (667 N/A $ —
Foreign currency forward contracts (58) Cost of sales 7
Total $ (725, $ 7
Year ended December 31, 2016
(Millions) Amount Location Amount
Foreign currency denominated debt $ 215 N/A $ =
Foreign currency forward contracts (9) Cost té¢sa (3)
Total $ 206 $ (3)
Year ended December 31, 2015
(Millions) Amount Location Amount
Foreign currency denominated debt $ 63 N/A $ =
Foreign currency forward contracts 143Cost of sales 11
Total $ 206 $ 11
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Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments:

Derivatives not designated as hedging instrumerniside dedesignated foreign currency forward antbogontracts
that formerly were designated in cash flow hedgglgtionships (as referenced in the Cash Flow Hedgetion above).
In addition, 3M enters into foreign currency foréiaontracts to offset, in part, the impacts of@iartntercompany
activities (primarily associated with intercompditgnsing arrangements) and enters into commaodite swaps to
offset, in part, fluctuations in costs associatdtth the use of certain commaodities and preciousateeT hese derivative
instruments are not designated in hedging reldtipss therefore, fair value gains and losses osetwentracts are
recorded in earnings. The Company does not hoissae derivative financial instruments for tradmgposes.

The location in the consolidated statements ofrime@nd amounts of gains and losses related toati@gvinstruments
not designated as hedging instruments are as fellow

Gain (Loss) on Derivative Recognized in Income

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December31, December3l, December31,
2017 2016 2015

(Millions) Location Amount Amount Amount
Foreign currency forward/option contracts Costofsales $ 11 $ 14) $ 5
Foreign currency forward contracts Interest expen (141 9 82
Commaodity price swap contracts Cost of sales — — (3)
Total $ (130 $ (5) $ 84
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Location and Fair Value Amount of Derivative Instrents:

The following tables summarize the fair value of’'8Merivative instruments, excluding nonderivatinstruments used
as hedging instruments, and their location in thesolidated balance sheet. Notional amounts befewpr@sented at
period end foreign exchange rates, except for iceiriterest rate swaps, which are presented ukmgnteption date’s
foreign exchange rate. Additional information wig#spect to the fair value of derivative instrumastsicluded in Note
14.

Gross Assets Liabilities
December 31, 2017 Notional Fair Fair
(Millions) Amount Location Value Amount Location Value Amount
Derivatives designated as
hedging instruments
Foreign currency forward/option contrac  $ 2,204 Other current asset:  $ 7  Other current liabilitie  $ 109
Foreign currency forward/option contracts 1,392 Other assets 20 Other liabilities 56
Interest rate swap contracts 450 Other current asset: —  Other current liabilitie 1
Interest rate swap contracts 1,503 Other assets 21  Other liabilities 6
Total derivatives designated as hedgir
instruments $ 48 $ 172
Derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments
Foreign currency forward/option contrac $ 4,974 Other current asset:  $ 30 Other current liabilitie  $ 25
Total derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments $ 30 $ 25
Total derivative instruments $ 78 $ 197
Gross Assets Liabilities
December 31, 2016 Notional Fair Fair
(Millions) Amount Location Value Amount Location Value Amount
Derivatives designated as
hedging instruments
Foreign currency forward/option contrac  $ 2,160 Other current asset: $ 107 Other current liabilitie  $ 9
Foreign currency forward/option contracts 1,45%ther assets 86 Other liabilities 3
Interest rate swap contracts 1,953 Other assets 25 Other current liabilitie 1
Total derivatives designated as hedgir
instruments $ 218 $ 13
Derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments
Foreign currency forward/option contracts $ 5,655 Other current assets $ 41  Other current liabilities $ 82
Total derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments $ 41 $ 82
Total derivative instruments $ 259 $ 95
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Credit Risk and Offsetting of Assets and Liab#itié Derivative Instruments:

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the esEnbnperformance by counterparties in interest sataps, currency
swaps, commodity price swaps, and forward and pmiamtracts. However, the Company’s risk is limitedhe fair
value of the instruments. The Company actively nowsiits exposure to credit risk through the useretiit approvals
and credit limits, and by selecting major interoatl banks and financial institutions as countdigsr3M enters into
master netting arrangements with counterpartieswplossible to mitigate credit risk in derivativartsactions. A master
netting arrangement may allow each counterpartetcsettle amounts owed between a 3M entity anddhbaterparty
as a result of multiple, separate derivative tratisas. As of December 31, 2017, 3M has Internati@waps and
Derivatives Association (ISDA) agreements with pplacable banks and financial institutions whichntzin netting
provisions. In addition to a master agreement @ihsupported by a primary counterparty’s parentrgotee, 3M also
has associated credit support agreements in plakel @ of its primary derivative counterparties athi among other
things, provide the circumstances under which eplagty is required to post eligible collateral @uhthe market value
of transactions covered by these agreements exspedgied thresholds or if a counterparty’s crediing has been
downgraded to a predetermined rating). The Compaeg not anticipate nonperformance by any of these
counterparties.

3M has elected to present the fair value of derreadissets and liabilities within the Company’s saidated balance
sheet on a gross basis even when derivative tréosa@re subject to master netting arrangementsray otherwise
qualify for net presentation. However, the follogitables provide information as if the Company bbsttted to offset
the asset and liability balances of derivativerinsients, netted in accordance with various critierie event of default
or termination as stipulated by the terms of ngtirrangements with each of the counterpartiese&on counterparty,
if netted, the Company would offset the asset @tillity balances of all derivatives at the endhad reporting period
based on the 3M entity that is a party to the tatiens. Derivatives not subject to master nettiggeements are not
eligible for net presentation. As of the applicathéges presented below, no cash collateral hadeeeived or pledged
related to these derivative instruments.

Offsetting of Financial Assets under Master NettingAgreements with Derivative Counterparties

Gross Amounts not Offset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet that are Subject

Gross Amount of to Master Netting Agreements
Derivative Assets Gross Amount of
Presented in the Eligible Offsetting
December 31, 2017 Consolidated Recognized Castllateral Net Amount of
(Millions) Balance Sheet Derivative Liabilities Received Derivative Assets
Derivatives subject to master netting
agreements $ 78 $ 27 $ — % 51
Derivatives not subject to master netting
agreements — —
Total $ 78 $ 51
December 31, 2016
(Millions)
Derivatives subject to master netting
agreements $ 259 $ 39 % — % 220
Derivatives not subject to master netting
agreements — —
Total $ 259 $ 220
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Offsetting of Financial Liabilities under Master Netting Agreements with Derivative Counterparties

Gross Amounts not Offset in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet that are Subject

Gross Amount of to Master Netting Agreements
Derivative Liabilities Gross Amount of
Presented in the Eligible Offsetting
December 31, 2017 Consolidated Recognized Castil@teral Net Amount of
(Millions) Balance Sheet Derivative Assets Pledd Derivative Liabilities
Derivatives subject to master netting
agreements $ 197 % 27 $ — % 170
Derivatives not subject to master netting
agreements — —
Total $ 197 $ 170
December 31, 2016
(Millions)
Derivatives subject to master netting
agreements $ 93 $ 39 % — % 54
Derivatives not subject to master netting
agreements 2 2
Total $ 95 $ 56

Foreign Currency Effects

3M estimates that year-on-year foreign currencysaation effects, including hedging impacts, desgdgre-tax
income by approximately $152 million in 2017 andm@ased pre-tax income by approximately $69 miliro2016.
These estimates include transaction gains anddpssguding derivative instruments designed taucedforeign
currency exchange rate risks.

NOTE 14. Fair Value Measurements

3M follows ASC 820Fair Value Measurements and Disclosyredth respect to assets and liabilities that aeasared
at fair value on a recurring basis and nonrecurpiagjs. Under the standard, fair value is defireetha exit price, or the
amount that would be received to sell an asseainf o transfer a liability in an orderly transactibetween market
participants as of the measurement date. The sthadizo establishes a hierarchy for inputs useddasuring fair value
that maximizes the use of observable inputs andnmies the use of unobservable inputs by requittirag the most
observable inputs be used when available. Observaplits are inputs market participants would nsealuing the
asset or liability developed based on market dataieed from sources independent of the Compangbkkrvable
inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s asgiomg about the factors market participants wowld im valuing the
asset or liability developed based upon the béstrmtion available in the circumstances. The h@rais broken down
into three levels. Level 1 inputs are quoted pricesdjusted) in active markets for identical essetliabilities. Level 2
inputs include quoted prices for similar assetkadnilities in active markets, quoted prices foemtical or similar assets
or liabilities in markets that are not active, anputs (other than quoted prices) that are obsésvfab the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3puts are unobservable inputs for the asset diitialCategorization
within the valuation hierarchy is based upon thedst level of input that is significant to the faalue measurement.

Assets and Liabilities that are Measured at Faifuoéaon a Recurring Basis:

For 3M, assets and liabilities that are measurddiavalue on a recurring basis primarily relaieat/ailable-for-sale
marketable securities and certain derivative imsamts. Derivatives include cash flow hedges, ister@e swaps and
net investment hedges. The information in the foilhg paragraphs and tables primarily addressesmsattlative to
these financial assets and liabilities. Separatbbre were no material fair value measurements regpect to
nonfinancial assets or liabilities that are recagdior disclosed at fair value in the Company’ariicial statements on a
recurring basis for 2017 and 2016.
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3M uses various valuation techniques, which ammgrily based upon the market and income approaehsrespect
to financial assets and liabilities. Following isi@scription of the valuation methodologies usadHe respective
financial assets and liabilities measured at faiue.

Available-for-sale marketable securities — excegtain U.S. municipal securities:

Marketable securities, except certain U.S. munldpaurities, are valued utilizing multiple sourcAsveighted average
price is used for these securities. Market pricesohtained for these securities from a varietyndistry standard data
providers, security master files from large finahénstitutions, and other third-party sources. Sehenultiple prices are
used as inputs into a distribution-curve-basedralyn to determine the daily fair value to be usgi. classifies U.S.
treasury securities as level 1, while all otherkatable securities (excluding certain U.S. municgggurities) are
classified as level 2. Marketable securities aseuised further in Note 10.

Available-for-sale marketable securities —certais.Ununicipal securities only:

3M holds municipal bonds with the City of Nevadasburi, which represent 3M’s only U.S. municipatgrities
holding as of December 31, 2017. Due to the natfiteis security, the valuation method utilizedilclude the
financial health of the City of Nevada, any receninicipal bond issuances by Nevada, and macroedenom
considerations related to the direction of interat#s and the health of the overall municipal bowadket, and as such
will be classified as a level 3 security.

Derivative instruments:

The Company’s derivative assets and liabilitieimithe scope of ASC 81Berivatives and Hedgingre required to
be recorded at fair value. The Company’s derivatibhat are recorded at fair value include foreigmency forward and
option contracts, commodity price swaps, interatt swaps, and net investment hedges where théngddgtrument is
recorded at fair value. Net investment hedgesubatforeign currency denominated debt to hedge 3ktsnvestment
are not impacted by the fair value measurementatanunder ASC 820, as the debt used as the hengitngment is
marked to a value with respect to changes in speign currency exchange rates and not with regpesther factors
that may impact fair value.

3M has determined that foreign currency forwargsnmodity price swaps, currency swaps, foreign cuayeptions,
interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps &itidnsidered level 2 measurements. 3M uses inghes than quoted
prices that are observable for the asset. Thesgsimpclude foreign currency exchange rates, \ilai, and interest
rates. Derivative positions are primarily valuethgsstandard calculations/models that use as lasiis readily
observable market parameters. Industry standaedptaviders are 3M’s primary source for forward apdt rate
information for both interest rates and currendgsawith resulting valuations periodically validdtthrough third-party
or counterparty quotes and a net present valuamstod cash flows model.
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The following tables provide information by levekfassets and liabilities that are measured av#dire on a recurring

basis.
Fair Value Measurements
Description Fair Value at Using Inputs Considered as
(Millions) December31, 201° Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Available-for-sale:
Marketable securities:
Corporate debt securities $ 14 — $ 14 $ —
Commercial paper 899 — 899 —
Certificates of deposit/time deposits 76 — 76 —
Asset-backed securities:
Automobile loan related 16 — 16 —
Credit card related 68 — 68 —
U.S. municipal securities 30 — — 30
Derivative instruments — assets:
Foreign currency forward/option contracts 57 — 57 —
Interest rate swap contracts 21 — 21 —
Liabilities:
Derivative instruments — liabilities:
Foreign currency forward/option contracts 190 — 190 —
Interest rate swap contracts 7 — 7 —
Fair Value Measurements
Description Fair Value at Using Inputs Considered as
(Millions) December31, 201i Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Available-for-sale:
Marketable securities:
Corporate debt securities $ 10 — $ 10 $ —
Commercial paper 14 — 14 —
Certificates of deposit/time deposits 197 — 197 —
Asset-backed securities:
Automobile loan related 31 — 31 —
Credit card related 18 — 18 —
Other 7 — 7 —
U.S. municipal securities 20 — — 20
Derivative instruments — assets:
Foreign currency forward/option contracts 234 — 234 —
Interest rate swap contracts 25 — 25 —
Liabilities:
Derivative instruments — liabilities:
Foreign currency forward/option contracts 94 — 94 —
Interest rate swap contracts 1 — 1 —
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The following table provides a reconciliation oétheginning and ending balances of items measutifedt aalue on a
recurring basis in the table above that used scgmif unobservable inputs (level 3).

Marketable securities — certain U.S. municipal seatties only
(Millions) 2017 2016 2015

Beginning balance $ 20 $ 12 $ 15
Total gains or losses:
Included in earnings — — —
Included in other comprehensive income — — —

Purchases and issuances 13 12 —
Sales and settlements 3) 4) 3)
Transfers in and/or out of level 3 — — —
Ending balance 30 20 12

Change in unrealized gains or losses for the péniddded in
earnings for securities held at the end of the nt@mpperiod — — —

In addition, the plan assets of 3M’s pension anstnetirement benefit plans are measured at fairevah a recurring
basis (at least annually). Refer to Note 12.

Assets and Liabilities that are Measured at Faifoéaon a Nonrecurring Basis:

Disclosures are required for certain assets abditias that are measured at fair value, but amgnized and disclosed
at fair value on a nonrecurring basis in periodsssguent to initial recognition. For 3M, such meaments of fair
value relate primarily to long-lived asset impaintge During 2017, the Company recognized approxma61 million
in long-lived asset impairments within its Electiesand Energy and Industrial business segmentis,tiaé complete
carrying amount of such assets written off andudet in operating income results. There were n@nationg-lived
asset impairments for 2016 and 2015.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

The Company'’s financial instruments include cash @ash equivalents, marketable securities, accoaotsvable,
certain investments, accounts payable, borrowiaigg,derivative contracts. The fair values of caglivalents,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, and shantkierrowings and current portion of long-term dapproximated
carrying values because of the short-term natutbesfe instruments. Available-for-sale marketablausties, in
addition to certain derivative instruments, areorded at fair values as indicated in the precediaglosures. To
estimate fair values (classified as level 2) fedding-term debt, the Company utilized third-paytyptes, which are
derived all or in part from model prices, extersalirces, market prices, or the third-party’s irdérecords. Information
with respect to the carrying amounts and estimiigd/alues of these financial instruments follow:

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(Millions) Value Value Value Value
Long-term debt, excluding current portion $ 12,096 $ 12535 $ 10,678 $ 11,168

The fair values reflected above consider the terhtke related debt absent the impacts of derie&tiedging activity.
The carrying amount of long-term debt referencemvalis impacted by certain fixed-to-floating intereate swaps that
are designated as fair value hedges and by thgrdeiin of fixed rate Eurobond securities issuetheyCompany as
hedging instruments of the Company’s net investrireits European subsidiaries. Many of 3M’s fixeder bonds were
trading at a premium at December 31, 2017 and 20&6o the low interest rates and tightening of 8ktedit spreads.
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NOTE 15. Commitments and Contingencies
Capital and Operating Leases:

Rental expense under operating leases was $348miill 2017, $318 million in 2016 and $316 million2015. It is
3M'’s practice to secure renewal rights for leasigsx,eby giving 3M the right, but not the obligatiéo maintain a
presence in a leased facility. 3M has two primapital leases. The first, which became effectivépmil 2003,
involves a building in the United Kingdom (witheake term of 22 years). During the second quaft20@3, 3M
recorded a capital lease asset and obligationmoapmately 33.5 million British Pound (GBP), ormpximately $27
million at December 31, 2017, exchange rates. f®sécond, 3M sold and leased-back certain receotigtructed
machinery and equipment in return for municipal dewith the City of Nevada, Missouri. 3M recordedapital lease
asset and obligation of approximately $13 milliar2D17, $12 million in 2016, and $15 million in karyears, with a
lease term of 15 years.

Minimum lease payments under capital and operdgiages with non-cancelable terms in excess of eaegs of
December 31, 2017, were as follows:

Operating
(Millions) Capital Leases Leases
2018 $ 12 $ 258
2019 10 212
2020 9 160
2021 6 106
2022 5 88
After 2022 34 274
Total $ 76 $ 1,098
Less: Amounts representing interest 3
Present value of future minimum lease payments 73
Less: Current obligations under capital leases 13
Long-term obligations under capital leases $ 60

Unconditional Purchase Obligations:

Unconditional purchase obligations are definedraagreement to purchase goods or services thafasceable and
legally binding (non-cancelable, or cancelable anlgertain circumstances). The Company estimédstal
unconditional purchase obligation commitment (fayge contracts with terms in excess of one yeasfj Becember 31,
2017, at $800 million. Payments by year are estéthas follows: 2018 ($271 million), 2019 ($211 ioifl), 2020 ($150
million), 2021 ($99 million), 2022 ($56 million) drafter 2022 ($13 million). Many of these commitrieerelate to take
or pay contracts, in which 3M guarantees paymernture availability of products or services thatsold to
customers. The Company expects to receive consiolei@roducts or services) for these unconditignathase
obligations. The purchase obligation amounts da@otesent the entire anticipated purchases ifuthee, but represent
only those items for which the Company is contraltyuobligated. The majority of 3M’s products arehdces are
purchased as needed, with no unconditional commitni@r this reason, these amounts will not proadeéndication
of the Company’s expected future cash outflowsteel#o purchases.

Warranties/Guarantees:

3M’s accrued product warranty liabilities, recordedthe Consolidated Balance Sheet as part of muared long-term
liabilities, are estimated at approximately $50lionl at December 31, 2017, and $47 million at Delsen81, 2016. 3M
does not consider this amount to be material. &ivevlue of 3M guarantees of loans with third jg&rand other
guarantee arrangements are not material.

Related Party Activity:

3M does not have any material related party agtivit
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Legal Proceedings:

The Company and some of its subsidiaries are imebin numerous claims and lawsuits, principallyhia United
States, and regulatory proceedings worldwide. Thredede various products liability (involving prodts that the
Company now or formerly manufactured and soldgliettual property, and commercial claims and latgsincluding
those brought under the antitrust laws, and enwmemtal proceedings. Unless otherwise stated, tmep@ay is
vigorously defending all such litigation.

Process for Disclosure and Recording of Liabili@sl Insurance Receivables Related to Legal Prowgsed

Many lawsuits and claims involve highly complexuss relating to causation, scientific evidence, whdther there are
actual damages and are otherwise subject to stiastamcertainties. Assessments of lawsuits annsl@an involve a
series of complex judgments about future eventscandely heavily on estimates and assumptions.Cidrepany
complies with the requirements of ASC 48ntingenciesand related guidance, and records liabilitieddgal
proceedings in those instances where it can rebBoastimate the amount of the loss and whereliigli$ probable.
Where the reasonable estimate of the probabldéda@ssange, the Company records the most likelynase of the loss,
or the low end of the range if there is no one bstimate. The Company either discloses the anwfumpossible loss
or range of loss in excess of established acciuetdimable, or states that such an estimate ¢drenmade. The
Company discloses significant legal proceedings evigere liability is not probable or the amounttaé liability is not
estimable, or both, if the Company believes thera ieast a reasonable possibility that a lossheapncurred.

The Company estimates insurance receivables bawsad analysis of its numerous policies, includingjit exclusions,
pertinent case law interpreting comparable poljgtssexperience with similar claims, and assessmethe nature of
the claim and remaining coverage, and records auahit has concluded is likely to be recovered. those insured
matters where the Company has taken an accruaGdh®any also records receivables for the amouimsofance that
it expects to recover under the Company’s insurgnegram. For those insured matters where the Coynpas not
taken an accrual because the liability is not pbtdar the amount of the liability is not estimalde both, but where the
Company has incurred an expense in defending,itbelfCompany records receivables for the amouimsoffance that
it expects to recover for the expense incurred.

Because litigation is subject to inherent uncetimsn and unfavorable rulings or developments cougllr, there can be
no certainty that the Company may not ultimatetyuincharges in excess of presently recorded ltasliA future
adverse ruling, settlement, or unfavorable develmroould result in future charges that could hewveaterial adverse
effect on the Company’s results of operations shdows in the period in which they are recordéithough the
Company cannot estimate its exposure to all legaigedings, it currently believes, except as desdrbelow, that such
future charges, if any, would not have a materdakase effect on the consolidated financial positobthe

Company. Based on experience and development€dimpany reexamines its estimates of probable itiesiland
associated expenses and receivables each peribdjether it is able to estimate a liability prawsty determined to be
not estimable and/or not probable. Where appragrthe Company makes additions to or adjustmerits ektimated
liabilities. As a result, the current estimateshaf potential impact on the Company’s consolidéiteghcial position,
results of operations and cash flows for the Ipgateedings and claims pending against the Compaud change in
the future.

The following sections first describe the significéegal proceedings in which the Company is inedlvand then
describe the liabilities and associated insuraaceivables the Company has accrued relating sigtsficant legal
proceedings.

Respirator Mask/Asbestos Litigation

As of December 31, 2017, the Company is a nameshdaht, with multiple co-defendants, in numerousslats in
various courts that purport to represent approxetge,230 individual claimants, compared to appmadely 2,660
individual claimants with actions pending at DecemB1, 2016.
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The vast majority of the lawsuits and claims resdlty and currently pending against the Compamgallse of some
of the Company’s mask and respirator products ae#t damages from the Company and other defendaradidged
personal injury from workplace exposures to aslsesitica, coal mine dust or other occupationatslémund in
products manufactured by other defendants or giypérahe workplace. A minority of the lawsuits éelaims resolved
by and currently pending against the Company géigerlege personal injury from occupational exp@sto asbestos
from products previously manufactured by the Comparhich are often unspecified, as well as produsiufactured
by other defendants, or occasionally at Compangnses.

The Company’s current volume of new and pendingenais substantially lower than it experiencethatpeak of
filings in 2003. The Company expects that filingctdims by unimpaired claimants in the future waintinue to be at
much lower levels than in the past. Accordinglg thumber of claims alleging more serious injuriesluding
mesothelioma and other malignancies, will repreaageater percentage of total claims than in te. The Company
has prevailed in all twelve cases taken to trraluding ten of the eleven cases tried to verdiatk trials occurred in
1999, 2000, 2001, 2003, 2004, 2007, 2015, anddkesctried in 2016 and 2017—-described below), arappellate
reversal in 2005 of the 2001 jury verdict adversthe Company. The remaining case, tried in 20@8, dismissed by
the court at the close of plaintiff's evidence, dd®on the court’s legal finding that the plaintifid not presented
sufficient evidence to support a jury verdict. lngust 2016, 3M received a unanimous verdict ifesr from a jury in
state court in Kentucky, in 3M'’s first respirataiat involving coal mine dust. The estate of thaipliff alleged that the
3M 8710 respirator is defective and caused hishdeatause it did not protect him from harmful aoée dust. The
jury rejected plaintiff's claim and returned a vietdinding no liability against 3M. The verdict fsal as the plaintiff
did not file an appeal. In September 2017, 3M rembia unanimous verdict in its favor from a jurystate court in
Kentucky in 3M’s second respirator trial involviegal mine dust. The jury ultimately determined tttet plaintiff's
claims were barred by the statute of limitatiomsNbvember 2017, the court denied the plaintiffation for a new
trial. The plaintiff did not file an appeal, thegebnding the litigation.

The Company has demonstrated in these past tdaépdings that its respiratory protection prodactseffective as
claimed when used in the intended manner and imtbeaded circumstances. Consequently the Compelves that
claimants are unable to establish that their médimaditions, even if significant, are attributalhbethe Company’s
respiratory protection products. Nonetheless the@amy’s litigation experience indicates that clamhpersons with
malignant conditions are costlier to resolve thandlaims of unimpaired persons, and it therefeteebes the average
cost of resolving pending and future claims on agb@m basis will continue to be higher than ipexienced in prior
periods when the vast majority of claims were d@esepy medically unimpaired claimants.

As previously reported, the State of West Virgitlapugh its Attorney General, filed a complaini@03 against the
Company and two other manufacturers of respirgbooyection products in the Circuit Court of Lincddounty, West
Virginia, and amended its complaint in 2005. Theeaded complaint seeks substantial, but unspecifitipensatory
damages primarily for reimbursement of the codegelly incurred by the State for worker’s compéinsaand
healthcare benefits provided to all workers witbigzational pneumoconiosis and unspecified pundanmages. The
case was inactive from the fourth quarter of 200 late 2013, other than a case management camderin

March 2011. In November 2013, the State filed aiomoto bifurcate the lawsuit into separate liaiiind damages
proceedings. At the hearing on the motion, the tcdeclined to bifurcate the lawsuit. No liabilitpdibeen recorded for
this matter because the Company believes thatitialsi not probable and estimable at this timeatidition, the
Company is not able to estimate a possible losarage of loss given the lack of any meaningful avgcy responses by
the State of West Virginia, the otherwise minimeti\aty in this case and the fact that the complaisserts claims
against two other manufacturers where a defendahéiee of liability may turn on the law of jointcheeveral liability
and by the amount of fault, if any, a jury mighbahte to each defendant if the case is ultimatedg.

Respirator Mask/Asbestos Liabilities and InsuraReeeivables

The Company regularly conducts a comprehensive teggew of its respirator mask/asbestos liabisiti#he Company
reviews recent and historical claims data, inclgdiithout limitation, (i) the number of pending ictes filed against the
Company, (ii) the nature and mix of those claines. (ithe proportion of claims asserting usage @Gbmpany’s mask
or respirator products and alleging exposure th @hasbestos, silica, coal or other occupationats] and claims
pleading use of ashestos-containing products allggeanufactured by the Company), (iii) the costsl¢fend and
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resolve pending claims, and (iv) trends in filiages and in costs to defend and resolve claimbetioely, the “Claims
Data”). As part of its comprehensive legal revitdhe Company regularly provides the Claims Datattara party with
expertise in determining the impact of Claims Dat&uture filing trends and costs. The third pasgists the Company
in estimating the costs to defend and resolve penaind future claims. The Company uses these dsn@mdevelop its
best estimate of probable liability.

Developments may occur that could affect the Comisagstimate of its liabilities. These developmeantdude, but are
not limited to, significant changes in (i) the kassumptions underlying the Company’s accrual, dioly, the number
of future claims, the nature and mix of those chithe average cost of defending and resolvingnslaand in
maintaining trial readiness (ii) trial and appeadlatutcomes, (iii) the law and procedure applicabliese claims, and
(iv) the financial viability of other co-defendardad insurers.

As a result of the Company’s review of its resgirahask/asbestos liabilities and as a result o€t® of resolving
claims of persons who claim more serious injuriesluding mesothelioma and other malignanciesGbmpany
increased its accruals in 2017 for respirator nzesdidstos liabilities by $71 million. In 2017, ther@pany made
payments for legal fees and settlements of $58amitelated to the respirator mask/asbestos lidbgatAs of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company had anador respirator mask/asbestos liabilities (esloig Aearo
accruals) of $608 million and $595 million, respeely. This accrual represents the Company’s betstnate of
probable loss and reflects an estimation perioduiarre claims that may be filed against the Conypaproaching the
year 2050. The Company cannot estimate the amowngper end of the range of amounts by which thgility may
exceed the accrual the Company has establisheddmoéthe (i) inherent difficulty in projectinggmumber of claims
that have not yet been asserted or the time périadhich future claims may be asserted, (ii) thenptaints nearly
always assert claims against multiple defendantrevthe damages alleged are typically not attribtdendividual
defendants so that a defendant’s share of liabilidy turn on the law of joint and several liabilityhich can vary by
state, (iii) the multiple factors described abdvatthe Company considers in estimating its litibdi and (iv) the
several possible developments described aboventimaioccur that could affect the Company’s estinofi@bilities.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company’s receivatiiénsurance recoveries related to the respiratmkiasbestos
litigation was $4 million. The Company is seekirgyerage under the policies of certain insolvent @thér insurers.
Once those claims for coverage are resolved, tmep@ay will have collected substantially all of igsnaining insurance
coverage for respirator mask/asbestos claims.

Respirator Mask/Asbestos Litigation — Aearo Tecba@s

On April 1, 2008, a subsidiary of the Company pasgd the stock of Aearo Holding Corp., the paréitearo
Technologies (“Aearo”). Aearo manufactured and s@ldous products, including personal protectionigapent, such
as eye, ear, head, face, fall and certain respyratotection products.

As of December 31, 2017, Aearo and/or other congsathiat previously owned and operated Aearo’s ragpibusiness
(American Optical Corporation, Warner-Lambert LLAD Corp. and Cabot Corporation (“Cabot”)) are named
defendants, with multiple co-defendants, includimg Company, in numerous lawsuits in various cadartghich
plaintiffs allege use of mask and respirator preasland seek damages from Aearo and other defenidarztfeged
personal injury from workplace exposures to aslsestitica-related, or other occupational dusts tbimproducts
manufactured by other defendants or generallyenatbrkplace.

As a result of the review of Aearo’s respirator kiasbestos liabilities, the Company increased Asarccruals in 2017
for respirator mask/asbestos liabilities by $13imil As of December 31, 2017, the Company, throtghearo
subsidiary, had accruals of $30 million for prodiahilities and defense costs related to curredtfature Aearo-
related asbestos and silica-related claims. Thiruatrepresents the Company’s best estimate ofofsprobable loss
and reflects an estimation period for future clatheg may be filed against the Aearo approachiegyéar 2050.
Responsibility for legal costs, as well as forlsetents and judgments, is currently shared in #ornmal arrangement
among Aearo, Cabot, American Optical Corporatioth asubsidiary of Warner Lambert and their respedtisurers
(the “Payor Group”). Liability is allocated amorttetparties based on the number of years each cgnspéh
respiratory products under the “AO Safety” brand/anowned the AO Safety Division of American Ogtic
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Corporation and the alleged years of exposureeofritiividual plaintiff. Aearo’s share of the corgamt liability is
further limited by an agreement entered into betw&earo and Cabot on July 11, 1995. This agreem@nides that,
so long as Aearo pays to Cabot a quarterly feel®0$00, Cabot will retain responsibility and liglifor, and
indemnify Aearo against, any product liability cres involving exposure to asbestos, silica, oraificoducts for
respirators sold prior to July 11, 1995. Becaustnefifficulty in determining how long a particul@spirator remains
in the stream of commerce after being sold, Aeacb@abot have applied the agreement to claimagrisit of the
alleged use of respirators involving exposure tmea®s, silica or silica products prior to Janubrg997. With these
arrangements in place, Aearo’s potential liabiktyimited to exposures alleged to have arisen frloenuse of respirators
involving exposure to asbestos, silica, or silicadoicts on or after January 1, 1997. To date, Abasoelected to pay
the quarterly fee. Aearo could potentially be exgabs additional claims for some part of the prig~1d, 1995 period
covered by its agreement with Cabot if Aearo elexiiscontinue its participation in this arrangamer if Cabot is no
longer able to meet its obligations in these matter

In March 2012, Cabot CSC Corporation and Cabot @aton filed a lawsuit against Aearo in the Supe@ourt of
Suffolk County, Massachusetts seeking declaratligfras to the scope of Cabot's indemnity obligasi under the

July 11, 1995 agreement, including whether Cabstratained liability for coal workers’ pneumocorigslaims, and
seeking damages for breach of contract. In 20Bicthurt granted Aearo’s motion for summary judgnntwo claims,
but declined to rule on two issues: the speciéibility for certain known coal mine dust lawsu#sid Cabot'’s claim for
allocation of liability between injuries allegedtwused by exposure to coal mine dust and injutiegeadly caused by
exposure to silica dust. Following additional digexy, the parties filed new motions for summarygonnt. In
February 2016, the court ruled in favor of Aearalese two remaining issues, and ordered that Cabdtnot Aearo, is
solely responsible for all liability for the coaime dust lawsuits under the 1995 agreement. In R0y, the
Massachusetts Court of Appeals affirmed the tairtorder in favor of Aearo.

Developments may occur that could affect the esérofAearo’s liabilities. These developments in@ubut are not
limited to: (i) significant changes in the numbéifuture claims, (ii) significant changes in theeaage cost of resolving
claims, (iii) significant changes in the legal ®st defending these claims, (iv) significant chesxin the mix and
nature of claims received, (v) trial and appellatécomes, (vi) significant changes in the law aretpdure applicable
to these claims, (vii) significant changes in tiability allocation among the co-defendants, (Miig financial viability
of members of the Payor Group including exhaustioavailable insurance coverage limits, and/or éxjetermination
that the interpretation of the contractual obligas on which Aearo has estimated its share oflifplis inaccurate. The
Company cannot determine the impact of these patetgvelopments on its current estimate of Aeasbare of
liability for these existing and future claimsalfy of the developments described above were torpttee actual
amount of these liabilities for existing and futataims could be significantly larger than the amoaccrued.

Because of the inherent difficulty in projecting thumber of claims that have not yet been assedttedomplexity of
allocating responsibility for future claims amomg tPayor Group, and the several possible develojgntigat may occur
that could affect the estimate of Aearo’s liab#l#tj the Company cannot estimate the amount or @rg@ounts by
which Aearo’s liability may exceed the accrual @@mpany has established.

Environmental Matters and Litigation

The Company’s operations are subject to environatdgavs and regulations including those pertainingir emissions,
wastewater discharges, toxic substances, and titing and disposal of solid and hazardous wastémeeable by
national, state, and local authorities around thddyand private parties in the United States a@mad. These laws and
regulations provide, under certain circumstancdmsas for the remediation of contamination, fatoeation of or
compensation for damages to natural resourcesoamersonal injury and property damage claims. Thenpany has
incurred, and will continue to incur, costs andidgxpenditures in complying with these laws aaglulations,
defending personal injury and property damage daand modifying its business operations in ligtit

environmental responsibilities. In its effort tdisty its environmental responsibilities and compliyh environmental
laws and regulations, the Company has establigimetiperiodically updates, policies relating to eowimental

standards of performance for its operations wordigwi
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Under certain environmental laws, including thetddiStates Comprehensive Environmental Responsep€usation
and Liability Act of 1980 and similar state lawsetCompany may be jointly and severally liablejdgly with other
companies, for the costs of remediation of envirental contamination at current or former facilitgesd at off-site
locations. The Company has identified numeroustioos, most of which are in the United States, kictvit may have
some liability. Please refer to the section erditiEnvironmental Liabilities and Insurance Receivablédsat follows for
information on the amount of the accrual.

Environmental Matters

As previously reported, the Company has been vatilptcooperating with ongoing reviews by locahtst, federal
(primarily the U.S. Environmental Protection Agef&PA)), and international agencies of possibleremmental and
health effects of various perfluorinated compouiaiduding perfluorooctanyl compounds such as perfhioctanoate
(“PFOA"), perfluorooctane sulfonate (“PFOS”), omsiar compounds (“PFCs”). As a result of its phasg-decision in
May 2000, the Company no longer manufactures padlctanyl compounds. The company ceased manuifagtand
using the vast majority of these compounds witlipraximately two years of the phase-out announcénaad ceased
all manufacturing and the last significant usehi$ themistry by the end of 2008. Through its ongdife cycle
management and its raw material composition idieatibn processes associated with the Companyisigsicovering
the use of all persistent and bio-accumulative rniats the Company continues to control or eliménéite presence of
certain PFCs in purchased materials or as bypredocome of 3M’s fluorochemical manufacturing Eeses,
products, and waste streams.

Regulatory activities concerning PFOA and/or PFO&iaue in the United States, Europe and elsewlage pefore
certain international bodies. These activitiesudel gathering of exposure and use information,aggdessment, and
consideration of regulatory approaches. As theldesa of studies of both PFOA and PFOS has expatide&#PA has
developed human health effects documents summgitiaagnavailable data from these studies. In Fegr2at4, the
EPA initiated external peer review of its draft ramhealth effects documents for PFOA and PFOS péke review
panel met in August 2014. In May 2016, the EPA amged lifetime health advisory levels for PFOA &S at 70
parts per trillion (ppt) (superseding the provisiblevels established by the EPA in 2009 of 400fppPFOA and 200
ppt for PFOS). Where PFOA and PFOS are found tegeEPA recommends that the concentrations be addether,
and the lifetime health advisory for PFOA and PR©@8ibined is also 70 ppt. Lifetime health advisgrieile not
enforceable, serve as guidance and are benchnmaréletermining if concentrations of chemicals ip weater from
public utilities are safe for public consumption.dn effort to collect exposure information under Safe Drinking
Water Act, the EPA published on May 2, 2012 adfstinregulated substances, including six PFCs,iredjtio be
monitored during the period 2013-2015 by publicevatystem suppliers to determine the extent of thaiurrence.
Through January 2017, the EPA reported resultd 820 public water supplies nationwide. Based er2il6 lifetime
health advisory, 13 public water supplies exceedekiel for PFOA and 46 exceed the level for PF@®lianged from
the July 2016 EPA summary). A technical advisosyéxl by EPA in September 2016 on laboratory arsabfsilrinking
water samples stated that 65 public water supphelsexceeded the combined level for PFOA and PHRG&se results
are based on one or more samples collected durengeriod 2012-2015 and do not necessarily refi@eent conditions
of these public water supplies. EPA reporting dussdentify the sources of the PFOA and PFOS énptiiblic water
supplies.

The Company is continuing to make progress in @gskwunder the supervision of state regulatorgddress its historic
disposal of PFC-containing waste associated withufeeturing operations at the Decatur, Alabamataget Grove,
Minnesota, and Cordova, lllinois plants. As prewigueported, the Company entered into a voluntanyedial action
agreement with the Alabama Department of Envirortaldvianagement (ADEM) to address the presence QSR the
soil at the Company’s manufacturing facility in @éar, Alabama. Pursuant to a permit issued by ADEM,
approximately twenty years, the Company incorparétewastewater treatment plant sludge contaiRiRGs in fields
at its Decatur facility. After a review of the aladile options to address the presence of PFC®irdi, ADEM agreed
that the preferred remediation option is to useudtilayer cap over the former sludge incorporatioeas on the
manufacturing site with subsequent groundwater aign controls and treatment. Implementation of ghan continues
and is expected to be completed in 2018.
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The Company continues to work with the Minnesotlufion Control Agency (MPCA) pursuant to the terofshe
previously disclosed May 2007 Settlement Agreenagit Consent Order to address the presence ofrc@fs in the
soil and groundwater at former disposal sites irshifegton County, Minnesota (Oakdale and Woodbung) a& the
Company’s manufacturing facility at Cottage GroMénnesota. Under this agreement, the Company’<ipah
obligations include (i) evaluating releases of @@rPFCs from these sites and proposing respotieasic(ii) providing
treatment or alternative drinking water upon idginig any level exceeding a Health Based Value (\WBor Health
Risk Limit (“HRL") (i.e., the amount of a chemici drinking water determined by the Minnesota Dépant of Health
(MDH) to be safe for human consumption over ailifief) for certain PFCs for which a HBV and/or HRLi#g as a
result of contamination from these sites; (iii) egiating identified sources of other PFCs at thsitss that are not
controlled by actions to remediate PFOA and PFQ®@8;(&) sharing information with the MPCA about tzén
perfluorinated compounds. During 2008, the MPCAiéssformal decisions adopting remedial optiongtierformer
disposal sites in Washington County, Minnesota @@ékand Woodbury). In August 2009, the MPCA issadadrmal
decision adopting remedial options for the Compai@ottage Grove manufacturing facility. During #pging and
summer of 2010, 3M began implementing the agreet upmedial options at the Cottage Grove and Wodsites.
3M commenced the remedial option at the Oakdadeisitate 2010. At each location the remedial opgtivere
recommended by the Company and approved by the MIR€ediation work has been completed at the Oakated
Woodbury sites, and they are in an operational taaance mode. Remediation will continue at thed@@tGrove site
during 2018.

In August 2014, the lllinois EPA approved a requmsthe Company to establish a groundwater manageroae at its
manufacturing facility in Cordova, lllinois, whighcludes ongoing pumping of impacted site grounéwagroundwater
monitoring and routine reporting of results.

In May 2017, the MDH issued new HBVs for PFOS aR®R. The new HBVs are 35 ppt for PFOA and 27 ppt fo
PFOS. In connection with its announcement, the Mibdded that “Drinking water with PFOA and PFOS, reakthe
levels above the updated values, does not reprardéntmediate health risk. These values are degigmeeduce long-
term health risks across the population and aredoas multiple safety factors to protect the masherable citizens,
which makes them overprotective for most of thédex#s in our state.” In December 2017, the MDHiégsa hew HBV
for perfluorobutane sulfonate (PFBS) of 2 ppb.

The Company cannot predict what additional regmeaations arising from the foregoing proceedingd activities, if
any, may be taken regarding such compounds orathgegcjuences of any such actions.

Alabama Environmental Litigation

As previously reported, a former employee filedugoorted class action lawsuit in 2002 in the Cir€ourt of Morgan
County, Alabama (the “St. John case”), seekingatedtdamages and alleging that the plaintiffs sefféear, increased
risk, subclinical injuries, and property damagenfrexposure to certain perfluorochemicals at or tirmaCompany’s
Decatur, Alabama, manufacturing facility. The cdaor2005 granted the Company’s motion to dismigsrtamed
plaintiff's personal injury-related claims on thadis that such claims are barred by the exclusprityisions of the
state’'s Workers Compensation Act. The plaintifistinsel filed an amended complaint in November 200fjng the
case to property damage claims on behalf of a ptegalass of residents and property owners irvitiaity of the
Decatur plant. In June 2015, the plaintiffs filedaanended complaint adding additional defendantsyding BFI
Waste Management Systems of Alabama, LLC; BFI Wislsteagement of North America, LLC; the City of Daga
Alabama; Morgan County, Alabama; Municipal Utilgi@oard of Decatur; and Morgan County, Alabamaladiecatur
Utilities.

In 2005, the judge -- in a second purported clatsmalawsduit filed by three residents of Morganu@ty, Alabama,
seeking unstated compensatory and punitive damagelsing alleged damage to their property from gsions of
certain perfluorochemical compounds from the CorgfsaDecatur, Alabama, manufacturing facility thatrherly
manufactured those compounds (the “Chandler casgtanted the Company’s motion to abate the cféegtively
putting the case on hold pending the resolutiodads certification issues in the St. John casepethe stay,
plaintiffs filed an amended complaint seeking daesafpr alleged personal injuries and property dantagbehalf of
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the named plaintiffs and the members of a purpartask. No further action in the case is expectdelss and until the
stay is lifted.

In February 2009, a resident of Franklin Countyal®ma, filed a purported class action lawsuit enGlircuit Court of
Franklin County (the “Stover case”) seeking compémy damages and injunctive relief based on tipdigiion by the
Decatur utility’s wastewater treatment plant of teagter treatment sludge to farmland and grasslanitie state that
allegedly contain PFOA, PFOS and other perfluoratgbals. The named plaintiff seeks to represenaascof all
persons within the State of Alabama who have had&RFPPFOS, and other perfluorochemicals releasetkposited on
their property. In March 2010, the Alabama Supr&oert ordered the case transferred from Franklinr®pto
Morgan County. In May 2010, consistent with its dilamg of the other matters, the Morgan County Gir@ourt abated
this case, putting it on hold pending the resolutibthe class certification issues in the St. Jodse.

In October 2015, West Morgan-East Lawrence Wat&esver Authority (Water Authority) filed an individu
complaint against 3M Company, Dyneon, L.L.C, anikidbeAmerica, Inc., in the U.S. District Court ftine Northern
District of Alabama. The complaint also includepressentative plaintiffs who brought the complaintoehalf of
themselves, and a class of all owners and posseskproperty who use water provided by the WatethArity and five
local water works to which the Water Authority slipp water (collectively, the “Water Utilities”).lile complaint seeks
compensatory and punitive damages and injunctivef lsased on allegations that the defendants’ ét&ls) including
PFOA and PFOS from their manufacturing process&eratur, have contaminated the water in the Tesg@eRiver at
the water intake, and that the chemicals cannotb®ved by the water treatment processes utiligatido Water
Authority. In September 2016, the court granted SMbtion to dismiss plaintiffs’ trespass claimshaptrejudice,
negligence claims for personal injuries, and pevatisance claims, and denied the motion to disthésglaintiffs’
negligence claims for property damage, public mdésaabatement of nuisance, battery and wantonness.

In June 2016, the Tennessee Riverkeeper, Inc. f&eper), a non-profit corporation, filed a lawsnoithe U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of Alabama agaiAM; BFI Waste Systems of Alabama; the City of Dacaflabama;
and the Municipal Utilities Board of Decatur, Morg@ounty, Alabama. The complaint alleges that #fermtdants
violated the Resource Conservation and RecoveryrAabnnection with the disposal of certain PFGstlgh their
ownership and operation of their respective sité& complaint further alleges such practices maggmt an imminent
and substantial endangerment to health and/om¥ieomment and that Riverkeeper has suffered aticcamtinue to
suffer irreparable harm caused by defendants’raila abate the endangerment unless the courtsgitatequested
relief, including declaratory and injunctive relief

In August 2016, a group of over 200 plaintiffs dila class action against West Morgan-East Lawr@vaer and Sewer
Authority (Water Authority), 3M, Dyneon, Daikin, BFand the City of Decatur in state court in LawgerCounty,
Alabama. Plaintiffs are residents of Lawrence, Margnd other counties who are or have been custorhéne Water
Authority. They contend defendants have releasdgsRRat contaminate the Tennessee River and,nnttugir drinking
water, causing damage to their health and progettieJanuary 2017, the court in the St. John diseyssed above,
stayed this litigation pending resolution of the Xthn case.

In September 2016, the Water Works and Sewer Bafatte City of Gadsden, Alabama filed a lawsuithe Circuit
Court of Etowah County Alabama against 3M and vegicarpet manufacturers. The complaint allegesRRérs from
the defendants’ facilities contaminated the CoosaRas its raw water source for drinking water aedks unstated
damages for the installation and operation ofteafibn system, expenses to monitor PFC levels|a@stdrofits and
sales.

In January 2017, several hundred plaintiffs sued i®vsubsidiary Dyneon, and Daikin America in Lawte and
Morgan Counties, Alabama. The plaintiffs are owradrproperty, residents, and holders of propertgrigsts who
receive their water from the West Morgan-East LanweeWater and Sewer Authority (Water Authority) eytassert
common law claims for negligence, nuisance, trespsaantonness, and battery, and they seek injunogiief and
punitive damages. The plaintiffs contend that tekeddants own and operate manufacturing and disfaaskties in
Decatur that have released and continue to relBEA, PFOS and related chemicals into the grouretveatd surface
water of their sites, resulting in discharge ifte Tennessee River. The plaintiffs also contenttlieadefendants have
discharged into Bakers Creek and the Decatur lg8liDry Creek Wastewater Treatment Plant, whiclyin,
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discharges wastewater containing these chemidalshie Tennessee River. The plaintiffs contend, tat result the
alleged discharges, the water supplied by the Waai#rority to the plaintiffs was, and is, contantigg with PFOA,
PFOS, and related chemicals at a level dangerdusn@ns.

In May 2017, the Water Works and Sewer Board offtben of Centre, Alabama filed a lawsuit in thed@it Court of
Cherokee County Alabama against 3M, DuPont, andwsicarpet and textile manufacturers. The comphdiages that
PFCs from the defendants’ facilities contaminatezitbwn’s raw water source for drinking water aadks unstated
damages for the installation and operation ofteafibn system, expenses to monitor PFC levels pladits and sales,
and injunctive relief.

In November 2017, a purported class action wad filgainst 3M, its subsidiary Dyneon, Daikin Ameriaad the West
Morgan-East Lawrence Water and Sewer Authority @Vauthority) in the U.S. District Court for the Kbern District
of Alabama. The plaintiffs are residents of Lawreand Morgan County, Alabama who receive their iniaten the
Water Authority. They assert various common lavwnaetg including negligence, nuisance, wantonness fraudulent
concealment, and they seek injunctive relief, atgs’ fees, compensatory and punitive damageér alleged
personal injuries. The plaintiffs contend that deéendants own and operate manufacturing and disfauglities in
Decatur that have released and continue to relPBEA, PFOS and related chemicals into the grourelveatd surface
water of their sites, resulting in discharge ifte Tennessee River. The plaintiffs also contenttlieadefendants have
discharged into the Decatur Utilities Dry Creek Wéasmter Treatment Plant, which, in turn, dischangastewater
containing these chemicals into the Tennessee Riber plaintiffs contend that, as a result thegatédischarges, the
water supplied by the Water Authority to the pléfatwas, and is, contaminated with PFOA, PFOS, raxtated
chemicals at a level dangerous to humans.

Minnesota Environmental Litigation

In December 2010, the State of Minnesota, by iterAey General Lori Swanson, acting in its capaagyrustee of the
natural resources of the State of Minnesota, fildalwsuit in Hennepin County District Court agaidkt to recover
damages (including unspecified assessment costseandnable attorney’s fees) for alleged injurydestruction of, and
loss of use of certain of the State’s natural resmsiunder the Minnesota Environmental Responsé. iabdity Act
(MERLA) and the Minnesota Water Pollution ContratAMWPCA), as well as statutory nuisance and comfaw/
claims of trespass, nuisance, and negligence e#ipect to the presence of PFCs in the groundvatdgce water, fish
or other aquatic life, and sediments (the “NRD LaiV$. The State also seeks declarations under MEkRiat 3M is
responsible for all damages the State may sufferdarfuture for injuries to natural resources fraieases of PFCs into
the environment, and under MWPCA that 3M is resfm@g$or compensation for future loss or destruetid fish,
aquatic life, and other damages. In September 2b&7State’s damages expert submitted a reporttmends the State
incurred $5 billion in damages. In November 201, $tate of Minnesota filed a motion for leaventead its

complaint to seek punitive damages from 3M, andfiBd a motion for summary judgment contending, amother
things, that the State’s claims are barred by ffdi@able statute of limitations. A hearing on teasotions was held in
December 2017. In December 2017, the court urgegalities to attempt to resolve the litigation befoial, and in
January 2018, the court appointed a mediator tititéde that process. If the parties are not ableessolve the matter, the
trial is scheduled to begin in February 2018. Ameaide ruling or judgment, settlement, or unfavaeaddvelopment in
the NRD Lawsuit could result in future charges ttatld have a material adverse effect on the Cogipaasults of
operations or cash flows in the period in whichythee recorded and on the consolidated financisitipo of the
Company. No liability has been recorded becaus€thapany believes any such liability is not proleadahd estimable.

In November 2011, the Metropolitan Council filedhation to intervene and a complaint in the NRD Laitvseeking
compensatory damages and other legal, declaratorgguitable relief, including reasonable attorhéses, for costs
and fees that the Metropolitan Council allegesilitlve required to assess at some time in the éuifuhe MPCA
imposes restrictions on Metropolitan Council’s PF@i&harges to the Mississippi River, including it&tallation and
maintenance of a water treatment system. The Melitap Council’s intervention motion was based ewuesal theories,
including common law negligence, and statutorymtaunder MERLA for response costs, and under thenktota
Environmental Rights Act (MERA) for declaratory asguitable relief against 3M for PFOS and other PB{lution of
the waters and sediments of the Mississippi Ri¥®t.did not object to the motion to intervene. Imdary 2012, 3M
answered the Metropolitan Council’s complaint aitetifa counterclaim alleging that the Metropoli2ouncil
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discharges PFCs to the Mississippi River and diggsaPFC-containing sludge and bio solids fromammore of its
wastewater treatment plants onto agricultural laarttslocal area landfills. Accordingly, 3M’s comipiaagainst the
Metropolitan Council asked that if the court firttiat the State is entitled to any of the damagssught, 3M be
awarded contribution and apportionment from therbfatlitan Council, including attorneys’ fees, und#RLA, and
contribution from and liability for the MetropolitaCouncil’s proportional share of damages awarddti¢ State under
the MWPCA, as well as under statutory nuisancecamdmon law theories of trespass, nuisance, andgeege. 3M
also sought declaratory relief under MERA. In M&@4.2, the Metropolitan Council paid 3M approximatgly million
and agreed to dismiss its claims against 3M. Asgfahe settlement agreement, 3M agreed to disitsigdaims against
the Metropolitan Council.

In April 2012, 3M filed a motion to disqualify tH&tate of Minnesota’s counsel, Covington & BurlibgiP (Covington).
In October 2012, the court granted 3M’s motionitmdalify Covington as counsel to the State, ard3tate and
Covington appealed the court’s disqualificatiothte Minnesota Court of Appeals. In July 2013, thaemésota Court of
Appeals affirmed the district court’s disqualifimat order. In October 2013, the Minnesota Supremeryranted both
the State’s and Covington’s petition for reviewtloé decision of the Minnesota Court of AppealsApmil 2014, the
Minnesota Supreme Court affirmed in part, reveiisgaart, and remanded the case to the districttdoufurther
proceedings. The district court took evidence @ndisqualification issues at a hearing in Octolftd=2 In February
2016, the district court ruled that Covington vielhthe professional ethics rule against represgiaticlient (here the
State of Minnesota) in the same or substantialbted matter where that person’s interests arera#yeadverse to the
interests of a former client (3M). The district epinowever, denied 3M’s motion to disqualify Cogiaon because it
further found that 3M impliedly waived by delayitmassert the conflict. Other activity in the casbich had been
stayed pending the outcome of the disqualificatssne, has resumed. Trial of the NRD Lawsuit isedcihed to begin in
February 2018. In a separate but related actienCttmpany filed suit in the Ramsey County Dist@ourt against
Covington for breach of its fiduciary duties to tBempany and for breach of contract arising ou€a¥ington’s
representation of the State of Minnesota in the NRi¥suit. In September 2016, the court granted 3idsion for
leave to amend the complaint to plead punitive dgsaln February 2017, Covington settled this lainsith a
payment by Covington or its insurer to 3M thatd$ material to 3M’s results of operations or finehcondition.

In July 2016, the City of Lake EImo filed a lawsinitthe U.S. District Court for the District of Milesota against 3M
alleging that the City suffered damages from drigkivater supplies contaminated with PFCs, includiogts to
construct alternative sources of drinking waterallis scheduled to begin in September 2019.

Aqueous Film Forming Foam (AFFF) Litigation

3M manufactured and marketed Aqueous Film Formioank (AFFF) for use in firefighting at airports amditary
bases from approximately 1963 to 2000. As of Deaarli, 2017, twelve purported class actions haea ffied

against 3M and other defendants in various staddederal courts in Pennsylvania, Colorado, and Nevk alleging
that certain PFCs used in AFFF contaminated tHeasdi groundwater where AFFF was used at currefararer
airports and air force military bases located ifo€ado, Pennsylvania, and New York. An individuahtplaint also has
been filed in federal court Pennsylvania. The pifiinin these cases generally allege that contatathgroundwater has
caused various injuries, including loss of use amdyment of their properties, diminished propediues, investigation
costs, and remediation costs. Some cases seekfiunaedical monitoring. Several companies havenlsesd along
with 3M, including Ansul Co. (acquired by Tyco, IihcAngus Fire, Buckeye Fire Protection Co., ChearduNational
Foam, Inc., United Technologies Corp.

In November 2016, the Town of Barnstable, MA filmdindividual action in the U.S. District Court fibre District of
Massachusetts seeking unstated compensatory arntv@wamages and other relief against 3M and athepliers of
AFFF for alleged contamination of the aquifer sypp drinking water to the Hyannis water systeme Town seeks to
recover costs associated with the investigati@atinent, remediation, and monitoring of drinkingevaupplies
allegedly contaminated with certain PFCs used ikFAHn January 2017, the County of Barnstable, léd an
individual action in the U.S. District Court fordlDistrict of Massachusetts seeking unstated cosgtery and punitive
damages and other relief (including indemnificatn contribution in connection with claims assdgainst the
County by the Town of Barnstable) against 3M artgeosuppliers of AFFF for alleged contaminatiorhef aquifer
supplying drinking water to the Hyannis water sgste
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In February 2017, husband and wife plaintiffs sBbtland other defendants in federal court in Pervagyd, alleging
personal injury, loss of consortium and companigmsnd associated damages.

In March 2017, plaintiff residents of Suffolk Coynt.ong Island filed a class action complaint iatetcourt in Suffolk
County New York, naming the County and 3M and otilkrged manufacturers of AFFF products. The actias
removed to the Eastern District of New York.

In August 2017, three class action complaints Viiged in state court in New York against 3M andeatldefendants
including the Port Authority of New York and Newsey. Plaintiffs allege PFC contamination of thedlowater supply
linked to AFFF at Stewart Air National Guard Basel &tewart International Airport. The Port Authyrig the
leaseholder of the airport. All three cases hasesas for diminution of property and medical manig In September
2017, co-defendant Tyco removed all three cas#sett).S. District Court for the Southern Distri¢tNew York.

In October 2017, a class action complaint was fie8uffolk County, New York against 3M and othezgarding PFCs
allegedly released at the Suffolk County Firemalicsining Facility. In November 2017, co-defendBlational Foam
removed the case to the U.S. District Court forEastern District of New York.

In December 2017, a complaint was filed by a grolp6 plaintiffs in Suffolk County, New York again3M and others
regarding PFCs allegedly released at Gabreski Airpo

In December 2017, a complaint was filed by the @kf€ounty Water District in December 2017 in th&SUDistrict
Court for the Eastern District of New York agaiB#t and others regarding PFCs allegedly releas&hhteski Airport
and Suffolk County Firematics Training Facility.

Other Environmental Litigation

In September 2017, three complaints were filedhéW.S. District Court for the Northern District déw York against
3M, Saint-Gobain Performance Plastics Corp. (“S@abain”), Honeywell International Inc. (“Honeyw8land E.I.
DuPont De Nemours and Company. Plaintiffs allege 3 manufactured and sold PFOA that was used for
manufacturing purposes at Saint-Gobain’s and Hoe#{gafacilities located in the Village of Hoosidtalls and the
Town of Hoosick. Plaintiffs claim that the drinkingater around Hoosick Falls became contaminateld wvisafe levels
of PFOA due to the activities of the defendantsl allege that they suffered bodily injury due te thgestion and
inhalation of PFOA. Plaintiffs seek unstated congatory, consequential, and punitive damages, dsawelttorneys’
fees and costs.

On December 1, 2017, eight plaintiffs filed a 12nebclass action against 3M, Wolverine World Wiadel &Vaste
Management, Inc., alleging negligence, trespagsntional and negligent infliction of emotional wléss, battery,
products liability, public and private nuisancegudulent concealment, and unjust enrichment. Eaghtavas filed
against each defendant. The action arises from &viole’'s allegedly improper disposal of materiald amstes related
to their shoe manufacturing operations. Plaintffege Wolverine used 3M Scotchgard in its manufidicy process and
that chemicals from 3M'’s product have contamindbedenvironment after being disposed of near dnipkiater
sources.

For environmental litigation matters describedhis section for which a liability, if any, has beerorded, the
Company believes the amount recorded, as welleapdhsible loss or range of loss in excess of stebished accrual
is not material to the Company’s consolidated tesafi operations or financial condition. For thosatters for which a
liability has not been recorded, the Company bekeany such liability is not probable and estimaivlé the Company
is not able to estimate a possible loss or randessfat this time.

Environmental Liabilities and Insurance Receivables

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had recoiidbdities of $28 million for estimated “environmiah
remediation” costs based upon an evaluation okatly available facts with respect to each indigidsite and also
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recorded related insurance receivables of $8 milliche Company records liabilities for remediatimsts on an
undiscounted basis when they are probable andnmabloestimable, generally no later than the cotigieof feasibility
studies or the Company’s commitment to a plan tbacLiabilities for estimated costs of environrteremediation,
depending on the site, are based primarily upaariiad or third-party environmental studies, andhestes as to the
number, participation level and financial viabilf any other potentially responsible parties,aktent of the
contamination and the nature of required remeditbas. The Company adjusts recorded liabilitiefuather
information develops or circumstances change. Toragany expects that it will pay the amounts recdroleer the
periods of remediation for the applicable sitesrently ranging up to 20 years.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had recoidbidities of $25 million for “other environmenthabilities”
based upon an evaluation of currently availablésfaximplement the Settlement Agreement and Cdr@eder with
the MPCA, the remedial action agreement with ADE to address trace amounts of perfluorinated ocomngts in
drinking water sources in the City of Oakdale, Misata, as well as presence in the soil and grouedwatthe
Company’s manufacturing facilities in Decatur, Adafa, and Cottage Grove, Minnesota, and at two fodisposal
sites in Washington County, Minnesota (Oakdale\wadbury). The Company expects that most of thadipg will
occur over the next four years. During the firsaider of 2017, the Company collected from its iesihe outstanding
receivable of $15 million related to “other envimental liabilities.”

It is difficult to estimate the cost of environmahtompliance and remediation given the uncertsntegarding the
interpretation and enforcement of applicable emvinental laws and regulations, the extent of envirental
contamination and the existence of alternativertipanethods. Developments may occur that could e
Company’s current assessment, including, but nutéd to: (i) changes in the information availatdgarding the
environmental impact of the Company’s operatiorss groducts; (i) changes in environmental regulaiocchanges in
permissible levels of specific compounds in drigkimater sources, or changes in enforcement theanig@policies,
including efforts to recover natural resource dagsagiii) new and evolving analytical and remediattechniques;

(iv) success in allocating liability to other poti@ily responsible parties; and (v) the financiebility of other
potentially responsible parties and third-partyeimhitors. For sites included in both “environmemgahediation
liabilities” and “other environmental liabilitiesdt which remediation activity is largely complated remaining activity
relates primarily to operation and maintenancéefremedy, including required post-remediation rawirig, the
Company believes the exposure to loss in exceggeaimount accrued would not be material to the g2om's
consolidated results of operations or financialditon. However, for locations at which remediatactivity is largely
ongoing, the Company cannot estimate a possibéedosange of loss in excess of the associatebletted accruals for
the reasons described above.

Other Matters
Department of Labor Investigation

The U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) notified 3M ipil 2015 that it had commenced an investigatioBdfs
pension plan pursuant to the federal Employee &atnt Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (BRIBhe DOL
has stated its investigation relates to certaivapei equity investments, plan expenses, seculéieing, and
distributions of plan benefits. In response toaierDOL requests, 3M produced documents and magkogees
available for interviews. In December 2016, the Di€dued certain subpoenas to 3M and 3M Investmemtagement
Corp. relating to this investigation. 3M has proeldi@dditional responsive documents and is cooperatith the DOL
in its investigation. 3M anticipates that the DOLllwonclude its investigation in the first half 2018.

Product Liability Litigation

One customer obtained an order in the French cagesst 3M Purification SAS (a French subsidianypctober 2011
appointing an expert to determine the amount ofraercial loss and property damage allegedly caugediegedly
defective 3M filters used in the customer’s mantifdng process. An Austrian subsidiary of this saoastomer also
filed a claim against 3M Austria GmbH (an Austrieubsidiary) and 3M Purification SAS in the Austrzourts

in September 2012 seeking damages for the san® iBka Company reached an agreement in princigettte those
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two cases and finalized the settlement during ¢eesd quarter of 2017. The amounts agreed to in e&ihese
settlements were not material to the Company’s @ateted results of operations or financial coruditi

As of December 31, 2017, the Company is a nameshdaht in lawsuits involving approximately 4,278iptiffs
(compared to approximately 1,260 plaintiffs at Daber 31, 2016), most of which are pending in federatate court
in Minnesota, in which the plaintiffs claim theydarwent various joint arthroplasty, cardiovascudad other surgeries
and later developed surgical site infections duta¢ouse of the Bair Hugger™ patient warming systene complaints
seek damages and other relief based on theorssdfliability, negligence, breach of express anglied warranties,
failure to warn, design and manufacturing defeet)dulent and/or negligent misrepresentation/cdnua, unjust
enrichment, and violations of various state consunaeid, deceptive or unlawful trade practices anétlse advertising
acts. One case, from the U.S. District Court ferWestern District of Tennessee is a putative nafide class action.
The U.S. Judicial Panel on Multidistrict LitigatigMDL) granted the plaintiffs’ motion to transfen@ consolidate all
cases pending in federal courts to the U.S. DisGaurt for the District of Minnesota to be managed multi-district
proceeding during the pre-trial phase of the lifiga The federal court has set a trial-ready dratday 2018 in one of
the two federal court bellwether cases. At a jbedring before the U.S. District Court and the Misota State court, on
the parties’ motion to exclude each other’s expantsl 3M’s motion for summary judgment with respgeageneral
causation, the federal court did not exclude tladngiffs’ experts and denied 3M’s motion for sumgnardgment on
general causation. In January 2018, the state,dourearing the same arguments, excluded plashefperts and
granted 3M’s motion for summary judgment on geneaaisation, dismissing all 61 cases pending beferstate court
in Minnesota.

In June 2016, the Company was served with a petatass action filed in the Ontario Superior Cadirdustice for all
Canadian residents who underwent various joinrapiasty, cardiovascular, and other surgeries atedt Heveloped
surgical site infections due to the use of the Bhigger™ patient warming system. The representaliziatiff seeks
relief (including punitive damages) under Canadigam based on theories similar to those assertéakiMDL. The Bair
Hugger™ product line was acquired by 3M as pathef2010 acquisition of Arizant, Inc., a leadingrmagacturer of
patient warming solutions designed to prevent Hyphia and maintain normal body temperature inisalgettings.
No liability has been recorded for this matter hesgathe Company believes that any such liabilityoisprobable and
estimable at this time.

In September 2011, 3M Oral Care launched Lava @#nCAD/CAM dental restorative material. The praduas
originally indicated for inlay, onlay, veneer, atrwn applications. In June 2015, 3M Oral Care mtdtly removed
crown applications from the product’s instructidosuse, following reports from dentists of pat®rirowns
debonding, requiring additional treatment. The pidemains on the market for other applicatiohé.cémmunicated
with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, as veallregulators outside the United States. 3M alfewrned
customers and distributors of its action, offeddcept return of unused materials and provideds. As of
December 31, 2017, there is one lawsuit pendirigarl).S. District Court for the District of Minngsathat names 29
plaintiffs and seeks certification of a class ofitiets in the United States and its territories| ahernatively seeks
subclasses in 13 states. The complaint alleges @8Meted and sold defective Lava Ultimate matersaldufor dental
crowns to dentists and, under various theoriek semetary damages (replacement costs and busemssition loss),
punitive damages, disgorgement of profits, injumetirom marketing and selling Lava Ultimate for uselental
crowns, statutory penalties, and attorneys’ feescarsts.

For product liability litigation matters describadthis section for which a liability has been resed, the Company
believes the amount recorded is not material tcCtpany’s consolidated results of operationsmaritial condition.
In addition, the Company is not able to estimap@ssible loss or range of loss in excess of thebéshed accruals at
this time.

NOTE 16. Stock-Based Compensation
The 3M 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) prowdder the issuance or delivery of up to 123,965 8i3éres of 3M
common stock pursuant to awards granted underléime pwards may be issued in the form of incensitexk options,

nonqualified stock options, progressive stock apjstock appreciation rights, restricted stockirieted stock units,
other stock awards, and performance units and peafiace shares. As of December 31, 2017, the rengpiatal shares
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available for grant under the LTIP Program are 29,144, and there were approximately 7,500 pasgidipwith
outstanding options, restricted stock, or restda®ck units.

The Company’s annual stock option and restrictedkstinit grant is made in February to provide argirand
immediate link between the performance of individuturing the preceding year and the size of theftual stock
compensation grants. The grant to eligible empleyeses the closing stock price on the grant dateoénting

rules require recognition of expense under a ndistsmtive vesting period approach, requiring corspéon expense
recognition when an employee is eligible to retifmployees are considered eligible to retire at&tgand after having
completed ten years of service. This retiree-digggmpulation represents 35 percent of the 201 darstock-based
compensation award expense dollars; thereforeghigflock-based compensation expense is recogmizée first
quarter.

In addition to the annual grants, the Company makiesr minor grants of stock options, restrictextktunits and other
stock-based grants. The Company issues cash setfigitted stock units and stock appreciationtsigi certain
countries. These grants do not result in the isseiahcommon stock and are considered immatenialiszlosure
purposes by the Company.

Beginning in 2016, as a result of the Company’diagfion of ASU No. 2016-09mprovements to Employee Share-
Based Payment Accountincertain excess tax benefits at the time of egerffor an option) or upon vesting (for
restricted stock units) are recognized as incomédéaefits in the statement of income. These ansowataled $228
million and $184 million for 2017 and 2016, respeslly, and are reflected in the “income tax bergfiine within the
stock-based compensation table below.

Amounts recognized in the financial statements wadpect to stock-based compensation programshvimitude stock
options, restricted stock, restricted stock umitsformance shares, and the General Employeesk Btachase Plan
(GESPP), are provided in the following table. Calpied stock-based compensation amounts were netiala

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Years ended December 31

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015

Cost of sales $ 49 $ 47 $ 46
Selling, general and administrative expenses 229 206 185
Research, development and related expenses 46 45 45
Stock-based compensation expenses $ 324 % 298 $ 276
Income tax benefits $ (327 $ (272 % (87)
Stock-based compensation expenses (benefits)f teet o $ 3) $ 26 $ 189
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Stock Option Program

The following table summarizes stock option acyi¥dr the years ended December 31:

2017 2016 2015
Weighted Weighted Weigd
Number of Average Number of Average Number of Average
Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price Qipns Exercise Price
Under option —
January 1 36,196,232 $ 112.07 38,552,445 $ 102.01 39,235,557 $ 90.38
Granted:

Annual 5,409,628 17593 5,591,727 14799 5,529,544 165.91
Exercised (6,474,117 90.37 (7,716,141 86.76 (5,978,382 83.74
Forfeited (166,579) 162.36  (231,799) 148.43  (234,274) 128.99
December 31 34,965,16¢ $ 125.73 36,196,232 $ 112.07 38,552,44f $ 102.01

Options exercisable
December 31 24,281,46¢ $ 108.50 25,240,75¢ $ 95.65 27,262,06: $ 85.97

Stock options vest over a period from one to tlyesrs with the expiration date at 10 years frone ddigrant. As of
December 31, 2017, there was $67 million of comagms expense that has yet to be recognized refatedn-vested
stock option based awards. This expense is expéxteel recognized over the remaining weighted-ayereesting
period of 20 months. For options outstanding atebawzer 31, 2017, the weighted-average remainingacto@al life
was 70 months and the aggregate intrinsic value$8a834 billion. For options exercisable at Decengie 2017, the
weighted-average remaining contractual life wasne®iths and the aggregate intrinsic value was $3xB86n.

The total intrinsic values of stock options exegdisluring 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $703 million 8a®dlion and
$465 million, respectively. Cash received from ops exercised during 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $386rm$665
million and $501 million, respectively. The Comp&ngctual tax benefits realized for the tax dedirtirelated to the
exercise of employee stock options for 2017, 20162015 was $238 million, $224 million and $172liwi,
respectively.

The Company does not have a specific policy tongmse common shares to mitigate the dilutive irnpaoptions;
however, the Company has historically made adedliasteetionary purchases, based on cash availghitarket trends,
and other factors, to satisfy stock option exeraistivity.

For annual options, the weighted average fair vatube date of grant was calculated using thelBfaholes option-
pricing model and the assumptions that follow.

Stock Option Assumptions

Annual
2017 2016 2015
Exercise price $ 17576 $ 14787 $ 165.94
Risk-free interest rate 2.1% 1.5% 1.5%
Dividend yield 2.5% 2.5% 25%
Expected volatility 17.3% 20.8% 20.1%
Expected life (months) 78 77 76
Black-Scholes fair value $ 2351 $ 2247 $ 2398

Expected volatility is a statistical measure of éneount by which a stock price is expected to flat# during a period.
For the 2017 annual grant date, the Company esdrtat expected volatility based upon the aver&gigeamost recent
one year volatility, the median of the term of éhgected life rolling volatility, the median of theost recent term of the
expected life volatility of 3M stock, and the ingadi volatility on the grant date. The expected tassumption is based
on the weighted average of historical grants.
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Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes restricted stock eegdricted stock unit activity for the years endistember 31:

2017 2016 2015

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average
Number of  Grant Date  Number of GrantDate  Number of  Grant Date

Awards Fair Value Awards Fair Value Awards Fair Value

Nonvested balanc—
As of January 1 2,185,046 $145.64 2,441,088 $127.47 2,817,786 $ 104.41
Granted

Annual 604,256 176.10 749,068 148.20 671,204 165.86
Other 20,692 233.77 8,115 169.00 26,886 156.94
Vested (769,598) 127.21 (960,345) 101.64 (1,010,612) 89.99
Forfeited (46,590 158.25 (52,880 145.95 (64,176 118.99
As of December 31 1,993,806 $162.60 2,185,046 $145.64 2,441,088 $ 127.47

As of December 31, 2017, there was $78 millionahpensation expense that has yet to be recogretsed to non-
vested restricted stock and restricted stock ufiliss expense is expected to be recognized ovaethaining weighted-
average vesting period of 22 months. The totalMalue of restricted stock and restricted stocksuthiat vested during
2017, 2016 and 2015 was $136 million, $149 milkord $166 million, respectively. The Company’s aktar benefits
realized for the tax deductions related to theingsif restricted stock and restricted stock uftts2017, 2016 and 2015
was $45 million, $56 million and $62 million, respieely.

Restricted stock units granted generally vest thigzas following the grant date assuming contine@gployment.
Dividend equivalents equal to the dividends payall¢he same number of shares of 3M common stakiaon these
restricted stock units during the vesting peridthaugh no dividend equivalents are paid on anthe$e restricted stock
units that are forfeited prior to the vesting d&iezidends are paid out in cash at the vest datestnicted stock units,
except for performance shares which do not earidelivds. Since the rights to dividends are forfééathere is no
impact on basic earnings per share calculationsghéxd average restricted stock unit shares outstgrare included in
the computation of diluted earnings per share.

Performance Shares

Instead of restricted stock units, the Company makeual grants of performance shares to membéisefecutive
management. The 2017 performance criteria for thesirmance shares (organic volume growth, redorimvested
capital, free cash flow conversion, and earningsshare growth) were selected because the Compsieyés that they
are important drivers of long-term stockholder eallihe number of shares of 3M common stock thadcactually be
delivered at the end of the three-year performamec®md may be anywhere from 0% to 200% of eachoperdince share
granted, depending on the performance of the Comngaring such performance period. Non-substantesting
requires that expense for the performance sharesclgnized over one or three years depending @mwhch
individual became a 3M executive. Prior to the 2pg&6formance share grant, performance shares digceoue
dividends during the performance period. Therefthre grant date fair value was determined by rewdyuttie closing
stock price on the date of grant by the net pregaiue of dividends during the performance peridte 2017 and 2016
performance share grants accrue dividends, therdfiergrant date fair value is equal to the closiogk price on the
date of grant. Since the rights to dividends areitable, there is no impact on basic earningsspare calculations.
Weighted average performance shares whose perfoeammariod is complete are included in computatiodilated
earnings per share.
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The following table summarizes performance shatigigcfor the years ended December 31:

2017 2016 2015
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Number of Grant Date Number of Grant Date  Number of Grant Date
Awards Fair Value Awards Fair Value Awards Fair Value
Undistributed balance —

As of January 1 656,278 $ 14298 871,192 $120.89 1,099,752 $ 102.65
Granted 201,261 191.28 219,431 160.17 227,798 158.88
Distributed (313,942) 124.88 (367,428) 99.06 (323,938) 83.08
Performance change 154,774 17391 (37,534 155.98 (106,760 127.70
Forfeited (12,498) 171.36 (29,383) 149.08  (25,660) 125.33

As of December 31 685,873 $171.90 656,278 $ 142.98 871,192 $ 120.89

As of December 31, 2017, there was $25 millionahpensation expense that has yet to be recogretaed to
performance shares. This expense is expectedr@cbgnized over the remaining weighted-averagemgsmperiod of
11 months. The total fair value of performance ebdhat were distributed were $55 million for 2@hd $54 million
for both 2016 and 2015. The Company’s actual tasefits realized for the tax deductions relatechedistribution of
performance shares was $15 million per year foi72@016 and 2015.

General Employees’ Stock Purchase Plan (GESPP):

As of December 31, 2017, shareholders have appr@@edillion shares for issuance under the CompaBESPP.
Substantially all employees are eligible to papite in the plan. Participants are granted optd®5% of market value
at the date of grant. There are no GESPP shares optlon at the beginning or end of each year laptions are
granted on the first business day and exercisdtieolast business day of the same month.

General Employees’ Stock Purchase Plan

2017 2016 2015
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price  Shares Exercise Price

Options granted 877,705 $ 170.42 987,478 $ 140.06 1,007,66¢ $ 133.52
Options exercised (877,705) 170.42 (987,478) 140.06 (1,007,669) 133.52
Shares available for grant -
December 31 26,239,15: 27,116,857 28,104,33¢

The weighted-average fair value per option gradiaihg 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $30.07, $24.72 a8k,
respectively. The fair value of GESPP options wasel on the 15% purchase price discount. The Compangnized
compensation expense for GESSP options of $26omiiti 2017, $24 million in 2016 and $24 million2015.

NOTE 17. Business Segments

3M’s businesses are organized, managed and inegrauped into segments based on differences mkets products,
technologies and services. 3M manages its opegitiofive business segments: Industrial; Safety@raphics; Health
Care; Electronics and Energy; and Consumer. 3M&s liiusiness segments bring together common oeceiiYl
technologies, enhancing the development of inneggiroducts and services and providing for effiti@raring of
business resources. Transactions among reporedpeests are recorded at cost. 3M is an integratengrise
characterized by substantial intersegment cooperatost allocations and inventory transfers. Tloeee management
does not represent that these segments, if oparategendently, would report the operating inconferimation shown.
The difference between operating income and préntome relates to interest income and interesties@, which are
not allocated to business segments.
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Effective in the first quarter of 2017, as parBd’s continuing effort to improve the alignmentitsf businesses around
markets and customers the Company made the folipehianges:

1. Integrated the former Renewable Energy Division existing divisions;

2. Combined two divisions to form the Automotive andréspace Solutions Division; and

3. Consolidated U.S. customer account activity - intipgedual credit reporting

Integration of former Renewable Energy Division
* The (i) solar and wind and (ii) energy product firfalong with certain technology previously incldde

Corporate and Unallocated) of the former Renewkblergy Division (RED) were integrated into the érig
Electrical Markets Division and Electronics Matési§olutions Division, respectively, within the Efeonics
and Energy business segment. In addition, the foRE®’s window film product lines were moved inteet
Commercial Solutions Division within the Safety @&thphics business segment. This change resulid in
decrease in previously reported net sales and tipgiacome for total year 2016 of $203 million a$88
million, respectively, in the Electronics and Enesggment. These decreases were offset by a $2(0dhnaind
$29 million increase in previously reported totahy 2016 net sales and operating income, resphctimehe
Safety and Graphics business segment and a $émilécrease and $9 million increase in previoushprted
net sales and operating income, respectively, np@ate and Unallocated.

Creation of Automotive and Aerospace Solutions [Bigin
e The former Automotive Division and Aerospace andn@wrcial Transportation Division (both within the
Industrial business segment) were combined to eftbat Automotive and Aerospace Solutions Division.
Because this realignment was within the Indusbiainess segment, it had no impact on businessesggm
reporting.

Consolidation of U.S. customer account activitympacting dual credit reporting

* The Company consolidated its customer accountigctivthe U.S. into more centralized sales dis$rio
better serve customers. As discussed further bélthusiness segment reporting measures includecdedit
to business segments for certain U.S. sales aatkdebperating income. This dual credit is based/luich
business segment provides customer account acffgdies district”) with respect to a particulapguct sold
in the U.S. Previously, a customer in the U.S. imaye been aligned to several sales districts assolcwith
multiple divisions or segments based on the indigigproducts the customer purchased across 3Mtfofior
The alignment of U.S. customer accounts to fewerenfiocused sales districts therefore changedtttibugion
of dual credit across 3M’s business segments. lsuat, previously reported aggregate business segnet
sales and operating income for total year 2016emed $163 million and $36 million, respectiveljset by
similar increases in the elimination of dual credit sales and operating income amounts.

The financial information presented herein reflebtsimpact of the preceding business segmenttiagathanges for
all periods presented.
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Business Segment Products

Business Segment Major Products

Industrial Tapes, coated, nonwoven and bonded abrasives,ieeiemdvanced ceramics, sealants,
specialty materials, filtration products, closuystems for personal hygiene products,
acoustic systems products, automotive componentasion-resistant films, structural
adhesives and paint finishing and detailing prosluct

Safety and Graphics Personal protection products, transportation safedgucts, commercial graphics systems,
commercial cleaning and protection products, fimatting, roofing granules for asphalt
shingles, and fall protection products

Health Care Medical and surgical supplies, skin health anddtié@ prevention products, drug delivery
systems, dental and orthodontic products, heaftmmation systems and food safety
products

Electronics and Energy Optical films solutions for electronic displays,ckaging and interconnection devices,
insulating and splicing solutions for the electamitelecommunications and electrical
industries, touch screens and touch monitors, rehnenergy component solutions, and
infrastructure protection products

Consumer Sponges, scouring pads, high-performance clothiswroer and office tapes, repositionable
notes, indexing systems, home improvement prodhotsge care products, protective
material products, and consumer and office tapdsadhesives

Business Segment Information

Net Sales Operating Income

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015
Industrial $ 10911 $ 10,399 $ 10,388 $ 2,289 $ 2395 $ 2,277
Safety and Graphics 6,148 5,881 5,736 2,067 1,423 1,332
Health Care 5,813 5,566 5,449 1,781 1,763 1,730
Electronics and Energy 5,159 4,643 5,069 1,254 1,041 1,083
Consumer 4,589 4,484 4,429 993 1,065 1,048
Corporate and Unallocated 1 7 2) (352 (272) (349)
Elimination of Dual Credit (964 (871 (795 (212 (192 (175
Total Company $ 31,657 $ 30,109 $ 30,274 3 7,820 $ 7,223 $ 6,946

Assets Depreciation & Amortization Capital Expenditures
(Millions) 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016 2015
Industrial $ 9895 $ 9140 $ 9,205 $ 432 $ 407 $ 374 $ 435 $ 360 $ 317
Safety and Graphics 9,874 7,626 7,709 275 277 258 184 228 207
Health Care 4,757 4,293 4,391 246 175 179 83 136 168
Electronics and Energy 4,395 4,418 4,645 175 229 279 165 200 203
Consumer 2,706 2,497 2,386 112 114 108 109 109 124
Corporate and Unallocated 6,360 4,932 4,547 304 272 237 397 387 442
Total Company $ 37,987 $32,906 $ 32,883 $ 1544 $ 1474 $ 1,435 $1,373 $1,420 $ 1,461

Corporate and unallocated operating income incladesriety of miscellaneous items, such as corpdraestment
gains and losses, certain derivative gains an@$ps®rtain insurance-related gains and lossdsjrcétigation and
environmental expenses, corporate restructuringgelsaand certain under- or over-absorbed costsgergion, stock-
based compensation) that the Company may chooge aibcate directly to its business segmentsaBse this
category includes a variety of miscellaneous itdtris,subject to fluctuation on a quarterly anchaal basis.

3M business segment reporting measures includecdedit to business segments for certain U.S. saldgelated
operating income. Management evaluates each fitédusiness segments based on net sales andiogengome
performance, including dual credit U.S. reportiadurther incentivize U.S. sales growth. As a reQM reflects
additional (“dual”) credit to another business segtrwhen the customer account activity (“salegidis} with respect
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to the particular product sold to the external comr in the U.S. is provided by a different businesgment. This
additional dual credit is largely reflected at theision level. For example, certain respirators arimarily sold by the
Personal Safety Division within the Safety and Giep business segment; however, a sales distribtnathe Industrial
business segment provides the contact for saldgeqfroduct to particular customers in the U.S keain this
example, the non-primary selling segment (Indultwauld also receive credit for the associatedsades initiated
though its sales district and the related approtéroperating income. The assigned operating ina@faged to dual
credit activity may differ from operating incomeattwould result from actual costs associated witthssales. The
offset to the dual credit business segment rempitimeflected as a reconciling item entitled “Ehation of Dual
Credit,” such that sales and operating incomeHerd.S. in total are unchanged.

Certain sales and operating income results fotreleic bonding product lines are equally dividedwsen the
Electronics and Energy business segment and thestirial business segment.

NOTE 18. Geographic Areas
Geographic area information is used by the Compagy secondary performance measure to managesitebses.
Export sales and certain income and expense iteangemerally reported within the geographic arearlthe final

sales to 3M customers are made.

Property, Plant and

Net Sales Equipment - net

(Millions) 2017 2016 2015 2017 2016

United States $ 12,372 $ 12,188 $ 12,049 $ 4,891 $ 4,914
Asia Pacific 9,809 8,847 9,041 1,672 1,573
Europe, Middle East and Africa 6,456 6,163 6,228 1,798 1,512
Latin America and Canada 3,033 2,901 2,982 505 517
Other Unallocated (13 10 (26) — —
Total Company $ 31,657 $ 30,109 $ 30,274 $ 8,866 $ 8,516

Asia Pacific included China/Hong Kong net salesustomers of $3.255 billion, $2.799 billion and % billion in
2017, 2016, and 2015, respectively. China/Hong Kuetgproperty, plant and equipment (PP&E) was $6#llon and
$520 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respslgt

NOTE 19. Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

(Millions, except per-share amounts) First Second Third Fourth Year

2017 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter 2017

Net sale $ 768 $ 7810 $ 8172 $ 7,990 $ 31,657
Cost of sales 3,869 4,007 4,045 4,080 16,001
Net income including noncontrolling inter 1,326 1,585 1,433 525 4,869
Net incame attributable to 3M 1,323 1,583 1,429 523 4,858
Earnings per share attributable to 3M common sluddels - basic 221 2.65 2.39 0.88 8.13
Earnings per share attributable to 3M common sluddels - diluted 2.16 2.58 2.33 0.85 7.93
(Millions, except per-share amounts) First Second Third Fourth Year

2016 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter 2016

Net sale $ 7,409 $ 7,662 $ 7,709 $ 7,329 $ 30,109
Cost of sales 3,678 3,799 3,847 3,716 15,040
Net income including noncontrolling inter 1,278 1,293 1,331 1,156 5,058
Net incame attributable to 3M 1,275 1,291 1,329 1,155 5,050
Earnings per share attributable to 3M common slwddels - basic 2.10 2.13 2.20 1.93 8.35
Earnings per share attributable to 3M common sluddels - diluted 2.05 2.08 2.15 1.88 8.16

Gross profit is calculated as net sales minusaiosales. Fourth quarter and year 2017 were impante¢he enactment
of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act in December 2017, vréduced net income by $762 million and reducédeti
earnings per share by $1.25 in the fourth quandr$i.24 for year 2017. Refer to Note 9 for addgiadetails.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountés on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

a. The Company carried out an evaluation, undestipervision and with the participation of its mgament, including
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial i0éf, of the effectiveness of the design and opsraif the
Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures’d@ed in the Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) avefend of the
period covered by this report. Based upon thatuetain, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Fioah Officer
concluded that the Company’s disclosure controtsancedures are effective.

b. The Company’s management is responsible fobksitiéing and maintaining an adequate system ofriatecontrol
over financial reporting, as defined in the ExctaAgt Rule 13a-15(f). Management conducted an asws of the
Company’s internal control over financial reportipgsed on the framework established by the Comenitt&Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commissiotniternal Control — Integrated Framework (2018gsed on the
assessment, management concluded that, as of Dec8m®017, the Company’s internal control oveaficial
reporting is effective. Management’s assessmetiteoéffectiveness of the Company’s internal cortrar financial
reporting as of December 31, 2017 excluded Scdétypavhich was acquired by the Company in OctéiE7 in a
purchase business combination. Scott Safety isadlywbwned subsidiary whose total assets and taakales
represented less than 1 percent of the Companpsotidated financial statement amounts as of anthfoyear ended
December 31, 2017. Companies are allowed to ex@uadaisitions from their assessment of internatrcbover
financial reporting during the first year of acqtitm while integrating the acquired company ungeidelines
established by the Securities and Exchange Cononisthe Company'’s internal control over financigborting as of
December 31, 2017 has been audited by Pricewategl@mopers LLP, an independent registered publioweding

firm, as stated in their report which is includetdin, which expresses an unqualified opinion engffiectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reportig of December 31, 2017.

c. There was no change in the Company’s internatrobover financial reporting that occurred durihg Company’s
most recently completed fiscal quarter that haseradty affected, or is reasonably likely to maddly affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting

The Company is implementing an enterprise resoplarening (“ERP”) system on a worldwide basis, whiglexpected
to improve the efficiency of certain financial aredated transaction processes. The gradual impletien is expected
to occur in phases over the next several yearsiniplementation of a worldwide ERP system will likaffect the
processes that constitute our internal control éimancial reporting and will require testing fdfectiveness.

The Company completed implementation with respeeféments of certain processes/sub-processeasitedi
subsidiaries/locations and will continue to roltdlve ERP system over the next several years. Asamy new
information technology application we implementstapplication, along with the internal controlso¥inancial
reporting included in this process, was appropisiatensidered within the testing for effectivenegth respect to the
implementation in these instances. We concludegagsof our evaluation described in the above grazhs, that the
implementation of ERP in these circumstances hasmaterially affected our internal control overdirtial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART 1lI

Documents Incorporated by Reference

In response to Part lll, Items 10, 11, 12, 13 addphrts of the Company’s definitive proxy stateiém be filed
pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days aftegiReant’s fiscal year-end of December 31, 2017)tlbannual
meeting to be held on May 8, 2018, are incorporhateteference in this Form 10-K.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance.

The information relating to directors and nominee38M is set forth under the caption “Proposal Wbin 3M’s proxy
statement for its annual meeting of stockholdetsatdield on May 8, 2018 (“3M Proxy Statement”) @aohcorporated
by reference herein. Information about executifcers is included in Item 1 of this Annual Report Form 10-K. The
information required by Items 405, 407(c)(3), (d)4d (d)(5) of Regulation S-K is contained undher ¢aptions
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coicupte,” “Corporate Governance At 3M — Board Menstép
Criteria — Identification, Evaluation, and Selectiof Nominees,,” “—Nominees Proposed By Stockhaddef—
Stockholder Nominations”, “—Proxy Access Nominatband “—Role of the Nominating and Governance
Committee” and “Corporate Governance At 3M -- Rb@ommittees — Audit Committee” of the 3M Proxyt8taent
and such information is incorporated by referereeim.

Code of Ethics. All of our employees, including @hief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officené Chief
Accounting Officer and Controller, are requirecatmide by 3M’s long-standing business conduct pedi¢o ensure that
our business is conducted in a consistently legdlethical manner. 3M has posted the text of socle of ethics on its
website (http://www.3M.com/businessconduct). At saene website, any future amendments to the codthias will
also be posted. Any person may request a copyeafdte of ethics, at no cost, by writing to ushatfbllowing address:

3M Company

3M Center, Building 220-11W-09

St. Paul, MN 55144-1000

Attention: Vice President, Compliance and Businésaduct

Iltem 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by Item 402 of RegulatfnK is contained under the captions “Executive Cengation”
(excluding the information under the caption “— Gmensation Committee Report”) and “Director Compénsaand
Stock Ownership Guidelines” of the 3M Proxy Statatm&uch information is incorporated by reference.

The information required by Items 407(e)(4) andSedf Regulation S-K is contained in the “Execet@ompensation”
section under the captions “Compensation Commiigeort” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks msitler
Participation” of the 3M Proxy Statement. Such infation (other than the Compensation Committee Reptich
shall not be deemed to be “filed”) is incorporabgdreference.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ovners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

The information relating to security ownership eftain beneficial owners and management is sdt forter the
designation “Security Ownership of Management” &elcurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownerg’the 3M
Proxy Statement and such information is incorpar#tereference herein.

Equity compensation plans information as of Decan3ie 2017 follows:

Equity Compensation Plans Information (1)

A B Cc
Number of Weighted- Number of securities
securities to be  average exercise remaining available for
issued upon price of future issuance under
exercise of outstanding equity compensation
outstanding options, plans (excluding
options, warrants ~ warrants and securities reflected in
Plan Category and rights rights column (A))
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrsid
Stock options 34,965,164 $ 125.73 —
Restricted stock units 1,993,80¢€ —
Performance shares 685,873 —
Non-employee director deferred stock units 240,101 —
Total 37,884,944 30,125,144
Employee stock purchase plan — 26,239,152
Subtotal 37,884,944 56,364,296
Total 37,884,944 56,364,29¢

(1) In column B, the weighted-average exercise prianlg applicable to stock options. In column C, thember of
securities remaining available for future issuafoeestock options, restricted stock units, and lst@wards for non-
employee directors is approved in total and noividdally with respect to these items.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ins, and Director Independence.

With respect to certain relationships and relataddactions as set forth in Item 404 of Regula8ek, no matters
require disclosure with respect to transaction vetated persons. The information required by @#(b) and Item
407(a) of Regulation S-K is contained under theise¢Corporate Governance at 3M” under the capgtitidirector
Independence” and “Related Person Transactionyatid Procedures” of the 3M Proxy Statement ant suc
information is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information relating to principal accounting$eand services is set forth in the section edtitidit Committee
Matters” under the designation “Audit CommitteeiBpbn Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible NondkiServices
of the Independent Accounting Firm” and “Fees @f thdependent Accounting Firm” in the 3M Proxy 8taént and
such information is incorporated by reference herei
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) (1) Financial Statements. The consolidateanfiial statements filed as part of this reportliated in the index to
financial statements at the beginning of this doexin

(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedules. Finantéément schedules are omitted because of the @bséthe
conditions under which they are required or bec#useequired information is included in the Coidated Financial
Statements or the notes thereto. The financiastants of unconsolidated subsidiaries are omittedise, considered
in the aggregate, they would not constitute a ficamt subsidiary.

(a) (3) Exhibits. The exhibits are either filedhwihis report or incorporated by reference inis teport.
Exhibit numbers 10.1 through 10.26 are managenmntacts or compensatory plans or arrangements(d3&xhibits,
which follow.

(b) Exhibits.
(3) Articles of Incorporation and bylaws

(3.1)  Certificate of incorporation, as amendedfd3erember 4, 2017, is incorporated by referenamfour
Form 8-K dated December 7, 2017.

(3.2) Amended and Restated Bylaws, as adopted ldevamber 10, 2015, are incorporated by refererwa f
our Form 8-K dated November 10, 2015.

(4) Instruments defining the rights of securitydwis, including indentures:

(4.1) Indenture, dated as of November 17, 200Qyde 3M and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as successor trustee, with respeditits senior debt securities, is incorporated by
reference from our Form 8-K dated December 7, 2000.

(4.2)  First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of 48] 2011, to Indenture dated as of November Q@02
between 3M and The Bank New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as succedsostee, with respect
3M’s senior debt securities, is incorporated byrefice from our Form 10-Q for the quarter endee 30n
2011.

(10) Material contracts and management compenspl#ors and arrangements:

(10.1) 3M Company 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plaimtorporated by reference from our Form 8-K dateayM
12, 2016.

(10.2) Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under 3M Company 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan is
incorporated by reference from our Form 8-K dateayM?2, 2016.

(10.3) Form of Stock Appreciation Right Award Agneent under the 3M Company 2016 Long-Term Incentive
Plan is incorporated by reference from our Form 8ated May 12, 2016.

(10.4) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreemender the 3M Company 2016 Long-Term IncentivenPla
is incorporated by reference from our Form 8-K dditay 12, 2016.

(10.5) Form of Performance Share Award Agreemempésformance share awards granted under the 3M
Company 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan prior to eby 5, 2018, is incorporated by reference from our
Form 8-K dated May 12, 2016.

(10.6) Form of Performance Share Award Agreemempésformance share awards granted under the 3M
Company 2016 Long-Term Incentive Plan on or aftdsrbary 5, 2018 is filed herewith.

(10.7) 3M 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (includemgendments through February 2, 2016) is incorpdiage
reference from our Form 10-K for the year endeddbauer 31, 2015.

(10.8) Form of Agreement for Stock Option Grant&icutive Officers under 3M 2008 Long-Term Inceati
Plan is incorporated by reference from our Form 8ated May 13, 2008.
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(10.9)

(10.10)

(10.11)
(10.12)
(10.13)
(10.14)
(10.15)
(10.16)
(10.17)

(10.18)
(10.19)

(10.20)
(10.21)

(10.22)
(10.23)

(10.24)
(10.25)
(10.26)
(10.27)

(10.28)

Form of Stock Option Agreement for optiomarged to Executive Officers under the 3M 2008 L-diegm
Incentive Plan, commencing February 9, 2010, isnparated by reference from our Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2(

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreementrisstricted stock units granted to Executive Officender the
3M Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective Februar®010, is incorporated by reference from our Form 10
K for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Form of Online Grant Agreement for perfonea share awards granted under the 3M 2008 LongrTer
Incentive Plan with a performance period endingpafter December 31, 2017 is filed herewith.

Form of Stock Option Agreement for U.S. Hogpes under 3M 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan is
incorporated by reference from our Form 10-K fa ylear ended December 31, 2008.

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreementfio8. Employees under 3M 2008 Long-Term Incentilaa s
incorporated by reference from our Form 10-K fa ylear ended December 31, 2008.

Amended and Restated 3M VIP Excess Plantigporated by reference from our Form 10-K far ytear
ended December 31, 2016.

Amended and Restated 3M VIP (Voluntary streent Plan) Plus Plan is incorporated by referémoa
our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.

3M Deferred Compensation Excess Plan srparated by reference from our Form 10-K for teary
ended December 31, 2009.

3M Performance Awards Deferred Compensdian is incorporated by reference from our Forniifor
the year ended December 31, 2009.

3M Executive Annual Incentive Plan is immorated by reference from our Form 8-K dated May2D07.
3M Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Doex; as amended, through November 8, 2004, is
incorporated by reference from our Form 10-K fa ylear ended December 31, 2004.

Amendment of 3M Compensation Plan for Nenployee Directors is incorporated by reference foam
Form 8-K dated November 14, 2008.

Amendment of 3M Compensation Plan for Nonmplbyee Directors as of August 12, 2013, is incoaped
by reference from our Form 10-Q for the quarteregh8eptember 30, 2013.

3M Executive Life Insurance Plan, as amdnagefiled herewith.

Policy on Reimbursement of Incentive Payiéeffective May 11, 2010) is incorporated by refece
from our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 8Q02

Amended and Restated 3M Nonqualified PenBian | is incorporated by reference from our FaGvK
for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Amended and Restated 3M Nonqualified PenBlan Il is incorporated by reference from ourrfrdi0-K
for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Amended and Restated 3M Nonqualified P@nBlan Il is incorporated by reference from ourRd.0-K
for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Amended and restated five-year credit ageee as of March 9, 2016, is incorporated by refeeerom
our Form 8-K dated March 11, 2016.

Registration Rights Agreement as of Augyg009, between 3M Company and State Street Baahk a
Trust Company as Independent Fiduciary of the 3\plegree Retirement Income Plan, is incorporated by
reference from our Form 8-K dated August 5, 2009.

Filed herewith, in addition to items, if any, sfexlly identified above:

(12)
(21)
(23)
(24)
(31.1)

(31.2)

(32.1)

Calculation of ratio of earnings to fixed ohes.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of independent registered public atimog firm.

Power of attorney.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officearsuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002, 18
U.S.C. Section 1350.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officpursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002, 18
U.S.C. Section 1350.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officearsuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002, 18
U.S.C. Section 1350.
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(32.2) Certification of the Chief Financial Officpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoRA2002, 18
U.S.C. Section 1350.
(95) Mine Safety Disclosures.
(101.INS) XBRL Instance Document.
(101.SCH) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
(101.CAL) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Lirdde Document.
(101.DEF) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition LinkdmDocument.
(101.LAB) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase donent.
(101.PRE) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation hade Document.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

A Form 10-K summary is provided at the beginninghi$¢ document, with hyperlinked cross-referenddss allows
users to easily locate the corresponding item®mFLO-K, where the disclosure is fully presenfBite summary does
not include certain Part Il information that icerporated by reference from a future proxy statdrfigng.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf bytidersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

3M COMPANY

By /s/ Nicholas C. Gangestad
Nicholas C. Gangeste
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
February 8, 2018

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in theatipa indicated on February 8, 2018.

Signature

Title

Inge G. Thulin
Ippocratis Vrohidis

Sondra L. Barbour
Thomas K. Brown
Vance D. Coffman
David B. Dillon
Michael L. Eskew
Herbert L. Henkel
Amy E. Hood
Muhtar Kent
Edward M. Liddy
Gregory R. Page
Patricia A. Woertz

Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Exeeufificer
(Principal Executive Officer and Director)
Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief Aating Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

Nicholas C. Gangestad, by signing his name hedetes hereby sign this document pursuant to powextarney duly
executed by the other persons named, filed wittsdmurities and Exchange Commission on behalf df sther
persons, all in the capacities and on the datedstatich persons constituting a majority of theators of the Company.

By /s/ Nicholas C. Gangestad
Nicholas C. Gangestadttorney-in-Fact
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EXHIBIT 10.6

3M COMPANY
2016 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

PERFORMANCE SHARE AWARD AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the 3M Company 2016 Long-Term Incerfilan (as amended from time to time, tRdah”), 3M
Company (the Company) granted to the participant listed belowPérticipant’) the performance shares described below
(the “Performance Share$. The Performance Shares are subject to thestand conditions set forth in this Performance
Share Award Agreement, the vesting provisions a@ghfin Appendix A hereto (theVesting AppendiX), any special
terms and conditions for Participant’s countryfeeth in Appendix B hereto (theGlobal AppendiX) and the Plan. This
Performance Share Award Agreement, the Vesting Agigeand the Global Appendix are referred to, aiilely, as this
“Agreement’ The Plan, the Vesting Appendix and the GlobapAndix are incorporated into this Performance &har
Award Agreement by reference.

Participant:

Grant Date:

Target Number of
Performance Shares:

Performance Period: , 20__ through , 20__ (Berformance Periot)

Vesting Schedule: Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agresinaad the Plan, the Performa
Shares shall vest as set forth in the Vesting Agpemereto.

Except as provided in Sections 1.3 and 1.5 ofRkigormance Share Award Agreem
in the Vesting Appendix, the Global Appendix, or etherwise provided by tl
Administrator, in no event shall tHeerformance Shares vest following Participe
Termination of Service.

ELECTRONIC ACCEPTANCE OF AWARD:

By clicking on the ACCEPT” box on the Grant Terms and Agreement page, you agree to be bound by the terms
and conditions of this Agreement atine Plan. You acknowledge that you have reviewetfally understand all of tr
provisions of this Agreement and the Plan, and leakethe opportunity to obtain advice of couns@&mtio accepting
the grant of the Performance Shares pursuantsditiieement. You hereby agree to accept as bindorglusive and
final all decisions or interpretations of the Adisirator upon any questions arising under the Btarlating to the
Performance Shares.

143



ARTICLE I.
AWARD; VESTING; FORFEITURE AND SETTLEMENT

1.1 Performance Shares and Dividend Equingsle

(a) This Award is expressed in terms ©haget Number of Performance Shares as set foatheab
(the “Target Number of Performance Shar§s The actual number of Performance Shares tlagtime earned will depend
on Participant’s continued service with the Companyny Subsidiary and the extent to which the qrernce goals
established for the Award are achieved. Each Regoce Share earned represents the right to reoa&hare on the
terms, and subject to the conditions, set fortthia Agreement. Participant will have no rightthe distribution of any
Shares until the time (if ever) the Performancer&haave vested.

(b) The Company hereby grants to Partitipaith respect to each Performance Share, a &idd
Equivalent for ordinary cash dividends paid to samigally all holders of outstanding Shares witleeord date after the Grant
Date and prior to the date the applicable Perfoom&mare is settled, forfeited or otherwise expitsch Dividend Equivalent
entitles Participant to receive the equivalent &alfiany such ordinary cash dividends paid on glesiShare. The Company
will establish a separate Dividend Equivalent ba&aging account (aDividend Equivalent Accouri) for each Dividend
Equivalent and credit the Dividend Equivalent Aaub(without interest) on the applicable dividendipant date with the
amount of any such cash paid.

1.2 Vesting; Forfeiture.

(@) The Performance Shares will vest atiogrto the vesting schedule set forth in the \heggti
Appendix (the Vesting Schedul§. Except as otherwise provided by the Adminigirgor its delegate) or as provided
for in the Plan or this Agreement with respect @rtieipant's Termination of Service prior to thestladay of the
Performance Period by reason of Participant's Betimt, death or Disability, the Performance Shaitsmmediately
and automatically be cancelled and forfeited apportion that is not vested as of Participah&smination of Service
to the extent such Termination of Service occuisrpio the last day of the Performance Period. adidition, the
Performance Shares will immediately and automadyida¢ cancelled and forfeited (including any pantidhat is then
vested) upon the execution of a written determamaltiy the Administrator or an authorized reprederaf the Company
that Participant engaged in an act of Miscondudtefiver the execution of such written determinatioours before or
after Participant’s Termination of Service).

(b) Dividend Equivalents (including anyvidiend Equivalent Account balance) will vest or be
forfeited, as applicable, upon the vesting or fibufe of the Performance Share with respect to Wwhite Dividend
Equivalent (including the Dividend Equivalent Aceurelates.

1.3 Special Vesting Provisions. Notwitimstimg anything to the contrary in Section 1.2 @& Yresting
Schedule, the Performance Shares shall continuestp or vest on an accelerated basis, in the efdtdrticipant’s
Termination of Service prior to the last day of Berformance Period under the following circumsgasnc

@ If Participant’s Termination of Semwioccurs prior to the last day of the Performaneeol
by reason of Participant’s Retirement, the PerforteaShares shall remain eligible to vest in acawdavith the Vesting
Schedule as if Participant had not incurred a Teation of Service, subject to accelerated vestimgymnt to clause (c)
of this Section 1.3; provided, however, that thegéa
Number of Performance Shares shall be adjustegttafé as of Participant’s Termination of Serviag follows:

0] If Participant was appointed to theeEutive Conference on or after January
1, 2006 and on or before December 31, 2017, thgeT&tumber of Performance Shares shall be adjtstegual
the product of (A) the Target Number of Performat®res, as in effect immediately prior to Partioifs
Termination of Service, and (B) a fraction, the euator of which equals the number of whole calemdanths
Participant provided services to the Company or &uopsidiary during the Performance Period and the
denominator of which equals the total number of thein the Performance Period; or
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(ii) If Participant was appointed to thgeeutive Conference before January 1,
2006 or after December 31, 2017, the Target Nummberformance Shares shall be adjusted to egaigrtduct
of (A) the Target Number of Performance Sharesn affect immediately prior to Participant’s Terration of
Service, and (B) a fraction, the numerator of whidfuals the number of consecutive three-month gerio
Participant provided services to the Company orSuysidiary during the first twelve months of tregfBrmance
Period and the denominator of which equals four.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company rgesian opinion of counsel that there has beenad leg
judgment and/or legal development in Participatissdiction that likely would result in the favdie Retirement
treatment that otherwise would apply to the Perforoe Shares pursuant to this Section 1.3(a) beieghdd unlawful
and/or discriminatory, then the Company will nopbpthis favorable Retirement treatment at the twhéarticipant’'s
Termination of Service and the Performance Shaikdetreated as they would under the rules thhewise would
have applied if Participant’s Termination of Seevitid not qualify as a Retirement.

(b) If Participant’s Termination of Sergioccurs by reason of Disability prior to the lday of
the Performance Period, the Performance Shardsrshalin eligible to vest in accordance with thestiteg Schedule as
if Participant had not incurred a Termination ofn#®&e, subject to accelerated vesting pursuantlaase (c) of this
Section 1.3.

(c) If Participant’s Termination of Sergioccurs by reason of death or Participant didsvidhg
the date of Participant's Termination of Servicerbgson of Retirement or Disability, in each caserpo the last day of
the Performance Period, Participant shall vest mumber of Performance Shares equal to the legg@r the Target
Number of Performance Shares, or (ii) such othenlrar of Performance Shares determined by the Adimator, in its
discretion.

For purposes of this Article I, the ternbisability” shall have the meaning given to such term in Suea
Regulation section 1.409A-3(i)(4).

1.4 Settlement.

(@) Except as provided in Section 1.44tl) of Participant’s Performance Shares which aent
vested, and any related Dividend Equivalents (iiclg any Dividend Equivalent Account balance), w#l paid in Shares
during the thirty (30)-day period beginning wittetbarliest to occur of the following events:

® the Certification Date (as definedlie Vesting Appendix) (provided that in no event
will Shares be issued in settlement of ParticigaRe&rformance Shares pursuant to this clause
(i) later than March 15 of the calendar year imrataly following the completion of the PerformanaiBd;

(ii) the date of Participant’s death; or

(iii) the date of Participant’s Terminatiof Service following a Change in Control of the

Company (provided that, if Participant is or wik leligible for Retirement at any time during thef®enance Period,
such Termination of Service must constitute a “safi@n from service” from the Company (within theaming of Section
409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code and Treasury Regulati®ection 1.409A-1(h)). Notwithstanding anythingthe contrary
in this Agreement or the Plan, no Performance Shar®ividend Equivalents shall be distributed #otRipant pursuant
to this Section 1.4(a)(iii) during the six-monthripe following Participant’s separation from sewid the Company
determines that distributing such Performance Sharel Dividend Equivalents at the time or timesdatkd in this
Agreement would be a prohibited distribution un8ection 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code. If the distition of any of
Participant’'s Performance Shares and Dividend Edents is delayed as a result of the previous seatethen such
Performance Shares and Dividend Equivalents (imetudny Dividend Equivalent Account balance) shwl paid to
Participant during the thirty (30)-day period bediyg on the first business day following the endwth six-month period
(or such earlier date upon which such Performarn@@es and Dividend Equivalents can be distributediet Section
409A without resulting in a prohibited distributiancluding as a result of Participant’s death).
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(b) The number of Shares paid with respet¢he Dividend Equivalents will equal the quotien
rounded to the nearest one-thousandth of a Shattes Bividend Equivalent Account balance dividsgcthe Fair Market
Value of a Share on the Certification Date.

(c) If permitted by the Company and preddParticipant makes a valid deferral election wvith
the time period specified by the Company in theedaf election form, then Participant may eleatitange the timing of
receipt of the Shares otherwise distributable urfiection 1.4(a). Any such deferral election mushgly with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code and tipdiGgble Treasury Regulations or other guidanceedshereunder as
well as any Plan rules on deferrals and must beeroach form approved by the Company. To the extete, any such
deferral election will be incorporated herein big tteference.

(d) Notwithstanding any provisions of tiigreement or the Plan to the contrary, the time of
distribution of the Performance Shares and thedeivd Equivalents under this Agreement may not begéd except as
may be permitted by the Administrator in accordamgth Section 409A and the applicable Treasury Ra@gns
promulgated thereunder.

15 Effect of Change in Control. Notwithsdéng anything to the contrary in the Vesting ScHedu
Sections 1.2 and 1.3, in the event of Participaf¢smination of Service prior to the last day of Performance Period
(i) by the Company or any Subsidiary other thaa assult of Participant’s Misconduct or (ii) by Beipant for Good
Reason, in either case, within eighteen (18) mofatswing a Change in Control of the Company, R#rant shall vest
in a number of Performance Shares equal to theofum

(a) With respect to any calendar yean@jg the Performance Period that have ended fwitire
date of such Termination of Service, the Vestinigikle Shares for such calendar year(s) as detednoursuant to the
Vesting Schedule; plus

(b) With respect to any calendar year(s)rd) the Performance Period that have not endied pr
to the date of such Termination of Service, thatgst of (i) the Performance Shares that would baea Vesting Eligible
Shares for such calendar year(s) if the Compamgrtfopmance relative to the performance objectiegsstich calendar
year(s) equaled its actual performance during tleasendar quarters completed during the calendar ipewhich such
Participant’s Termination of Service occurs anaptd the date of such Termination of Service a$msth in the Vesting
Schedule, (ii) the Performance Shares that wouldk Heen Vesting Eligible Shares for such calendsr(g) if the
Company’s performance relative to the performarjeatives for the such calendar year(s) equalegtiisal performance
for the three consecutive calendar year periodngnisihmediately prior to the calendar year in whieé Termination of
Service occurs, or (iii) such other number of Perfance Shares determined by the Administratorisrdiscretion;
provided, however, that the resulting number oféterance Shares under this Section 1.5 shall be to reflect the
number of full calendar months during the PerforogaReriod that elapsed prior to the date of Ppeidis Termination
of Service.

For purposes of this Section 1.55dod Reasohmeans (i) a material diminution in Participanpssition,
authority, duties or responsibilities as in effecinediately prior to the Change in Control of then@pany, (ii) a material
diminution in Participant’s base salary or anndahped cash compensation, or (iii) a material ckanghe geographic
location at which Participant is required to pemfaservices for the Company or its Subsidiaries.

ARTICLE II.
TAXATION AND TAX WITHHOLDING

2.1 Responsibility for Taxes.

(a) Participant acknowledges that, regemslof any action taken by the Company or, if déffie,
Participant’'s employer (theEmployer’), the ultimate liability for all income tax, sadiinsurance, payroll tax, fringe
benefit tax, payment on account or other tax-rdldtems related to Participant’s participation ke tPlan and legally
applicable to Participant or deemed by the Compamthe Employer in its discretion to be an appratgricharge to
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Participant even if legally applicable to the Compar the Employer Tax-Related Item?§ is and remains Participant’s
responsibility and may exceed the amount actuaithheld by the Company or the Employer. Partictpfumther
acknowledges that the Company and/or the Emplayerake no representations or undertakings reggritie treatment
of any Tax-Related Items in connection with anyeg$pf the Performance Shares, including, butinotdd to, the grant
or vesting of the Performance Shares or any relBfeidiend Equivalents, the subsequent sale of Shacgquired upon
vesting, and the receipt of any dividends; andd@)not commit to and are under no obligation tacttire the terms of
the grant or any aspect of the Performance Sharesduce or eliminate Participant’s liability foeX-Related Items or
achieve any particular tax result. Further, iftRgrant is subject to Tax-Related Items in morantlone jurisdiction,
Participant acknowledges that the Company andmgEthployer (or former employer, as applicable) fnayequired to
withhold or account for Tax-Related Items in mdrart one jurisdiction.

(b) Prior to the relevant taxable or tathiwolding event, as applicable, Participant agteesssist
the Company and/or the Employer in satisfying appliaable withholding obligations for Tax-Relate@rms. In this
regard, the Company and/or the Employer, or thespective agents, at their discretion, may sat@fwllow Participant
to satisfy, the withholding obligation with regatal all Tax-Related Items by any of the following, @ combination
thereof:

0] By cash, check or wire transfer ofniediately available funds; provided that the
Company may limit the use of one of the foregoirgthmds if one or more of the methods below is pexeah

(i) Delivery (including telephonically the extent permitted by the Company) of a notieg t
Participant has placed a market sell order wittoldy acceptable to the Company with respect toeShen issuable
upon settlement of the Performance Shares, anththbtoker has been directed to deliver promptié¢ Company
funds sufficient to satisfy the obligation for TRelated Items; provided that such amount is patfdedCompany at
such time as may be required by the Company;

(iii) To the extent permitted by the Adnsinator, surrendering Shares then issuable upon
settlement of the Performance Shares valued atRhgiMarket Value on such date; or

(iv) By the deduction of such amount frothes compensation payable to Participant.

(c) The Company and/or the Employer hasripht and option, but not the obligation, to trea
Participant’s failure to provide timely payment ary Tax-Related Items as Participant’s electiosatsfy all or any
portion of the Tax-Related Items pursuant to Sec®d (b)(iii) or (iv) above, or a combination ofcusections.

(d) Depending on the withholding methdte Company and/or the Employer may withhold or
account for Tax-Related Items by considering applie minimum statutory withholding amounts or otheplicable
withholding rates, including maximum applicableesgtin which case Participant may receive a refoindny over-
withheld amount in cash through the Employer’s radrpayroll processes and will have no entitlemerthe Common
Stock equivalent. If the obligation for Tax-Relhtéems is satisfied by surrendering Shares, sdtelyax purposes and
not intended to modify or restrict in any way Seuté.2 of the Plan, Participant is deemed to haenbssued the full
number of Shares subject to the vested Perform@haee, notwithstanding that a number of Sharesuarendered for
the purpose of paying the Tax-Related Items.

(e) Participant understands and agredsctréain tax withholding amounts may be due ptior
any issuance of Shares under Section 1.4 if theoiPesince Shares are at any time not subject tdstautial risk of
forfeiture for purposes of Section 83 of the Codernto such date. If Shares are issued on anleeted basis to satisfy
the Federal Insurance Contributions Act tax impaseder Sections 3101, 3121(a) or 3121(v)(2) ofGbde (the FICA
Tax") as provided in this Section 2.1(e) as a resuthe lapse of the substantial risk of forfeituoe purposes of Section
83 of the Code prior to the issuance of Sharesn@éetion 1.4, then Participant may have incometaource on wages
imposed under Section 3401 of the Code or the sporeding withholding provisions of applicable stddeal or foreign
tax laws (together with the FICA Tax, thEICA-Related Taxe¥. Participant’'s FICA-Related Taxes shall be sidid
by the deduction of such amount from other compiasg@ayable to Participant. To the extent theebttompensation
payable to Participant is determined by the Companie insufficient to satisfy Participant’'s FIGRelated Taxes,
Participant’s acceptance of the Performance Sheesinder constitutes Participant’s instruction amithorization to the
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Company to satisfy the FICA-Related Taxes throbgheiccelerated issuance and withholding of Shdheswise issuable
pursuant to the Performance Shares having a theartirair Market Value not exceeding the amounessary to satisfy
the FICA-Related Taxes of the Company and itsiafés based on the minimum applicable statutorkiiwitding rates.

()] Finally, Participant agrees to paythe Company or the Employer any amount of Tax-Relat
Items that the Company or the Employer may be redud withhold or account for as a result of R#tint’s participation
in the Plan that cannot be satisfied by the measgqusly described. The Company may refuse tmhire vesting of
the Performance Shares and/or refuse to issudiveidine Shares or the proceeds from the saleeoShares if Participant
fails to comply with Participant’s obligations iomnection with the Tax-Related Items.

ARTICLE III.
OTHER PROVISIONS

3.1 Nature of Grant. In accepting the ®enfance Shares, Participant understands, acknoededgd
agrees that:

(@) the Plan is established voluntarilythy Company, it is discretionary in nature anchiy be
modified, amended, suspended or terminated by tmep@ny at any time in accordance with its terms;

(b) the grant of the Performance Sharegdsptional, voluntary and occasional and doesnaaite
any contractual or other right to receive futurargs of Performance Shares, or benefits in lieBeformance Shares,
even if Performance Shares have been granted jpat$te

(c) all decisions with respect to futuexfdrmance Share or other grants, if any, will béha sole
discretion of the Administrator;

(d) the Performance Share grant and @aation in the Plan shall not create a right to Erypment
or be interpreted as forming or amending an empéntnor service contract with the Company, the Eygipor any
other Subsidiary and shall not interfere with thmlity of the Company, the Employer or any otherbSidiary, as
applicable, to terminate Participant’s employmergearvice relationship (if any) at any time withwaithout cause;

(e) Participant is voluntarily participagiin the Plan;

)] the Performance Shares and any Slaaepsred under the Plan, and the income from ahtbv
of same, are not intended to replace any pensihsror compensation;

(9) the Performance Shares and any Shatsred under the Plan, and the income from ahgva
of same, are not part of normal or expected congiims for purposes of calculating any severancsignation,
termination, redundancy, dismissal, end of serpagments, bonuses, long-service awards, pensi@tic@ment benefits,
welfare benefits or other similar payments;

(h) the future value of the Shares undegyhe Performance Shares is unknown, indeterrténab
and cannot be predicted with certainty;

® no claim or entittement to compensatior damages shall arise from forfeiture of the
Performance Shares resulting from Participant’sriiiesition of Service (for any reason whatsoever,thdreor not later
found to be invalid or in breach of employment lawghe jurisdiction where Participant is employadthe terms of
Participant’'s employment agreement, if any);

0] for purposes of the Performance Shafeermination of Service will be deemed to have
occurred as of the date Participant is no longévely providing services to the Company or anyitsfSubsidiaries
(regardless of the reason for such terminationveimether or not later found to be invalid or in hreaf employment laws
in the jurisdiction where Participant is employedlee terms of Participant’s employment agreemiéany), and unless
otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement etetmined by the Administrator, Participant’s rightvest in the
Performance Shares, if any, will terminate as chalate and will not be extended by any noticeqoefé.g., Participant’s

148



period of service would not include any contractual notice period or any period of “garden leave” or similar period
mandated under employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is employed or the terms of Participant’s
employment agreement, if any); the Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when Participant is no
longer actively providing services for purposes of the Performance Shares (including whether Participant may still be
considered to be providing services while on a leave of absence);

(k) unless otherwise agreed with the Company, the Performance Shares and the Shares underlying
the Performance Shares, and the income and value of same, are not granted as consideration for, or in connection with,
any services Participant may provide as a director of a Subsidiary;

0] unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Administrator, the Performance Shares and the
benefits evidenced by this Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the Performance Shares or any such benefits
transferred to, or assumed by, another company, nor to be exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, in connection with any
corporate transaction affecting the Common Stock;

(m) the following provision shall not apply to Employees in the State of California: In consideration
of the grant of the Performance Shares, and to the extent permitted by applicable law, Participant agrees not to institute
any claim against the Company, the Employer or any other Subsidiary, to waive Participant’s ability, if any, to bring such
claim, and release the Company, the Employer and any other Subsidiary from any such claim; if, notwithstanding the
foregoing, any such claim is allowed by a court of competent jurisdiction, then, by participating in the Plan, Participant
shall be deemed irrevocably to have agreed not to pursue such claim and agrees to execute any and all documents necessary
to request dismissal or withdrawal of such claim; and

(n) the following provisions apply if Participant is providing services outside the United States:

0] the Performance Shares and any Shares acquired under the Plan, and the income and
value of same, are not part of normal or expected compensation or salary for any purpose; and

(ii) neither the Company, the Employer nor any other Subsidiary shall be liable for any
foreign exchange rate fluctuation between Participant’s local currency and the United States Dollar that
may affect the value of the Performance Shares or any amounts due to Participant pursuant to the vesting
of the Performance Shares or the subsequent sale of any Shares acquired upon such vesting.

3.2 No Advice Regarding Grant. The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is
the Company making recommendations regarding participation in the Plan, or Participant’s acquisition or sale of the
underlying Shares. Participant understands and agrees that Participant should consult with Participant’s own personal
tax, legal and financial advisors regarding participation in the Plan before taking any action related to his or her
Award(s).

3.3 Data Privacy. Participant hereby explicitly and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and
transfer, in electronic or other form, of Participant’s personal data as described in this Agreement and any other
Performance Share grant materials by and among, as applicable, the Employer, the Company and its other Subsidiaries
for the purpose of implementing, administering and managing the Plan.

Participant understands that the Company and the Employer may hold certain personal information about
Participant, including, but not limited to, Participant's name, home address, email address and telephone number, date
of birth, passport, social insurance number or other identification nhumber, salary, nationality, job title, any shares of
stock or directorships held in the Company, details of all stock options, Performance Shares or any other entitlement
to shares of stock awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in Participant’s favor (“Data”), for the
purpose of implementing, administering and managing the Plan.

Participant understands that Data will be transferred to Fidelity Investments, or such other stock plan service

provider as may be selected by the Company in the future, which is assisting the Company with the implementation,
administration and management of the Plan. Participant understands that the recipients of the Data may be located in
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the United States or elsewhere, and that the recipients’ country (e.g., the United States) may have different data privacy
laws and protections than Participant’s country. Participant understands that if Participant resides outside the United
States Participant may request a list with the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Data by contacting
Participant’s local human resources representative. Participant authorizes the Company, Fidelity Investments and any
other possible recipients which may assist the Company (presently or in the future) with implementing, administering
and managing the Plan to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the purpose
of implementing, administering and managing the Plan. Participant understands that Data will be held only as long
as is necessaryto implement,administer and managethe Plan. Participant understandsthat if Participant resides
outside the United States, Participant may, at any time, view Data, request information about the storage and processing
of Data, require any necessaryamendmentdo Data or refuse or withdraw the consentsherein, in any casewithout

cost, by contactingin writing Participant’s local human resourcesrepresentative. Further, Participant understands

that Participant is providing the consentsherein on a purely voluntary basis. If Participant doesnot consent,or if
Participant later seeks to revoke Participant’s consent, Participant’'s employment status or service with the Employer
will not be affected; the only consequence of refusing or withdrawing Participant’s consent is that the Company may
not be able to grant Performance Shares or other equity awards to Participant or administer or maintain such awards.
Therefore, Participant understands that refusing or withdrawing Participant’s consent may affect Participant’s ability

to participate in the Plan. For more information on the consequences of Participant’s refusal to consent or
withdrawal of consent, Participant understands that Participant may contact Participant’s local human resources
representative.

3.4 Transferability. The Performance Shares are not transferable, except by will or the laws of descent and
distribution or as permitted by the Administrator in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

35 Adjustments. Participant acknowledges that the Performance Shares, the Shares subject to the
Performance Shares and the Dividend Equivalents are subject to adjustment, modification and termination in certain
events as provided in this Agreement and the Plan.

3.6 Defined Terms; Titles. Capitalized terms not defined in this Agreement have the meanings given to
them in the Plan. Titles are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or
construction of this Agreement.

3.7 Conformity to Applicable Laws. Participant acknowledges that the Plan and this Agreement are
intended to conform to the extent necessary with all Applicable Laws and, to the extent Applicable Laws permit, will be
deemed amended as necessary to conform to Applicable Laws.

3.8 Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Agreement to single or
multiple assignees, and this Agreement will inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to
the transfer provisions set forth in the Plan, this Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs,
legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.

3.9 Entire Agreement and Imposition of Other Terms. The Plan, this Agreement (including all exhibits and
appendices hereto) and any valid deferral election made pursuant to Section 1.4(c) constitute the entire agreement of the
parties and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and Participant with respect
to the subject matter hereof. Nonetheless, the Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on Participant’s
participation in the Plan, on the Performance Shares and on any Shares acquired under the Plan, to the extent the
Company determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require Participant to sign any
additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing. In the event of any
inconsistency between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the Plan will control.

3.10 Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held illegal or invalid, the provision
will be severable from, and the illegality or invalidity of the provision will not be construed to have any effect on, the
remaining provisions of this Agreement.

3.11 Waiver. Participant acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of any provision of this

Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent
breach by Participant or any other person.
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3.12 _Limitation on Participant’s Rights. Participation in the Plan confers no rights or interests other than as
herein provided. This Agreement creates a contractual arrangement between the Company and Participant only and shall
not be construed as creating a trust for the benefit of Participant. Neither the Plan nor any underlying program, in and of
itself, has any assets. Participant will have only the rights of a general unsecured creditor of the Company with respect to
amounts credited and benefits payable, if any, with respect to the Performance Shares and Dividend Equivalents, and rights
no greater than the right to receive the Shares as a general unsecured creditor with respect to the Performance Shares and
Dividend Equivalents, as and when settled pursuant to the terms hereof.

3.13 _Electronic Delivery and Acceptance. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any
documents related to current or future participation in the Plan by electronic means. Participant hereby consents to receive
such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system
established and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

3.14 _Language. Participant acknowledges that he or she is sufficiently proficient in English to understand the
terms and conditions of this Agreement. Furthermore, if Participant receives this Agreement or any other document
relating to the Plan translated into a language other than English, and if the meaning of the translated version is different
than the English version, the English version will control.

3.15 _Foreign Asset/Account and Exchange Control and Tax Reporting. Participant acknowledges that,
depending on Participant’s country, Participant may be subject to foreign asset/account, exchange control and/or tax
reporting requirements as a result of the acquisition, holding and/or transfer of Shares (including dividends received or the
proceeds arising from the sale of Shares) derived from participation in the Plan, in, to and/or from a brokerage/bank account
or legal entity located outside Participant’'s country. The Applicable Laws of Participant’s country may require that
Participant report such accounts, assets, the balances therein, the value thereof and/or the transactions related thereto to the
applicable authorities in such country. Participant acknowledges that Participant is responsible for ensuring compliance
with any applicable foreign asset/account, exchange control and tax reporting requirements and should consult
Participant’s personal legal advisor on these matters.

3.16 _Insider Trading Restrictions/Market Abuse Laws. Participant acknowledges that, depending on
Participant’s country, or broker’s country, or the country in which the Shares are listed, Participant may be subject to
insider trading restrictions and/or market abuse laws in applicable jurisdictions, which may affect Participant’s ability to,
directly or indirectly, accept, acquire, sell, or attempt to sell or otherwise dispose of Shares or rights to Shares under the
Plan during such times when Participant is considered to have “inside information” regarding the Company (as defined by
the laws or regulations in the applicable jurisdictions or Participant’s country). Local insider trading laws and regulations
may prohibit the cancellation or amendment of orders placed by Participant before possessing inside information.
Furthermore, Participant understands that he or she may be prohibited from (i) disclosing the inside information to any
third party, including fellow employees (other than on a “need to know” basis) and (ii) “tipping” third parties or causing
them to otherwise buy or sell securities. Any restrictions under these laws or regulations are separate from and in addition
to any restrictions that may be imposed under any applicable insider trading policy of the Company. Participant
acknowledges that Participant is responsible for ensuring compliance with any applicable restrictions and should consult
Participant’s personal legal advisor on these matters.

3.17 _Section 409A. The intent of the parties is that the payments and benefits under this Agreement comply
with or be exempt from Section 409A and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder and, accordingly, to the
maximum extent permitted, this Agreement shall be interpreted to be in compliance therewith. For purposes of Section
409A, each payment that Participant may be eligible to receive under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate and
distinct payment.
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3.18 Appendices. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Performance Share Award Agreement, the
Performance Shares and Dividend Equivalents shall be subject to any special terms and conditions set forth in the Vesting
Appendix and the Global Appendix. Specifically, in the event Participant resides or relocates to one of the countries
included in the Global Appendix, the terms and conditions for such country will apply to Participant to the extent the
Company determines that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative
reasons. The Vesting Appendix and the Global Appendix constitute a part of this Performance Share Award Agreement.

3.19 _Governing Law and Venue. This Agreement and the Performance Shares and the Dividend Equivalents
will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, disregarding the choice-of-law
principles of the State of Delaware and any other state requiring the application of a jurisdiction’s laws other than the State
of Delaware. For purposes of litigating any dispute concerning the grant of the Performance Shares, the Dividend
Equivalents or this Agreement, Participant consents to the jurisdiction of the State of Minnesota and agrees that such
litigation shall be conducted exclusively in the courts of Ramsey County, Minnesota, or the federal courts for the United
States for the District of Minnesota, where this grant is made and/or to be performed.

* %k k% %
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Appendix A (“VESTING APPENDIX")
to
PERFORMANCE SHARE AWARD AGREEMENT

[Vesting terms to be determined at the time of grant.]
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APPENDIX B (“GLOBAL APPENDIX")
TO
PERFORMANCE SHARE AWARD AGREEMENT

Certain capitalized terms used but not defined in this Global Appendix have the meanings set forth in the
Performance Share Award Agreement (tAgreement”) or, if not defined therein, the Plan.

Terms and Conditions

This Global Appendix includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Performance Shares granted to
Participant under the Plan if Participant resides and/or works in one of the countries listed below. If Participant is a citizen
or resident of a country other than the one in which Participant resides and/or works, is considered a resident of another
country for local law purposes or transfers employment and/or residency between countries after the Grant Date, the
Company shall determine, in its sole discretion, to what extent the terms and conditions contained herein shall apply to
Participant.

Notifications

This Global Appendix also includes information regarding exchange controls and certain other issues of which
Participant should be aware with respect to Participant’s participation in the Plan. The information is based on the
securities, exchange control and other laws in effect in the respective countries as of November 2017. Such laws are often
complex and change frequently. As a result, the Company strongly recommends that Participant not rely on the information
in this Global Appendix as the only source of information relating to the consequences of Participant’s participation in the
Plan because the information may become out of date in the future.

In addition, the information contained herein is general in nature and may not apply to Participant’s particular
situation, and the Company is not in a position to assure Participant of any particular result. Accordingly, Participant is
advised to seek appropriate professional advice as to how the relevant laws in Participant’'s country may apply to
Participant’s situation.

Finally, if Participant is a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which Participant resides and/or
works, is considered a resident of another country for local law purposes or transfers employment and/or residency to
another country after the Grant Date, or, the information contained herein may not be applicable to Participant.

[Country-specific terms to be determined at the time of grant.]
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EXHIBIT 10.11

(PARTICIPANT NAME)

This On-line Grant Agreement (OGA) is intended to provide you with the number of target performance shares actually
assigned to you in connection with your 201 Performance Share award and for you to acknowledge receipt of your
award. The number of target performance shéfeSF SHARES GRANTEDR)was calculated by dividing the target

value of your Performance Share award by the Grant Date Fair Maluex) of the award oiGRANT DATE).

Performance Share awards issued under the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) are a significant part of your total
compensation as a 3M executive. Performance Shares reward your leadership and commitment in managing 3M's
business for sustainability and improved results over time.

The 201__ award will compensate you for the results we achieve against corporate financial goals over the three-year
period 201,201 and 201__. The maximum payout will be 2 times the number of target performance shares
assigned to you at the time of the award.

Maximize the value of your Performance Shares

e The metrics used for Performance Shares have changed to these four metrics: Organic Sales Volume Growth
compared to the Worldwide Industrial Production Index (IPI), Return on Invested Capital (ROIC), Free Cash
Flow Conversion and Earnings per Share Growth.

* Your 201__ individual performance rating was a factor in your 201___ award. Your Performance Shares award
was adjusted based on your performance rating and Leadership Behaviors score.

e The targets for 201___ align with the guidance range provided to investors and with 3M’s 201__ Operating Plan.

201__ Performance Share Payout Matrix:

Organic Sales Wolume Growh ROIC EPS Growth Free Cash Flow Convarsion

Y%of Taget %ol Tage | EFS Growth e | %ol Target | FOF Comesion | 96df Tage

e WW IR Shares ROIC vs. Tamet Shaes Taoet Srares ws. Target Shaes
[_Thweshdd % [ % % ™% £ % £ s |
[ Tama 05% A% i 0% % AP 100 0% 100% |
[ Madmum Z 0% % 0% 12% A0 1055 405 0% |

For more information about the metrics and how Performance Share awards issued under the LTIP Plan will work,
please review the Performance Share information on 3M Source.

Your 201 award will be governed by the provisions of the LTIP plan document, and will be paid out in March 201___
unless you elected to defer the payout under the 3M Performance Awards Deferred Compensation Plan. If you are
either an L1 executive or a Section 16 Officer of the Company, your 201 award is also subject to the Company’s
revised Policy on Reimbursement of Incentive

Compensation under which the Company may, in certain circumstances described in the Policy, require reimbursement
of or otherwise recover compensation it pays or provides to you.

By accepting the grant of this Performance Share award, you agree to all the terms and conditions described in the LTIP
plan document.
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EXHIBIT 10.22

AMENDED AND RESTATED
3M EXECUTIVE LIFE INSURANCE PLAN

1 Purpose of the Plan

The purpose of the 3M Executive Life Insurance Plan is to provide those executive employees who participate in the
Plan with Company-funded insurance coverage during employment and with the opportunity to continue their insurance
coverage after retirement (at the individual's expense) through 3M's obtaining one or more life insurance policies on
their behalf. The Plan is designed to work together with 3M’s Basic Life Insurance Plan and the additional coverage
offered by the 3M Employees’ Benefits Trust Association to afford participating executive employees the opportunity to
obtain comprehensive death benefit protection for their families and beneficiaries.

The actual amount of death benefit a Participant's Beneficiary may receive from the policies purchased pursuant to this
Plan will vary by such factors as the Insurance Carrier's policy dividend crediting rate, time of retirement, and the
manner in which the Participant elects to maintain the policy or policies after retirement, as well as other factors.

This document reflects the provisions of the Plan as amended through November 11, 2007. The initial effective date of
this Plan was October 1, 1993.

2. Definitions

2.1  "Agreement" means the written instrument between an Employee and the Company, wherein the Employee and
the Company clarify the terms and conditions under which Employee will participate in the Plan.

2.2 "Annual Premium' means the amount of consideration determined by the Insurance Carrier and agreed upon by
the Company for an Insurance Policy issued under the Plan.

2.3 "Assignment" means the written document filed with the Plan Administrator and the Insurance Carrier whereby a
Participant assigns ownership of an Insurance Policy to another person, entity or trust, subject to the Company’s
rights as described in the respective Agreement (if applicable) and the assignment included in such Agreement.

2.4  "Beneficiary" means the person(s) entitled to receive the Participant Death Benefit under an Insurance Policy
following the death of the Participant.

2.5 "Company" means 3M Company, a Delaware corporation (also referred to herein as "3M,"), its subsidiaries and
affiliates, and its successors or assigns.

2.6 "Compensation" means the amount of the Participant’s planned total cash compensation for a Participant who is a
current Employee. For a Participant who has retired from the Company but remains a Participant under the
Plan, Compensation means the Participant’s approximate planned total cash compensation in effect immediately
prior to the time of retirement.

2.7 "Corporate Capital Interest" means the Insurance Policy's cumulative Annual Premiums paid by the Company in
respect of a Policy with respect to which the Participant has entered into a split dollar insurance agreement with
the Company, as set forth in Section 6.2. The Corporate Capital Interest shall be reduced by policy loans, if any
(including any unpaid interest thereon), taken by the Company. The actual amount of the Corporate Capital
Interest shall be determined by the Company, and such determination shall be binding upon the Insurance
Carrier and any person having an ownership or beneficial interest in the Insurance Policy.

2.8  "Employee" means any person employed by the Company as a member of its Executive Conference and who
receives Compensation for personal services rendered to the Company.
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2.9

2.10

2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

2.17

3.1

3.2.

3.3.

4.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirementine Security Act of 1974, as amended.
"Insurance Age" means the age of the @tsaccording to the Insurance Policy.

"Insurance Carrier" means the life insaeacompany or companies selected by the Compaisgue policies
under or pursuant to the Plan.

"Insurance Policy" means the life insuepolicy, together with additional policy benefitsd riders, if any,
issued by the Insurance Carrier pursuant to the. Fixcept to the extent such defined terms arenisistent
with defined terms under the Plan, insurance tarsesl herein shall have the same meaning as imsieance
Policy.

"Participant” means an Employee who hasand continues to meet all the applicable eligipilequirements
under the Plan.

"Participant Death Benefit" means anyiparof the total death benefit of an Insurance &olvhich is above an
amount equal to the Corporate Capital Interest.

"Plan" means the 3M Executive Life InswaPlan.

"Plan Administrator" means the person bomv the Company has delegated the authority ambnesbility for
administering the Plan. Unless and until changethb Company, the Plan Administrator of the Plaallsoe
3M’s Staff Vice President, Global Compensation Bedefits or her successor.

"Termination of Service" means the Partiot's ceasing his or her employment with the Campar any
reason, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, inding by reasons of retirement, disability or de&for
purposes of this Plan, a Termination of Servicdl sltgur when a Participant no longer meets allapplicable
eligibility requirements under the Plan.

Administration And Interpretation Of The Plan

Plan Administrator. Except as otherwissvided in the Plan, the Plan Administrator shalve control over the

administration and interpretation of the Plan, veththe powers necessary to carry out the intéthePlan.
The Plan Administrator may adopt such rules andlegigns relating to the Plan as the Plan Admiatsir
deems necessary or advisable for the administrafitimee Plan. Any decisions, actions or intergietes of any
provision of the Plan made by the Plan Administratwall be made in its sole discretion, need nairbrmly
applied to similarly situated individuals, and sl final, binding and conclusive on all persamgiested in
the Plan. The Plan Administrator may delegate ahtnative responsibilities to advisors or otherspas and
may rely upon the information or opinions of legalinsel or experts selected to render advice wihect to
the Plan.

Insurance Carrier. The Insurance Casti@il be responsible for all matters relatingrig lnsurance Policy.

Not in limitation, but in amplification of the fogeing, the Insurance Carrier shall decide whetheilliissue
an Insurance Policy on the life of a Participanbwias otherwise met all of the Plan's eligibiliguirements.

Plan Document Shall Control. In the ewenany discrepancy between any other documentsnwinication

pieces or plan summaries prepared pursuant tdPthis, other than the Insurance Policies, the ptanuchent
shall control.

Eligibility and Participation

To become and continue to remain a ParticipartierPlan, an Employee must meet all of the followiguirements:

a)

Be nominated to participate in the Rigithe Company;
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b) Make an application to the Insuranceri€ain the manner set by the Plan Administrator;
c) Meet the insurability requirements of thsurance Carrier and be issued an InsuranceyPatd
d) Sign all documents presented by the Rtiministrator necessary or appropriate to carmytlo@ intent of the Plan.

Since participation under the Plan involves thecpase of an Insurance Policy, which is subjechéoEmployee’s
insurability, the Company does not guarantee thelh &mployee nominated for participation will béeatio participate
in the Plan.

5. Death Benefits

5.1 Amount of Benefits/Coverage. All of thenefits provided under this Plan shall be provieecusively through
the Insurance Policies purchased upon the livélseoParticipants. While a Participant is emploggdhe
Company, the Insurance Policy or Policies purchageuh the life of such Participant will be desigried
provide a Participant Death Benefit equal to apjpnaxely three (3) times the Participant's Compeasgpr in
the case of those Participants who are senior ¢éixeswf the Company, approximately four (4) tinties
Participant’s Compensation less the amount of amfit life insurance coverage available throughdpgonal
life insurance benefit plans offered by the 3M Eoygles’ Benefits Trust Association, if such formwiauld
produce a larger amount) less the amount of sudftipant’s coverage under the 3M Basic Life Insu&
Plan; provided, however, that for a Participant whoot covered by the 3M Basic Life Insurance Pthair
Insurance Policy or Policies shall be designedrtwide a Participant Death Benefit equal to apprately two
(2) times the Participant’s Compensation. Follgiatirement from employment with the Company, the
Insurance Policy or Policies purchased upon tleedifeach Participant whose participation in tHanbegan
prior to September 1, 2003 will be designed to e Participant Death Benefit equal to approxétyadbne
and one-half (1.5) times the Participant’'s Compgosa Notwithstanding the foregoing, the amounaof
Participant’s coverage under this Plan shall beefnoand shall not thereafter increase in the ettt
Participant makes a withdrawal from one or moréhefinsurance Policies purchased upon his or feer li
pursuant to this Plan.

5.2 Offset against Death Benefit. If the Qamy has participated in the purchase of a singlyjum life insurance
policy for which the death benefits are payabléhtoParticipant's Beneficiary, the amount of alddadeath
proceeds under such policy will be used as anoffeen determining the policy amount under Sechidn

5.3 Payment of Death Benefit. Subject toGloenpany's right to first recover its Corporate i@dpnterest with
respect to such Policy or Palicies (if applicabthg death benefit payable under the Plan followiegdeath of
a Participant is the Participant Death Benefit jpdyainder the Insurance Policy or Policies insuthmglife of
such Participant. This Participant Death Benefitlldie determined and paid by the Insurance Cdiinoen the
proceeds of the Insurance Policy or Policies updmrsssion of acceptable proof of death and a cfarm
benefits. The Participant Death Benefit payabla Rarticipant's Beneficiary shall be in accordanitk the
terms of the Insurance Policy or Policies and ttewigions of this Plan.

5.4 No Guarantee of Death Benefit. In thergthat the death proceeds payable under theamsaiPolicy or
Policies insuring the life of a Participant excedussum of the Company's Corporate Capital Intéieany)
and the targeted Participant's Death Benefit uBaetion 5.1, the excess death proceeds shall beqgtie
Participant's Beneficiary. In the event that thatdeproceeds payable under the Insurance PoliPplicies
insuring the life of a Participant are not suffiti¢o provide the targeted Participant's Death Beuader
Section 5.1, the Company shall not be obligateddaie up or compensate the Participant’'s Benefid@rany
deficiency.

5.5 Beneficiary Designation. The ParticipBegth Benefit is payable to the Beneficiary or &earies designated
by the Participant or other owner of the Insurafolicy. If no such Beneficiary is designated, thenB8ficiary
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5.6

5.7

6.1

6.2

6.3

shall be the person or persons entitled to thehdeeefit under the terms of the Insurance Policgpplicable
state law, whichever governs.

Ownership of Insurance Policies;Assignmétffective January 1, 2008, each Insurance Pglicchased under

this Plan shall be a group term life insuranceqgyaisued to the Company and/or the Plan. InsurBotieies
purchased under this Plan prior to January 1, 20€@ initially owned by the Participant whose lifas
insured thereby. To secure the repayment of thepaoris Corporate Capital Interest (if applicab&gch
Participant who has entered into a split dollauiasce agreement with the Company shall assignBality
to 3M as part of such Agreement. Subject to thesesf such Insurance Policy and the Company’ssight
pursuant to such assignment, each Participantisaed the right to assign any or all of his oringgrest in the
Insurance Policy and the accompanying Agreemeaipfificable) to any person, entity, or trust, lgngig and
delivering to the Plan Administrator and the InsweaCarrier a written Assignment in a form mutually
acceptable to the Plan Administrator and the InmstgaCarrier.

Protective Provisions. If a Participdigs by suicide or if it is determined a materigstatement was made in

the Insurance Policy Application, the applicabletpctive provisions of the Insurance Policy wilpap
Contributions and Funding

Responsibility of the Participant.

(a) With Split Dollar - Each Participant who hagerad into a split dollar insurance agreement with
the Company shall be responsible for contributhrgtalue of the “economic benefit" received assalteof
his/her participation in the Plan. The value @& taconomic benefit” received under an Insurandei? ssued
pursuant to this Plan will be based on the loweheflnternal Revenue Service’s Table 2001 ratekeor
Insurance Carrier's published premium rates avail@ball standard risks for initial issue one-yeam
insurance in compliance with Revenue Rulings 66-d1id 67-154 issued by the Internal Revenue Servite.
Company will reimburse the Participant for this tdution, but not for the amount of any income tasurred
by the Participant as a result of his or her pigdition in the Plan. The Participant shall be oesjible for all
income taxes incurred as a result of his or hetigipation in the Plan.

(b) Without Split Dollar — Each other Participaht be responsible only for paying the income saxe
incurred by such Participant as a result of hiserparticipation in the Plan. No portion of themiums
payable on the Insurance Policy or Policies ingutite life of a Participant shall be payable byPaeticipant
while the Company is obligated to pay such premiamdescribed in Section 6.2 below.

Responsibility of Company. The Compamglishe responsible for the payment of all Annuar®iums payable

with respect to each Insurance Policy or Policielpased under the Plan (a) for those Participahtshave
entered into split dollar insurance agreements thighCompany, while the respective Agreement resnain
effect, (b) for all other Participants whose pap@étion in this Plan began prior to September D3 @uring
their employment and for as long as necessary gitinigir retirement, and (c) for Participants whose
participation in this Plan began on or after Sefend, 2003, only during their employment. The Camp
shall, at its option, have the authority to bormgainst any Insurance Policy up to an amount nekéeed the
Corporate Capital Interest. However, the Compaml glay to the Insurance Carrier no fewer than fdonual
Premiums during the first seven policy years oheasurance Policy, and during this period the Canyp
shall not borrow an amount greater than the suthret years' payments described in this Sectidrintsrest
payments due as a result of such borrowing shatéeesponsibility of the Company. The Compangmness
the right to limit or adjust the amount of the prems it will pay for an Insurance Policy or Polisipurchased
under this Plan in the event that the Participamtoed by such Policy or Policies makes a withdtdrmean one
or more of such Insurance Policies.

Termination of Agreement. Notwithstarglany other provision in this Plan, the Agreemdérarfy) between the

Company and each Participant shall be terminated tige occurrence of the first of the following et
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a) The Insurance Policy's anniversary datevhich the Participant attains Insurance Agee&8ept in
certain circumstances where the Company in itsdisleretion deems it appropriate to extend the
duration of funding in order to sustain the prdsedi death benefit. In no event may the Agreement
between the Company and a Participant be termireetedresult of the occurrence of an event
described in this Section 6.3(a) prior to th& afiniversary of the issue date of the Insurancieyol

b) The death of the Participant.

c) The Termination of Service of a Partigipfor any reason other than the Participant'shdpgor to the
Insurance Policy's anniversary date on which théidizant attains Insurance Age 65.

In the event of a termination described in (a) ahdkre Company will be entitled to recover from thseurance
Policy its Corporate Capital Interest. Upon tharpany’s recovery of such Corporate Capital Inteitbst
Participant or his or her assignee will be resgaador all future premiums and the Company shallehno
involvement whatsoever, direct or indirect, in slicéurance Policy. The actual death benefit predidy such
Insurance Policy after such time may be greater thidess than the targeted death benefits destiib8ection
5.1. In the event the Insurance Policy does notigeothe targeted Participant Death Benefit, thenGany
shall not be obligated to make up or compensat®#ngcipant’'s Beneficiary for any deficiency.

In the event of a termination described in (b) ahdkie Company will be entitled to recover from death
proceeds its Corporate Capital Interest and thanoal of the death proceeds will be paid to the Beaey
under the Insurance Policy. The actual death ltgmefvided by the Insurance Policy may be gretitan or
less than the targeted death benefits describ8ddtion 5.1. In the event the Insurance Policy cdo¢provide
the targeted Participant Death Benefit, the Comsdnayl not be obligated to make up or compensate th
Participant’s Beneficiary for any deficiency.

In the event of a termination described in (c) ahdke Participant may maintain the Insurance pdlic
paying the Corporate Capital Interest to the Compamccordance with the terms of the Agreement.
Thereafter, the Company shall have no involvemératsoever, direct or indirect, in the Insuranceédyolin
the event the Participant decides not to maintantisurance Policy, he/she shall execute any nd a
instruments that may be required to transfer ovmprsf the Insurance Policy to the Company. Thenany
shall have the right to maintain the Insurancedadir dispose of the Insurance Policy as it seesTie
provisions of Section 6.3(c) shall be subject tg applicable severance agreement between the Caonapah
the Participant.

7. Amendment and Termination of The Plan

7.1 Amendment. The Company may amend the &lany time; provided, however, that no amendrabal
adversely affect the rights of any Participant en8ficiary acquired under the terms of the Plaim affect
prior to the amendment without the prior writtemsent of the Participant or Beneficiary.

7.2 Termination. The Company reserves tle sght to terminate the Plan at any time. Inelent of the
termination of the Plan, each Participant whos¢iggation in the Plan began prior to January 10&6hall be
entitled to retain any Insurance Policy or Polidgresuring him or her, reduced by the Corporate tahpiterest
(if any) as of the date of the termination of tharP? Thereafter, the Participant will be resporesiiol all future
premiums and the Company shall have no involvemiatsoever, direct or indirect, in such Insuranckclky
or Policies.

8. Claim Procedure
All death benefits provided under the Plan areg@aid from the Insurance Policies. The Comparsydumpted the
claim procedure established by the Insurance Gasi¢he claim procedure for the Plan. The Bersaficof the

proceeds of an Insurance Policy must file a claimbknefits with the Insurance Carrier in whateieem the Insurance
Carrier may reasonably require. If the Insuranaei€r denies the claim, the Beneficiary who wdatkave that denial
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reviewed will have to follow the Insurance Cargestaims review procedure. The Company shall maviability in
the event an Insurance Carrier denies a Beneflsialgim for benefits.

9.

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

Miscellaneous

Not a Contract of Employment. The teand conditions of this Plan shall not be deemezbtwstitute a
contract of employment between the Company andPaniicipant, and the Participants (or their Beriafies)
shall have no rights against the Company exceptagsotherwise be specifically provided herein. btorer,
nothing in this Plan shall be deemed to give anyi¢ipant the right to be retained as an Employethe

Company or to interfere with the right of the Compao discipline or discharge such Participantrat tme
for any reason whatsoever.

Taxes. The Company shall deduct fronh&articipant's Compensation all applicable Fedmr&tate taxes that

may be required by law to be withheld resultingrirthe Company's funding of the Insurance Policyeurtde
Plan.

Governing Law. Except where preemptedERYSA, the Plan shall be construed and adminidtaseording to
the laws of the State of Minnesota.

Form of Communication. Any election, bgegion, claim, notice, or other communicationuegqd or permitted
to be made by a Participant to the Plan Administrahd/or the Insurance Carrier shall be made itingrand
in such form as the Plan Administrator and/or th®itance Carrier shall prescribe.

Agent for Service of Process. The Pldmiistrator is designated as the agent to rec®wace of legal

process on behalf of the Plan.

Rules of Construction. When appropritite,singular as used in this Plan shall incluéepilural, and vice-

versa, and the masculine shall include the femjrand vice-versa.
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EXHIBIT 12

3M COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CALCULATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(Millions)
Year Year Year Year Year
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

EARNINGS
Income before income taxes $ 7,548 $ 7,053 $ 6,823 $ 7,026 $ 6,562
Add:

Amortization of capitalized interest 19 21 22 22 21

Total fixed charges (excluding capitalized

interest) 339 298 250 246 248

Less:

Equity in undistributed income of equity

method investments 11 9 5 (1) (1)
TOTAL EARNINGS $ 7,895 $ 7,363 $ 7,000 $ 7,295 $ 6,832
FIXED CHARGES
Interest expense (including capitalized inte

and excluding expense on early

extinguishment of debt) 238 208 162 159 166
Portion of rent expense under operating leases

representative of the interest factor 113 100 101 104 103
TOTAL FIXED CHARGES $ 351 $ 308 $ 263 $ 263 $ 269
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED
CHARGES 22.5 23.9 27.0 27.7 25.4

For purposes of calculating the ratio above:

Earnings is defined as income before income te@sgytization of capitalized interest, and fixedrgjes (less
capitalized interest), excluding equity in undistied income of equity method investments. Fixeatghs consist of
interest expense (including capitalized interest @xcluding any expense related to early extingoesft of debt) and
approximately one-third of rent expense under dpaydeases (considered representative of thedstdactor).

162



EXHIBIT 21

3M COMPANY AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES (PARENT AN D SUBSIDIARIES)
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017

Name of Company Organized Under Law of

Registrant — 3M Company Delaware
Consolidated subsidiaries of the Registrant:
3M Financial Management Company Delaware
3M Innovative Properties Company Delaware
3M Occupational Safety LLC Delaware
3M Purification Inc. Delaware
Aearo Holding LLC Delaware
Aearo Intermediate LLC Delaware
Aearo LLC Delaware
Aearo Technologies LLC Delaware
Capital Safety North America Holdings Inc. Delaware
Capital Safety North America Intermediate Holdind C Delaware
Ceradyne, Inc. Delaware
Scott Technologies, Inc. Delaware
3M Unitek Corporation California
Meguiar's, Inc. California
3M Health Information Systems, Inc. Maryland
D B Industries, LLC Minnesota
3M Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia
3M Precision Grinding GmbH Austria
3M Belgium bvba/sprl Belgium
3M do Brasil Ltda. Brazil
3M Manaus Industria de Produtos Quimicos Ltda. Brazil
3M Canada Company - Compagnie 3M Canada Canada
Capital Safety Group Canada ULC Canada
3M China Limited China
3M International Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. China
3M Investments (China) Co., Ltd. China
3M Material Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. China
3M Specialty Materials (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. China
3M Asia Pacific UK Holding Ltd England
Capital Safety Global Holdings Limited England
3M Products Limited England
Capital Safety UK Holding Ltd England
3M Purification France
3M France S.A.S. France
Capital Safety Group EMEA France
Oldham S.A.S. France
3M Deutschland GmbH Germany
3M Real Estate GmbH & Co KG Germany
Dyneon GmbH Germany
3M Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong
3M India Limited India
3M ITALIA s.r.l. Italy
3M Japan Limited Japan
3M Japan Holdings G.K. Japan
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Name of Company

Organized Under Law of

3M Japan Products Limited

3M Korea Ltd

3M Asset Management S.a.r.l.

3M Global Capital S.a.r.l.

3M Mexico, Sociedad Anonima de Capital Variable
3M Asia Holding B.V.

3M Global Acquisitions B.V.

3M Holding Company B.V.

3M Intermediate Acquisitions B.V.

3M International Group B.V.

3M International Holding B.V.

3M International Investments B.V.

3M West Europe B.V.

3M Panama Pacifico S. de R.L

3M Wroclaw spolka z ograniczona odpowiedzialnasci
3M Innovation Singapore Pte. Ltd.

3M Singapore Pte. Ltd.

3M Espana, S.L.

3M Svenska Aktiebolag

3M EMEA GmbH

3M Taiwan Limited

3M Taiwan Optronics Corporation

Alpha Beta Global Tapes and Adhesives Co., Ltd.
3M Thailand Limited

3M UK Holdings Limited

3M United Kingdom Public Limited Company
Capital Safety Acquisitions Limited

Scott Health & Safety Limited

Japan
Korea
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Mexico
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Panama
Poland
Singapore
Singapore
Spain
Sweden
Switzerland
Taiwan
Taiwan
Taiwan
Thailand
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom
United Kingdom

NOTE: Subsidiary companies excluded from the ablistiag, if considered in the aggregate, would cmstitute a
significant subsidiary.
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EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtkee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Regish Nos. 333-
30689, 333-30691, 333-44760, 333-73192, 333-101323,109282, 333-128251, 333-130150, 333-15103%; 33
156626, 333-156627, 333-166908, 333-181269, 332-2@1and 333-211431) and Form S-3 (Registration R83-
216219, 33-48089, 333-42660, and 333-109211) of=ivhpany of our report dated February 8, 2018 rejat the
financial statements and the effectiveness of matlerontrol over financial reporting, which appeiarshis Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 8, 2018
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EXHIBIT 24
POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each of the undersigned Directors and the Prindiakutive, Principal Financial and Principal Acnting
Officers of 3M COMPANY, a Delaware corporation (tf@mpany”), hereby constitute and appoint Inger'Gulin,
Nicholas C. Gangestad, Gregg M. Larson, Ippockaiihidis, Ivan K. Fong, and Matthew J. Ginter, aath of them,
his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact anératg, with full and several power of substitutiow aesubstitution, for
him or her and in his or her name, place and steady and all capacities, to sign one or more AxhiReports for the
Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2017,00mA0-K under the Securities Exchange Act of 1234,
amended, any amendments thereto, and all addittonahdments thereto, each in such form as thegyoo@e of them
may approve, and to file the same with all exhitiiereto and other documents in connection thehewiith the
Securities and Exchange Commission, granting uaitbattorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of tlighpower and
authority to do and perform each and every actthimdj requisite and necessary to be done so tlcat Aanual Report
or Annual Reports shall comply with the Securiie€hange Act of 1934, as amended, and the appdi¢ables and
Regulations adopted or issued pursuant theretollgsgind to all intents and purposes as he onsight or could do in
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all thatlsattorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of thertheir substitute or
resubstitute, may lawfully do or cause to be dopeitiue hereof.

The undersigned have signed this Power of Attothisy6th day of February 2018.

/sl Inge G. Thulin /sl Nicholas C. Gangestad
Inge G. Thulin, Chairman of the Board, Presideml Nicholas C. Gangestad, Senior Vice President
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Office Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Offige

and Director)

/sl Sondra L. Barbour /sl Ippocratis Vrohidis

Sondra L. Barbour, Director Ippocratis Vrohidisc® President, Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting
Officer)

/sl Thomas K. Brown /sl Amy E. Hood

Thomas K. Brown, Director Amy E. Hood, Director

/sl Vance D. Coffman /s/ Muhtar Kent

Vance D. Coffman, Director Muhtar Kent, Director

/s/ David B. Dillon /sl Edward M. Liddy

David B. Dillon, Director Edward M. Liddy, Directo

/sl Michael L. Eskew /sl Gregory R. Page

Michael L. Eskew, Director Gregory R. Page, Diogct

/sl Herbert L. Henkel /sl Patricia A. Woertz

Herbert L. Henkel, Director Patricia A. Woertz r&itor

166



EXHIBIT 31.1
SARBANES-OXLEY SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

I, Inge G. Thulin, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-iMf Company;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comaynuntrue statement of a material fact or ométate a
material fact necessary to make the statements,riraliight of the circumstances under which sueteshents
were made, not misleading with respect to the pec@vered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly
present in all material respects the financial doon results of operations and cash flows of Registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangdrAits 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cbotrer
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actd&ul 3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant hade:

@)

(b)

(©

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensutarhgerial information relating to the Registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is madeviimto us by others within those entities, particiyl
during the period in which this report is beinggaeed;

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahcia
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopytwide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepaocat of financial statements for external purposes i
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’sloésire controls and procedures and presentedsin th
report our conclusions about the effectiveness®fdisclosure controls and procedures, as of the en
of the period covered by this report based on sweltuation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the Regissanternal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quartethia
case of an annual report) that has materially tftbr is reasonably likely to materially affeitie
Registrant’s internal control over financial refiogt and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | kadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal
control over financial reporting, to the Registrauditors and the audit committee of the Regmttseboard of
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfioms):

@)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contra¢iov
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record
process, summarize and report financial informataon

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a

significant role in the Registrant’s internal canitover financial reporting.

/sl Inge G. Thulin

Inge G. Thulin
Chief Executive Officer

February 8, 2018
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EXHIBIT 31.2
SARBANES-OXLEY SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION

I, Nicholas C. Gangestad, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-BMfCompany;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not cortajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitéde a
material fact necessary to make the statements,nraliight of the circumstances under which sueteshents
were made, not misleading with respect to the pec@vered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementodimer financial information included in this repdairly
present in all material respects the financial dom results of operations and cash flows of Registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate
controls and procedures (as defined in ExchangdrAitts 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cbotrer
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Actdaul3a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant hade:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensuterihgerial information relating to the Registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is madeviimto us by others within those entities, particiyl
during the period in which this report is beinggaeed;

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahcia
reporting to be designed under our supervisiopyteide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepaoat of financial statements for external purpoges i
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’'sldésire controls and procedures and presentedsin th
report our conclusions about the effectivenessi®fdisclosure controls and procedures, as of the en
of the period covered by this report based on swaltuation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the Regissanternal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the Registrant’s most recent figcarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quartettia
case of an annual report) that has materially efter is reasonably likely to materially affeitte
Registrant’s internal control over financial refiogt and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and | kadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiarterhal
control over financial reporting, to the Registrauditors and the audit committee of the Regmttseboard of
directors (or persons performing the equivalentfiams):

(@)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiov
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyatdversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record
process, summarize and report financial informataon

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveammagement or other employees who have a

significant role in the Registrant’s internal cattover financial reporting.

/sl Nicholas C. Gangestad

Nicholas C. Gangest
Chief Financial Officer

February 8, 2018
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EXHIBIT 32.1
SARBANES-OXLEY SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION

In connection with the Annual Report of 3M Compdthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2017 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8partnge G.
Thulin, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, tifgt pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adbptesuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, tisatny knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh
1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly gets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand
results of operations of the Company.

/sl Inge G. Thulin
Inge G. Thulin
Chief Executive Officer

February 8, 2018
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EXHIBIT 32.2
SARBANES-OXLEY SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION

In connection with the Annual Report of 3M Compdthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2017 as filed with the SecuritiesExchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8pariNicholas
C. Gangestad, Chief Financial Officer of the Comyparertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350adspted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200at,tto my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh
1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly gets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand
results of operations of the Company.

/sl Nicholas C. Gangestad
Nicholas C. Gangest
Chief Financial Officer

February 8, 2018
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EXHIBIT 95

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

For the year 2017, the Company has the followingensiafety information to report in accordance @igittion 1503(a) of the Act, in connection with Biisboro, North
Carolina mine, the Little Rock, Arkansas mine, @eona, California mine, and the Wausau, Wisconsgime (including Greystone Plant):

Received
Received Notice of
Total Dollar Value Notice of Potentibto Aggregate
Mine or Operating Section of MSHA TotaNumber Pattern of Have Pattern Legal Actions Aggregate Legal Actions
Name/MSHA Section 104 Section 104(d) Section eclion Assessments of Mining Violations Undere8tion Pending as of Legal Actions  Resolved
Identification S&S Citations 104(b) Citations and  110(b)(2) 107(a) Proposed Related Under Sectio 104(e) Last Day of Initiated During During Period
Number (#) Orders (#) Orders (#)  Violations (#) Orders (#) ($) Fatalities (#) 104(e) (yes/no) (yes/no) Period (#) Period (#) #)
3M Pittsboro ID: 3102153 — — — = — % — — No No —
3M Little Rock ID: 0300426 2 —_ — — — 3% 5,775 — No No —
3M Corona Plant ID: 0400191 3 — — = — 3 5,795 — No No —
Greystone Plant ID: 4700119 2 — — — — 3 2,705 — No No —
Wausau Plant ID: 4702918 1 = = — — 3% 9,796 = No No —
Total 8 — — — — 3 24,071 — — — —
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